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Dear Fellow Shareholders

Bell Microproducts celebrated its 20-year anniversary in 2008 Since our founding in 1988 our Company has

rrown steadily During this time Bell Micro has earned the recognition of being one of the leaders in the

distribution of storage and computing components systems and related hardware and software products The

Company had 2.129 employees at year-end in over 50 locations in 14 countries in North America Latin America

and Europe

Bell Micro has grown rapidly in recent years
and in the last 10 years we increased sales from $575 million in

1998 to $3.6 billion in 2008 an increase of more than 600% The market share over

the years and is dedicated to continuing to improve market share in the future We will seek to accomplish this

by offering exceptional customer service and product offerings coupled with comprehensive and effective value-

added services During 2008 we added selected product lines and expanded our service offerings to position the

Company for future growth

After achieving record sales of $3.9 billion in 2007 sales in 2008 declined by 9% to $3.6 billion marking the

first year in our history in which we experienced decline in sales This was primarily due to the global

recession Information technology demand declined in many global markets in 2008 and the disk drive market

was particularly challenging While overall demand was relatively strong early in 2008 we experienced weaker

demand in the second half of the year

Despite the declining market and the impact of significant currency changes in 2008 that understated our relative

performance
in the European and Latin American markets we were able to significantly improve our gross profit

margins due to relative strength in our value-added enterprise and single-tier businesses While we experienced

sales decline of $370 million in 2008 our gross profits were down by only $5 million as we prioritized profitable

businesses and deemphasized or eliminated unprofitable ones We will continue to focus on profitable

opportunities andbusinesses as we continue to concentrate on improving our return on invested capital

In December 2008 we filed the Companys 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC This filing was the

culmination of an extensive process that began in late 2006 In this filing we restated our operating results for

the period of 1997 through 2006 In June 2009 we filed our Annual Report ott Form 10-K for 2008 and 2007

These were major accomplishments
and would like to thank the many employees who worked countless hours

to help us reach this important milestone Unfortunately this process caused us to incur extraordinary audit and

legal costs necessary to complete the restatement and bring the recent audits up to date These exceptional costs

had major impact on our reported results for 2008 and 2007 The process also demanded that we improve our

legal and financial infrastructure which is expected to reap benefits for us in the future We believe it is

important to note that these expenses are expected to drop dramatically in early 2009 and to return to more

typical public company levels in mid-2009

We announced significant losses on GAAP basis for both 2008 and 2007 Of the combined $147 million of net

losses in 2008 and 2007 $137 million were due to two issues non-cash goodwil impairment charges and



professional fees for the recent accounting-related investigations and restatement efforts In 2008 we also

experienced approximately $10 million in currency losses and approximately $5 million in restructunng charges

We plan to resume our regular on-time quarterly filing schedule when we report the results for the third quarter

of 2009 We are pleased to have completed this challenging process
and can now return our complete attention to

growing our business profitability

The Company has also made significant progress
in our improvement in the management of assets including

accounts receivable arid inventory We generated $42 million of cash from operations in 2008 which we used

primarily to pay down debt Total debt declined 10% during 2008 to $405 million at year-end and the

Company asset management has continued to improve in the first half of 2009

Our lenders have continued to be ver supportive of Bell Microproducts Although the financial and banking

markets experienced unprecedented turmoil in 2008 we have maintained positive relationships throughout this

period with our key banks and lenders In the past year we completed new agreements with our malor lenders to

revise our credit facilities to the benefit of the Company Today we are in compliance with all covenants of our

debt agreements

would like to thank our shareholders and lenders for their support over the recent years would also like to

express my appreciation to our diligent employees who are responsible for the success of Bell Microproducts

Their exceptional contributions have made significant difference also would like to express my appreciation

to our many ke vendor partners and our customers for their continued positive support of our Company through

this challenging period

Bell Micro remains committed to our objective of being one of the leading global suppliers of computing and

storage systems subsystems and components We are focused on executing our husmess plan and realizing the

Companys full potential Our focus on computing and storage solutions for the broad market as well as selected

vertical markets including the medical video security and surveillance and telecom markets ideall positions us

for future profitable growth We are committed to driving improved operating results and building on our

existing supplier and customer relationships as we move forward We are encouraged by what appears to be

more stable market as we go forward through 2009 Our team is deeply committed to the success of Bell

Microproducts and future growth in shareholder value and we believe the Company is well-positioned to

produce greatly improved operating results going forward

Finally would like to recognize the long-term contiibution ofBoard of Directors member Glenn Penisten

Glenn will retire front the Board this year He has been member of the Board for 21 years and has been key

contributor to our Company We greatly appreciate his outstanding contributions and commitment to Bell

Microproducts over these years

We hope you will join us for the annual meeting of shareholders on August 19 2009 Thank you for your

continued support

Sincerey

Donald Bell

President and Chief Executive Officer

July 10 2009
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Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K all references to the Company Bell Micro we us

and our refer to Bell Microproducts
inc. California corporation

and its subsinianes unless otherwise

indicated or the context otherwise requires

Explanatory Note

In accordance with relief granted to the Company the Staff of the Securities and Exchange Cornmisson

the SECTh we are filing this comprehensive Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31

2008 with expanded financial and other disclosures in lieu of filing separate
Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the year ended December 31 2007 and separate Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the penods ended

March 31 2007 June 30 2007 September 30 2007 March 31 2008 June 30 2008 and September 30 2008

This comprehensive report is being filed to facilitate the dissemination of cunent financial and other information

to investors The Company does not intend to file separate Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2007 or Quarterly Reports on Form 0-Q for the quarterly periods in 2007 or 2008

The Company delay in filing its annual and quarterly reports was due to the previously announced

restatement of the Companys consolidated financial statements for the iears ended December 31 2005 2004

and prior years For summary of the investigations related to the restatement see Part II Item

Managements Discussion and Anal sis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in this Annual Report

on Form 10-K For more detailed description of the restatement see the Companys Annual Report on Form

10-K for the iear ended December 31 2006 which was filed on December 30 2008



FORWARD-LOOKLNG STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of

1933 and Section 2lE of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Acf You should not

place undue reliance on these statements These forward-looking statements include statements that reflect the

current views of our senior management with respect to our financial performance and future events with respect

to our business and our industry in general Statements that include the words expect intend plan
believe project forecast estimate may should anticipate and similar statements of future or

forward-looking nature identify forward-looking statements Forward-looking statements address matters that

involve risks and uncertainties Accordingly there are or will be important factors that could cause our actual

results to differ materially from those indicated in these statements We believe that these factors include hut are

not limited to the following our ability to comply with the fmancial covenants in our credit acreements our

ability to achieve cost reductions and other benefits in connection with our strategic initiatives the circumstances

resulting in the restatement of our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31 2005 and

2004 and the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reportino and in our disclosure controls

and procedures the fact that we are not presently current with the filing requirements of the Securities and

Exchange Commission SEC with respect to our periodic reports the deisting of our common stock and our

ability to successfully regain listing on national securities exchange loss or adverse effect on our supplier

relationships including the reduction or elimination of rebates offered by our manufacturers our ability to

accurately forecast customer demand and order sufficient product quantities competition in the markets in which

we operate the fact that the products we sell may not satisfy shifting customer demand or compete successfully

with our competitors products our reliance on third parties to manufacture the products we sell our reliance on

credit provided by our manufacturers to finance our inventory purchases risks related to our substantial

indebtedness including the inability to obtain additional financing for our operations on terms acceptable to us or

at all limitations on our operating and strategic flexibility under the terms of our debt agreements our ability to

attract and retain qualified personnel risks associated with doing business abroad including foreign culTenc\

risks inability to identify acquire and integrate acquired businesses the outcome of any pending or future

litigation or regulato proceedings including the current shareholder lawsuit and any claims or litigation related

to the restatement of our consolidated financial statements and the effects of prolonged economic downturn

The foregoing factors should not he construed as exhaustive and should he read together with the other

cautionary statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K including under the caption Risk Faciors in

Item IA of this Annual Report on Form 10-K If one or more events related to these or other risks or

uncertainties materialize or if our underlying assumptions prove to he incorrect actual results may differ

rnaterialiv from what we anticipate



PART

Item Business

General

Founded in 1987 Bell Microproducts California corporation is leading distributor and value-added

reseller of data storage and server products
and solutions computer component products

and peripherals as well

as ariety of software applications
We also desim and integrate systems through our value-added division and

provide customers with variety of services such as system configuranon product installation post-sale service

and support and supply chain management Bell Micro markets and distributes products at all levels of

integration from components to full integrated tested and certified systems We carr over 400 brand name

product lines worldwide as well as our own proprietary Rorke5 and Galaxy5 data storage products and our

Markvision consumer electronics and computer products Across our product lines we emphasize our ability to

combine our extensive product porrfolio with comprehensive value-added and supply chain services

We offer component-level products that include disk tape and opucal drives processors rnernor\

motherboard and computer 110 products flat panel displays
and related products and other data storage and

custom-configured computer products Our offerings also include value-added services such as system desien

integration installation maintenance and other consulting services combined with variety of data storage

server and other computer hardware and software products
We also offer supply chain services such as

consignment bonding and end-of-life management programs In addition at the system level we offer variety

of data storage systems including direct attached storage DAS network attached storage NAS and

storage area network SAN systems as well as servers and other computer platforms tape drive systems tape

libraries and related software Our access to wide range of products and technologies together with our

extensive technical capabilities allows us to tailor high-quality hardware software and service soluons for each

customers specific requirements
Customers can purchase our components or sistems as stand-alone products

or in combination with our value-added and supply chain services We are organized to service different

customer needs with specific sales team for each of the original equipment
manufacturer OEM \alue

added reseller VAR contract manufacturer CMintegranon
and end-user customer types

Aailabe hiformation

All reports filed electronically bi us with the SEC including our Annual Reports on Form 10-K Quanerl

Reports on Form 0-Q Current Reports on Form 8-K proxy statements and other information and amendments

to those reports are accessible at no cost on our web site at www.hellrmcro.com and are available hi contacting

our Investor Relations Department at ir@bellmicro.com or 408 451-9400 These filings are also accessible on

the SECs website at www.sec.gov The public ma read and copy at prescribed rates any materials filed by us

with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room located at 100 Street NE Washincton DC 20549 The

public may obtain information regarding the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 800 732-0330

Industry

The information technoloD IT OEM and consumer electronic markets for data storage servers

persona computers PCs and computer components
have experienced significant growth over the past several

\ears Market growth has been dtiven increases in the dentand for processing stonng managing and the

security of data the reduced cost of higher performing enterprise servers and data storage systems lower cost

entry level servers desktop and laptop computers increasing needs to meet corporate and government

conipliance requirements
and in recent years the storage of digital audio and \ideo files in various consumer

electronics

Traditionall suppliers have sold data storage server and computer components directly to end-users and

through both direct and indirect distribution channels The use of distribution channels continues to grow as the

computer products IT and consumer electronics industries ntature Suppliers
utilize distributors to not onil



increase their reach in the marketplace hut to also allow the suppliers to focus primarili on their core strengths

such as product design development and marketing Suppliers are increasingly relying on their partners in the

distribution industrv to manage customer relationships create demand and execute the sales transaction The

indirect disthhution channel has seen growth as the needs and demands of the suppliers OEM.s \TARs CMs

system intecrators and most recently major retailers have increased Suppliers are also driving the trend toward

indirect distribution due to the value-added and supply chain services that distributors can often provide The

rapid growth of complex data processing and storage requirements and the need for sophisticated server and

networked storage systems have also increased the enterise customers dependence on value-added service

providers to assist in the design inte ration service and support of their data processing and storage needs

These changes in the industry provide opportunities for distributors to differentiate themselves in the market

through product specialization and the value-added and supply chain services thei offer

The complexity of sophisticated server and storage solutions combined with shortage of qualified IT

personnel and the cost-benefit of outsourcing often leads customers to outsource some or all of the research

design implementation and support of their IT servers and data storage solutions

To increase their efficiencies suppliers are continually reducing the number of distributors they use

Distributors are also choosing to consolidate because of the competitive advantages derived from expanded

product offerings and economies of scale The rapidly changing nature of the data
storage server and computer

components markets has required distributors to significantly expand both their customer base and product and

service offerings to compete effectively To he successful within these markets we believe distributors must

emphasize time-to-market and total cost reductions in addition to focusing on specific markets through product

offerings technical expertise and value-added and supply chain service capability Distributors need to

distinguish themselves through combination of value-added services such as consulting design integration

implementation and maintenance as well as more knowledgeable service and technical support resources and

innovative supply chain programs

Segment and geographic information for the Company is contained in Note 13 Segment and Geographic

Information in our notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 0-K

Our Strategy

Our goal is to expand our position as leading distributor of storage and server solutions and systems as

well as computer component products and peripherals We intend to achieve this goal by leveraging our strengths

and implementing the following strategies as described in the Products and Technologies and Marker Expansion

sections below

Products and Technologies

Continue to Focus on the Storage Marker We plan to continue to take advantage of opportunities in the

storage market bi maintaining our strategic focus on providing complete storage solutions to our customers For

example we have devoted significant resources to broadening our range of value-added services expanding our

marketing efforts improving the expertise of our sales force and offering an extensive range of technologicalli

advanced products in the data storage market We believe that we are well-positioned to benefit from the future

growth of the
storage market In the markets we serve as user needs gros more sophisticated and cost

efficiencies are demanded of storage infrastructure providers additional opportunities will arise in the storage

management and security of data benefiting our storage-centric strategy

Expand our Storage arid Complem.enran Product Lines We believe that our ability to offer customers an

extensive line of leading data storage server other computer components and software across technologies and

suppliers will continue to be strong competitive advantage for us particulari as it relates to the storage

infrastructure Our selection of products and technologies together with our technology expertise allows us to



reliably deliver appropriate
hardware and software solutions and services to meet the demands of our customers

The addition of new product lines and application technology expertise
is continuous process at Bell Micro

Enter Compieinenia Growth Markets Our technology expertise broad customer base and global

operations enable us to identify emerging market opportunities that are based upon storage-centnc applications

These opportunities are often based upon consumer demands government regulations or cost efficiencies that

require the processing
and storage of substantial data Two emerging

markets are digital signage
for information

display and video surveillance We offer product lines application expertise and services to provide components

subsystems and complete solutions for these markets leveraging our design integration installation

maintenance and supply chain capabilities Our Rorke Data division is spectalist tn the application of server and

storage products in the video and health care vertica markets The market growth of digitized video generally

has opened new markets for these products and services in both broadcast and video surveillance

Strengthen Relationships with Jndustrv Leaders We intend to utilize our position as leading distributor of

storage
solutions to broaden our existing strategic relationships with industry leaders and to create new strategic

relationships We believe that distribution channels will continue to consolidate and leading suppliers will align

with those distributors that are best able to offer value-added services and access to new customers in multiple

countries and markets We believe that being aligned with leading suppliers will allow us to identifi innovative

products exchange critical information gain access to new technologies and create cross-marketing

opportunities We have developed strategic relationships with number of suppliers including Hewlett-Packard

Company Seagate Technology Seagate Hitachi Global Storage Technologies Inc and Hitachi Data

Systems Corporation Microsoft Corporation
Microsoft Western Digital Corporation VD International

Business Machines Corporation IIBM Cisco Sistems Inc Ciscoi Symantec Corporation Intel

Corporation Intel and Quantum Corporation

As consequence
of our existing strategic relationships with industi leaders we tend to rely on relativel

small number of key suppliers for products that make up sigmficant portion of our sales In 2008 and 2007

Seagate our single largest supplier provided products that represented approximately 8% and 10% respective

of our total sales In 2006 our single largest supplier provided products that represented approximately 12%

of our total sales Our top five suppliers provided products
that represented 24% 26 and 36% of our total sales

in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectivel We believe that staving aligned with the industry leaders in the storage

solutions market is an important part of our strategy

Market Expansion

Our long-term market expansion goals include the following

Capture iJew Market Opportunities
As profitable new market opportunities emerge that complement our

storage-centflC strategy we will determine the applicahi1i of our technology expertise and expand into these

new ntarkets organically or through acquisition
We continue to evaluate new market opportunities where the

application
of our products

and technical expertise will differentiate us from the rest and afford sizable volume

and profit opportunities Our strategy
is to gain earli market share in new markets and leverage our position as

the market grows

Evpand our Domestic and InTel7iatioTi.aI Presence We intend to increase our presence in North Arnenca and

expand our coverage in the major international markets that we serve pnmanly Latin America and Europe

through organic growth and strategic acquisitions As we expand our global presence we believe that we will he

able to address the demands of multinational customers gain further access to multinational suppliers
and

leverage our expertise

Products and Services

We market and distribute more than 400 brand name product
lines of other companies as well as our own

Rorke and Galaxy data storage products and our Markvision consumer electronics and computer products We

offer the following products and services as discrete components or as pan of our solutions offering



Storage Server Networking and Related Software Infrastructure Products

Our storage solutions include DAS NAS and SAN offerings These solutions are comprised of flbre channel

and Ethernet networking products and systems tape libraries disk drive subsystems tape subsystems and

storage-related software products Additionally we offer custom and standard configurations of server products

from various suppliers We partner with leading storage and server suppliers in the industt- to provide

comprehensive cost-effective solutions to customers in the worldwide IT and OEI\4 markets Our customer base

includes leading VARs and other resellers independent software vendors ISVs major retailers system

builders and OEMs Our ProSvs and TotalTec divisions provide storage server and network infrastructure

solutions to Fortune 1000 end-user customers Rorke Data provides data storage solutions in the video and health

care markets

Disk and Tape Drives Motherboards Processors and Other Computer Components

We distribute vanety of computer components including disk and tape drives DRAIVI and flash memory

modules including our Markvision branded products microprocessors standard and custom motherboards

graphics and video devices network interface cards NICs and other board level products computer power

supplies and chassis products

Computer Peripherals Monitor and Display Systems Software and Other Computer Products

Our computer peripherals include flat panel displays monitors keyboards scanners laptops and other

computer peripherals Our software offerings include storage management operating systems data securirv

systems management middleware database and replication products

Value-.4dded Services

We offer our customers variet of value-added services Customers employ these services to modify

variety of standard products to meet the needs of their specific application requirements Additionally we offer

wide range of supply chain services to support our customers logistical requirements

Storage Server Solutions Our storage server solution offerings include both hardware and support services

necessary for the implementation and effective utilization of that hardware

Data Storage and Server Subsystems We provide standard and custom subsystem products to our

customers We integrate standard products to customize our Rorke and Galaxy data storage products We also

configure build and test custom products to meet the needs of customers that cannot he served by industry

standard product offerings

Solutions Configuration Test installation and Support We offer broad range of professional services

including design and consultation installation training and on-site and remote managed service programs related

to storage and server solutions Networking solutions and services are offered through our ProSys division We

have established several dedicated enterprise storage system teams that address the challenges associated with

data storage and management in the enterprise data center Our service
programs

also offer customers feasihilit\

testing and fully integrated turnkey storage solutions For example we integrate SANs with fibre channel-based

technology including switches bridges archive libraries and network and data management software For server

and storage solutions we offer wide range of support services that include design support and product

recommendations testing services training programs and maintenance Much of this expertise lies in our ProSvs

Rorke Data and TotalTec divisions and is leveraged to support the needs of our distrihgrion customers

Coniponen.t Product Services We provide value-added services for full range of storage and computer

products including modifying disk tape and optical drives to meet specifications established by customers

specific application needs For customers requirinu supply chain services we offer full range of solutions



including automated quotations bonded inventory consignment and end-of-life management We also provide

image duplication
firmware modification software downloading special labeling and other hardware

modification services For other computer product components we provide various configuration services

testing and packaging We provide varieri of materials-management
solutions including e-procuremenl

services Internet-enabled real-time pricing
and delivery quotations electronic data interchange EDl

programs just-in-time flY inventory programs bonded inventones on-site consignment inventory and

end-of-life management services

Board and Blade Level Buildinf Blocks We provide both standard and custom configured board and blade

offerings geared for applications to include computers servers medical equipment video/graphics security test

and measurement and networking products These solutions are offered in variety of industry standard form

factors We also provide complete integration services manufacturing assemhl interoperahilit testing and

application support

Retail Packaging In addition we provide value-added services to storage suppliers combining the strengths

of our hard drive value capabilities with custom third-parry packaging Our retail packaging programs
deliver

consumer-ready storage products These products are produced in high volume and require high-quality software

duplication testing and chassis assembly to meet demanding retail launch dates The core materials planning and

logistics capabilities of our distribution operations enable us to deliver retail-ready products to our customers

distribution centers or directly to their retail outlets

Fiai Panel integration. We offer comprehensive portfolio
of flat panel displays technologies and

integration services These include off-the-shelf solutions for kiosks point-of-sale POS displays digital

display sinnage and medical instrumentation Our display solutions also include custom designs to support

applications such as full sunlight readability and harsh environmental deployment

Saes and Marketing

Our customer base primarily consists of OEMs \ARs system integrators CMs storage server and

networking infrastructure end-user customers and major retailers For customers primarily seeking our solution

offerings our sales and marketing activities often involve efforts by our salespeople and field application

engineers over an extended period of time Sales and technical personnel focusing on these customers tend to

spend significant amount of time assessing the customers needs and developing solutions supponed hi our

technical capabilities
and experience

For customers seeking our components servers storage subsystems and other related product offerings out

sales and marketing efforts involve price and availability augmented by our supply chain management programs

consignment and bonded inventory programs
and end-of-life management programs tailored to specific customer

needs Sales of these offerings are principally driven supply chain capabilities our design and product

recommendation services product breadth and depth pricing on-time and on-demand availahilitl and often

our hardware value-added capabilities

For customers seeking end-user solutions our ProSvs Rorke Data and TotalTec divisions work to

determine their server data storage data management data security and network needs to enable them to ma1e

decisions regarding their infrastructure and to design systems to address these needs Our consulting se.r\ ices

draw from our core competencies in entelTrise serier storage and networked integrated solutons We perform

tasks such as conduct storage audit and feasibility studies as well as requirements analyses that lead to hardware

and software system recommendations complete implementation project management and manage supplemental

subsets of customer-defined projects

We also believe that our relationships with our suppliers provide us with significant opportunities to

increase our sales and customer base We work closely with many suppliers to develop strategies to penetrate

both targeted markets and customers In some cases our sales presentations to customers are joint effoit ith

suppliers sales representative



Electronic Commerce

Increasingly customers rely on our electronic ordering and information systems as source for product

information availability and price Through our website customers can gain remote access to our information

systems to determine product availability and pricing and ta place orders We actively market our website

capabilities to current and new customers encouragmg them to complete their purchases electronically Some of

our larger customers utilize our electronic ordering such as EDL extensible markup language v1L or file

transfer protocol FTP services through which orders order acknowledgments invoices inventon status

reports customized pricing information and other industry standard electronic transactions are consummated on

line With broad suite of electronic commerce capabilities we are able to increase efficiency and timeliness for

ourselves as well as for our customers

Competition

In the distribution of storage server and related products and services as well as computer components and

peripherals we generally compete for customer relationships with numerous local regional national and

international authorized and unauthorized distributors We also compete for customer relationships with the

suppliers we represent and with our own customers Consistent with our sales and marketing efforts we tend to

view this competition whether arising front the direct or indirect distribution channel on customer-category

basis We believe that our most significant competition for customers seeking both products and value-added

services arises from Arrow Electronics Inc Arrow net Inc Avnet and the Magirus Group

MairusL We believe that our most significant competition for customers seeking commodity products conies

front Inorani Micro Inc lnniam Micro Tech Data Corporation Tech Data SYNNEX Corporation

SYNNEX Actebis Group ActebisTh and lntcomex Inc Jntcomex Many of our competitors possess

superior brand recognition and financial resources In the area of storage products and solutions however we

believe that none of our competitors offer the full range of data storage products combined with the solutions

expertise and services that we provide

key competitive factor in the electronic component and computer product distribution industry as

whole is the need to sustain sufficient level of inventory to meet the rapid delivery requirements of customers

However to mininiize our exposure related to valuation of inventory on hand the majority of our product lines

are purchased pursuant to non-exclusive distributor agreements which provide certain protections to us for

product obsolescence and price erosion in the form of rights of return and price protection Furthermore these

agreements are generally cancelable upon 30 to 180 days notice and in most cases provide for inventor return

privileces upon cancellation

We enhance our contpetitive position by offering variety of value-added services tailored to individual

customer specifications and business needs such as design support testing assembly supply chain management

and materials management

Business Segments

We operate in one industry the business of providing distribution and value-added services for storage

products and systems semiconductors and computer products and peripherals Our seven reportable segments are

U.S Distribution Europe ProSys TotalTec Miami Canada and Other which primarily includes Rorke Data

Mexico Brazil and Chile Management designates the internal reporting used by the chief executive officer for

making decisions and assessing performance as the source of our reportable segments See Note Goodwill

and Other intangible .4sseis and Note 13 Segment and Geographic Information in our notes to the

consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information

Acquisitions

We have completed number of strategic acquisitions Through these acquisitions we have gained

additional expertise in storage solutions and greater access to international markets In October 2006 we

acquired substantially all of the assets and liabilities of ProSvs inforniation stems Inc ProSvs based in
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Atlanta Georgia which has broadened our position as supplier of enterprise solutions to our customers ProSvs

provides storage server networking and IT infrastructure and consulting servces ProSys strategic partners

include HP Cisco Teradata Corporation Microsoft and IIBM as well as diverse group
of other leading solution

providers ProS wifl continue to focus on large enterprise accounts as separate reportable segment

In December 2005 we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of MCE Computer Peripherie

GmhH MCE Computer \7ertriebs Products GmbH MCE Computer Technology inc and MCE Limited

collectively MCE Based in Munich Germans MCE is European
distributor of disk drives and

components and IBM enterprise sales in Germany MCEs customer base includes the enterprise \ARs system

builders and industrial customers This acquisition has expanded our geographic footprint and enabled us to

continue to expand our growth in value-added storage products and services in key markets in Continental

Europe and the United Kingdom and has also provided additional experienced management sales and marketing

resources as pan of our Europe reportable segment

In .Tulv 2005 we acquired Net Storage Computers Ltda Net Storage company headquartered in

Alphavifle Sªo Paulo Brazil with sales offices throughout Brazil Net Storage is distributor of computer

components storage products and peripherals to \7ARs and system integrators in Brazil Net Storages strategc

partners
include Intel Seagate WD Acer Inc and Super Micro Computer Inc This acquisition enabled us to

expand our presence in Latin America and provides the opportunity to strengthen our relationships with key

suppliers and expand our overall product and service offerings as part
of our Other reportable segment

Employees

As of May 31 2009 we had total of 1.973 employees consisting of 909 in sales and marketing functions

353 in general administrative functions 327 in warehousing and operations and 384 in technical and value-add

integration functions Of our total employees as of May 31 2009 922 were located at our facilities outside of

the United States including 403 in the United Kingdom 134 in Germany 98 in Mexico 86 in Brazil and 201 in

other locations None of our employees are represented by labor union We have not expenenced any work

stoppages
and consider our relations with our employees to he good

Item 14 Risk Factors

in addition to the other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K iou should carefully

consider the risk factors described below

Risks Related to Our Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and the Restatement of Our Previously

Issued Financial Statements

We haie identified various material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting that

resulted in na.terial misstatements in ou.r consolidated financial statements that were issued prior to

December 31 2006 These weaknesses could continue to adversely affect our ability to report our results of

operations and financial condition accurately and in timely manner

Our management is responsible for maintaining internal control over financial reporting designed to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial

statements for external purposes
in accordance with GAAP Our management assessed the effectiveness of our

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 and identified various material weaknesses

primarily related to our failure to maintain an effective control environment As result of these material

weaknesses our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of

December 31 2008 Further we believe that our internal control over financial reporting remains ineffective as

of the date of the filing of this Annual Repoii on Form 10-K See Item 9A Con.rrois and Procedures
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material weakness is deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial

reporting that creates reasonable possibility that material misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated

financial statements will not he prevented or detected on timely basis We are in the process of implementing

plan to remediate the identified material weaknesses Our efforts have been and will continue to he time

consuming and expensive We cannot give any assurance that the measures we are taking to remediate the

identified material weaknesses will he effective We also cannot assure you that other material weaknesses will

not arise as result of our failure to maintain adequate disclosure controls and procedures or that circumvention

of those controls and procedures will not occur Additionally even if we succeed in improving our controls and

procedures those controls and procedures may not he adequate to prevent or identify errors or irregularities or

ensure that our financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

The investigations the Board of Directors the Board into some of ou.r historical accounting practices

and the determination of various other accounting adjustments which resulted in the restatement of our

previously issued consolidated financial statements have been time-consuming and erpensive and have had

muiterial adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations and cash flows

During 2007 and 2008 we devoted substantial internal and external resources to the completion of

restatement of certain of our historical consolidated financial statements During 2009 we have devoted

substantial additional resources to preparing the audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual

Report on Form 10-K As result of these efforts as of Ma 2009 we have incurred in excess of $90.0

million in fees and expenses primarily for additional accounting tax legal and related consulting costs and

$1 1.1 million in fees related to obtaining covenant wa\ers including an 8.5 special interest payment of 894

million under our 8110.0 million of outstanding convertible notes We expect to continue to incur significant

additional fees and expenses until we are in compliance with our SEC reporting requirements and have

remediated the existing material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting These costs as well

as the substantial management time devoted to address these issues have materially adversel affected our

financial condition results of operations and cash flows

We are the subject of an ongoing SEC non-public fact-finding inquiry relating to our historical accounting

practices This inquiry could result in penalties andlor other actions that could haie material adverse

effect on our financial condition and results of operations

In February 2008 independent counsel to the Board accompanied h\ counsel for the Compan\ self-

reported to the SEC the findings of the independent investigations conducted by special committees of the Board

As result the SEC commenced non-public fact-finding inquiry into our historical accounting practices We

have cooperated with the SEC in connection with this inquiry and will continue to do so We cannot predict the

outcome of this inquiry or whether we will face additional government inquii es investigations or other actions

related to our historical accounting practices An adverse ruling in any SEC enforcement action or other

regulato proceeding could impose upon us fines penalties or other remedies which could have material

adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition

We believe the delisting of our common stock from The NASDA Global Market has had an adverse effect

on the liquidity and market price of our common stock We cannot assure you as to when we will be able to

relist our comnnzon stock on national securities exchange

in March 2008 our common stock was delisted from The NASDAQ Global Market or Nasdaq as result

of our failure to comply with SEC reporting obligations Our common stock is currentl\ quoted on the Pink OTC

Market or Pink Sheets which is an over-the-counter securities market We believe the delisting of our common

stock has materially adversely affected the liquidity of our common stock the market price of our

common stock the number of institutional and other investors that will consider investing in our common

stock the availability of information concerning the trading prices and volume of our common stock the

number of broker-dealers willing to execute trades in shares of our common stock and our ability to obtain

equity financing
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Unless and until we are able to successfully relist our common stock on Nasdaq or another nationa

securities exchange you may not be able to sell shares of our common stock without considerable deiai or

significant adverse effect on the sale price Furthermore we cannot assure you that we will he able to relist our

common stock on Nasdaq or another national securities exchange once we are in compliance with SEC reporting

obligations We will still he required to comply with all other applicable listing standards Recent our common

stock has consistently traded below 1.00 per
share low per-share

stock pnce ntai have an impact on our

ability to relist our common stock on national secunties exchange

We and certain of our current and former officers and directors have been named as parties to purported

shareholder derivative lawsuit relating to our historical stock option granting practices and ma be named

in further litigation including with respect to the restatement of our consolidated financial statements all

of which could require significant management time and attention result in significant legal expenses or

cause our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows to suffer

On December 29 2008 John Campbell who alleges he is one of our shareholders caused purported

shareholders derivative lawsuit to he filed in the Supenor Court of California for the County of San Mateo

naming us as nominal defendant and naming 17 of our current and former directors and officers as defendants

The lawsuit seeks to recover damages purportedly sustained us in connection with our histoncal stock option

granting practices We cannot predict
the outcome of this matter or any other matter related to our histoncal

stock option granting practices

Our historical stock option granting practices and the restatement of our consolidated financial statements

have exposed us to greater
risks associated with litigation regulatory proceedings and government enforcement

actions We and our current and former officers and directors may in the future he subject to additional private

and governmental actions relating to our historical stock opton granting practices or the restatement of our

consolidated financial statements Subject to certain liimtations we are obligated to indemmfy our current and

former officers and directors in connection with such lawsuits and governmental investigations and any related

litigation We cannot predict the outcome of these investigations or lawsuits Regardless of the outcome these

lawsuits and an other litigation that ma he brought against us or our officers and directors could he time

consuming result in significant expense
and divert the attention and resources of our management and other kei

employees which could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition results of operations

and cash flows An unfavorable outcome in any of such litigation matters could exceed coverage provided under

applicable insurance policies
which could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition

results of operations and cash flows

Further we could be required to pai damages or additional penalties or have other remedies imposed

against us our directors or officers which could harm our reputation business financial condition results of

operations or cash flows

Our failure to comply with SEC reporting obligations may have an adverse effect on our business

As result of our falure to compli with SEC reporting obligations we are suhect to number of

restrictions regarding the registration of our common stock under federal secunties laws Until such time as we

have regained compliance with our SEC reporting obligations
and meet certain other conditions we ill he

unable to use shorter and less costly filings such as Registration Statements on Forms S-3 and S-S The

requirement of using Registration
Statement on Form S-I is likely to he more costly and time-consuming

These restrictions ma reduce our access to capital markets which may adversel affect our business



Risks Related to Our Financial Condition

Our consolidated financial statements are presented on going concern basis Gien our existing financial

condition and current conditions in the global credit markers if we are unable to comply with one or more

of the coienants in our credit agreements there would likely be uncertainties regarding our ability to

continue as goin.g concern

Our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 0-K have been

prepared on going concern basis which assumes continuity of operations and realization of assets and

satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinar course of business Our ability to continue as going concern is

predicated upon among other factors our compliance with the provisions of our existing credit agreements and

when needed our ability to renew such agreements or obtain alternative or additional financing

We currently have substantial amount of indebtedness outstanding The agreements associated with our

indebtedness include number of financial covenants we do not satisf\ the covenants in our credit

agreements including the covenant to file consolidated financial statements and are unable to obtain related

waivers or amendments the lenders could declare default under our credit acreements Any default under our

credit agreements will allow the respective lenders the option to demand
repayment of the indebtedness

outstanding and would allow certain other lenders to exercise their rights and remedies under cross-default

provisions If these lenders were to exercise their rights to accelerate the indebtedness outstanding there can he

no assurance that we would he able to refmance or otherwise repa any amounts that may become accelerated

under the agreements The acceleration of significant portion of our indebtedness would have material

adverse effect on our business liquidity and financial condition

If we do not satisfy the foregoing covenants and the lenders do not grant waivers and elect to exercise their

remedies upon default we would he required to refinance or otherwise repay this outstanding indebtedness

Given our existmg financial condition and current conditions in the global credit markets should these events

occur there would likely he uncertainties regarding our ability to continue as going concern

Restrictions in our debt agreements limit our operating and strai.egic flexibility

Our debt agreements contain restrictions covenants and default provisions that among other factors require

us to satisfy financial covenant tests including maintaining minimum net worth for certain operating

subsidiaries and meeting consolidated fixed-charge coverage ratio Among other things these restrictions

covenants and default provisions limit our ability to or do not permit us to

incur additional debt

create liens

redeem and prepa\ certain debt

pay cash dividends make other distributions or repurchase stock

make investments

engage in asset sales outside the ordinary course of business

enter into certain transactions with affiliates

engage in certain mergers and acquisitions and

make certain capital expenditures

E\ ents beyond our control could also affect our ability to comply with these restrictions and covenants

including the required financial covenant tests Failure to comply with any of these debt covenants would result

in default under the applicable agreements and under our other debt agreements containing cross-default
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provisions default would permit lenders to accelerate the matunty of the debt under these agreements

foreclose upon our assets securing the debt and terminate any commitments to lend Under these circumstances

we ma not have sufficient funds or other resources to satis our debt and other obligations in addition the

limitations imposed by these debt agreements on our ability to incur addrnonal debt and to take other actions mai

significantly impair our ability to obtain other financing

Our substantial leverage and related debt service obligations could adversely affect our cash flows and

business in addition we have not generated consistent positive cash flows from operations in recent years

Our failure to generate positive
cash flows from operations in the future

would materially adversely affect

our ability to meet our debt service obligations

Among other things our substantial indebtedness and debt service obligations

limit the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital capita expenditures acquisitions

investments and other general corporate purposes

limit our flexibility in planning
for or reacting to changes in our business and the industry in which we

operate

limit our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital capita expenditures strategic

acquisitions investments and other general corporate purposes

limit our ability to refinance our indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all

increase our exposure to fluctuating interest rates

restrict our credit with suppliers limiting our ability to purchase inventory and

make us more vulnerable to economic downturns increased competition and adverse industry

conditions which places us at disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less indebtedness

In 2008 and 2007 we incurred significant losses During the same periods we used $10.9 million and $8.8

million respectively in cash to repay principal and pay interest on our outstanding debt At May 2009 our

aggregate outstanding indebtedness was approximately
$372 million If we are unable to generate sufficient cash

flows from operations in the future it may be necessary for us to refinance all or ponion of our indebtedness

obtain additional financing or take other actions

.4s result of our failure to comply with SEC reporting obligations we were required to obtain waivers in

connection with the delivery of audited consolidated financial statements and related matters under our debt

agreements We may need to obtain additional waivers in the future The failure to obtain the necessary

waivers could have material adverse effect on our business liquidity amid fin.ancioi condition

Under our debt agreements our lenders have the right to noti us if they believe ve have breached

representation or covenant and ma declare an event of default If we do not cure the events of default or obtain

necessary
waivers within the required time periods our lenders would he permitted to accelerate the matunt of

the debt under these agreements
foreclose upon our assets secunng the debt and terminate an\ commitments to

lend in addition our ability to incur additional indebtedness would he restricted Moreover matenal defaults

under our debt agreements could trigger
cross-default provisions

under other debt arrangements

in 2009 2008 and 2007 we obtained agreements from our lenders to watve breaches under our debt

agreements
and establish extended deadlines for the delivery of our audited consolidated financial statements if

are unable to provide audited consolidated financial statements on time basis in future penods or if we

ere to breach any other covenants there can he no assurance that any additional waivers will he received on

timely basis if at all or that any waivers obtained will extend for sufficient period of time to avoid an

acceleration event an event of default or other restrictions on our business The failure to obtain the necessary

modifications or waivers could have material adverse effect on our business liquidity and financial condition
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We ma need addisionalfundin.g to support our operations Sufficient funding will be subject to conditions

and ma not be available to us which would athersel affect our business

We rely heavily on debt financing for our operations which could become more and more difficult to obtain

given the recent uncertainties in the global credit markets Our debt financing arrangements are for terms that

var\ Our primary revolving line of credit in the United States expires in September 2010 and our primary line of

credit in Europe expires in October 2011 At the expiration of any credit facility the lender is not obligated to

renegotiate the terms of the loan and can require full repayment at that time lit the past we have successfully

extended the term of each of our facilities on or before the time they expired However we cannot assure you

that in the future our lenders will be willing to extend the terms of our existing loans or extend the terms of those

loans on terms that are acceptable to us If we are unable to secure additional financing at the expiration of any

our debt facilities our business would be adversely impacted

If the global credit market crisis continues it may impact our ability to obtain debt financing for our

operations and the unavaiLabilit offunding could a.therseiy affect our business

As result of current economic uncertainties including with respect to global capital and credit markets and

overall economic growth we may find it more difficult or expensive to secure additional capital or credit to

pursue actions we would consider beneficial to us or our shareholders such as acquisitions or capital

investments Our ability to continue operations could also he dependent on our ability to obtain alternative debt

andJor equity financing The inabilirt to obtain such financing would have material adverse effect on our

operations and financial condition

Our primary revoliin.g credit facilities are subject to borrowing base limitations which could adversely

affect our liquidin and business

The maximum amounts we can borrow under our primary revolving credit facilities are subject to borrowing

base limitations which are calculated as percentage of our eligible inventort and accounts receivable If our

inventory or accounts receivable are deemed ineligible because for example they are held outside certain

geographical limitations or receivable is older than 90 days the amount we can borrow under the revolving

credit facilities could he reduced This reduction could have material adverse inipact on our liquidity and

business

substantial part of our debt was financed by bond offering we made in 2004 The bond indenture

permits the bondholders to require us to redeem the bonds at face value in March 2011 which required

would materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition

In 2004 we sold bonds to the public in the amount of SflO million The bond indenture permits the

bondholders to require us to redeem the bonds at face value in March 2011 March 2014 and March 2019 If the

bondholders require us to redeem the bonds in March 2011 we would be required to pay to the bondholders SIlO

million if we are unable to raise the funds necessary to pay the bondholders which could he dfflcult in the

current global credit market we would be in default of our obligations under the indenture which could lead to

cross-default of most of our other outstanding debt arrangements requiring all of that debt to he repaid If we

unable to cure the defaults our lenders could exercise their contractual rentedies including the foreclosure on our

inventory and accounts recei\ able

We are subject to proposed tax assessment in France that could have material adverse effect on our

financial condition results of operations and cash flows

On June 2008 our export subsidiary in the United Kingdom received notification from the French tax

authorities that they were proposing to issue tax deficiency notice against our export subsidiary for the failure

to pay value-added tax and corporate income tax in France during the period of January 2002 to December 31
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2006 in an amount including interest and penalties of approximately 27.3 million $38.2 million at an

exchange rate of $1 401 .00 as of December 31 2008 Subsequently the French tax authorities issued tax

assessment against our U.K export subsidiary We intend to defend this matter vigorously and avail ourselves of

all available defenses The matter is in the preliminan stages and therefore we are not in position to estimate

loss if an or range of potential loss As no amount of potentia loss is both probable and estimable no accrual

has been made in the consolidated financial statements as of December 31 2008 or 2007 However negative

outcome of this matter could have material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position results of

operations and cash flows

The goodwill on our balance sheet may not be recoverable and may be impaired in future periods reducin.g

the carrying value of goodwill as an asset

The \aiue of goodwill on our balance sheet is evaluated in part based on the trading price of our common

stock On December 31 2008 and 2007 the per-share closing price of our common stock was $0.60 and $6.01

respectively During 2008 and 2007 we recorded aggregate goodwill impairment charges of $58.3 million On

May 29 2009 our stock closed at $1.07 per share but has traded below $1.00 in 2009 As result goodwill ma
he further impaired in 2009 As of December 31 2008 and 2007 the carrying

value of our goodwill was $19.2

million and $26.2 million respectively

We rely in large part on credit lines provided by manufacturers to finance our inventory purchases which

lines are subject to change by the manufacturer with little or no notice Without such credit lines our ability

to purchase and hold inventory could be negatively impacted which could advers clv affect our results of

operations and business

To fmance our purchases of inventory we rely in large part on credit lines provided by the product

manufacturers These manufacturers are under no obligation to provide these credit lines to us and have complete

discretion in determining the size of the credit lines Our manufacturers could determine to reduce or eliminate

these credit lines because of their own financial condition the global credit environment or their perception of

our creditworthiness in the event one or more credit lines is reduced or eliminated our ahilir\ to purchase and

hold inventory would he negative\ impacted and would likely have an adverse impact on our results of

operations and business

.4 portion of our profitability is based on rebates we receive from manufacturers These rebates may be

reduced by manufacturers or we may not be able to participate in rebate offers made by manufacturers

Manufacturers have historically offered to their distribution partners including us rebates associated with

the sale of their products Recently because of global economic issues manufacturers have begun selectively

reducing the rebates they offer In addition some rebates require us to qualify in order to receive the rebates by

taking relatively large orders over short period of time or paying
invoices in significantly less time than what is

commercially standard under the circumstances Due to our financial condition we ma\ he unwilling or unable

to take advantage of these rebate offers from manufacturers thereby adversely impacting our profltahilit

Risks Related to Our Business

We rely on small number of suppliers for products that represent significant portion of our inven.tori

purchases Any change in our relationships with these suppliers could have an adverse effect on our results

of operations

ln 2008 2007 and 2006 five suppliers accounted for approximately 249 269 and 369 respectiveli of

our inventory purchases
These suppliers have varie of other distributors to choose from which allows them

to make substantial demands of us in addition each of these suppliers may terminate its relationship with us on

relatively short notice .A change in our relationships with these suppliers could have an adverse effect on our

financial c.ondition and results of operations
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Many suppliers have consolidated in recent years resulting in fewer suppliers of the products in the markets

we serve Moreover suppliers have been consolidating the number of distributors they utilize Further

consolidation in the industry could adversely affect our relationships with our suppliers which could have an

adverse effect on our business

In addition certain suppliers in our industry routinely purchase credit msurance from several major carners

to manage collection risks and there can be no assurance that credit insurance will continue to be provided by

those carriers reduction in credit insurance available to our suppliers could result in decreased credit lines

from suppliers to us and therefore impact our ability to mamtain sufficent mventory all of which could have

material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations

reduction in the iendor allowances we collect from the manufacturers of the products we sell could

adversely affect our results of operations

We receive credits from manufacturers of the products we sell for pnce protection product rebates

marketing promotions and other competitive pricins programs in some instances these vendor allowances

represent significant contribution to our pricing decisions and therefore our profitability If manufacturers

reduce the amount of vendor allowances available to us decide to temtinate vendor allowance programs or if we

are unable to collect allowances that have been made available to us it could have material adverse effect on

our results of operations

We operate in an industry with significant pricing an.d margin pressure

Our industry experiences intense competition in pricing There are several distributors in each of the

markets in which we operate that disihure products that are identical or similar to the products we distribute As

result we face pricing and margin pressure on continual basis Additionally the mix of products we sell also

affects overall margins if we increase sales from products that are more widely distributed we may reduce our

overall gross profit margin as those products trpicallv have lower margins Freight costs and foreign currenc\

exchange exposure can also have an adverse effect on margins

Our international operations trade in local currencies that subject us to risks related to the fluctuation of

foreign currencies against the U.S dollar

Our international revenues represented 79l 86i and 60i of our revenues in 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively We believe that international sales will represent large percentage of our net sales for the

foreseeable future Because our international operations trade in the currencies of the jurisdictions in which they

operate we are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and face exposure to adverse changes

in these rates These exposures mat he different over time as business practices change For each of our foreign

subsidiaries the local currency is its functional currency To the extent our revenues and expenses are

denominated in currencies other than U.S dollars gains and losses on the conversion to U.S dollars mat

contribute to fluctuations in our operating results We have in the past entered and expect in the future to enter

into hedging arrangements and local currency borrowing facilities to reduce this exposure hut these

arrangements will not eliminate the significant effects these currency fluctuations may have on our results of

operations An increase in the value of the dollar could increase the real cost of our products to our customers in

those markets outside the United States where we sell in dollars and weakened dollar could increase the cost of

local operating expenses and procurement of product to the extent that we must purchase product in foreign

currencies

The products we sell may not satisfy shiftin.g customer demand or compete successfully with our

competitors products

Our business is based on the demand for the products we sell which are primarily used in the manufacture

or configuration of electronic products These end products typically have short life cycles and experience

intense price competition Our success depends upon our ahilitt to identif\ new product lines that ill achieve
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market acceptance and to establish relationships with supplers
that will develop these products on timel\ basis

in response to the rapid technological changes in our industry If we misinterpret consumer preferences or fail to

respond to changes in the marketplace consumer demand for the products we sell could decrease Furthermore

our suppliers must commit significant resources each time they develop product If they do not invest in the

development of new products then the range
of products we offer may he reduced and the demand for the

products we offer may decrease If any of these events occur our sales could decline

substantial portion of our sales consist of disk drives which subjects us to the significant fluctuations in

th.e overall disk drive market

In 2008 2007 and 2006 26% 31% and 31% respectively of our worldwide sales consisted of disk drives

and 37% 41% and 42% respectively
of our U.S Distribution sales In 2008 the disk drive market was impacted

by the global
economic crisis in terms of decreased volume and average sefling pnces resulting in year-over-

year decrease in our disk drive revenue of 25% both worldwide and in the U.S Distribution segment The overall

disk drive market is subject to significant fluctuations over time and because significant portion of our sales

consist of disk drives our revenue and our profitability are subject to those same significant fluctuations

Our reliance on legacy information sstem.s that are supported by afew individuals as well as lack of

fully integrated information system could materially adversely affect our business

Some of our information systems
consist of legacy applications that are supported by small internal and

external IT teams As result the expertise to maintain and upgrade these systems resides in few individuals

which given the legacl nature of the information systems could make replacement of these individuals very

difficult These legacy IT systems may also not be compatible with commercially available software In addition

our information systems are not consistent across our operations making consolidation of financial information

increasingly difficult loss of our internal or external IT teams or the ability to consobdate financial and other

information across our operations could have material adverse effect on our business and results of operations

The value of our inventory may decline which could have an atherse effect on our financial condition and

results of operations

Our business model requires that we purchase and maintain adequate levels of inventory in order to meet

customer needs on timely basis The markets we serve are subject to rapid technological change ne and

enhanced products and evolving industry standards These changes along with changes in customer dentand

ntay cause our inventory on hand to substantially decline in value malorit of our suppliers provide protection

from loss in inventory values through price protection or the option to return products in some circumstances

However our suppliers may become unable or unwilling to fulfill these obligations

Supply shortages could adversely affect our operating
results and cash flows

We are dependent on our suppliers for the products we sell Histoncally our industry has expeneneed

periods of product shortages due to suppliers inability to accurately project demand When these shortages

occur we typically receive an allocation of the available product from our suppliers We cannot assure you that

our suppliers will be able to maintain an adequate supply of products to fulfill all of our customers orders on

timely basis If we are unable to enter into and maintain satisfactory distribution arrangements it ma delay the

avallahility and shipment of products to our customers This may lead to our customers purchasing products from

our competitors which could adversely affect our business

if we do not control our operating expenses we may not be able to successfully implement our strategy

The successful implementation of our strategy depends to substantial degree upon our ability to increase

sales while at the same time reducing or controlling operating expenses
We have implemented initiatives

intended to increase productivity and reduce costs These initiatives include siunificant personnel reductions
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reduction or elimination of non-personnel expenses streamlining operations and consolidating business lines We

cannot assure you that our efforts will produce the expected cost savings and other benefits Moreover our cost

reduction efforts may adversely affect our financial and operational controls and our ability to distribute products

in volumes required to meet customer demand These efforts ma also result in disruptions that could adversely

affect our ability to service customers

Our ability to operate effectively could be impaired if we fail to attract and retain ke personnel and

qualified managers

Our success largel\ depends on our ahili to recruit and retain qualified managers and ke\ personnel If one

or more of our key personnel particularl Donald Bell our Chief Executive Officer and President resigns or

otherwise tenninates his or her employment with us we could experience loss of sales and supplier

relationships and diversion of management resources Competition for skilled employees in the technology

industry is intense especially in the San Francisco Bay Area where many of our key employees are located

There can he no assurance that we wil he able to recruit and retain such personnel

In order to attract and retain personnel in competitive marketplace we have historically provided

competitive compensation packages including equity-based compensation The decline in our stock price or the

expectation that our stock price may not increase over time ma\ adversely affect our abilirv to attract or retain

kes employees In addition our stock option plan expired in May 2008 As result we are currently unable to

grant additional stock options or other equity awards to help attract and retain officers and other key employees

We have scheduled our next annual meeting of shareholders to he held on August 19 2009 and intend to ask our

shareholders to adopt new equity incentive plan at that time We can provide no assurance that our shareholders

will vote to adopt new equity incentive plan Without an active equity incentive plan our ability to attract and

retain personnel will he impacted negatively Further the compensation expense that must he recoenized in

connection with the cram of stock options and other equity awards may limit the attractiveness of using equity-

based compensation as primary incentive and retention tool in the future If we are unable to retain our existing

key personnel or hire and integrate new management or employees our business financial condition and results

of operations could he adversely affected

Our international operations subject us to a.dditional risks that may adversely affect our results of

operations

As described above sales from our international operations in recent years have represented significant

percentage of our net sales and we believe that international sales will continue to represent significant portion

of our business Our international operations are subject to number of risks including

accounts receivable collection risks longer payment cycles and unpredictable sales cycles

costs and difficulty in staffing and manacing foreign operations

import and export license requirements tariffs taxes and other uade harriers

potentially adverse tax consequences including restrictions on repatriating earnings and the potential

for double taxation

the burden of complying with wide variety of foreign laws treaties and technical standards and

changes in those regulations and

local political and economic instability

Our inabilit to adequate/v assess and monitor credit risks of our customers could have mn.aieria.l adverse

effect on our financial condition results of operations and liquidity

We are subject to the credit risk of our customers We use various methods to screen potential customers

and establish appropriate credit limits however these methods cannot eliminate all potential had credit risks and

ma\ not prevent us from approving applications that are fraudulently completed Moreover businesses that are
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good credit risks at the time of application may become had credit risks over time and we may fail to detect this

change in times of economic recession the number of our customers who default on payments owed to us tends

to increase if we fail to adequately assess and monitor our credit risks we could expenence longer payment

cycles increased collection costs and higher had debt expense

Most of our sales are on an open credit basis with typical payment terms of 30 dais in the United States

and because of local customs or conditions longer pen ods in some markets outside the Umted States We

monitor individual customer payment capability in granting such open credit armngements seek to limit such

open credit to amounts we believe the customers can pay and maintain reserves we believe are adequate to cover

exposure
for doubtful accounts

Our exposure to credit risks may increase if our customers are adversely affected hi the cuuem global

economic downturn or if there is continuation or worsening of the downturn Although we have programs in

place that are designed to monitor and mitigate the associated risk including monitoring of particular risks in

certain geographic areas there can he no assurance that such programs will he effective in reducing our credit

risks

in the past there have been bankruptcies among customers causing us to incur economic or financial losses

There can he no assurance that additional losses will not he incurred Future losses if mcurred could harm our

business and have material adverse effect on our operating
results and financial condition Addinonal to the

degree that the ongoing turmoil in the credit markets makes it more difficult for some customers to obtain

financing those customers ability to pay could he adversely impacted which in turn could have material

adverse impact on our business operating
results and financial condition

in addition our ability to borrow under our primary revolving credit facility and to incur additional

indebtedness is subject to limits based on percentage of our outstanding accounts receivable .A decrease in

accounts receivable resulting from an increase in had debt expense could adversely affect our liquidity

if we are unable to effecthely compete in our industry our operating results may suffer

The markets in which we compete are highly competitive As result we face vanet of sigmflcant

challenges including rapid technological advances price eronon changing customer preferences and evolving

industry standards Our competitors continue to offer products with improved pnce
and performance

characteristics and we will have to do the same in order to remain competitive
increased competitOn could

result in significant price competition reduced revenues lower profit margins or loss of market share am of

which would have material adverse effect on our business We cannot he certain that we will be able to

compete successfully in the future

We compete for customer relationships with numerous local regional national and international

distributors We also compete for customer relationships with suppliers including some of our own suppliers and

customers We believe our most significant competition for customers seeking both products
and services arises

from Atrms Avne.t and Magirus We believe our most significant competition for customers seeking onli

products
arises from Ingram Micro Tech Data SYNNEX Actehis and intcomex We also compete

ti ith

regionalized
distributors in North America Europe and Latin America who use their localized knos ledge and

expertise as competitive advantage Some of our competitors have superior brand recognition and greater

financial resources than we do which may enable them to increase their market share at our expense If we are

unable to successfully compete our operating results may suffer

We also compete
with other distributors for relationships with suppliers In recent years growing number

of suppliers
have begun consolidating the number of distributors the use This consolidation could result in

fewer major distributors in our industry As result of this consolidation we may lose relationships with certain

existing suppliers In addition suppliers have established and may continue to establish cooperative

relationships with other suppliers and data storage solution providers
These cooperative relationships may
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enable suppliers to offer comprehensive solutions that compete with those we offer and the suppliers rna\ have

creater resources to devote to sales and marketing efforts if we are unable to maintain our relationships with

existing suppliers and not establish new relationships it could harm our competitive position and adversely affect

our operating results

Our lack of long-term agreements with our customers could have material adverse effect on our business

Most of our sales are made on an order-by-order basis rather than under long-term sales agreements We
make commitments to our suppliers based on our forecasts of future demand variety of conditions both those

specific to our customers and those generally affecting the economy in the markets in which we operate ma
cause our customers to cancel reduce or delay purchase orders that were previousl made or anticipated

Generally customers can cancel reduce or delay purchase orders and commitments without penalty We seek to

mitigate these risks in some cases by entering into sales agreements that prohibit order cancellations and

product returns However we cannot assure you that these agreements wil adequateh protect us or that the

customer will honor the agreement significant number of cancellations reductions or delays in orders by

customers could material adversely affect our business

Failure to identify acquisition opportunities or to successfully integrate acquired businesses into our

operations could reduce our revenues and profi.ts and limit our growth

Historically substantial part of our growth has been achieved through the acquisition of cornplementai-

businesses An important component of our strategy is to continue to pursue selective acquisitions to develop and

expand our business The issues relating to the restatement of our consolidated financial statements the inability

to timely file periodic reports with the SEC and the delisting of our common stock have adversely affected our

ability to pursue acquisition opportunities in part because of our inability to issue additional recistered shares

Our identification of suitable acquisition candidates involves risks inherent in assessing the value strengths

weaknesses overall risks and profitability of acquisition candidates We may he unable to identify suitable

acquisition candidates in the future if we do not make suitable acquisitions we ma find it more difficult to

realize our growth ohectives

The process of integrating new businesses into our operations poses numerous risks including

an inability to integrate acquired operations accounting systems and processes information systems

and internal control systems

exposure to unanticipated contingent liabilities of acquired companies

use of substantial portions of our available cash to consummate an acquisition andlor to operate the

acquired business

diversion of managements attention

difficulties and uncertainties in transitioning the business relationships from the acquired entity to us

the loss of key supplier relationships upon change of ownership of the acquired husiness and

the loss of key employees of acquired companies which could lead to loss of customers or supplier

relationships

In addition future acquisitions may he dilutive to our shareholders cause us to incur additional

indebtedness and large one-time expenses or create intangible assets that could result- in sirnificant amortization

expense If we expend significant amounts of cash or incur additional debt our iiquidit may decline and we ma\

be more vulnerable to economic downturns and competitive pressures We cannot assure you that will he able

to successfully complete any future acquisitions that we will he able to finance acquisitions or that we will

realize an anticipated benefits from any acquisitions that we do complete



Our geographic coverage on the European continent is not as extensive as some of our competitors which

ma lead manufacturers to select our competitors over us as their distributor

Our geographic coverage on the European continent is not as extensive as some of our competitors

Manufacturers use varieti of criteria to select their distributors whether for new products or in the event of

distributor consolidation Our smaller geographic coverage as compared to some of our competitors may cause

manufacturers to select our competitors as their distributors rather than us which could have an adverse impact

on our operations

If we cannot effectively manage our growth our business may suffer

Although our overall sales decreased from 2007 to 2008 we have histoncally experienced significant

revenue growth each year
We intend to continue to pursue

the growth of our business by increasing our sales

efforts and completing selective acquisitions Such growth places significant strain on our managenal

financial operational
technical sales marketing and administrative resources To effective manage our

growth we must among other factors

engage train and manage larger sales and marketing force and additional service personnel

expand
the geographic coverage of our sales force

expand our information systems

identify and successfully integrate acquired businesses into our operations

successfully develop and deploy competitive c-commerce and web-based technologies and

enforce appropriate
financial and administrative control procedures

.kn failure to effectively manage our growth may adversely affect our business

The current economic downturn has adversely affected customer spending patterns which has affected our

business and results of operations
and nui have further adverse effects on our business

The disruptions in the financial markets and challenging economic conditions have adversely affected the

tjaited States and world economy and in particular reduced consumer spending and spending
businesses

Turmoil in global credit markets and recent turmoil in the geopolitical
environment in many parts of the world

and other disruptions such as changes in energy costs are and may continue to put pressure on global economic

conditions Our operating results in one or more segments may also he affected uncertain or changing

economic conditions particularly germane to that segment or to particular customer markets within that segment

if our customers delay or cancel spending on their IT infrastructure that decision could result in reductions in

sales of our products longer sales cycles and increased price competition There can he no assurances that

government responses to the disruptions
in the financial markets will restore spending to previous levels If

global economic and market conditions or economic conditions in the LTnited States or other kei markets

remain uncertain or persist spread or deteriorate further we may expenence matenal impacts on our business

operating results and financial condition

Our geographic reach requires that we have signficant an.ount of intercompany
sales across

international borders which subject us to the risk that the transfer pricing betl4een our subsidiaries will be

subject to review by the local taxing authorities frndin.g by the local taxing authorities that our transfer

pricing is inadequate could subject us to significant liability

We sell significant amount of product to our local subsidiaries at cost we believe is fair and reasonable

based on the cost of the product plus reasonable margin Because these sales are significant the sales are

subject to review by local taxing authorities who may clalm that we transfeiTed the goods at cost that is below

that which is fair or reasonable if we are subject to review we may incur significant costs participating in and



responding to such an investigation In addition if it is detemiined that we did not adequately set the transfer

pnces between our cross-border subsaliaries we may he subject to tax assessments that could he sionificant and

adversely impact our results of operations

Some of our operations are located in areas that are subject to natural disasters that could result in

business stoppage and adversely affect our results of operations

Our operations depend ott our ability to maintain and protect our facilities computer systems and persomiel

Our corporate headquarters including some of our business operations computer systems and personnel are

located in the San Francisco Bay Area which is in close proximity to known earthquake faults In addition

substantial portion of our IT infrastructure is located in Montgomery Alabama which is susceptible to tornados

and hurricanes Our backup systems only reside locally for each IT system An earthquake or other catastrophe

communication failure or similar event which disables our facilities requirino transportation of electronic backup

media to an unaffected location or impairs the transportation of our employees and causes business

interruption may have an adverse effect on our results of operations

Our business model requires us to hold inventor in number of different locations both intern.ationall

and domestically and is subject to inventon theft

We hold inventort of expensive high technology products in reasonable proximitY to our customers around

the world From time to time in the past we have experienced inventory theft both in the United States and

abroad While we have safeguards in place to protect against theft theft continues to occur In addition we

purchase insurance to cover potential theft however the insurance policies require payment of high deductibles

and may not cover every situation If we were to experience significant loss of inventory due to theft it could

have an adverse effect on our results of financial condition

We operate in number of jurisdictions and some of our personnel travel extensively which subject

our employees to contagious airborne pathogens including the H1N1 influenza virus or swine flu

We operate in number of jurisdictions including number of countries in Latin America Our personnel

also travel extensively by air and other modes of common commercial transportation If significant number of

our personnel were to become exposed to one or more contagious pathogens including the HINI influenza virus

or if one or more of the countries we operate in experiences sirnificant quarantine our ability to sell products

to our customers could be negatively impacted which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

The price of our conmon stock has been and may continue to be volatile in the future which could cause

the value of an investment in our common stock to decline

From January 2009 through May 29 2009 the high and low sales prices of our common stock were $1.2

and $0.36 respectively The market price of our common stock ma continue to fluctuate substantially in the

future in
response to number of factors including

fluctuations in our quarterly operating results or the operating results of our competitors

continued operating losses or the inahilit\ to generate positive cash flows

changes in general conditions in the economy the financial markets or our industry

the ability to timely file future consolidated financial statements

the ahilit\ to remediate identified material weakjesses

announcements of significant acquisitions strategic alliances or joint ventures by our customers or our

competitors and

other developments affecting us our industry suppliers customers or competitors
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The stock market has recently experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations This volatility has had

significant effect on the market prices of securities issued by many companies for reasons unrelated to their

operating performance These broad market fluctuations ma materially adversely affect the market price of our

common stock regardless of our operating results in addition as result of its small public float and limited

trading volume our common stock ma he more susceptible to volatility axising from am of these factors

Item lB Unresolved Staff Continents

None

Item Properties

North America in North America our corporate headquarters are located in San Jose California and we

occupy approximately 77.000 square feet of leased office space
for that purpose under two operating leases The

cunent terms of these leases expire on December 31 2009 however we have the option to extend the term of

each of these leases to December 31 2011 In addition for our U.S Distribution segment in North Atnerica we

occupy approximatey 14 sales offices that we lease pursuant to leases that expire through 2012 We also occupy

two integration and service centers and three warehouses in San Jose California ea Castle Delaware and Elk

Grove Village Illinois all of which together comprise approximately 21 8.000 square feet pursuant to leases that

expire through 2011 We also maintain an approximately 27000 square foot leased facility in Montgomert

Alabama housing our corporate IT data center and primary call center The lease for this facility will expire in

November 2012

in connection with our acquisition of ProS in October 2006 we added approximately 33.000 square feet

of office space
and approximately 60000 square feet of warehouse space located near Atlanta Georgia These

leases expire in January 2024 and November 2025 respectively Our ProSvs segroent as also supported by four

additional office space
leases and 32.500 square foot facility located in Kentucky which expires ts 2010

Our TotalTec segment is supported by three office space leases in Nen Jersey Maryland and Florida

comprising 75.000 square feet in leases that expire through 2009

Our Canada segment operates in three office and warehouse facilities in Quebec British Columbia and

Ontario totaling 21.000 square feet under leases expiring through 2014

The Rorke Data operation which included in our Other segment maintains 46.000 square foot facility in

Eden Prairie Minnesota under lease that expires in 2014

Latin .4merica Our Latin America group leases its headquarters in Doral Florida which is comprised of

approximately 120.000 square feet The lease for this facilitr expires in 2014 and is related to our Miarnt

segment Throughout Latin America we occupy 20 sales offices and distribution facilities totaling approximately

123.000 square feet These properties are used by the portion of the Other segment related to in-country

operations in Brazil Chile and Mexico

Europe Our European uroup maintains its headquarters comprised of approximately 8.000 square feet of

leased office space in Chessington England The lease for this facility expires in 2010 Our European group also

leases approximately 55.000 square feet of unused arehouse space in Chessinffon pursuant to lease that

expires in 2010 and distribution center in Birmingham England which we culrentv utilize at 60ff of capacity

comprised of approximately 126.000 square feet of
space

under lease that expires in 2019 Our value-added

storage and solutions business servicing the United Kingdom and Ireland occupies approximately 23.000 square

feet in Haslingden England in premises we own We also maintain approximately 20.000 square
feet of

additional office and warehouse spaces
under leases that terminate through 2019 We also maintain sales office

iocated in Neuhiberg Germant comprising of approximately 18.500 square feet under lease that will expire in

2012 as eli as other sales offices in Germany totaling 6.600 square
feet under leases expiring through 2009



Our Continental European distribution center was relocated into larger facility in Poino Germany in August

2007 comprising approximately 93.000 square feet The lease for this facility will expire in July 2012 We lease

approximately 31.000 square feet of office and warehouse space in Almere and Hoogeveen Netherlands under

leases expinng through 2014 We also occupy sales offices in Belgium France ltai and Spain comprising

approximately 12.000 square feet under leases that expire through 2015 These properties are used by the Europe

segment

We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our current operational needs

Item Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various claims suits investigations and legal proceedings that arise from time to time in

the ordinary course of our business As required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS
No of the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASBL Accounting for Contingencies SFAS No 5i
we accrue liability when we believe that it is both probable that liability has been incurred and we can

reasonably estimate the amount of the loss The fofl owing is discussion of our significant legal matters

On June 2008 our export subsidiary in the United Kingdom received notification from the DirecTion

GdnØrale des Finances Publiques that the French tax authorities were proposing to issue tax deficiency notice

against our export subsidiary for the failure to pay value-added tax and corporate income tax in France during the

penod of January 2002 to December 31 2006 in an amourn including interest and penalties of approximately

27.3 million 538.2 million at an exchange rate of 51401 .00 as of December 31 2008i Suhsequent1 the

French tax authorities issued tax assessment against our U.K export subsidiary We are contesting the proposed

assessment and intend to defend this matter vigorously and avail ourselves of all available defenses

On December 29 2008 John Campbell who alleges he is one of our shareholders caused purported

shareholders denvative lawsuit against us to he filed in the Superior Court of California for the County of San

Mateo as nominal defendant and of our current and former officers and directors seeking to recover

unspecified damages purpoi-tedlv sustained by us in connection with our historical stock option granting

practices Subject to certain limitations we are obligated to indemnify our current and former officers and

directors in connection with the investigation of our historical stock option practices and such lawsuits Although

the matter is in its preliminary stages and we have procured insurance coverage for these types of claims the

expense for us to defend this lawsuit may he significant

In February 2008 independent counsel to the Board accompanied by our counsel self-reported to the SEC

as to the findings of the independent investigations conducted by special committees of the Board The SEC

commenced non-public fact-finding inquiry into our historical accounting practices For summary of the

Investigations and our internal reviews see Part II Item Managements Discussion and 4n.alvsis of

Financial Condition and Results of Opei-arions Restatement and Related Investigations in this Annual Report

on Form 10-K For description of the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting identified

by management as result of the investigations and our internal reviews as well as those identified through

December 31 2008 and managements plan to remediate those material weaknesses see Part 11Item 9A

Controls and Procedures The inquiry being conducted by the SEC is ongoing and we continue to cooperate with

the SEC

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of SecurTh Holders

No matters were submitted to vote of security holders in 2008 or 2007
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equift Related Stockholder Maers and Issuer Purchases of

Equifv Securities

Prior so March 19 2008 our common stock traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol

BELM Effectire March 19 2008 our common stock was suspended from tradins on the NASDAQ Global

Market and cutTentls trades on the Pink OTC Market or Pink Sheets under the symbol BELM.PK For

additional infoation related to the delisting of our common stock see Item Manogemeni Discussion and

Ana/vsis of Financial Condition anir Results of Ope nations .hkSDA

The following table sets forth the high and low sale prices of our common stock as reported by the

NASDAQ Global Market prior so March 19 2008 for each of the periods indicated and the hich and low bid

quotations for our common stock as reportad by Pink Sheets on and after March 19 2008 for each of the periods

indicated The o\er-the-counter quotations reflect inter-dealer prices without retail mark-up mark-doun or

commission and may not necessarily represent transactions

High Low

2007

First quarter

88.10 86.32

Second quarter
7.26 6.05

Third quarter

7.12 4.90

Fourth quarter

6.62 5.25

2008

First quamer
86.60 81 .51

Second quarter

.92

Third quarter

2.50 1.31

Fourth quarter
1.95 0.27



The graph heow matches the cumulative five-year total return to holders of Bell Microproducts 1.nc

common stock with the cumulative iota returns of the SP 500 index and the NYSE Arca Tech 100 index The

graph assumes that the value of the investment in our common stock and in each of the indexes including

reinvestment of dividends was 100 on December 2003 and tracks it through December 2008

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Bell Microproducts Inc. The SP 500 Index

And The NYSE Arca Tech 100 Index

Bell Microproducts Inc SP 500 -0- NYSE Arca Tech 100

S100 invested on 12/31/03 in stock or index including reinvestment of dividends

Fiscal year ending December 31

Copvright 2009 SF division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc Al rights reserved

12/06

77.81

134.70

117.83

12/07 12/08

6fL34 6.62

142.10 89.53

132.84 85.44
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-------
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12/03 12104 1205 1206 12/07 12/08

12/13 12/04 t2/O5

Bell Microproducts inc 100.01 116.18 84.44

SP500 100.00 110.88 116.33

NYSE Arca Tech 100 100.01 10618 110.39
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The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price

performance

As ofMa 3L 2009 there were approximately 313 holders ofrecord of our common stock not including

shares held in street name

To date we have paid no cash dividends to our shareholders We have no plans to pay cash dividends in the

future Our line of credit agreements prohibit
the payment of dividends or other distributions on any of our shares

except dividends payable in our capital stock

We did not sell any unregistered shares of our conmion stock during 2008

We did not repurchase any shares of our outstanding common stock durins the years ended December 31

2008 and 2007 excepT in the third and fourth qilarters
of 2008 as set forth in the table below

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Maximum
Number or

.pproximate
Dollar

Va1ue

Total of Shares

Number of That

Shares Purchased Mat Yet

as Part of Purchased

Total PubIicl Under Plans

Number of Average Price Paid Announced Plans or

Shares Purchased Per Share or Proerams Programs
Period _________________ ___________________ _________________

July 2008 July 31 2008

August 1.2008August 31 2008

September 2008 September 30 2008 405.736 4.93

October 2008 October 31 2008

November 2008 November 30 2008

December 2008 December 31 2008 304.3001 93

Total
710.036 84.93

On August 26 2008 the Company and the former stockholders of ProSys the Holders entered into the

Second Amendment to the Registration Rights Agreement which required the Company to purchase

10.036 shares of Companl common stock 405.736 in September 2008 and 304.300 in December 2.008

used as consideration in the acquisition of ProS at the value agreed-upon at the time of the acquisition

Item Selected Financial Data

The followins selected consolidated financial data as of December 31 1008 and 2007 and for the \ears

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements

included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K The selected consolidated financial data as of

December 2006 and 2005 and for the years ended December 31 2005 and 2004 are derived from our audited

consolidated financial statements not contained herein The selected consolidated financial data as of

December 2004 is derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements not contained herein The

historical results do not necessarily indicate results to he expected for any future penod



Fie- Year Selected Financial Highlights

Includes the results of operations of ProSvs Information Systems since the acquisition of substantially al of

its assets on October 2006 See Note Goodwill and Other intangible Assets and Note

Acquisitions in our notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form

10-K for additional information

Includes the results of operations of MCE Group since its acquisition on December 2005 and Net Storage

since its acquisition on July 2005 See Note .4cquisilions in our notes to the consolidated financial

statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information

Includes the results of operatiDns of OpenPSL Holdings Limited since its acquisition on June 22 2004

As of December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

in thonsads

53.949.905

3.609.362

340.543

$3.$72.876

3.098135

274.741

53.139.250

2.923.476

15.774

Years Ended December 31

20081 23 20071 23 2006rt 23 200523 20043

in thousands except per share data

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Data

Net sales 53.579.499 52.796.447

Cost of sales 3.244.053 2.582.915

Gross profit 335446 213.532

Selling general and administrative

expense 307.046 293.780 238.166 198023 189.506

Investigati on and restatement-related

costs 52.133 26.328 1.649

Impairment of goodwill and other

intangibles 5.864 52.445 3.477 7.296

Restructuring and impairment costs 4.289 1.404 1.275

Total operating expenses 369.332 373.957 243.292 206.594 89.506

Operating income loss 33.886 33.44 31.449 9.180 24.026

Interest expense net 29.898 34.163 29.456 22.190 17.144

Other expense income net 10509 2.426 2.848 1.373 251

Income loss before income taxes 74293j 65.151 4.841 14.383 7.133

Provision for income taxes 527 6961 27.948 1.265 4.298

Net income loss 74.820 72.112 23.107 15.648 2.835

Net income loss per share

Basic 2.32 2.24 0.75 0.53 0.10

Diluted 2.32 2.24 0.75 0.53 0.10

Shares used in per share calculation

Basic 32.299 32248 30.772 29.299 27.678

Diluted 32.299 32248 30.772 29.299 28.522

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Working capital $117681 196.856 220.701 $216941 8214.505

Goodwill 19.211 26.214 69.161 51.931 53254

Total assetc 774.888 1.101.826 1.044.815 890.753 807.950

Long-term debt 183547 160.053 169.660 146.699 159.131

Shareholder equity deficit 15.504 96.436 162.1 10 55.327 72.048
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condttion and Results of Operations

SPEciAL NOTE This secTion Maria geineni Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations contains forward-looking statements that are based on our current expectations Actual results in

future periods mar differ maieriallr from those expressed or itnphed hr those forward-looking statements

because qf number of risks and uncertainties For discussion of risk factors affecting our business and

prospects see Fart liens IA Risk Factors

Credit Agreement Covenants and Consolidated Financial Statement Presentation

Our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been

prepared on going concern basis which assumes continuity of operations and realization of assets and

satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinary course of business Our ability to continue as going concern is

dependent upon among other factors continuing to oenerate positive cash flows from operations maintaining

compliance with the provisions of our existing credit agreements and when necessary our ability to renew such

agreements and/or obtain alternative or additional financing We have not generated consistent positive cash

flows from operations in recent years Accordingly our compliance with the
provisions

of our existing credit

agreements and our ability to obtain alternative or additional financing when needed are an important part of our

ability to continue as going concern

in February 2009 we determined that for the quarter ended December 31 2008 we would not he in

compliance with the fixed-charge coverage ratio covenant under the terms of the loan and security acreement that

we entered into on May 14 2001 with Congress Financial Corporation Western which is now known as

Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation Western as agent for lenders under revolvmg line of credit the

Western Facility The lenders under the Western Facility agreed to waive this requirement by modifying the

terms of the agreement to remove this obligation for the fourth quarter of 2008 and modify the requirement in

subsequent quarters In February 2009 we also determined that we would not he in compliance with

consolidated net worth covenant under the terms of our agreements
with certain funds generally referred to as

The Retirement Systems of Alabama the RSA The RSA agreed to waive this requirement amend these

agreements to delete the consolidated net worth covenant and replace them with the same minimum fixed-charge

coveraoe ratio requirement of the current Western Facility in addition we detenmned in February 2009 that our

ProSvs subsidiary had failed to meet its financial covenants under its facility with GE Commercial Distnbution

Finance CDF for the 12 months ended June 30 2007 In February 2009 we received waiver of any default

occurring under the CDF facility prior to January 2008 and we entered into an amendment of the agreement

with CDF in March 2009

Our credit agreements currently include number of financial covenants

Our agreement with Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation Western and the other lenders named

therein and the credit agreements related to our 9% Senior Subordinated Notes payable to the RSA

principally financing our U.S operations both require that we satisfy minimum fixed-charge

coverage
ratio that requires us to have earnings before interest income taxes depreciation

amortization and restructuring charges EBITDA greater than or equal to specific percentage of

the payments we make for income taxes interest capital expenditures and pnncipal payments We

must satisfy the fixed-charge coverage ratio for the three-month penods ending March 31

2009 June 30 2009 and September30 2009 based upon
ratio of 35% 75% and 110% respectively

The measurement period extends to two quarters ending December 31 2009 three quarters ending

March 31 2010 and the 12-month period ending on the last day of each subsequent fiscal quarter
each

based upon
ratio of 110%

Our agreement with Bank of America National Association and the other lenders named therein

principall\ financing our European operations requires that we maintain minimum aggregate

quarterl tangible net worth of26.9 million 539.3 million using the exchange rate on December 31

2008 of .46/fl .00 for certain of our European subsidiaries
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Our CDF facility requires our ProSys subsidiary to maintain tangible net worth and subordinated debt

in the combined amount of not less than million ratio of funded debt to earnings before interest

taxes depreciation and amortization for the 2-month period ending on the last day of each fiscal

quarter of not more than four-to-one 41 and fixed-charge coverage ratio for the 12-month period

ending on the last day of such fiscal quarter of not less than one-and-one-half-to-one

Further our credit agreements contain certain non-financial covenants such as restrictions on the incurrence

of debt and liens and restrictions on mergers acquisitions asset dispositions capital contributions payment of

dividends repurchases of stock and investments as well as requirement that we provide audited consolidated

financial statements to lenders within prescribed time period after the close of our fiscal year

Although we have not completed our consolidated fmanciaJ statements for periods subsequent to

December 31 2008 we believe that we have complied with all financial and non-financial covenants in our debt

agreements as amended for the three months ended March 31 2009 and we believe we are in compliance for

the period ended June 30 2009 and presently believe we will he able to maintain compliance for the foreseeable

future However if we fail in the future to satisfy am of the covenants in our credit agreements and are unable to

obtain waivers or amendments the lenders could declare default under our credit agreements Any default

under our credit agreements will allow the lenders under these agreements the option to demand repayment of the

indebtedness outstanding under the applicable credit agreements and would allow certain other lenders to

exercise their rights and remedies under cross-default provisions If these lenders were to exercise their rights to

accelerate the indebtedness outstanding there can he no assurance that we would he able to refinance or

otherwise repay any amounts that may become accelerated under the agreements The acceleration of

significant portion of our indebtedness would have material adverse effect on our business liquidity and

financial condition Given our existing financial condition and current conditions in the global credit markets

should these events occur there would likely he uncertainties regarding our ability to continue as going

concern See Liqu.idirv and Capital Resources below for additional information

Restatement and Related Investigations

On November 2006 we announced that we had determined that we would he required to restate our

consolidated financial statements for the first second third and fourth quarters of 2005 the first and second

quarters of 2006 and the annual periods ended December31 2005 and 2004 and that those consolidated

financial statements should no longer he relied upon In addition we announced that we had identified material

weakness in our internal control over financial reporting Those conclusions reflected errors that had been

identified regarding the accounting treatment of earnout payments to certain former shareholders of

OpenPSL which we acquired in June 2004 errors in accounting for the foreign currency translation of

portion of the goodwill resulting front certain foreign acquisitions and errors in the accounting for certain

accrued employment benefits relating to tax liabilities of our Brazilian subsidiary Additionally after that time

various accounting adjustments were identified

While we were analyzing these accounting errors we announced on January 12 2007 that Special

Committee of the Board of Directors had been appointed to conduct an investigation of our stock-based

compensation practices with the assistance of independent counsel and independent forensic accounting

consultants On May 22 2007 we announced that the Special Committee had completed its investigation and

analysis and concluded that available evidence did not adequately support our use of some stock option grant

dates and that non-cash compensation expense adustments and related cash and non-cash tax adjustments would

he required

During the course of the stock-based compensation investigatrnn documents were identified that raised

questions about our historical accounting for certain reserves accruals and other accounting estimates In August

2007 our Board of Directors appointed second Special Contntittee to review the reserve and accrual issues

This second Special Committee retained independent counsel and independent forensic accounting consultants to



assist with the investigation On Ma\ 12 2008 we announced that the second Special Committee had concluded

its investigation and had determined that accounting errors and irregularities had occurred in connection with our

historical accounting for certain reserves accruals and other accounting estimates

During the course of our restatement work an issue was identified relaung to the accounting for certain

vendor allowances in connection with sales transactions that contemplated the repurchase of products at the time

of sale hi us The Audit Committee oversaw an investigation of the vendor allowance issue by our Director of

internal Audit assisted an independent forensic accounting consultant That investiganOn concluded that the

purpose of the underlying transactions was to obtain vendor allowances and due to the absence of documentation

evidencing vendors approval that the allowances were incorrectly recorded in our histoncal consolidated

financial statements

All of the investigations were completed and the results reported to the Board For more detailed

description of the restatement and related investigations see our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the ear ended

December31 2006

Critica Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management is required to make judgments assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported

when we prepare consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with generally accepted

accounting principles in the United States Note Swnniart of Significant Accounting Policies in our notes to

the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K describes the significant

accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements The following

critical accounting policies require significant judgments regarding assumptions and estimates used in the

preparation of our consolidated financial statements Actual results could differ from these estimates

Revenue Recognition

Generally we recognize product revenue when the following conditions are met we have received firm

customer order ii the goods have been shipped and title and nsk of loss have passed to the buyer in the price

to the buyer is fixed or determinable and ivj collectibility is reasonably assured Revenue is recorded net of

estimated discounts rebates and estimated returns We recognize service revenue as the services are performed

and the related costs are expensed as incurred If installation is essential to the functionality of the product then

product and service revenue is deferred until the service is completed

Certain customer arrangements require evaluation of the cnteria outlined in Issue No 99-19 of the

Emerging Issues Task Force EITF Reporting Revenue Gross as Principal Versus Net as an Agent EITF

99-19 in determining whether it is appropriate to record the gross
amount of sales and related costs or the net

amount earned as agent fees Generally when we are primarily obligated in transaction revenue is recorded on

cross basis Other factors that we consider in determining whether to recognize revenue on gross versus net

basis include our assumption of general and physical inventory risk our latitude in establishing prices our

discretion in selecting suppliers our determination of product or service specifications our involvement in the

provision of services and our assumption of credit risk When we conclude that we are not pnmanly obligated

we record the net amount earned as agent fees within net sales

We enter into multiple-element revenue arrangements as defined in EITF 00-21 Revenue Arrangements

vitli Multiple Del/vera b/es which ma include any combination of services extended warranty and hardware

multiple-element
arrangement is separated into more than one unit of accounting if all of the following critena

are met

The delivered items has value to the customer on stand-alone basis

There is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered itenis and

If the arrangement includes general right of return relative to the delivered items delivery or

performance of the undelivered items is considered probable and substantially in our control



If these criteria are met for each element and there is objective and reliable evidence of fair value for all

units of accounting in an arrangement the arrangement consideration is allocated to the separate units of

accounting based on each units relative fair value If these criteria are not met product and service revenue is

deferred and recognized upon delivery of the undehvered items

Shipping and handling costs charged to customers are included in net sales and the associated expense is

recorded in cost of sales for all periods which may not be comparable to other companies presentations

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest We evaluate the

collectihilltv of our accounts receivable based on combination of factors Collection risks are mitigated h\

sales to well-established companies ii ongoing credit evaluation of our customers and iii frequent contact

with our customers especially our most significant customers which enables us to monitor changes in business

operations and to respond accordingly When we are aware of circumstances that may impair specific

customers ability to meet its financial obligations to us we record specific allowance against amounts due io

us and thereby reduce the net receivable to the amount we reasonably believe is likely to be collected For all

other customers we recognize allowances for doubtful accounts based on the length of time the receivables are

outstanding industry and geographic concentrations the current business environment and our historical

experience If the financial c.ondition of our customers deteriorates or if economic conditions worsen additional

allowances may be required Based on managements analysis of uncollectible accounts reserves totaling S22.6

million or 4.9% of the gross accounts receivable balance were established at December 31 2008 compared with

813.1 million or 2.4% of the gross accounts receivable balance at December 31 2007 Historically our estimates

of the allowance for doubtful accounts have not deviated sicniflcantly front actual write-offs If an additional

0.2% to 0.5% of our accounts receivable were determined to be uncollectible at December 31 2008 then our

2008 operating income front continuing operations before income taxes would have decreased by 80.9 million

and $2.3 million respectively

Customer credits pertaining to price protection programs rebate programs promotions and product returns

are recorded to offset customer receivables When applicable credits are extinguished when customer applies

them to its related receivable or we are legally released front being the prirnan obligor under the liahilit

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or niarket Cost is generally determined by the first-in first-out

FIFO method Market is based on estimated net realizable value We assess the valuation of our inventory on

quarterly basis and periodically write down the value for estimated excess and obsolete inventort based on

estimates about future demand actual usage and current niarket value Once inventory is written down new

cost basis is established If an additional 0.2% to 0.5% of our inventory were determined to be excess and

obsolete at December 31 2008 then our 2008 gross profit and operating inconte from continuing operations

before income taxes would have decreased by 80.5 million and 81.3 million respectively

Stock-Based Compensation

We apply the provisions of FASBs Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123R Share-Based

Payment SFAS 123W which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all

stock-based awards made to employees and directors including employee stock options and restricted stock units

RSUs based on estimated fair values In March 2005 the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin SAB
No 107 Sli.are-BasedPavni.ent SAB 107 as amended SAB No 110 Use ofQ Simplified Method in

Developing an Estimate of Expected Term of Plain Vanilla Share Options SAB 110 providing

supplemental implementation guidance for SFAS 23R We have applied the provisions of SAB 107 and SAB

10 in our application of SFAS l23R
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Compensation expense for ail vested stock-based awards granted on or prior to December 31 2005 is

recognized under the provisions of the Accounting Principles Board APE No 25 Accounting for Stock

Issued to Employees APB 25 using the accelerated multiple-option approach while compensation expense

for all stock-based awards except performance-based
RSU grants unvested and granted on or pnor to

December 31 2005 or granted subsequent to December 31 2005 is recognized under SFAS l23R usmg the

straight-line single option method As stock-based compensation expense recognized in our results of operations

is based on awards ultimately expected to vest it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures SFAS 23R requires

forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised if necessary in subsequent pen ods if actual forfeitures

differ from those estimates

We utilize the Black-Scholes option pricing model for determining the estimated fair value for stock

options The fair values of RSUs generail equal their intrinsic value on the date of grant The Black-Scholes

valuation calculation requires us to estimate key assumptions such as future stock pnce
volatilir\ expected

terms risk-free rates and dividend yield Expected stock price volatility is based upon the historical volatility of

our stock Expected term is derived front an analysis of historical exercises and remaining contractual life of

options The risk-free rate is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant We have never

paid cash dividends and do not currently intend to pay cash dividends thus we have assumed 0% dividend

yield We must estimate potential forfeitures of stock grants and adiust compensation cost recorded accordingi

The estimate of forfeitures will be adjusted over the requisite service penod to the extent that actual forfeitures

differ or are expected to differ front such estimates Changes in estimated forfeitures wifl he recognized through

cumulative catch-up adjustment
in the period of change and will also impact the amount of stock compensation

expense to he recognized in future periods The following table summarizes the variables used in determining

fair value of awards granted during the three years in the period ended December 31 2008

2008 2007 2006

Volatility

41.4% 42.3% 51.8%

Expected term in years
3.56 3.49 3.39

Risk-free interest rate
2.3% 4.2% 4.6%

Volatility is measured using historical daily price changes of our common stock over the expected term of

the option

The expected term represents
the weighted average penod the option is expected to he outstanding and is

based on the historical exercise behavior of employees

The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S Treasury zero-coupon yield with maturity that approximates

the expected term of the option

Accouiitin.g for Income Taxes

The provision for tax liabilities and recognition of tax benefits involves evaluations and udgntents of

uncertainties in the interetation
of complex tax regulations by various taxing authorities In situations involving

uncertain tax positions related to income tax matters we do not recognize
benefit unless it is more likely than

not that our tax position will he sustained As additional information becomes available or these uncertainties are

resolved with the taxing authorities revisions to these liabilities or benefits may he required resulting in

additional provision for or benefit front income taxes reflected in our consolidated statement of operations

In order for us to realize our deferred tax assets we must he able to generate sufficient taxable income in

those jurisdictions
where the deferred tax assets are located When we assess the likelihood of realizing our

deferred tax assets we consider all available evidence both positive and negative including historical levels of

income future market growth expectations
and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income and

ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in the event we were to determine that would not he

able to realize all or pan of our net deferred tax assets in the future valuation allowance would he provided

against these deferred tax assets in the period in which we make such determination The most significant and

objective negative idence requiring us to record aluation allowance would he cumulative losses in recent



years Projected losses in future years while representing less objective negative evdence would also he

considered Conversely positive evidence would include historical and future sources of taxable income as well

as prudent and feasible tax planning strategies We exercise significant judgment in determining our provisions

for income taxes our deferred tax assets and liabilities and our future taxable income for purposes of assessing

our ability to utilize any future tax benefit from our deferred tax assets

in 2008 and 2007 we recorded valuation allowances on deferred tax assets in number of tax jurisdictions

the most significant of which were the U.S. the Netherlands and Germany The valuation allowances against the

deferred tax assets in these jurisdictions were generally recorded based upon the full deferred tax assets recorded

less any amounts considered realizable due to loss ca.rryhack claims The most significant tax jurisdictions with

deferred tax assets and no valuation allowance included the U.K and Brazil Overall amounts recorded for

deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance were $7.1 million and $9 million at December 31 2008 and

2007 respectively

.At December 31 2008 there was no provision for U.S income tax for undistributed earnings from foreign

subsidiaries as it is currently our intention to reinvest these earnings indefinitely in operations outside the U.S

The Compam believes it is not practicable to determine the Companys tax liability that may arise in the event of

future repatriation We expect to satisfy our anticipated cash needs for operations and capita requirements in

all jurisdictions through December 31 2009 using existing cash anticipated cash flows generated from

operations and borrowings under our existing lines of credit Virtually all of our foreign subsidiaries need cash

for day-to-day operations and expansion and as such we do not plan to repab-iate any of the foreign earnings if

repatriated these earnings could result in tax expense at the current federal statutor tax rate of 35i subject to

available net operating losses and other factors Subject to limitation tax on undistributed earnings may also he

reduced by foreign tax credits that may be generated in connection with the repatriation of earnings

We calculate our current and deferred tax provision based on estimates and assumptions that could differ

from the actual results reflected in income tax returns filed Adjustments based on filed returns are generalh

recorded in the period when the tax returns are filed and the global tax implications are known

We provide for potential income tax liabilities that could result from examinations of prior and current year

tax returns if the incunence of the income tax liability is probable and the amount of loss is reasonahl\ estimable

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to audits by federal state and foreien tax authorities which

may result in proposed assessments Our estimate of the potential outcome for any uncertain tax position requires

significant judcment We believe we have adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable outcome related to

these matters However our future results may include favorable or unfavorable adjustments to our estimated tax

liabilities in the period the assessments are made or resolved audits are closed or when statutes of limitation on

potential assessments expire Additionally the jurisdictions in which our earnings or deductions are realized mal

differ from our current estimates As result our effective tax rate may fluctuate significantly on quarter\

basis

As part of our accounting for business combinations some of the purchase price is allocated to goodwill and

intangible assets impairment charges associated with goodwill are generally nor tax deductible and result in an

increased effective income tax rate in the quarter the impairment is recorded Amortization expense associated

with acquired intangible assets is not tax deductible however deferred tax liabilities have been recorded for

non-deductible amortization expense as pan of the purchase price allocations In establishing the related deferred

tax liabilities we have taken into account the allocation of these identified intangibles among different taxing

jurisdictions Income tax contingencies existing as of the acquisition dates of the acquired companies are

evaluated quarterly and any adjustments are recorded as an adjustment to goodwill

Effective Januai 2007 we adopted the provisions of FASBs interpretation No 48.Accounring for

Lnceriainrv in Income Taxes an Inierpretarion of F.4SB Siatement .1Vo 109 FII 48i FIN 48 prescribes

more-likely-than-not threshold for financial statement recognition and measurement of tax position taken or
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expected to he taken in tax return This interpretation also provides guidance on derecognition of income tax

assets and liabilities classification of cun-ene and defened income tax assets and liabilities accounting for

interest and penalties associated with eta positions accounting for income taxes in interim periods and income

tax disclosures The cumulative effect of applying this interpretation has been recorded as decrease of $1 .f

million to accumulated deficit In conjunction
with the adoption of FII 48 we classified uncertain tax positions

as non-cunent income tax liabilities unless expected to he paid in one year We report penalties and interest

expense as component of the provision for income taxes and interest income from tta refunds as component

of other income in the consolidated statement of operations

Goodwill intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets

We apply the provisions of FASBs Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 142 Goodwill and

Other Intangible Assets SPAS 142 in our evaluation of goodwill and other intancible assets SFAS 142

eliminates the requirement to amortize goodwill but requires that goodwill he reviewed at least annually for

potential impairment

At December 31 2008 and 2007 we performed our annual goodwill impairment test In performing this test

and determining the appropriate goodwill impairment charge management considered in part
valuation

prepared by an independent valuation advisor

Effective March 19 2008 our common stock was suspended from trading on the Nasdaq Global Market

Consequently in the first quarter of 2008 we experienced signiflcant decline in the market value of our stock

As result our market capitalization was significantly lower than our book value and we believed that thts was

an indicator of potential impairment of our goodwill

In accordance with SFAS 142 we used two-step process to test goodwill for impairment The first step is

to determine if there is an indication of impairment by comparing the estimated fair value of each reporting unit

to its cartning value including existing goodwill SFAS 142 states that the reporting unit is considered as an

operating segment or one level below an operating segment i.e component of an operating segmenti

component of an operating segment can he reporting unit if the component constitutes business for which

discrete financial information is available and management regularly reviews the operating results of that

component SPAS 142 provides that two or more components of an operating segment shall he aggregated and

deemed single reporting unit if the components have similar economic characteristics

Using the criteria of FASBS Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 131 Disclosures about

Segments of an Enterprise andRelaiedlqfonnaiion SFAS l31 we determined that we had 12 operating

segments and 12 reporting units as of December 31 2006 The operating segments and reporting units

determined at December 31 2006 were as follows

U.S Distribution Rorke Data Chile IQQ Europe Distribution

Canada Latin America Export Mexico Europe Enterprise

TotalTec Chile Net Storage Brazil ProSs

During 2007 and in the three months ended March 31 2008 we changed the presentation of the financial

information used to determine operating segments under SPAS 131 by combining the financial results of Europe

Distribution and Europe Enterprise into combined operating segment Europe The change in operating segment

deteninnation required us to re-evaluate our historical SPAS 142 assumption of 12 reporting units for goodwill

impairment analysis As result we determined that we had the following 11 reporting units at December 31

2007 and March 31 2008 for goodwill impairment analysis

U.S Distribution Rorke Data Chile IQQ Europe

Canada Latin America Export Mexico ProSvs

Totallec Chile Net Storage Brazil



During the fourth quarter of 2008 we further changed the presentation of the financial information used to

determine operating segments under SPAS 131 by combining the financial results of Chile and Chile IQQ into

combined operating segment Chile The change in operating segment determination required us to re-evaluate

our historical SPAS 142 assumption of 11 reporting units for goodwill impairment analysis used at December 31

2007 and March 31 2008 As result we determined that we have ten reporting units at December 31 2008 for

goodwill impairment analysis consisting of the 11 reporting units determined at both March 31 2008 and

December 31 2007 less Chile IQQ

Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair value

We utilized combination of income and market approaches to estimate the fair value of our reporting units in

the first step In our analysis we weighted the income and market approaches 75% and 25% respectively

The income approach utilizes estimates of discounted cash flows of the reporting units which requires

assumptions of among other factors the reporting units expected long-term revenue trends as well as estimates

of profitability changes in working capital and long-term discount rates all of which require significant

judgment The income approach also requires the use of appropriate discount rates that take into account the

current risks in the capital markets The market approach evaluates comparative market multiples applied to our

reporting units businesses to yield second estimated value of each reporting unit

We compared weighted average of the output from the income and market approaches to the cajing

value of each reporting unit which yielded an indication of impairment in each of the TotalTec and Net Storage

Brazil reporting units at December 31 2008 and the Europe and ProSys reporting units at December 31 2007

We also compared the aggregate of the estimated fair values of ah of our four regional reporting units to our

overall market capitalization taking into account an acceptable control premium considered supportable based

upon historical comparable transactions and current market conditions At December 2008 key assumptions

used to determine the fair value of each reporting unit under the discounted fair value method were expected

cash flow for the period from 2008 to 2013 and discount rate of 12.6% which was based on managements

best estimate of the after-tax weighted average cost of capital WACC At March 31 2008 key assumptions

used to determine the fair value of each reporting unit under the discounted fair value method were expected

cash flow for the period from 2008 to 2012 and ii discount rate of 13.3% which was based on market

participants assumption which was based on managements best estimate of market participants assumption

of the WACC At December 31 2007 key assumptions used to determine the fair value of each reporting unit

under the discounted fair value method were expected cash flow for the period from 2008 to 2013 and

discount rate of 12.8% which was based on managements best estimate of the after-tax WACC which was

based on managements best estimate of market participants assumption of WACC

Step two of the impairment test requires us to compute fair value of the assets and liabilities including

identifiable intangible assets within each of the reporting units with indications of impairment and compare the

implied fair value of goodwill to its carrying value The results of step two indicated that the goodwill for the

TotalTec reporting unit was fully impaired and the goodwill for the Net Storage Brazil reportino unit was

partially impaired at December 31 2008 The TotalTec impainnent was trigoered by reduction in customer

base as result of the recession that required us to decrease our forecast of future TotalTec cash flows The Net

Storage impairment was triggered by the decline of the overall economic environment in Brazil as result of the

recession which required us to decrease our forecast of future Net Storage cash flows As result in 2008 we

recorded goodwill impairment charge of $3.5 million in the TotalTec reporting unit and goodwill impairment

charge of S2.4 million in the Net Storage reporting unit for total goodwill charge of $5.9 million in 2008 This

non-cash charge materially impacted our equity and results of operations in 2008 hut does not impact our

ongoing business operations liquidity cash flow or compliance with covenants for our credit facilities

In addition we recorded charge of $52.4 million in the fourth quarter of 007 which consisted of $20.5

million goodwill charge in the ProS reporting unit and $31.9 million goodwill charge in the Europe reportino

unit The ProSys impairment was triggered by decline in the overal economic environment resulting from the
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recession The decline required us to decrease our estimate of future ProSys cash flows The Europe impairment

was triggered by the combining of the Europe Diimhution and Europe Enterise into combined reporting unit

Europe The change in reporting unit determination resulted in revised future cash flows that did not support the

carrying value of goodwill of the combined reporting
unit This non-cash charge materially impacted our equit

and results of operations in 2007 but does not impact our ongoing
business operations liquidity cash flow or

compliance with covenants for our credit facilities No goodwill impairment charge was recorded at March 31

2008 as there was no indication of impairment
when we compared the fair value of each reporting

unit to its

carrying value including existing goodwill

As of December 31 2008 if forecasted cash flows had been 0i lower than estimated the resulting

goodwill impairment would have increased by $1.0 million

We also assess potential impairment of our other identifiable intangible assets and other long-lived assets

when there is evidence that recent events or changes in circumstances such as significant changes in the manner

of use of the asset negative industry or economic trends and significant underperformance relative to histoncal

or projected future operating results have made recovery of an assets carrying value unlikely The amount of an

impairment
loss would he recognized as the excess of the assets carrying value over its fair value We conducted

impairment tests of our intangible assets and other long-lived assets in the first quarter of 2008 and the fourth

quarters of 2007 and 2008 prior to our assessment of goodwill Our results indicated that the carrying value of

these assets was recoverable from undiscounted cash flows and no tmpairment was indicated

Acquisitions

in accordance with FASBs Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 141 Business Combinations

SFAS l4l we account for business combinations using the purchase method of accounting Accordingly the

assets and liabilities of the acquired entities are recorded at their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired including the

amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets

The purchase price allocation process requires an analysis of the fair values of the assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed When business combination agreement provides for an adiustment to the cost of the

combination contingent on future events we include that adjustment in the cost of the combination when the

contingent consideration is determinable beyond reasonable doubt and can he reliably estimated and should not

otherwise he expensed according to the provisions
of SFAS 141 The results of operations of the acquired

business are included in our consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisitton

Restructuring and Related Impairment Costs

Severance and benefit costs have been recorded in accordance with FASB Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No 112 Employer .4ccou.nting for Postemp/.omeTi.t Benefits wi Amendment of FASB

Stat emenis No Sand 43 SFAS l2i as we have concluded that we had substantive severance plan based on

past restructuring actions in many of the geographic areas in which we operated These costs are recognized

when management has committed to restructuæng plan and the severance costs are probable and estimable We

apply the pro\isions of FASBs Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 146 Accouniingfor Costs

Associated ilt/i Exit orDisposalActhilie.c SFAS 146 relating to one-time termination benefits to both

severance activities in geographic areas where we do not have substantive severance plan and situations

in which the severance benefits offered to employees within given geographic area are in excess of those

offered under prior restructuring plans Severance costs accounted for under SFAS 146 are recognized when

management having the appropriate authorization has committed to restructuring plan and has communicated

those actions to employees Our estimate of severance and benefit costs assumptions are sublective as they are

based on estimates of employee
attrition and assumptions about future business opportunities

In accordance with SFAS 146 the estimated loss accrued for leased facilities abandoned and subleased after

December 31 2002 represents the fair value of the lease liabilit as measured the present value of future lease
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payments subsequent to abandonment less the present value of any estimated sublease income in order to

estimate future sublease income we engage real estate brokers to assist management in estimating the 1enth of

time to sublease facility and the amount of rent we can expect to receive Estimates of expected sublease

income could change based on factors that affect our ability to sublease those facilities such as general economic

conditions and the real estate market among others Other exit costs include costs to consolidate facilities or

close facilities and relocate employees liability for these costs is recorded at its fair value in the period in

which the liability is incurred At each reporting date we evaluate our accruals for exit costs and employee

separation costs to ensure the accruals are still appropriate

Loss Contingencies

We are subject to the possibility of various loss contingencies arising in the ordinary course of business

such as legal matters We consider the likelihood of the loss occurring and our ability to reasonably estimate

the amount of loss in determining the necessity for and amount of any loss contingencies Estimated loss

contingencies are accrued when it is probable that liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can he

reasonably estimated We regularly evaluate information available to us to determine whether any such accruals

should he adjusted Such revisions in the estimates of the potential loss contingencies could have material

impact on our consolidated results of operations financial position and cash flows

Vendor Programs

We receive funds from vendors for price protection product rebates marketing promotions and other

competitive pricing programs These amounts are recorded as vendor receivable or as reduction in accounts

payable with corresponding reduction to inventories cost of sales or selling general and administrative

expense dending on the nature of the program Vendor receivables are generally collected through vendor

authorized reductions to our accounts payable and reserves are established for vendor receivables that are

determined to he uncollectible Actual rebates ma\ vary based on volume or other sales achievement levels

which could result in an increase or reduction in the estimated amounts previously accrued Historically our

rebate estimates have been within of actual rebates Rebate estimates as of December 31 2008 have not

been negatively impacted by the recession in 2.009 and are not expected to change in the near future

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth certain operating data as percentage of net sales for the periods indicated

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

100.0 100.0 100.0

90.6 91.4 91.9

9.4 8.6 8.1

0.1

10.4 9.4 7.2

lW 0.8 0.9

0.8 0.9 0.9

0.3 0.1 0.1

2.1 1.6 0.1

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Selling general and administrative

Investigation and restatement-related costs

Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles

Restructuring costs

Total operating expenses

Operating income loss

Interest expense net

Other expense income net

Income loss before income taies

Provision for income taies

Net loss

8.6 7.4 7.0

1.5 0.7 0.1

0.2 1.3 0.1

0.2

2.H l.8

0.8

0.7
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Major Customers

No customer accounted for more than of consolidated net sales in 2008 2007 or 2006 Our top
ten

customers accounted for 591 of consolidated net sales in 2008 291 of consolidated net sales in 2007 and 1191

of consolidated net sales in 2006 We cannot guarantee
that these or any other customers \kill not increase or

decrease as percentage
of our consolidated net sales either individually or as group Consequently any

material decrease in sales to these or other customers could materially harm our consolidated results of

Operations

We believe our ability to grow depends on increasing sales to existing customers and on successfully

attracting new customers Customer contracts can be canceled and volume levels can be changed or delayed by

our customers The timely replacement of delayed canceled or reduced orders with new business cannot he

assured In addition we cannot assume that any of our current customers will continue to utilize our services

Consequently our consolidated results of operations may be materially adversely affected

SFAS 131 establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments products
and services

geographic areas of operations
and major customers Operating segments are defined as components of an

enterprise about which separate
financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief

operating decision-maker in determining allocation of resources and assessing performance
Under the criteria of

SFAS 131 at December 31 2007 we determined that we had 11 operating segments
and seven reportable

segments

The Company segment information consists of the following reportable segments

U.S Distribution Miami

Europe
Canada

ProSts
Other

TotalTec

Our Other reportable segment includes certain operations in North America Rorke Data and certain

in-country operations
in Latin America Brazil Chile and Mexico

During the fourth quarter of 2008 we changed the presentation of the financial information used to

determine operating segments under SFAS 131 by combining the financial results of Chile and Chile IQQ into

combined operating segment Chile As result we determined that we had ten operating segments at

December 31 2008 and the same seven reportable segments as were determined at December 31 2007

Year Ended December 31 2008 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

Net Sales

Net sales segment product and geographic region for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 were

as follows dollars in thousands

Years Ended December 31 Change

Net Sajes Segment
2008 2007

U.S Distribution
864.480 24.191 $1046852 26.591 5182.372 17.491

Europe
1.459.128 40.8 1699.732 43.0 240.604 14.2

ProSys
451.446 12.6 378.760 9.6 72.686 19.2

TotalTec
46.795 1.3 63.533 1.6 16.738 26.3

Miami
415.547 11.6 373.951 9.5 41595 11.1

Canada
123.941 3.5 149.042 3.8 25.101 16.8

Other
218.162 6.1 23035 19873 8.3

Total
53.579499 I0ft091 S3.949.905 I0ft091 5370406 9.491
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Years Ended December 31 Change

Net Sales by Product 2008 2007

Computerplatforms 614050 615137 .087 0.21%

Storage systems 679069 693.713 14.644 2.1

Disk drives 932.388 1.237.103 304.715 24.6
All other products 1.353992 1.403.952 49.960 3.6

Total 53.579.499 53.949.905 5370.406 9.4%

Years Ended December 31 Change

Net Sales by Geographical Region 2008 2007

North America 51652.009 46.2% 51.809.571 45.8% 5157.562 8.7i

Europe 1.459.128 40.7 1699.732 43.0 240.604 14.2
Latin America1 468.362 13.1 440602 11.2 27760 6.3

Total 53579.499 100.0% 53.949.905 100.0% 5370.406 9.41%

Represents sales from Miami to Latin America and in-country Latin American sales

Consolidated net sales decreased 9.4% in 2008 to $3.6 billion from $3.9 billion in 2007 attributable to

decreases in Europe segment sales of approximately $240.6 million and U.S Distribution sales of 5182.4 million

which were partially offset by increases in ProSys sales of $72.7 million and Miami
segment sales of $41.6

million As result of the recessrnn the Europe segment experienced decrease in demand for its computer

platform and disk drive products which resulted in sales decrease of $240.6 million Also the translation of our

Europe segment sales into U.S dollars resulted in decreased sales of $20.3 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 when compared to 2007 due to stronger U.S dollar The sales decrease in our U.S

Distribution segment of $182.4 million was primarily attributable to lower demand for products resulting from

the global economic recession mainly disk drives storage system sales and
computer platforms which

experienced $172.1 million decrease in sales when comparing 2008 to 2007 The $41.6 million increase in our

Miami segment sales was primarily due to an increase in sales of computer platform products of $63.6 million

and an increase in all other products of $22.3 million This increase was partiall\ offset by decrease in disk

drive sales of $44.7 million The sales decrease in our Canada seument of $25.1 million was primarily

attributable to lower demand for products resulting from the recession mainly disk drives which experienced an

518.5 million decrease in sales when comparing 2008 to 2007 The translation of our Canada segment sales into

U.S dollars resulted in an increase in sales of $1.0 million for the year ended December 31 2008 compared with

2007 due to the stronger U.S dollar The increase in our ProSys segment sales of $72.7 million was primarily

attributable to an increase in sales of our computer platform products of $19.0 million and storage systems of

$39.0 million when comparing 2008 to the corresponding period in 2007 The sales decrease in our Other

segment of $19.9 million was primarily attributable to decrease in sales of disk drives and all other products

Also the translation of Other segment sales into U.S dollars resulted in increased sales of $3.9 million for the

\ear ended December 31 2008 when compared to 2007 due to stronger foreign currencies against the U.S

dollar

Gross Profit

The gross profit percentage was 9.4% of consolidated net sales in 2008 compared to 8.6% of consolidated

net sales in 2007 The gross profit percentage in the ProSys segment increased by 0.4% when c.emparinc 2008 to

2007 The increase in our ProSys segment gross profit percentage is attributable to increased sales of higher

margin business The ProSys segment experienced $39.0 million increase in storage systems sales and $19.0

million increase in computer platform sales when comparing 2008 to 2007 The gross profit percentages in the

Miami Canada and Other segments increased cumulatively by 0.3% which is also attributable to increased sales

of higher margin business Furthermore we recorded approximately $10.0 million as reduction to cost of sales
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resulting from the release of certain vendor allowances previously deferred The release of deferred vendor

allowances had 0.3i impact on our gross profit percentage
in 2008

Selling General and Administrative SGA Expense

SGA expense for the \ears ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was as follows dollars in thousands

Years Ended December 31 Change

2008 2007
_________

SGA expense
S307046 $293780 $13.266 4.5

Percentage of net sales
8.6i 74

The increase in SGA expense
in 2008 over 2007 was primarily amibutable to approximately $12.5 million

in additional SGA expenses
in the ProSys segment and additional SGA expenses

of $3.6 million SO million

and $0.5 million in the Miami U.S Distribution and Canada segments respectively These SGA expense

increases were partially offset hi decreases in SGA expenses in the Europe TotalTec and Other segments
of

approxintately
$3.5 million due to decreases in salaries and wages expense and commissions and bonus expense

resulting from higher headcount The SGA increase in our ProSvs segment is attributable to approximately

$16 million increase in commissions and bonus expenses which were offset by $3.5 million decrease in

salaries and wages expenses The SGA increase in our Miami segment is amihutable to approximately $2.7

million in additional bad debt expense and $0.5 million in additional advertising expense
when comparing

2008

to 2007 The overall decrease of SGA expense in our Europe segment was due to $1.8 million decrease in

salaries andwages expenses $1.4 million decrease in commissions and bonus expense and $1.1 million

decrease in employee benefit expense
when comparing 2008 to 2007 The SGA decreases in our Europe

segment were offset by $2.4 million increase in bad debt expense

Investigation and Restatement-Related Costs

Approximately $52.1 million and $26.3 million of investigation and restatement-related costs were incurred

in 2008 and 2007 respectively as result of fees paid to external auditors and outside advisors for investigation

related activities and the restatement of our historical consolidated financial statements

Impairment of Goodwill

In 2008 we recorded goodwill impairment
charce of $5.9 million which consisted of $3.5 million

charge in the TotalTec reporting
unit and $2.4 million charge in the Net Storage reporting unit In 2007 we

recorded goodwill impairment charge of $52.4 million which consisted of $20.5 million goodwill impairment

charge in the ProS reporting unit and $31.9 million goodwill impairment charge in the Europe reporting unit

From Januaa 2008 through Ma 31 2009 our common stock traded as low as $0.27 per share We will

continue to monitor the estimates of fair value for our reporting units and there ma he circumstances in finure

peiods that will require us to recognize an impairment
loss on all or portion

of our recorded goodwill or other

intangible assets

Restructuring and Impairment Costs

in 2008 we initiated restructuring plan for our North Amencan European and Latin Amencan operations

and as result we incurred restnicturing and impairment costs of 54.3 million These costs consisted primarily

of severance and benefit costs of $3.9 million for involuntai employee terminations and costs of $0.4 million

related to the closure and impairment
of certain leased facilities We terminated 48 employees in North Amenca

105 employees in Latin Amemia and 58 employees in the lJnited Kingdom and continental Europe in sales

marketing finance and suppo functions See Note RestrucTuring and Inipai.nnenl
Costs in our notes to the

consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for additional information
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in 2007 we incurred and pad restructuring costs of approximately $1.4 million related to severance and

benefit costs associated with involuntary employee terminations We terminated 22 employees in North America

56 employees in Latin America and 25 employees in Europe

Interest Expense Net

Interest expense net for the ears ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was as follows dollars in thousands

Years Ended December 31 Change

2008 2007

interest expense net 529.898 $34163 54.265 l2.5%

The decrease in interest expense income net in 2008 over 2007 was primarily attributable to lower

average interest rates in 2008 Our weighted average borrowings in 2008 were $427.0 million compared to

$418.8 million in 2007 The weighted average interest rate in 2008 was 6.1% compared to 6.9% in 2007

Other Expense income Net

Other expense income net for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was as follows dollars in

thousands

Years Ended December 31 Change

2008 2007

Other expense income net 510.509 52.426 512.935 533.2%

Other expense income net primarily consists of foreign currency transaction gains and losses The change

in other expense income net in 2008 over 2007 was primarily attributable to loss of $10.1 million due to

foreirn currency transactions in 2008 as compared to foreirn currency transaction gain of $2.1 million in 2007

Incom.e Taxes

The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was as follows dollars in

thousands

Years Ended December 31

2908 2007

Provision for income taxes $527 $6961

Effective tax provision rate Q7% 10.7%

Our income tax provision of $0.5 million and $7.0 million for fiscal years 2008 and 2007 respectively was

pnmarily due to income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions During 2008 and 2007 we increased the valuation

allowance by approximately $14.4 million and $7.6 million respectively In both 2008 and 2017 the Company
continued to record full valuation allowance against substantially all of its deferred tax assets in the U.S and

certain foreign jurisdictions

Our gross deferred tax assets as of December 31 2008 and 2007 were $61.5 million and $49.6 million

respectively and consisted of reserve items and net operating losses Of these amounts valuation allowance of

$53.1 million and $38.7 million respectively were recorded against the assets We recorded valuation

allowance against substantially all of the U.S deferred tax assets in 2008 and 2007 as management does not

believe it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and in numerous foreign jurisdictions Significant

udrment is required in evaluating our tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes worldwide
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During the ordinary course of business there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax

determination is uncertain We establish reserves for tax-related uncertainttes based on the extent to which

additional reserves and interest will be due These reserves are established when despite our belief that our tax

return positions are fully supportable we believe that certain positions are likely to he challenged and may not he

sustained upon review by certain tax authorities We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and

circumstances such as the closing of tax audit The provision for income taxes includes the impact of reserve

provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate as well as the related net interest

Our income tax provision and effective tax rate are primarily impacted by among other factors the statutory

tax rates in the countries in which we operate and the related level of income generated by our global operations

Year Ended December 31 2007 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

Net Sales

Net sales by segment product and geographic region for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 were

as follows dollars in thousands

2007

$1.046.852 26.5

1.699.732 43.0

378.760 9.6

63.533 1.6

373.951 9.5

149.042 3.8

238.035 6.0

53.949.905 100.0

2006

$l.043.188 30.9%

1.483.018 44.0

73.206 2.2

8385 2.5

325.082 9.6

147334 4.4

217.197 6.4

53.372.876 100.0

Change

3.644 0.3%

216.714 14.6

305.554 417.4

20.318 24.21

48.869 15.0

1.708 1.2

20.838 9.6

5577.029 17.1

Years Ended December 31

Net Sales by Product
2007 2006

Computer platforms
615.137 483.229

Storage sstems 693.713 502.035

Disk drives
1.237.103 1.037.072

All other products
1403952 1.350.540

Total
53.949.905 53.372.876

Change

5131.908 27.3

191.678 38.2

200.031 19.3

53.412 4.0

$577029 17.1

Consolidated net sales increased 17.1% in 2007 to 53.9 billion from $3.4 billion in 2006 primarily

attributable to increases in ProSys segment sales of approximately $305.6 million Europe segment sales of

$21 6.7 million Miami segment sales of $48.9 million and Other segment sales of $20.8 million partially offset

by decrease in TotaTec segment sales of $20.3 million The increase in ProSvs segment revenue in 2007 as

Years Ended December 31

Net Sales Segment

U.S Distribution

Europe

ProSys

TotalTec

Miami

Canada

Other

Total

Net Sales by Geographical Region

Years Ended December 31

North America $1809571

Europe
1.699.732

Latin Americal 440.602

Total 53.949.905

2007 2006

Change

Represents sales from Miami to Latin America and in-country Latin Aniencan sales

45.8% 51.483.593 44.0% 5325.978 22.0

43.0 1.483.018 44.0 216.714 14.6

11.2 406.265 l0 34.337 8.5

IOOX1% $3.372.876 l00% 5577.029 17.1%
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compared to 2006 was due to the realization of full year of ProSvs revenue in 2007 as opposed to three

months of revenue in 2006 due to the acquisition of ProSys on October 2006 The sales increase in the Miami

segment of $48.9 million was primarily attributable to an increase in Miami-based export business mainly sales

of computer platforms disk drives and all other products The increase in Europe segment sales of $21 6.7 minion

was primarily attributable to increased demand for computer platforms and disk drives which resulted in an

increase in sales of $1 67.8 million when comparing 2007 to 2006 The increase in Europe segment sales also

resulted from increased sales of $1 02.3 million in storage systems products in 2007 when companng to 2006

These sales increases in the Europe segment were offset by sales decreases in Europe of all other products of

$53.3 million The translation of Europe segment sales to U.S dollars resulted in an increase of $138.0 million

for the year ended December 31 2007 compared with its translation in 2006 due to weaker U.S dollar The

increased sales in the Other segment were primarily attributable to an increase in sales of computer products

storage systems and disk drives of $24.9 million The increase in Other segment sales was offset decrease in

sales of all other products of $4.0 million The increase in U.S Distribution segment sales of $3.7 million was

due to an increase in storage systems sales of $63.5 million and computer platform sales of $6.8 million offset

b\ disk drive sales and sales of all other products of cumulatively $66.6 million The decrease in TotalTec

segment sales of $20.3 million was primarily attributable to computer platform products sales of $14.6 million

and decrease of $4.9 million in storage systems sales

Gross Profit

The gross profit percentage was 8.6% of consolidated net sales in 2007 compared to 8.1 of consolidated

net sales in 2006 The 0.5% increase in gross profit percentage was primarily due to increased sales of all types

of products with higher margins in the Europe segment in the amount of $21 7.0 million in the ProSvs segment in

the amount of $306.0 million in the Miami segment in the amount of $48.9 million and in the Other segment in

the amount of $20.8 million These sales increases were partially offset by decreased sales of the same product

offerings in the TotalTec segment of $20.3 million

Selling General and Administratise SGA Expense

SGA expense for the years ended December31 2007 and 2006 was as follows dollars in thousandsi

Years Ended December 31 Change

2007 2006

SGA expense
5293.780 $238166 555.614 23.4%

Percentage of net sales 7.4% 7.0%

The increase in SGA expense
in 2007 over 2006 was primarily attributable to approximatel\ $36.2 million

of administrative expense associated with the acquisition of our ProSys segment in October 2006 In addition

there was an increase in salaries and wages commissions and bonuses and employee benefit expenses of $15.2

million comprised of $8.1 million in our Europe segment $5.5 million in our U.S Distribution segment $1.0

million in our Miami segment and $0.6 million in our Other segment all of which were primarily attributable to

increased headcount and higher sales volume

In iestigation and Restatement-Related Costs

Approximately $26.3 million and $1.6 million of investigation and restatement-related costs were incurred

in 2007 and 2006 respectively as result of fees paid to external auditors and outside advisors for investigation-

related activities and the restatement of our historical consolidated financial statements

linpairinen of Goodwill

In 2007 we recorded goodwill impairment charge of $52.4 million which consisted of $20.5 mllion

goodwill impairment charge in the ProSys reporting unit and $31.9 million goodwill impairment charge in the

Europe reporting unit We recorded goodwill impairment charge of $3.5 million in 2006 related primanlv to the

Canada reporting unit
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The carrying
value of goodwill is based on fair value estimates on projected financial information that

management believes to be reasonable The valuation methodokigy used to estimate the fair value of the

Company and our reporting units considers the market capitahzation
of the Company and requires inputs and

assumptions that reflect market conditions as well as management udgment We compute the fair value of the

assets and liabilities including identifiable intangible assets within each of the reporting units with indications

of impairment and compare the implied fair value of goodwill to its carrying
value If the implied fair value is

less than its carrying value goodwill impairment charge is recorded

The market value of our common stock was $6.01 per
share on December 31 2007 the last trading day in

the year ended December 31 2007 From Januar 2008 through May 31 2009 our common stock traded as

low as $0.27 per
share We will continue to monitor the estimates of fair value for our reporting

units and there

may be circumstances in future periods
that wifi require us to recognize an impairment loss on all or portion

of

our recorded goodwill or other intangible assets

Restructuring and Impairment Costs

In 2007 we incurred and paid restructuring and impairment costs of approximately $1.4 million related to

severance and benefit costs associated with involuntary employee terminations We terminated 22 employees in

North America 56 employees in Latin America and 25 employees in Europe We had no restructuring activities

or related expense
in 2006

Interest Expense Net

Interest expense net for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 was as follows dollars in

thousands

Years Ended December 31 Change

2007 2006

interest expense
net

$34.163 $29456 $4707 l6.0l

The increase in interest expense net in 2007 over 2006 was pnmarily attributable to higher average interest

rates and increased borrowings in 2007 to finance working capital requirements
and the acquisition of ProSys

Our weighted average borrowings in 2007 were $41 8.8 million compared to $391.8 million in 2006 The

weighted average interest rate in 2007 was 6.90 compared to 6.59 in 2006

Other Expense Income Net

Other expense income net for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 was as follows dollars in

thousands

Years Ended December 31 Change

2007 2006

Other expense income net
52.426 52.848 5422 4.8i

The change in other expense
income net in 2007 over 2006 was primarily attributable to approximatel

$2.0 million and $2.8 million of net foreign currency transaction gains
in 2007 and 2006
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Income Taes

The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 was as follows dollars in

thousands

Years Ended December 31

2907 2006

Provision for income taxes $6.96 527.948

Effective tax provision rate 10.791- 577.39

Our income tax provision of $7.0 million for fiscal year 2007 was primarily attributable to income taxes in

state local and foreign jurisdictions and an increase in FlJ 48 liabilities During 2006 we recognized an income

tax expense of $23.1 million related to the establishment of valuation allowance against substantially all of our

U.S deferred tax assets contributing to an overall income tax provision of $27.9 million

Our cross deferred tax assets as of December 31 2007 and 2006 which were $49.6 million and $48.4

million respectively primarily consisted of reserve items and operating losses Of these amounts valuation

allowance of $38.7 million and $32.3 million respectively were recorded against the assets We recorded

valuation allowance against substantially all of the U.S deferred tax assets in 2007 and 2006 as management

does not believe it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will he realized

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and in numerous foreign jurisdictions Significant

judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes worldwide

During the ordinary course of business there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax

determination is uncertain We establish reserves for tax-related uncertainties based on the extent to which

additional reserves and interest will be due These reserves are established when despite our belief that our tax

return positions are fully supportable we believe that certain positions are likely to he challenged and may not he

sustained upon review by certain tax authorities We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and

circumstances such as the closing of tax audit The provision for income taxes includes the impact of reserve

provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate as well as the related net interest

Our income tax provision and effective tax rate are pnmarily impacted by among other factors the statutor\

tax rates in the counthes in which we operate and the related level of income generated by our global operations

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been

prepared on going concern basis which assumes continuity of operations and realization of assets and

satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinary course of business We currently have substantial amount of

indebtedness outstanding The related credit agreements require that we comply with number of financial and

other covenants including quarterly minimum fixed-charge coverage ratio based upon earnings Our ability to

continue as going concern is dependent upon among other factors continuing to generate positive cash flows

from operations maintaining compliance with the provisions of our existing credit agreements and when

necessary our ability to renew such agreements andlor obtain alternative or additional financing

We have not generated consistent positive cash flows from operations in recent years Although the current

economic environment is challenging we have recently talen significant steps to control costs and improve

operating profitability including staff reductions facility consolidations reductions in capital spending

reductions in discretionary spending and tighter management of working capital We will take additional steps to

control costs and improve operating profitability as necessary based upon various factors such as future

ope.ratino results and general economic conditions Based upon our current projections we believe we will

generate sufficient cash flows from operations maintain debt covenant compliance and obtain alternative or

additional financing if needed for the foreseeable future If we do not maintain compliance with our debt
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covenants and we are unable to obtain waivers or amendments from our lenders the lenders may exercise their

option to demand repayment
of the outstanding indebtedness which would have material adverse effect on our

business liquidity and financial condition

in recent years we have funded our working capital requirements principally through borrowings under

hank lines of credit and subordinated term loans Working capital requirements have included the financing of

inventory and accounts receivable and the fmancmg of certain acquisitions

Our cash and cash equivalents
totaled $22.8 million and $40.3 million at December31 2008 and

December 31 2007 respectively Our cash and cash equivalents totaled $37.3 million at April 30 2009

To date we have not paid cash dividends to our shareholders and we do not plan to pay
cash dividends in

the future Our credit agreements prohibit the paYment of dividends or other distributions on any of our shares

except
dividends payable with our capital stock

We expect to satisfy our anticipated cash needs for operations
and capital requirements dunng the next 12

months using existing cash anticipated cash flows generated from operations and borrowings under our existing

lines of credit Our ability to borrow under our lines of credit is dependent upon our ability to maintain

compliance with the financial covenants in our credit agreements

In February 2009 we determined that for the quarter
ended December 31 2008 we would not he in

compliance with the fixed-charge coverage ratio covenant under the Western Facility The lenders under the

Western Facility agreed to waive this requirement by modifying the terms of the agreement to remove this

obligation for the fourth quarter of 2008 and modify the requirement in subsequent quarters
In February 2009

we also determined that we would not be in compliance with consolidated net worth covenant under the terms

of our agreements
with the RSA The RSA agreed to waive this requirement amend these agreements to delete

the consolidated net worth covenant and replace them with the same minimum fixed-charge coverage ratio

requirement of the current Western Facility In addition we determined in February 2009 that our ProSys

subsidiar had failed to meet its financial covenants under its facilit with CDF for the 12 months ended June 30

2007 In February 2009 we received waiver of any defauh occurring under the CDF facility pnor to Januar

2008 and we entered into an amendment of the agreement
with CDF in March 2009

Our credit agreements include number of financial covenants

Our agreement with Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation Western and the other lenders named

therein and the credit agreements
related to our 9% Senior Subordinated Notes payable to certain funds

generally referred to as The Retirement Systems of Alabama the RSA principally financmg our

U.S operations both require that we satisfy minimum fixed-charge coverage ratio that requires us to

have earnings before interest income taxes depreciation amortization and restructuring charges

EBITDA greater than or equal to specific percentage
of the payments

we make for income taxes

interest capital expenditures and principal payments The Company must satisfy the fixed-charge

coverage ratio for the three-month periods ending March 31 2009 June 30 2009 and September 30

2009 based upon ratio of 35% 75% and 110% respecrivey
Thereafter the measurement period

extends to two quarters ending December 31 2009 three quarters ending March 31 2010 and the

12-month period ending on the last day of each subsequent fiscal quarter
each based upon

ratio of

110%

Our agreement with Bank of America National Association and the other lenders named therein

principally financing our European operations requires
that we maintain minimum aggregate

quarterly tangible net worth of26.9 million $39.3 million using the exchange rate on December 31

2008 of $1 .46/1 .0W for certain of our European
subsidiaries

Our CDF facility requires our ProSys subsidiary to maintain tangible net worth and subordinated debt

in the combined amount of not less than $9 million ratio of funded debt to earntngs
before interest
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taxes depreciation and amortization for the 12-month period ending on the last day of each fiscal

quarter of not more than four-to-one 41 and fixed-charge coverage ratio for the 12-month period

ending on the last day of such fiscal quarter of not less than one-and-one-half-to-one 1.511

Further our credit agreements contain certain non-financia covenants such as restrictions on the incurrence

of debt and liens and restrictions on mergers acquisitions asset dispositions capitai contributions payment of

dividends repurchases of stock and investments as well as requirement that we provide audited financial

statements to lenders within prescribed time period after the close of our fiscal year

Although we have not completed our consolidated financial statements for periods subsequent to

December 31 2008 we believe that we have complied with financial and non-financial covenants in our debt

agreements as amended for the three months ended March 31 2009 and we believe we are in compliance for

the period ended June 30 2009 and presently believe we will he able to maintain compliance for the foreseeable

future However if we fail in the future to satisfy any of the covenants in our credit agreements and are unable to

obtain waivers or amendments the lenders could declare default under our credit agreements Any default

under our credit agreements will allow the lenders under these agreements the option to demand repayment of the

indebtedness outstanding under the applicable credit agreements and would allow certain other lenders to

exercise their rights and remedies under cross-default provisions If these lenders were to exercise their rights to

accelerate the indebtedness outstanding there can he no assurance that we would he able to refinance or

otherwise repay any amounts that may become accelerated under the agreements The acceleration of

sigmft cant portion of our indebtedness would have material adverse effect on our business liquidity and

financial condition Given our existing financial condition and current conditions in the global credit markets

should these events occur there would likely he uncertainties regarding our ability to continue as going

concern

The following table presents the balances and certain terms of our indebtedness as of May 31 2009

amounts in thousands

Maxnnuni

Facility Amount Interest

Amount Outstanding Rateg Maturity

Lines of credit

Western Facilitya $204.000 78.305 5.00% September 2010

BOA Facilirya 76.000 42.857 2.78% October 2011

GE Facilitya 80.000 36.068b 1.00%

Kreditbank Facility Germany 25000 14.973 7.32%

Facility Holland 5.000 N/A

Facility Europe N/A December 2008e
intel Facility 2.500 2.000 0.00% March 2009

Notes

Convertible Notes 110.985f 3.75% March 2024

2008 Notes RSA 54.577f 9.00% December 2013

2006 Notes RSA 31 .930bf 9.00% August 2013

The maximum borrowings under these lines of credit are limited to percentage of the value of eligible

accounts receivable and inventory for the GE Facility only eligible inventory At May 31 2009 our

available borrowings under these lines of credit were $13.8 million in the United States and $49.3 million in

Europe Limitations exist on the transfer of funds between geographies

Reates to the acquisition or outstanding obligations of ProSys which was acquired in October 2006

Facility may he terminated by etther party upon 30 days notice If the facility is terminated all amounts

outstanding would he due at the end of the 30-day notice period

Facility may he terminated by either parry upon six weeks notice If the facility is terminated all amounts

outstanding would he due at the end of the six-week notice period
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Repayment of this loan was completed in February 2009

Includes accrued interest

Interest rates under the lines of credit represent the average interest rates for Ma 2009

Western Facility

On Ma\ 14 2001 we entered into loan and security agreement with Congress Financial Corporation

Western which is now known as Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation Western as agent for lenders under

revolving line of credit the Western Facility On November 2006 we entered into an amendment to the

Western Facility which increased the line of credit from $125.0 million to $150.0 million and extended the

maturity date to September 20 2010 On September 29 2008 we amended and restated the Western Facility and

increased the line of credit to maximum amount of $204.0 million hut did not change the rnaturit date The

maximum amount of borrowings under the amended Western Facility is pnmarily determined based on

percentage of eligible accounts receivable and inventory On September 29 2008 we utilized the Western

Facility to pay the approximately $69.6 million outstanding under the Wachovia Facility The Wachovia Facility

was terminated at that dine

The Western Facility has been amended twice since September
29 2008 The first amendment on

November 10 2008 modified the level of intercompany
receivables penriitted to he outstanding at any time The

second amendment on February 17 2009 eliminated the minimum fi.xed-charge coverage ratio for the quarter

ended December 31 2008 and reduced the fixed-charge coverage ratio critena required in the quarters ending

March 31 and June 30 2009 The second amendment also extended the required deliver date of our audited

consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 2007 from March 31 2009 to June 30 2009

and modified the defmition of Interest Rate and the calculation of Excess Availability as those terms are utilized

in the Western Facility At various times prior to September 29 2008 we sought and obtained modifications to

the credit agreement extending the time by which we were required to deliver our audited consolidated financial

statements to the lender for the 2006 2007 and 2008 fiscal years

Prior to February 17 2009 borrowings under the Western Facility bore interest at Wachovias prime rate

plus margin of between 0.25% and 0.75% based on unused availability Effective February 17 2009

borrowings under the Western Facility bear interest at the greater
of 5% or ut Wachovias prime rate plus

margin of between 0.25% and 0.75% based on unused availability At our option all or any portion of the

outstanding borrowings may be converted to Eurodollar rate loan which would bear interest at the greater of

5% or ii the adjusted Eurodollar rate plus margin of between 2.50% and 3.00% based on percentage of

unused availability We also pay an unused line fee equal to 0.25% per annum of the unused portion of the

Western Facility suhect to certain adjustments The weighted average interest rate on outstanding borrowings

under the Western Facility during the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was 5.07% and 7.24%

respectively

Our obligations under the Western Facility are collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the

Company and our North and South American subsidiaries other than ProSys The Western Facility requires us to

meet certain financial covenant tests and to compl with certain other covenants including restrictions on the

indurrence of debt and liens and restrictions on mergers acquisitions
asset dispositions capital contributions

payment of dividends repurchases of stock and investments achievement of fixed-charge coverage ratio for

certain fiscal periods beginning in the first quarter of 2009 we are required to have earnings before interest

income taxes depreciation
amortization and restructuring charges in the applicable penod greater

than or equal

to 35% of payments we make for income taxes interest capital expenditures and principal payments during such

quarter that ratio increases to 75% for the second quarter of 2009 and to 110% thereafter the applicable period

is single quarter during the first three quarters of 2009 extending to two-quarter period as of December 31

2009 three-quarter period as of March 31 2010 and rolling four-quarter period thereafter and the

requirement that we provide audited consolidated financial statements to the lenders within prescribed period of

time after the close of our fiscal year Upon any event of default the lenders may demand immediate payment of
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the balance outstanding An event of default includes the failure to pay any obligations when due or the failure to

perform any of the terms covenants conditions or provisions of the agreement and such failure continues for

days

Wachovia Facilit

On September 20 2004 we entered into Credit and Security Agreement the Wachovia Facility with

Wachovia Bank National Association as agent On December 28 2005 May 14 2007 and September 26 2007

we amended the Wachovia Facility During the term of the Wachovia Facility we sold or contributed all of our

receivables to consolidated special purpose bankruptcy-remote entity named Bell Microproducts Funding

Corporation Funding wholly owned subsidiary Funding obtained financing from the lenders collaterthzed

by these receivables The maximum principal amount available under the Wachovia Facility was 120.0 million

The interest rate on advances made by the lenders was the cost of lenders commercial paper plus 80 basis points

Funding also paid an unused line fee ranging from 0.20% to 0.25% per annum of the unused portion of the

Wachovia Facility The cash flows from the collections of the receivables were used to purchase new receivables

to pay amounts to the lenders to pay other amounts owed and to make dividend distributions subject at all times

to Funding maintaining required capital amount Including the program fee the average interest rate on

outstanding borrowings under the Wachovia Facility for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was

4.25% and 6.15% respectively On September 29 2008 we terminated the Wachovia Facility and paid the

outstanding balance with proceeds from the amended Western Facility

Kreditbazk Facilities

On December 2005 in connection with the acquisition of MCE we entered into short-term financing

agreement with IBM Deutschland K.redithan.k GmbH Kreditbank for up to $25.0 million The loan is

collateralized by substantially all of the assets of our German subsidiary as well as cross-company guarantees of

certain ofourEuropean subsidiaries and bears interest atLI1BOR plus 7.16% effecti\e January 12 2009 In 2008

and 2007 the effective interest rate was US LIIBOR plus 2.00% The average interest rate on outstanding

borrowings for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was 4.64% and 7.24% respectively The facility

has no maturity date and continues indefinitely until terminated by either party upon six weeks notice If the

facility is terminated all amounts would he due at the end of the six-week period To date neither party has

given notice of intent to terminate this facility The balance outstanding on this facility at December 31 2008 and

2007 was $19.4 million and $14.6 million respectively including interest payable

Also on December 2005 we entered into another short-term financing agreement with Kreditbanlc for

6.5 million $9.1 million using the exchange rate on December 31 2008 of $1 401 .0th In May 2006 the

agreement was amended to increase the available financing to 8.0 million $1 1.2 million using the exchange

rate on December 31 2008 of SI .401l .00 The loan was collateralized by substantially all of the assets of our

German subsidiary as well as cross-companY guarantees of certain of our European subsidiaries and bore interest

at Eurihor plus 3.85% The average interest rates on outstanding borrowings for the years ended December 31

2008 and 2007 were 8.23% and 7.98% respectively The facility has no maturity date and continues indefinitel\

until terminated by either parry upon six weeks notice The balance outstanding on this facility at December 31

2008 and 2007 was $3.5 million and 511.8 million respectively including interest payable On November 11

2008 we received notice from Kreditbank that they would terminate this line of credit as of December 31 2008

and all amounts due thereunder which as of November 11 2008 totaled approximately 8.0 million would he

due on that date Subsequently on December 2008 we entered into an agreement with Kredithank permittinc

repayment of 4.0 million by December 31 2008 and the remainder no later than February 28 2009 As of

February 28 2009 all amounts outstanding under this facility had been repaid

On December 10 2004 we entered into short-term financing agreement with IBM Nederland

Financieringen BV for up to $5.0 million The loan is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of our

Dutch subsidiary as well as cross-compan\ guarantees of certain of our European subsidiaries and hears interest



at the ABN Amro base rate pius 2.25% The average interest rate on outstanding borrowings for the years ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 was 7.75% and 6.90% respectively The facility has no maturity date and

continues indefinitely until terminated by either party upon six weeks notice If the facility is terminated all

amounts would he due at the end of the six-week period To date neither parry has given notice of intent to

terminate this facility There were no amounts outstanding under this facility at December 31 2008 and 2007

Bank of America Facility

On December 2002 certain wholl owned subsidiaries of the Company based in Europe entered into

facilit arranged by Bank of America National Association as agent to provide revolving line of credit facilitr

of up to 75 million the Bank of America Facilit The maximum amount of borrowings on the Bank of

America Facility is determined based on percentage
of the borrowers eligible accounts receivable On

October 20 2005 the arreement was amended to extend the maturity date to October 20 2008 and reduce the

facility to 60 million $87.6 million using the exchange rate on December 31 2008 of $1 .46/fl .00 increasing

to 80 million $116.8 million using the exchange rate on December 31 2008 of $1.46/fl .00 at our option On

May 21 2008 the aureement was amended to extend the termination date of the facility to October 20 2011 arid

decrease the size of the facility from 80 million to 76 million $111 .0 million using the exchange rate on

December 31 2008 of $1 .46/fl .00 At the borrower option all or any portion of the outstanding borrowings

may he converted to LffiOR-based revolving loan Borrowings under the line of credit bear interest at Bank of

Americas reference rate or the LOR rate as applicable plus margin of between 1.75% and 3.0% based on

certain financial measurements The average interest rates on the outstanding borrowings under the revolving line

of credit during the year ended December 31 2008 and 2007 were 5.14% and 6.59% respectively and the

balances outstanding at December 31 2008 and 2007 were $23.2 million and $20.6 million respectively

Obligations of the borrower under the revolving line of redit are co1lateitiJied substantially all of the assets

of the borrower The revolving line of credit requires the borrower to meet certain financial covenant tests

including maintaining an Adjusted Tangible Net Worth at the end of each quarter
of not less than 26.9 million

$39.3 million using the exchange rate on December 31 2008 of $1 .46/fl .00 and to comply with certain other

covenants including restrictions on incurrence of debt and liens and restrictions on mergers acquisitions asset

dispositions capita contributions payment of dividends repurchases of stock repatriation of cash and

investments

GE Commercial Distribution Finance Facility

In connection with the acquisition of ProSys on October 2006 we entered into credit facility

arrangement managed by GE CDF which currently permits borrowings of up to $80.0 million including an

accounts receivable facility supplemental inventory facility and floorplan credit facility ProSys is required to

pay
interest to CDF on the daily contract balance at rate equal to LIBOR plus 3.10% The floorplan facility

contains an interest-free period and ProSys repays substantially all amounts within that time Under these credit

facilities ProSys has cranted CDF lien on substantially all of its assets The credit facility has two-year term

with annual renewals thereafter hut may be terminated by either party
with notice The balances outstanding at

December 31 2008 and 2007 were $44.2 million and $44.0 million respectively and were related solely to

inventory floorplan financing The facility contains number of financial covenants including covenants

requiring the ProSys subsidiary to maintain an operating profit margin of not less than 0.5% of sales on

12-month rolling basis the maintenance of ratio of debt to tangible net worth of not more than six-to-one

61 measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter and maintenance of ratio of funded debt to earnings

before interest taxes depreciation
and amortization for the 12-month penod ending on the last day of each fiscal

quaner of not more than four-to-one 4U The facility was amended effective March 31 2009 to modify the

financial covenants for all quarters ending on or after March 2009 such that ProS thereafter is required to

maintain tangible net worth and subordinated debt of not less than $9.0 million maintain ratio of

Funded Debt to Adjusted EBITDA for the 12-month period ending on the last day of such fiscal quarter of not

more than four-to-one 41 and achieve as of the last day of each fiscal quarter fixed-charge coverage

ratio for the 12-month period ending on the last day of such fiscal quarter of at least one-and-one-half-to-one

1.51 all capitalized terms are defined in the amendment



Intel Corporation Facility

On March 30 2006 we entered into the Working Capital Facility with Intel Corporation to provide line of

credit up to $3.0 million The Working Capita Facility is non-interest bearing and has one-year term with

subsequent annual renewals hut may he terminated by Intel at any me We are required to meet certain program

eligibility requirements including compliance with our disiribution anreement with Intel The balances

outstanding at December 2008 and 2007 were $2.5 million and $3.0 million respectively In May 2008 the

line of credit under the Working Capita Facility was reduced to $1.9 million and subsequently increased to $2.5

million in November 2008

Convertible Notes

On March 2004 we completed private offering of $110.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.75%

convertible subordinated notes due in 2024 the Old Notes On December 20 2004 we completed our offer to

exchange newly issued 3.75% convertible subordinated notes Series due 2024 the New Notes for an equal

amount of our outstanding Old Notes Approximately 99.9% of the total principal amount of Old Notes

outstanding were tendered in exchange for an equal principal amount of New Notes

The Ne Notes mature on March 2024 and bear interest at the rate of 3.75% per year on the principal

amount payable semi-annually on March and September which began on March 2005 Holders of the

New Notes may convert the New Notes any time on or before the maturity date if certain conversion conditions

are satisfied Upon conversion of the New Notes we wiU he required to deliver in respect of each $1 .000

principal of New Notes cash in an amount equal to the lesser of the principal amount of each New Note to he

converted and the conversion value which is equal to the applicable conversion rate multiplied by the

applicable stock price The initial conversion rate is9l .2596 shares of common stock per New Note with

principal amount of $1000 and is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $10.96 per share

The conversion rate is subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events

Under the terms of the New Notes holders have the right to convert their notes upon the occurrence of

certain events including if the closing price of our cornnton stock exceeds certain threshold for at least 20 of

the last 30 days in preceding fiscal quarters and upon specified corporate transactions as described in more detail

in the prospectus filed in connection with the exchange offer The applicable stock price is the average of the

closing sales prices of our common stock over the five4rading-day period starting the third trading day following

the date the New Notes are tendered for conversion If the conversion value is greater than the principal amount

of each New Note we will be required to deliver to holders upon conversion at their option number of

shares of its common stock cash or combination of cash and shares of our common stock in an amount

calculated as described in the prospectus filed by us in connection with the exchange offer In lieu of paying cash

and shares of our common stock upon conversion we may direct the conversion agent to surrender any New

Notes tendered for conversion to financial institution designated by us for exchange in lieu of conversion The

designated financial institution must agree to deliver in exchange for the New Notes number of shares of

our common stock equal to the applicable conversion rate plus cash for any fractional shares or cash or

combination of cash and shares of our common stock Any New Notes exchanged by the designated institution

will remain outstanding

We may redeem some or all of the New Notes for cash on or after March 2009 and before March 2011

at redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the New Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest up to

but excluding the redemption date but only if the closing price of the Companys common stock has exceeded

130% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days within 30 consecutive trading day period

ending on the trading day before the date the redemption notice is mailed We may redeem some or all of the

New Notes for cash at any time on or after March 2011 at redemption price equa to 100% of the principal

amount of the New Notes pus accrued and unpaid interest up to hut excluding the redemption date

We may he required to purchase for cash all or portion of the New Notes on March 2011 March

2014 or March 2019 or upon change in control at purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
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the New Notes being purchased- plus accrued and unpaid interest up to hut excluding the purchase date Upon

any event of default the lender may demand immediate payment of the balance outstanding Mi event of default

includes the failure to pay any interest or principal
when due failure to perform an of the terms covenants

conditions or provisions
of the agreement

In December 2006 we obtained consents from holders of the New Notes for the waiver of certain defaults

related to the late filing of our Form 0-Q for the penod ended September
30 2006 and certain proposed

amendments to the indentures governing the New Notes elirmnating covenants related to the filing of periodic

reports
with the SEC and the delivery of such reports to the trustee for the New Notes The waiver and

amendment required the consent of holders of majority in aggregate prrncipal amount of the Ne Notes

outstanding In exchange for the consent to the waiver and amendment we paid holders of the Ne Notes an

initial consent fee of $5.00 for each $1000 principal amount of New Notes for which consents were obtained

The initial consent fee of $0 million was paid to holders of the New Notes in December 2006 and charged to

interest expense If we did not commence cash tender offer for the New Notes ott or before February 28 2007

to redeem all validly tendered New Notes at price of at least $1000 for each $l.000 principal amount of Ne

Notes we were required to pay holders of the New Notes for which consents to the waiver and amendment were

obtained- an additional fee of $85.00 for each $1000 principal amount of New Notes We did not initiate the

tender offer and on March 2007 an aggregate
of $9.4 million was paid to the holders of the Ne Notes which

amount was capitalized and will he amortized to interest expense through March 2011

Notes Payable to The Retirement Systems of Alabanw the RSA

We have notes payable to the RSA the RSA Notes that consist of the following

9% Senior Subordinated Notes Payable to the RSA issued in 2000 On July 2000 and as

amended on May 2004 we entered into facility under which we issued $1 80.0 million of

subordinated debt to two of the RSAs affiliated funds the 2000 Notes The 2000 Notes were

comprised of $80.0 million hearing interest at 9.125% which was repaid in June 2001 and $100.0

million hearing interest at 9.091 parable in semi-annual interest and pnncipal payments
with semi

annual principal
installments commencing on December 31 2000 of $3.5 million $4.4 million

commencing December 31 2007 $5.1 million due December 31 2009 and final payment of $8.5

million on June 30 2010 The 2000 Notes were collateralized by second lien on substantially all of

the Companys and its subsidiaries North American and South American assets Effective June 30

2008 we entered into the 2008 Notes with the lenders that consolidated the 2000 Not.es and the 2007

Notes

9% Senior Subordinated Notes Payable to the RS4 issued in 2006 On October 2006 we

borrowed $35.0 million from two of the RSAs affiliated funds in connection with our acquisition
of

ProSys the 2006 Notes The 2006 Notes hear interest at 9% and are in the form of two notes one

for $23.0 million and second for $12.0 million both due on vanous dates through August 1.2013

The 2006 Notes are collateralized by ProSys shares and all tangible and intangible assets of the ProSys

business other than those assets pledged to CDF The balances outstanding at December 31 2008 and

2007 were $32.3 million and $34.0 million respectively
with scheduled repayments of $2.5 million in

2009 $3.3 million in 2010 $4.0 million in 2011 and $22.5 million thereafter Pnncipal payments are

due on August and February of each rear and include accrued interest through that date We must

meet certain financial covenant tests on quanerl basis including as provided by the amendment

entered into on February 24 2009 the same fixed-charge coverage ratio as required the Western

Facility prior to the amendment we were required to maintain consolidated net woim at the end of

each quarter
of not less than $87.5 million and comply with certain other covenants including

restrictions of incurrence of debt and liens and resnictions on asset dispositions payment of dividends

and repurchase
of stock We are also required to he in compliance with the covenants of certain other

borrowing agreements Upon an event of default the lender ma demand immediate payment of the

balance outstanding



9% Senior Subordinated Notes Payable to the RSA issued in 2007 On January 30 2007 we

entered into revolvinc credit agreement with two of the RSAs affiliated funds in the amount of $30.0

million the 2007 Notes The 2007 Notes bear interest at 9% Under the terms of the 2007 Notes the

availability of the revolving credit was set to expire on July 2008 and thereafter payments would he

made at the rate of $1.0 million per month beginning August 15 2008 and the entire principal balance

would be due on January 30 2009 The 2007 Notes were collateralized by second lien on

substantially all of the Companys and its subsidiaries North American and South American assets

Effective June 30 2008 we entered into the 2008 Notes with the lenders that consolidated the 2000

Notes and the 2007 Notes

9% Senior Subordinated Notes Payable to the RSA Issued in 2008 On August 2008 we entered

into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement effective as of June 30 2008 the 2008 Notes with

several of the RSAs affiliated funds which consolidated and restructured the $56.7 million in

outstanding indebtedness due under the 2000 Notes and 2007 Notes The balance outstanding on the

2008 Notes at December 31 2008 was $52.4 million The 2008 Notes bear interest at 9% per annum

payable in semi-annual installments with principal payments due of $4.0 million semi-annually

through June 2011 $5.0 million semi-annually through June 2013 and final payment of $12.4

million due December 2013 We granted second priority security interest subordinate to the

Western Facility and the CDF facility in substantially all of the property then owned or thereafter

acquired by us in North or South America We must meet certain financial covenant tests on quai-terlv

basis mcludang as provided by the amendment entered into on February 24 2009 the same fixed-

charge coverage ratio as required by the Western Facility prior to the amendment we were required to

maintain consolidated net worth at the end of each quarter of not less than $87.5 million and comply
with certain other covenants including restrictions of incurrence of debt and liens restrictions on asset

dispositions payment of dividends and repurchase of stock We are also required to he in compliance

with the covenants of certain other hon-owing agreements Upon any event of default the lender may

demand immediate pavmern of the balance outstanding

HSBC Bank plc Mortgage

On June 22 2004 in connection with the acquisition of OpenPSL we assumed mortgage with HSBC for

an onginal amount of 0.7 million $1.0 million using the exchange rate on December 31 2008 of $1 .46/fl .OOY

The mortgage has term of ten years and bears interest at HSBCs rate plus 1.25% The balance on the mortgage

was $0.3 million and $0.5 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Maturities

Matunties of terni loans based on the amounts and terms outstanding at December 31 2008 totaled $10.3

million in 2009 $1 1.1 million in 2010 $12.8 million in 2011 $14.8 million in 2012 $348 million in 2013 and

$110.0 million thereafter
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Debt Other Contractual Obligations and Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

The following is summary of certain contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31 2008

in thousands

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1.3 3.5 More Than

Year Years Years Years Total

Long-term debt
1ft286 23.917 $49630 S1l0.000 5193.833

Interest expense on long-temi debt 11.353 19.662 13.890 41.938 86843

Lines of credit
69.620 118.629 23.156 211.405

Capital leases

Operating leases
12.952 16.798 9.643 12.451 51.844

Supplemental ExecutiveRetiremefli Plan liability ... 675 1350 1.135 3.160

Total
$104705 $179681 597.669 5165.524 5547.579

The table excludes unrecoenized tax liabilities computed under FIN 48 of $8.9 million because reasonable and

reliable estimate of the timing of future tax payments or settlements if any cannot be determined See Note

Income Taxes in our notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Long-Term Debt and Related Interest Expense

At December 31 2008 we had various notes payable and other long-term debt with an outstanding balance

of $193 million with interest rates ranging from 3.75% to 9.0% The notes payable and other long-tenn debt

mature at various dates through March 2024

Lines of Credit

At December 31 2008 we had amounts outstanding under vanous lines of credit based upon eligible

accounts receivable and inventories Payments due have been included in the table above based upon the matutit

dates of the underlying facilities Al amounts have been classified as currently due in our consolidated balance

sheets at December 31 2008 and 2007

Capital Leases

We lease certain equipment under capital lease agreements The leases expire at various times through 2009

Operating Leases

We lease our facilities under cancelable and non-cancelable operating lease agreements The leases expire at

various times through 2025 and contain renewal options Certain of the leases require us to pay property taxes

insurance and maintenance costs

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have am off-balance sheet arrangements



Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by used in operating activities during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 consisted of in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss 574.820 $72.1 12 523.107

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by used in operating

activities

Depreciation and amortization 10.774 10.968 7.924

Amortization of debt issuance costs 3.546 3.185 867

Amortization of debt discount 422 539

Stock-based compensation expense 4.893 1.418 2.385

Provision forbad debts 16.375 7.090 8.506

Non-cash compensation 4.019 372

Loss on property and equipment 225 610 334

Unrealized loss gain on currency remeasurement 3.662 274 1.536

Impainnent of goodwill and other intangibles 5864 52.445 3.477

Deferred taxes 2.008 2.588 20.204

Cash provided by used in working capital 69496 11.348 67.697

Net cash provided used in operating activities 42.448 4.519 $45.57l

Our accounts receivable decreased to $435.6 million at December 31 2008 from $544.1 million at

December 31 2007 due primarily to lower sales volume and an increase in the allowance for had debts Our

inventories decreased to $230.7 million at December 31 2008 from $424.1 million at December 31 2007 also

due to lower sales volume Our accounts payable and cash overdraft decreased to $274.7 million in 2008 from

$433.3 million in 2007 as result of change in the timing of inventory purchases and receipts as result of

lower saks volume and our efforts to manage working capital

Our accounts receivable increased to $544.1 million at December 31 2007 from $505.4 million at

December 31 2006 due primarily to higher sales volume Our inventories increased to $424.1 million at

December 31 2007 from $374.0 million at December 31 2006 due to our need to support proect.ed sales growth

Our accounts payable and cash overdraft increased to $433.3 million in 2007 from $355.6 million at

December 31 2006 as result of change in the timing of inventory purchases and receipts and our efforts to

manage working capital

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

The net cash used in investing activities was $7.6 million in 2008 primarily related to the acquisition of

property and equipnient The net cash used in investing activities was $11.4 million in 2007 resulting from the

acquisitrnn of property and equipment in the amount of $9.2 million The net cash used in investing activities was

$34.1 million in 2006 primarily related to the acquisition of ProSys for $26.3 million net of cash acquired of

$6.8 million and $6.4 million for property and equipment

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

The net amount of cash used in financing activities was $47.4 million in 2008 whichprimarilv relat.e.d to the

repayment of $40.5 million under our short-term borrowing facilities and repayments of long-term notes of $10.9

million offset by proceeds of $10.0 million from long-term notes payable The net amount of cash provided by

financing acttvmes was $29.0 million in 2007 primarily related to borrowings under our short-term borrowing
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facilities of $47.5 million and proceeds from the issuance of common stock which were partial1 offset by

payments
under long-term notes payable and capital leases of $8.8 million Further in 2007 we pad $9.8 million

in debt issuance costs The net amount of cash provided by financing activities was $74.8 million in 2006 wInch

primarily related to $48.7 million for borrowings under our short-term borrowing facilities and proceeds of $35.0

million from long-term notes payable used for the acquisition
of ProSys offset primanly by repayments

of long-

term notes of $8.8 million

Contingent Put Option

in connection with the acquisition of ProSys we and the former shareholders of ProSys the Holders

entered into registration rights agreement obligating us to file registration
statement with the SEC to allow for

the resale of the 1.72 million shares of common stock used as part
of the consideration in the purchase

transaction within 60 days of the closing date of the acquisition
On April 30 2007 we and the Holders entered

into an amendment to the registration rights agreement
which provided that in exchange for an extension to us of

the time to register the shares we would provide
the Holders with cash necessary to make up the shortfall if any

if following the sale thereof the sales price of the shares held by the Holders on the open market is below $4.93

the Issue Price the price used to detennine the share value for purposes of determining the consideration for

the purchase transaction Price Protection as well as put nght to us at the issue Price in certain

circumstances On February 2008 we entered into memorandum of understanding with the Holders that

required us to pay an advance against potential contingent consideration due to the Holders in exchange for an

extension on the previously granted put right through September 30 2008 On August 26 2008 we and the

Holders entered into second amendment to the registration rights agreement under winch we agreed to purchase

front the Holders all of the right title and intereSt in 710.036 shares of the purchase consideration common stock

at the issue Price in exchange for the Holders agreeing to retain the remaining 1.014.336 shares until such time

as we are current in our periodic reports or October 2009 whichever occurs first With respect to the remaining

shares the Holders continue to hold the Price Protection and put rights as described above and our maximum

liability under these obligations is $5.0 million As of December 31 2008 we have accrued $4.4 million to cover

the Price Protection and put right obligations

Transactions with Related Parties

One director of the Company was director of one of our customers Pinnacle Systems Inc Another

director of the Company is director of one of our customers Datalink Corporation The consultant who

manages our Brazilian operation has an ownership interest in two of our customers/vendors Megaware

Commercial Ltda and Megaware Industrial Ltda collectively Megaware

During 2006 the employees who managed our Mexico operations
had vanous ownership interests in the

following customers/vendors of the Company import Mayoreo SA de CV Trofel Computacion SA de CV

Verhatrade SA de CV importador Nacional Peninsular and Outsourcing Disinhution SA de CV

In 2006 as part
of our acquisition of ProSys we entered into two long-term real property

leases for office

and warehouse space in Norcross Georgia with Laurelwood Holdings LLC Laurewood Holdings The

sellers of ProSys who thereafter became our employees have an ownership interest in Laurelwood Holdings In

2008 2007 and 2006 we paid $500.906 $497693 and $124423 respectively
under those lease agreements

to

Laurelwood Holdings

Since October 2005 we have employed stepson of Mr Bell in the position of director of strategic markets

In 2008 and 2007 Mr Bells stepson received total cash compensation of 5246.217 and $238307 respectively

On November 17 2005 he was granted an option to purchase 15.000 shares of common stock with an exercise

price of $7.95 per share On January 21 2008 he was granted an option to purchase
10.000 shares of common

stock with an exercise price of $5.90 per
share in addition he participates in all other benefits that we offe.r to

all of our employees The Audit Committee reviewed and ratified the employment of Mr Bells stepson and his

compensation
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Sales to and purchases from these parties for the three years ended December 31 2008 and accounts

receivable and accounts payable at December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 are summarized below in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Sales

Datalink Corporation 60 783

Megaware 45.111 37.939 23.808

Import Mayoreo SA de CV 7.620

Verhatrade SA de CV 4.027 20.452

Accounts receivable

Datalink Corporation 79

Megaware 8.443 10.024 4.844

Import Mayoreo SA de CV 5.615 6.451

Verbatrade SA de CV 40 40 6.489

Purchases

Megaware 16.114

ImportadoraNacidnal Peninsular 21.851

Accounts payable

Megaware 2.191

Import Mayorco SA de CV 6.288

RECENT ACCOTJNTING PRONOUNcENTS

In December 2007 FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 14 Revised 2007

Business Combinations SFAS 141R SFAS l4lR will change the accounting for business combinations

Under SFAS 141R an acquiring entity will he required to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities

assumed in transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with limited exceptions SFAS 141R will change the

accounting treatment and disclosure for certain specific items in business combination SPAS l4lR applies

prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first

annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years

SFAS l4lR will become effective for us beginning January 2009 We will apply the provisions of SFAS l4lR

to any future acquisitions

In November 2007 the EITF released Issue No 07-01 Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements EITF

07-01 EITF 07-0 requires collaborators to present the results of activities for whic.h they act as the principal

on gross
basis and report any payments received from made to other collaborators based on other applicable

GAAP or in the absence of other applicable GAAP based on analogy to authoritative accounting literature or

reasonable rational and consistently applied accounting policy election EITF 07-01 also clajified the

determination of whether transactions within collaborative arrangement are part of vendor-customer or

analogous relationship that are subject to EFFF Issue No 01-9 Accounting for Consideration Given by Vendor

to Customer EITF 07-01 is effective for the Company beginning January 2009 We do not expect the

provisions of EITF 07-01 to have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

In December 2007 FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 160 Noncont rolling

Ini.e rests in Consobdated Financial Statements an Amendment of ARB No SFAS 160 SFAS 160

establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the non-controlling interest in subsidiary and for the

deconsolidation of subsidiary SFAS 160 is effective for us beginning January 2009 Currently we do not

expect the adoption of SFAS 160 will have an impact on our consolidated financial statements

In March 2008 FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 16 Disclosures about

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities an .4mendment of FASB Statement No 133 SFAS 161 SFAS
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161 requires enhanced disclosures about derivative instruments and hedging activities and their effects on

companys financial position financial performance and cash flows SFAS 161 is effective for us beginning

January 2009 We are evaluating the effect of the adoption of SFAS 161 on our consolidated financial

statements including our disclosures

In April 2008 FASB issued FASBS Staff Position FSP Statement FASNo 142-3 Determination

of the UsfulLfe of intangible Assets FSP 142-3 FSP 142-3 amends the factors company should consider

in developing renewal or extension assumptions used in determining the useful life of recognized intangible

assets under FASBs Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 142 Goodwill and Other Tangible Assets

SFAS 142 This new guidance applies prospectively to intangible assets that are acquired individually or with

group of other assets in business combinations and asset acquisitions
PS 142-3 is effective for us beginning

January 2009 Early adoption
is prohibited

therefore this guidance will be applied prospectively On

adoption we do not expect
there will be any impact to our current consolidated financial statements

In Ma 2008 FASB issued Accounting Principles Board No 14-1 Accounting .for
Convertible Debt

instruments Thai May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion including Partial Cash Se1emeni APB 14-1

APB 14-1 requires that the liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments that may be settled in

cash upon conversion including partial cash settlement be separately accounted for in manner that reflects an

issuers non-convertible debt borrowing rate APB 14-1 is effective for us beginning January 2009 We are still

evaluating the impact that the adoption of APB 14-1 will have on our consolidated financial statements

in May 2008 FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 162 The Herarch of

Gene rail AccepledAccounting Principles SFAS 162 The new standard is intended to improve
financial

reporting by identiing consiitent framework or hierarchy for selecting accounting principles to he used in

preparing financial statements that are presented in conformity with GAAP for non-governmental entities SFAS

162 is effective 60 dais following the SECs approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

Auditing amendments to AU Section 411 The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity with Generall Accepted

Accounting Principles We do not expect
the adoption of this standard to have material effect on our

consolidated financial statements

In April 2009 FASB issued Staff Position Statement No 157-4 Determining Fair Value l47ren the Volume

and Level ofAcriiiO for the Asset or Liabilit Have Signficantly
Decreased and identgiing Transactions Thai

Are iVot Orderly FSP 157-4 FSP 157-4 indicates that if an entitx determines that either the volume andior

level of activity for an asset or liability has significantly decreased from normal conditions for that asset or

liability or price quotations or obsenable inputs are not associated with orderly transactions increased analysis

and management judgment will be required to estimate fair value FSP 157-4 is effective for interim and annual

periods ending after June 15 2009 with early adoption permitted FSP 157-4 must be applied prospectively PS

157-4 is effective for us beginning January 2009 We do not expect the provisions of PS 157-4 to have

material impact on our consolidated financial position results of Operations or cash flows

In April 2009 FASB issued Staff Position Statement No 107-1 and Accounting Pnnciples Board No 28-I

Interim Disclosures about Fair Va.lu.e of Financial instruments PS 107-1 PS 107-1 relates to fair value

disclosures in public entity financial statements for financial instruments thai are within the scope of FASB

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 107 Disclosures about Fair Value fFinancal Instruments

SFAS 107 This guidance increases the frequency
of those disclosures requiring public entities to provide the

disclosures on quarterly basis rather than just annually The quarterly disclosures are intended to provide

financial statement users with more timely information about the effects of current market conditions on an

entitys financial instruments that are not otherwise reported at fair value FSP 07-1 is effective for interim and

annual periods ending after June 15 2009 FSP 107-I must he applied prospectively On adoption we do not

expect there will he any impact on our current consolidated financial statements

In April 2009 the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No 111 SAB 111 on Other-Than-TemPOrar

Impairments OTTI SAB 111 amends Topic SM in the Staff Accounting Bulletin Senes entitled Other-
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Than-Teinporar impairment qf Certain investments in Debt and Equir Securities Topc SM. SAB 111

maintains the SEC staffs previous views related to equity securities and amends Topic SM to exclude debt

securities from its scope We elected to adopt SAB Ill in the first quarter of 2009 SAB Ill is effective for us

beginning Januaty 2009 On adoption we do not expect there will he any impact on our cunent consolidated

fin an ci statements

In May 2009 FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 165 Subsequent Events

SFAS 65 SFAS 165 establishes genera standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after

the balance sheet date but before fmancial statements are issued or are available to be issued SPAS 165 requires

the disclosure of the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events and the basis for that date

that is whether the date represents the date the financial statements were issued or were available to he issued

SPAS 165 is effective for us in the first interim period beginning after June 15 2009 We do not expect the

adoption of this standard to have material effect on our consolidated financial statements

QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net Sales

Quarter Change
2008 from 2007

2008 2007

dollars in thousandst

First Quarter $993362 972287 21.075 2.2%

Second Quarter 936601 920.681 15.920 1.791

Third Quarter 880730 988.497 107.767 10.991

Fourth Quarter 768.806 1068440 299.634 28.091

Three Months Ended March 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended March 2007

Consolidated net sales increased 2.2% to $993.4 million in the three months ended March 31 2008 from

$972.3 million in the same period in 2007 This increase is attributable to increased ProSys segment sales of

$32.7 million and an aggregate increase in TotalTec Miami and Other segments sales of $1 1.0 million The

increases in sales in our ProSys and Miami segments were primarily attributable to increased sales of computer

platforms storage systems and all other products These sales increases were partially offset by $14.3 million

sales decrease in Europe segment sales and an $8.4 million decrease in U.S Distribution segment sales

attributable to lower demand for computer platforms disk drives storage systems and all other products resulting

from the global recession The translation of our consolidated financial statements into U.S dollars resulted in

increased sales of $36.4 million for the three months ended March 31 2008 compared with same period in the

previous year which consists of sales translation gains of $26.0 million in our Europe segment $5.3 million in

our Canada segment and $5.2 million in our Other segment due to weaker U.S dollar

Three Months Ended June 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2007

Consolidated net sales increased 1.7% to $936.6 million in the three months ended June 30 2008 from

$920.7 million in the same period in 2007 The increase in consolidated net sales in the three months ended

June 30 2008 compared to the three months ended June 30 2007 is attributable to an increase in ProSs

segment sales of $39.5 million due to increased sales of computer platfonns storage systems and all other

products The increase in consolidated net sales is also attributable to an increase in Miami segment sales of

$24.2 million due to increased sales volume in the Miami-based export business and an increase of $7.7 million

in Europe segment sales primarily due to increased sales of storage systems These increases were partially offset

by $45.0 rnrihon decrease in U.S Distribution segment sales and cumulatively $10.5 million decrease in

TotaTec Canada and Other segments sales primarily resulting from the global recession The translation of our

consolidated financial statements into U.S dollars resulted in increased sales of $28.6 million for the three
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months ended March 31 2008 compared with the same period in the previous year winch consists of sales

translation gains of $21.1 million in the Europe segment $2.5 million in the Canada segment and $5.0 million in

the Other segment due to weaker U.S dollar

Three Months Ended September 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2007

Consolidated net sales decreased 10.9% to $880.7 million in the three months ended September 30 2008

from $988.5 million in the same period in 2007 The decrease is attributable to $72.3 million decrease in

Europe segment
sales decrease of $39.2 million in U.S Distribution segment sales and $6.9 million decrease

in ProSys segment sales These sales decreases were attributable to lower demand for products such as computer

platforms disk drives and all other products
due to the recession Parnally offsetting the sales decreases in the

Europe U.S Distribution and ProSys segments was an increase in Miami segment sales of $30.5 million which

was due to increased gTowth of the Miami-based export business whose sales consisted of computer platforms

and storage systems The translation of our consolidated financi statements into U.S dollars resulted

decreased sales of $2.0 million for the three months ended September 30 2008 when compared with the same

period in the previous year and was primarily attributable to the translanon of the Other segment sales as result

of stronger U.S dollar

Three Months Ended December 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2007

Consolidated net sales decreased 28.0% to $768.8 million in the three months ended December 31 2008

from $1 .068 million in the same period of 2007 The decrease in consolidated net sales is attributable to

decrease of $161.7 million in Europe segment
sales $90.0 million decrease in U.S Distribution segment sales

and $2.3 million decrease in TotaiTec segment sales $25 .0 million decrease in Miami segment sales $12.1

million decrease in Canada segment sales and $15.7 million decrease in Other segment sales These sales

decreases were attributable to lower demand for computer platforms disk drives storage systems and other

products due to the deepening recession Partially offsetting the decrease in sales was an increase of $7.4 million

in ProSys segment sales attributable to increased sales of computer platforms storage systems and all other

products The translation of our consolidated financial statements into U.S dollars resulted in decreased sales of

$77 million for the three months ended December 31 2008 compared with the same penod in the previous

year
due to stronger U.S dollar The sales translation loss consisted of $62.5 million loss attributable to

Europe segment sales $6.1 million loss attributable to Canada sales and an $8.8 million loss attributable to

Other segment sales

Gross Profit

QuarterJy Change
2008 from 2007

2008 2007

dollars in thousands

First Quarter
587.409 $81764 5.645 6.9%

Second Quarter
86.775 75.785 10.990 14.5%

Third Quarter
82.757 90.617 7.860 8.7%

Fourth Quarter
78.505 92.377 13.872 15.0%

Gross Profit Margin

First Quarter
8.8% 8.4%

Second Quarter
9.3% 8.2%

Third Quarter
9.4% 9.2%

Fourth Quarter
10.2% 8.7%

Three Months Ened March 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended Marc/i 2007

The gross profit percentage
was 8.8% of consolidated net sales in the three months ended March 31 2008

compared to 8.4% of consolidated net sales in the same penod ended March 31 2007 The change in the gross

63



profit percentage was pnmarily due to the gross profit percentage changes in the ProSys Canada Miami and

Other segments The gross profit percentage in the ProSys segment increased by 0.4% when comparing the three

months ended March 31 2008 to the same period in 2007 The increase in our ProSys segment gross profit

percentage is attributable to $14.3 million increase in storage systems sales and $21.8 million increase in all

other products sales offset by $4.1 million decrease in computer platform sales The
gross profit percentages in

the TotalTec Miami Canada and Other segments increased cumulatively by 0.1 91 primarily due to an increase

in sales of computer platform products storage systems disk drives and all other products Furthermore in the

three months ended March 31 2008 we recorded reduction of approximately $3.2 million to cost of sales

resulting from the release of certain vendor allowances previously deferred The release of deferred vendor

allowances had 0.4% impact on our gross profit percentage in the three months ended March 31 2008

Three Months Ended June 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2007

The gross profit percentage was 9.3% of consolidated net sales in the three months ended June 30 2008

compared to 8.2% of consolidated net sales in the same period ended June 30 2007 The change in the gross

profit percentage was because of gross profit percentage increases in the ProSys and Europe segments The gross

profit percentage in the ProSys segment increased 0.8% when comparing the three months ended June 30

2008 to the same period in 2007 The increase in our ProSys segment gross profit percentage is attributable to

$26.6 million increase in storage systems sales and $6.3 million and $6.0 million increase in computer

platforms and all other products sales respectively The gross profit percentage in the Europe segment increased

h\ 0.3% in the three months ended June 30 2008 when compared to the corresponding period in 2007

Three Months Ended September 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2007

The gross profit percentage was 9.4% of consolidated net sales in the three months ended September 30

2008 compared to 9.2% of consolidated net sales in the same period ended September 30 2007 The increase

was primanly due to the gross profit percentage increase of 0.3% by the U.S Distribution segment and the

decrease of 0.5% in the Europe segment The gross profit percentages in the TotalTec Miami Canada and Other

segments increased cumulativel\ by 0.4% and were due to an increase in sales of computer platform products

storage systems and disk drives Furthermore in the three months ended September 30 2008 we recorded

reduction of approximately $4.7 million to cost of sales resulting from the release of certain vendor allowances

previously deferred The release of deferred vendor allowances had 0.6% impact on our gross profit percentage

in the three months ended September 30 2008

Three Months Ended December 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2007

The gross profit percentage was 10.2% of consolidated net sales in the three months ended December 31

2008 compared to 8.7% of consolidated net sales in the same period ended December 31 2007 The gross profit

percentage in the ProSys segment increased by 0.8% when comparing the three months ended Decenther 31

2008 to the same penod in 2007 The increase in our ProSys segment gross profit percentage is attributable to an

$1 1.1 million increase in computer platform sales The gross profit percentages in the TotalTec Miami Canada

and Other segments increased cumulatively b\ 0.7% primarily due to an increase in sales of computer platform

products storage systems and disk drives Furthermore in the three months ended December 2008 we

recorded reduction of approximately $2.8 million to cost of sales resulting from the release of certain vendor

allowances previously deferred The release of deferred vendor allowances had 0.4% impact on our gross profit

percentage in the three months ended December 31 2008

64



Selling General Administrathe SGA Expense

Quartery Change
2008 from 2007

2008 2007
_______

dollars in thousands

First Quarter
$80.372 $7ft992 9.380 13.2%

Second Quarter
74439 72.917 1.522 2.1%

Third Quarter
77.735 72.290 5.445 7.5%

Fourth Quarter
74.500 77.581 3.081 4.Oi%

As of Net Revenue

First Quarler
8.1% 7.3%

Second Quarter
7.9% 7.9%

Third Quarter
8.8% 7.3%

Fourth Quarter
9.7% 7.3%

Three Months Ended March 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended March 2007

SGA expense
increased $9.4 million or 13.2% in the three months ended March 31 2008 compared to the

three months ended March 31 2007 The increase in SGA expense was primarily attributable to an $8.4 million

increase in administrative expenses
associated with commissions and bonuses due to higher sales volume and an

increase of $1.9 million in had debt expense partially offset by reduction in miscellaneous SGA expenses of

$0.9 million

Three Months Ended June 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2007

SGA expense increased $1.5 million or 2.1% in the three months ended June 30 2008 compared to the

three months ended June 30 2007 The increase in SGA expense was pnmanly attributable to an additional

$0.9 million in commissions and bonus expense resulting from higher sales \oume and headcount in the three

months ended June 30 2008 when compared to the corresponding penod in 2007 The increase is further

attributable to $1.3 million in SGA expenses
associated with the cost of insurance partially offset by

decrease in SGA expenses associated with outside services of approximately $1.1 million

Three Months Ended September 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2007

SGA expense increased $5.4 million or 7.5% in the three months ended September 30 2008 compared to

the three months ended September 30 2007 The increase in SGA expense was primarily
attributable to

increases of $3.2 million in had debt expense $1.6 million in advertising expense and $0.8 million in salaries

and wages resulting from higher headcount partially
offset by $0.2 million decrease in miscellaneous SGA

expenses

Three Months Ended December 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2007

SGA expense decreased $3.1 million or 4.0% in the three months ended December 31 2008 compared to

the three months ended December 31 2007 The decrease in SGA expense was pnmarily
attributable to

decreases of $5.9 million in salaries and wages and employee benefit expense resulting from lower headcount

due to layoffs $1.1 million in outside service expenses and $0.3 million in miscellaneous SGA expenses

These decreases were partially offset an increase of $4.2 million in had debt expense
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Insestigation and Restatement-Related Costs

First Quarter

Second Quarter

Third Quarter

Fourth Quarter

As 9c of Net Revenue

First Quarter

Second Quarter

Third Quarter

Fourth Quarter

Three Months Ended March 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended March 2007

investigation and restatement-related costs increased $3.3 million or 57.5% in the three months ended

March 31 2008 compared to the three months ended March 31 2007 The increase in investigation and

restatement-related costs was attributable to fees paid to external auditors and outside advisors for investigation-

related activities and the restatement of our historical financial statements

Three Months Ended June 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2007

Investigation and restatement-related costs increased $3.7 million or 50.0% in the three months ended

June 30 2008 compared to the three months ended June 30 2007 The increase in investigation and restatement-

related costs was attributable to fees paid to external auditors and outside advisors for investigation-related

activities and the restatement of our historical financial statements

Three Months Ended September 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2007

Investigation and restatement-related costs increased $9.5 million or 143.3% in the three months ended

September 30 2008 compared to the three months ended September 30 2007 The increase in investigation and

restatement-related costs was attributable to fees paid to external auditors and outside advisors for investigation-

related activities and the restatement of our historical financial statements

Three Months Ended December 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2007

Investigation and restatement-related costs increased $9.4 million or 1404% in the three months ended

December 31 2008 compared to the three months ended December 31 2007 The increase in investigation and

restatement-related costs was attributable to fees paid to external auditors and outside advisors for investigation-

related activities and the restatement of our historical financial statements

Impairment of Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Three Months Ended December 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2007

We recorded goodwill impairment charge of $5.9 million which consisted of $2.4 million goodwill

impairment charge in the Net Storage segment and $3.5 niillion goodwill impairment charge in the TotaTec

segment for the three months ended December 31 2008 We recorded goodwill impairment charge of $52.4

million which consisted of $20.5 million goodwill impainnent charge in the ProSys segment and $31.9

million goodwill impairment charge in the Europe segment for the three months ended December 31 2007

Quartery Change
2008 from 2007

2008 2007

dollars in thousands

9.013 55.723 53.290 57.5%

10.957 7.307 3.650 50.0%

16.134 6.631 9.503 143.3%

16.029 6.667 9.362 140.4%

0.9%

1.2%

1.8%

2.1%

0.6%

0.8%

0.7%

0.6%
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From January 2008 through May 31 2009 our common stock traded as low as $0.27 per share We will

continue to monitor the estimates of fair value for our reporting units and there may he circumstances in future

periods that will require us to recognize an impairment loss on all or portion of our recorded goodwill or other

intangible assets

Restructuring and Impairment Costs

Three Months Ended March 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended March 2007

In the three months ended March 31 2008 we initiated restructuring plan for our North American

European and Latin American operations and as result we incurred restructuring costs and other charges of

approximately
$22 million These costs consisted primarily

of severance and benefit costs for involuntary

employee terminations Approximately $1.8 million $0.3 million and $0.1 million of these severance and

benefit costs were incurred in the Europe Other and U.S Distribution reporting segments respectively We

classified all of these charges to restructuring and impairment costs in the statement of operations in the three

months ended March 31 2008

We completed the cash payments
under this restructuring initiative in 2008

There were no restructuring activities in the three months ended March 31 2007

Three Months Ended June 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2007

In th thrrnOnths ended June30 2008 we incurred restructuring and impairment costs of approximately

572.000 which were attributable to severance and benefit costs associated with involuntary eniployee

terminations in the Other reportable segment

In the three months ended June 30 2007 we incurred restructuring and impairment costs of approximately

$1.2 million related to severance and benefit costs associated with involuntary employee terminations in the

Europe reportable segment

The restructuring program
for headcount reduction was initiated in the second quarter of 2007 and continued

through December 2007

Three Months Ended September 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2007

In the three months ended September 30 2008 we incurred restructuring and impairment costs of

approximately
$59000 which were attributable to severance and benefit costs associated with involuntary

employee terminations

In the three months ended September 30 2007 we incurred restructuring and impairment costs of

approximately $1 29.000 related to severance and benefit costs associated with involuntary employee

terminations

Three Months Ended December 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2007

In the three months ended December 31 2008 we initiated restructuring plan for our North Amencan

European and Latin American operations and as result the Company incurred restructuring costs and other

charges of approximately $1 .9 million These costs consisted primarily of 51 .5 million of severance and benefit

costs for involuntary employee terminations and costs of $0.4 million related to the closure and impaent of

certain leased facilities Approximately $1.0 million $0.2 million and $0.3 million of these severance and benefit

costs were incurred in the Europe ProSys and Other segments respectively The remaining amount of these

severance and benefit costs of approximately $0.2 million were incurred in the U.S Distribution TotalTec and
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Miami reporting segments Approximately $0.2 million and $0.2 million of the costs associated with the closure

and impairment of certain leased facilities were incurred in the TotalTec and U.S Distribution reporting

segments respectively We classified all of these charges to restructuring and impairment costs in the statement

of operations in the three months ended December 31 2008 We expect to make the remaining cash
payments

required by this restructuring initiative in 2009

In the three months ended December 31 2007 we incurred restructuring and impairment costs of

approximately $72000 related to severance and benefit costs associated with involuntary employee terminations

in the U.S Distribution reportable segment

Interest Expense Net

Quarterly Change
2008 from 2007

2008 2007

dollars in thousands

First Quarter $8017 $9102 $1.085 11.9
Second Quarter 7.276 8.017 741 9.2%
Third Quarter 7.247 8.701 1.454 16.7%

Fourth Quarter 7.358 8.343 985 11891

Three Months Ended March 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended March 2007

Interest expense net decreased $1.1 million or 11.9% in the three months ended March 31 2008 compared

to the three months ended March 31 2007 The decrease in interest expense net in 2008 over 2007 was primarily

attributable to decreased interest rates in 2008 Our weighted average borrowings in the three months ended

March 31 2008 were $444.0 million compared to $440.3 million in the three months ended March 31 2007 The

weighted average interest rate in the three months ended March 31 2008 was 6.1 91 compared to 6.891 in the

three months ended March 31 2007

Three Months Ended June 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2007

Interest expense net decreased $0.7 million or 9.2% in the three months ended June 30 2008 compared to

the three months ended June 30 2007 The decrease in interest expense net was primarily attributable to

decreased interest rates during the three months ended June 30 2008 Our weighted average borrowings in the

three months ended June 30 2008 were $421.8 million compared to $403.8 million in the three months ended

June 30 2007 The weighted average interest rate in the three months ended June 30 2008 was 6.2% compared

to 6.8% in the three months ended June 30 2007

Three Months Ended Sepiember 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2007

Interest expense net decreased $1.5 million or 16.7% in the three months ended September 30 2008

compared to the three months ended September 30 2007 The decrease in interest expense net was primaril\

attributable to decreased interest rates during the three months ended September 30 2008 Our weighted average

borrowings in the three months ended September 30 2008 were $423.9 million compared to $406.6 million in

the three months ended September 30 2007 The weighted average interest rate in the three months ended

September 30 2008 was 6.1% compared to 6.9% in the three months ended September 30 2007

Three Months Ended December 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2007

Interest expense net decreased $1.0 million or 11.8% in the three months ended December31 2008

compared to the three months ended December 31 2007 The decrease in interest expense net was primarily

attributable to decreased interest rates and decreased borrowings during the three months ended December 31
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2008 Our weighted average borrowings in the three months ended December 31 2008 were $418.1 million

compared to $424.5 million in the three months ended December 31 2007 The weighted average interest rate in

the three months ended December 31 2008 was 5.9% compared to 7.0% in the three months ended

December 31 2007

Other Expense income Net

Quarter Change
2008 from 2007

2008 2007

dollars iii thousands

FirstQuarter
51329 $L219 $1.110 91.l%

Second Quarter
416 1.753 1.337 76.3%

Third Quarter
8.377 1.253 9630 768.6%

Fourth Quarter
4.877 1.799 3.078 171.1%

Three Months Ended Marc/i 31 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31 2007

Other expense income net decreased $1.1 million or 91.1% in the three months ended March 31 2008

compared to the three months ended March 31 2007 The decrease was primarily attributable to an increase in

foreign currency
transaction gains of $2.0 million in the three months ended March 31 2008 Foreign currency

transaction gains were $2.7 million in the three months ended March 31 2008 compared to $0.7 million in the

three months ended March 31 2007

Three Months Ended June 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2007

Other expense income net increased $1.3 million or 76.3% in the three months ended June 30 2008

compared to the three months ended June 30 2007 The increase was primanly attributable to decrease in

foreicn currency transaction losses of $1.6 million in the three months ended June 30 2008 Foreign cunenc

transaction gains were $1.6 million in the three months ended June 30 2007 and there was no foreign currency

translation activity in the three months ended June 30 2008

Three Months Ended September 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2007

Other expense income net increased $9.6 million or 768.6% in the three months ended September 30

2008 compared to the three months ended September 30 2007 The increase was primarily attributable to

decrease in foreign currency transaction losses of $9.2 million in the three months ended September 30 2008

Foreign currency transaction losses were $8.1 million in the three months ended September 30 2008 compared

to $1.1 million of currency transaction gains in the three months ended September 30 2007

Three Months Ended December 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2007

Other expense income net increased $3.1 milion or 17 .1 in the three months ended December 31

2008 when compared to the three months ended December 31 2007 The increase was pnmarily attributable to

decrease in foreign currency transaction losses of $3.5 million in the three months ended December 2008

Foreign currency transaction losses were $4.7 million in the three months ended December 31 2008 compared to

$1.2 million in the three months ended December 31 2007

Income Taxes

Our income tax provision and effective tax rate are primarily impacted by among other factors the statutori

tax rates in the countries in which we operate and the related level of income generated by our global operations
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The vanance in quarterly tax expense between 2008 and 2007 is largely based upon differences in quarterly

income and certain discrete items including the recording of valuation allowances impairment of intangible

assets and return to provision adjustments

Three Months Ended March 2008 Compared 10 Three Months Ended March 2007

2008 2007 Change

dollars in thousands

Provision for income taxes $246 3.122 $.876
Effectivetaxrate 2.5 1l0.2% 107.7%

The low negative effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31 2008 was due to U.S and certain

other pre-tax losses for which the tax benefits were offset by full Valuation allowances provided against the

related deferred tax assets and low pre-tax profits generated in other jurisdictions For the three months ended

March 31 2007 we had an overall pre-tax loss for the quarter which combined with pre-tax profits generated in

the U.K and Canada where we have not provided valuation allowance against the related deferred tax assets

yielded high negative tax rate

Three Months Ended June 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2007

2008 2007 Change

dollars in thousands

Provision for benefit from income taxes 51.375 5451 51.826

Effective tax rate 24.8% 3.8% 28.6%

The negative effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30 2008 was due to U.S and certain other

pre-tax losses for which the tax benefits were offset by full valuation allowances provided against the related

deferred tax assets and pre-tax profits generated in the U.K and Brazil where we have not provided valuation

allowances against the related deferred tax assets The tax benefit recorded for the three months ended June 30

2007 was due to benefits recorded for pre-tax losses generated in the U.K

Three Months Ended September 30 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2007

2008 2007 Change

dollars in thousands

Provision for benefit from thcome taxes $456 $3464 53.920

Effective tax rate 1.7% 84.1% 82.4%

The low effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30 2008 was due to tax benefits recorded

for pre-tax losses generated in the U.K. and due to U.S and certain other pre-tax losses for which the tax

benefits were offset by full valuation allowances provided against the related deferred tax assets The high

effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30 2007 was due to taxes provided on pre-tax profits

generated in the U.K

Three Months Ended December 31 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended December 31 2007

2008 2007 Change

dollars in thousands

Provision for benefit from income taxes S638 $826 $l.464

Effective tax rate 2.0% l.5% 3.5%
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The low effective tax rates for the three months ended December 3L 2008 and 2007 were due to U.S and

certain other pre-tax losses for which the tax benefits were offset by full valuation allowances provided against

the related deferred tax assets

Net Sales

Quarterly Change
2007 from 2006

2007 2006

dollars in thousands

First Quarter
972.287 $849.807 5122.480 14.4%

Second Quarter
920.681 764.168 156.513 20.5%

Third Quarter
988.497 774907 213.590 27.6%

Fourth Quarter
1.068.440 983.994 84.446 8.6%

Three Mont/is Ended Marc/i 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended March 2006

Consolidated net sales increased 14.4% to $972.3 million in the three months ended March 31 2007 from

$849.8 million in the same period in 2006 The increase in consolidated net sales in the three months ended

March 31 2007 compared to the three months ended March 31 2006 was primarily
attributable to increased

ProSys segment sales of $92.4 million which was acquired in October 2006 Our Miami segment sales increased

$17.3 million due to increased sales of computer platforms
and storage systems The translation of the

Companys consolidated financial statements into U.S dollars resulted in increased sales of $39.3 million for the

three months ended March 31 2007 compared with the three months ended March 31 2006 due to weaker

U.S dollar The sales translation gain for the three months ended March 31 2007 consisted of $40.1 million

translation gain in the Europe segment offset by translation losses in the Other segment
of $0.3 million and the

Canada seument of $0.5 million

Three Months Ended June 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2006

Consolidated net sales increased 20.5% to $920.7 million in the three months ended June 30 2007 from

$764.2 million in the same period in 2006 The increase in consolidated net sales itt the three months ended

June 30 2007 compared to the three months ended June 30 2006 is primarily attributable to sales of computer

platforms storage systems and all other products of $81.7 million in the ProSys segment which was acquired in

October 2006 Our Miami segment sales increased by $14.8 million due to increased sales of computer platforms

and storage systems The translation of the Companys consolidated financial statements into U.S dollars

resulted in increased sales of $30.7 million for the three months ended June 30 2007 compared with the three

months ended June 30 2006 due to weaker U.S dollar The sales translation gain for the three months ended

June 30 2007 consisted of $28.6 million translation gain in the Europe segment $0.8 million translation gain

in the Canada segment and translation gain in the Other segment of .3 million

Three Months Ended September 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2006

Consolidated net sales increased 27.6% to $988.5 million in the three months ended September 30 2007

from $774.9 million in the same period in 2006 The increase in consolidated net sales in the three months ended

September 30 2007 compared to the three months ended September 30 2006 is primarily attributable to

computer platform and storage systems sales of $103.2 million made by the ProSys segment which we acquired

in October 2006 The U.S Distribution segment and Canada segment net sales also increased due to higher sales

of storage systems and disk drives The Miami segment net sales increased primanly due to $1 1.0 million in

increased sales of computer platforms disk drives and all other products
The translation of the Companys

consolidated financial statements into U.S dollars resulted in increased sales of $34.3 million for the three

months ended September 30 2007 compared with the three months ended September 30 2006 due to weaker
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U.S dollar The sales translation gain for the three months ended September 30 2007 consisted of $30.3

million translation gain in the Europe segment $2.6 million translation gain in the Canada segment and

translation gain in the Other segment of $1 .4 million

Three Months Ended December 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2006

Consolidated net sales increased 8.6% to 1.0684 million in the three months anded December 31 2007

from $984.0 million in the same period of 2006 The increase in consolidated net sales is attributable primarily to

increased ProSys segment sales of $28.2 million The U.S Distribution segment and Canada segment net sales

also increased due to sales of storage systems and disk drives The Miami segment net sales increased primaril

due to $6.0 million in increased sales of computer platforms disk drives and all other products The translation of

the Companys consolidated financial statements into U.S dollars resulted in increased sales of $49.0 million for

the three months ended December 31 2007 compared with the three months ended December 31 2006 due to

weaker U.S dollar The sales translation gain for the three months ended December 31 2007 consisted of $40.4

million translation gain in the Europe segment $5.3 million translation gain in the Canada segment and

translation gain in the Other segment of $3.3 million

Gross Profit

QuarteHy Change
2007 from 2006

2007 2006

dollars in thousands

First Quarter 581.764 564.041 517.723 27.7%

Second Quarter 75.785 63.991 11.794 18.4%

Third Quarter 90.617 60.968 29.649 48.6

Fourth Quarter 92.377 85.741 6.636 77
Gross Profit Margin

First Quarter 8.4% 7.5%

Second Quarter 8.2% 8.4%

Third Quarter 9.2% 7.9%

Fourth Quarter 8.6% 8.7

Three Months Ended March 31 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31 2006

The gross profit percentage was 8.4% of consolidated net sales in the three months ended March 31 2007

compared to 7.5% of consolidated net sales in the three months ended March 31 2006 The 0.9% increase in the

gross profit percentage was primarily due to increased consolidated net sales of computer platforms and storage

systems of $122.5 million for the three months ended March 31 2007 compared to the same period in 2006 The

increase was mainly due to increased sales of computer platforms and storage systems in the Europe segment in

the amount of $44.2 million an increase in ProSys segment sales of all ProSvs product lines in the amount of

$92.4 million and an increase in Miami segment sales of computer platforms and storage systems in the amount

of $17.3 million These sales increases were partially offset by decreased sales in the U.S Distribution Canada

and Other segments of $32.1 million

Three Months Ended June 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2006

The gross profit percentage was 8.2 of consolidated net sales in the three months ended June 30 2007

compared to 8.4% of consolidated net sales in the three months ended June 30 2006 The 0.2% decrease in the

gross profit percentage was primarily due to decrease in the gross profit in the U.S Distribution TotalTec and

Other segments which decreased cumulatively by 0.8% as result of lower sales of computer platforms storage

systems and all other product offerings This decrease was partially offset by .0% increase in ProSys segment

gross profit percentage resulting from increased sales of computer platforms storage systems and all other

product offerings
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Three Months Ended September 30 2007 Compared 1.0 Three Months Ended September 30 2006

The gross profit percentage
was 9.2% of consolidated net sales in the three months ended September 30

2007 compared to 7.9% of consolidated net sales in the same period
ended September 30 2006 The 1.3%

increase in the gross profit percentage was primarily due to an increase of 0.4% and 0.1% in the U.S Disttihution

and Europe segments respectively which sold larger amounts of storage systems and disk drives The gross

profit percentage
in the ProSys segment increased by .6% due to increased sales of all ProSys product

lines The

gross profit percentages
in the TotalTec Miami Canada and Other segments decreased cumulatively by 0.8%

primarily due to an overall decrease in sales of computer platform products storage systems disk drives and all

other products

Three Months Ended December 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2006

The gross profit percentage
remained unchanged at 8.6% when comparing the three months ended

December 31 2007 to the corresponding period in 2006

Selling General Administrative SGA Expense

Quarterly Change
2007 from 2006

2007 2006

dollars in thousaiuis

First Quarter
$70992 $56433 514.559 25.8%

Second Quarter
72.917 53.343 19.574 36.7%

Third Quarter
72.290 57.423 14.867 25.9%

Fourth Quarter
77.581 70.967 6.614 9.3k

SGA as of Net Revenue

First Quarter
7.3% 6.6%

Second Quarter
7.0%

Third Quarter
7.3% 7.4%

Fourth Quarter
7.3% 7.2%

Three Months Ended March 2007 Compared 1.0 Three Months Ended March 2006

SGA expense
increased $14.6 million or 25.8% in the three months ended March 31 2007 compared to

the three months ended March 31 2006 The increase in SGA expense was primarily attributable to the $10.0

million of administrative expense
associated with the 2006 acquisition of ProSys In addition there was an

increase in salaries and c.omniission of $3.9 million in the three months ended March 31 2007 primarily due to

increased headcounl and higher sales volume There was also an increase in outside services of $1.9 million in

the three months ended March 31 2007 for consultants

Three Months Ended June 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2006

SGA expense
increased $19.6 million or 36.7% in the three months ended June 30 2007 compared to the

three months ended June 30 2006 The increase in SGA expense
was pnmatily ambutable to 511.7 million of

administrative expense associated with the 2006 acquisitions of ProSys In addition there was an increase in

salaries commissions and employee benefits of $5.1 million primarily attributable to increased headcount and

higher sales volume There was also an increase in had debt expense of $2.0 million in the three months ended

June 30 2007 as wel as an increase in outside services expense
of $1.1 million in the three months ended

June 30 2007

Three Months Ended Sepiember 30 2007 Compared 10 Three Months Ended September 30 2006

SGA expense
increased $14.9 ntiuion or 25.9% in the three months ended September 30 2007 compared

to the three months ended September 30 2006 The increase in SGA expense was primarily anrihutable to the
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$12.3 million of administrative expense associated with the 2006 acquisition of ProSys There was also an

increase in salaries and commissions of $3.0 million in the three months ended September 30 2007 primarily

due to increased headcount and higher sales volume

Three Months Ended December 31 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended December 31 2006

SGA expense increased $6.6 million or 9.3% in the three months ended December31 2007 compared to

the three months ended December 31 2006 The increase in SGA expense was primarily attributable to

additional salaries commissions and employee benefits of $4.3 million in the three months ended December 31
2007 primarily due to increased headcount and higher sales volume There was also an increase of $0.6 million

in rent and utilities expense in the three months ended December 31 2007 as well as an increase of $0.7 million

in travel and entertainment expenses in the same three-month period in 2007

Investigation and Restatement-Related Costs

Three Months Ended March 31 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended March 2006

Investigation and restatement-related costs were $5.7 million in the three months ended March 31 2007

The investigation and restatement-related costs in 2007 were attributable to fees paid to external auditors and

outside advisors for investigation-related activities and the restatement of our historical financial statements

There were no investigation- or restatement-related costs in the three months ended March 31 2006

Three Months Ended .June 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended Jun.e 30 2006

Investigation and restatement-related costs were $7.3 million in the three months ended June 30 2007 The

investigation and restatement-related costs in 2007 were attributable to fees paid to external auditors and outside

advisors for investigation related activities and the restatement of our historical financial statements There were

no investigation- or restatement-related costs in the three months ended June 30 2006

Three Months Ended September 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2006

Investigation and restatement-related costs were $6.6 million in the three months ended September 30

2007 The investigation and restatement-related costs in 2007 were attributable to fees paid to external auditors

and outsde advisors for investigation-related activities and the restatement of our historical financial statements

There were no investigation and restatement-related costs in the three months ended September 30 2006

Three Months Ended December 2007 Compared lo Three Months Ended December 2006

Investigation and restatement-related costs were $6.7 million in the three months ended December31 2007

an increase of $5.0 million or 304.3% compared to the three months ended December 31 2006 The increase in

investigation and restatement-related costs were attributable to fees paid to external auditors and outside advisors

for investigation-related activities and the restatement of our historical financial statements

Impairment of Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Three Months Ended June 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2006

We recorded goodwill impairment charge of $3.2 million in the three months ended June 30 2006 related

primarily to the Canada segment

Three Months Ended December 2007 Compared Ic Three Months Ended Deceniber 2006

In 2007 we recorded goodwill impairment charge of $52.4 million which consisted of $20.5 million

goodwill impairment charge in the ProSys segment and $31 .9 million goodwill impairment charge in the

Europe segment
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Restructuring and Impairment Costs

Three Months Ended June 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2006

In the three months ended June 30 2007 we incurred restructuring and impairment costs of approximately

81 .2 million related to severance and benefit costs associated with involuntary employee
terminations

Approximately $1.2 million of these severance and benefits costs were incurred in the Europe reporting

segment

The restructuring program was initiated in the second quarter
of 2007 and continued through December

2007

There were no restructuring-related activities in the three months ended June 30 2006

Three Mont/is Ended September 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended September $0 2006

In the three months ended September
30 2007 we incurred restructuring and impairment costs of

approximately 5129.000 related to severance and benefit costs associated with involuntary employee

tenTunations

There were no restructuring-related activities in the three months ended September 30 2006

Three Months Ended December 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2006

in the three months ended December 31 2007 we incurred restructunng and impairment costs of

approximately 872.000 in the U.S distribution reportable segment These costs related to severance and benefit

costs associated with involuntary employee terminations

There were no restructuring-related activities in the three months ended December 31 2006

Interest Expense Net

Quarterly Change
2007 from 2006

2007 2006

dollars in thousands

First Quarter
$9102 86.447 82.655 41.2%

Second Quarter
8.017 7.490 527 7.0%

Third Quarter
8.701 6.876 1825 26.5%

Fourth Quarter
8.343 8.643 300 3.5%

Three Months Ended Marc/i 31 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31 2006

Interest expense net increased $2.7 million or 41.2% in the three months ended March 31 2007 compared

to the three months ended March 31 2006 The increase in interest expense net pnmarily
attributable to

increased borrowings to finance working capita requirements
and the acquisition

of ProSys Our weighted

average borrowings in the three months ended March 31 2007 were $440.3 million compared to $364.2 million

in the three months ended March 31 2006 The weighted average
interest rate in the three months ended

March 31 2007 was 6.8% compared to 6.1% in the three months ended March 31 2006

Three Months Ended June 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2006

Interest expense net increased $0.5 million or 7.0% in the three months ended June 30 2007 compared to

the three months ended June 30 2006 The increase in interest expense net was primarily attributable to

increased interest rates and increased borrowings to finance working capita requirements and the acquisition of



ProSys Our weighted average borrowings in the three months ended June 30 2007 were $403.8 million

compared to $393.1 million in the three months ended June 30 2006 The weighted average interest rate in the

three months ended June 30 2007 was 6.8% compared to 6.5% in the three months ended June 30 2006

Three Months Ended September 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2006

Interest expense net increased $1.8 million or 26.5% in the three months ended September 30 2007

compared to the three months ended September 30 2006 The increase itt interest expense net was primarily

attributable to increased interest rates and increased borrowings to finance working capita requirements and the

acquisition of ProSys Our weighted average borrowings in the three months ended September 30 2007 were

$406.6 million compared to $380.5 million in the three months ended September 30 2006 The weighted average

interest rate in the three months ended September 30 2007 was 6.9% compared to 6.6% in the three months

ended September 30 2006

Three Months Ended December 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended December 31 2006

Interest expense net decreased $0.3 million or 3.5% in the three months ended December 31 2007

compared to the three months ended December 31 2006 The decrease in interest expense net was primarih

attributable to decreased borrowings in 2007 Our weighted average borrowings in the three months ended

December 31 2007 were $424.5 million compared to $429.3 million in the three months ended December 31

2006 The weighted average interest rate in the three months ended December 31 2007 was 7.0% compared to

6.7% in the three months ended December 31 2006

Other Expense thcOme Net

Quarterh Change
2007 from 2006

2007 2006

dollars in thousands

First Quarter $1.219 30 $J.249 4.163.3%

Second Quarter 1.753 2.424 671 27.7%

Third Quarter .253 1.220 2.473 202.7%

Fourth Quarter 1.799 1.674 3.473 207.5%

Three Months Ended March 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended Marc/i 31 2006

Other expense income net decreased $1.2 million or 4.163.3% in the three months ended March 31 2007

compared to the three months ended March 31 2006 The decrease in other expense income net was primarily

attributable to an increase in foreign currency gains of $0.8 million in the three months ended March 31 2007

Foreign currency transacoon gains were $0.7 million in the three months ended March 31 2007 compared to

foreign currency transaction losses of $0.1 million in the three months ended March 31 2006

Three Months Ended June 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2006

Other expense income net decreased $0.7 million or 27.7% in the three months ended June 30 2007

compared to the three months ended June 30 2006 The decrease in other expense income net was primarily

attnbutable to decrease in foreign currency gains of $0.6 million in the three months ended June 30 2007

Foreign currency transaction gains were $1.6 million in the three months ended June 30 2007 compared to $2.2

million in the three months ended June 30 2006

Three Months Ended September 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2006

Other expense income net increased $2.5 million or 202.7% in the three months ended September 30

2007 compared to the three months ended September 30 2006 The increase in other expense income net was
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phmaril attributable to an increase in foreign currency transaction gains of $2.6 million in the three months

ended September 30 2007 Foreign currency transaction gains were $1.1 million in the three months ended

September 30 2007 compared to foreign currency transaction losses of $1.5 million in the three months ended

September 30 2006

Three Months Ended December 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2006

Other expense income net decreased $3.5 million or 207.5% in the three months ended December 31

2007 compared to the three months ended December 31 2006 The decrease in other expense income net was

primarily attributable to decrease in foreign currency transaction gains of $2.6 million in the three months

ended December 31 2007 Foreign currency
transaction losses were $1.3 million in the three months ended

December31 2007 compared to foreign currency
transaction gains of $1.3 million in the three months ended

December 31 2006

Income Taxes

The variance in quarterly tax expense between 2007 and 2006 is largely based upon differences in quarterly

income and certain discrete items including the recording of valuation allowances impaarment of intangible

assets and return to provision adjustments

Three Months Ended March 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended March 2006

2007 2006 Change

dollars in thousands

Provision for income taxes
3.122 $2.759 363

Effective tax rate
1l0.2% 243.9% 354.l%

The high negative effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31 2007 was due to pre-tax profits

generated in the U.K and Canada where we have not provided
valuation allowance against the related deferred

tax assets The high positive
effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31 2006 was due to valuation

allowances that offset the tax benefits on certain losses

Three Months Ended June 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30 2006

2007 2006 Change

dollars in thousands

Provision for benefit from income taxes 5451 $1 .982 $2.433

Effective tax rate
3.8% 84.3% 80.6%

The tax benefit recorded in the three months ended June 30 2007 was due to benefits recorded for pre-tax

losses generated
in the U.K The high positive effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30 2006 was

due to valuation allowances that offset the tax benefits on certain losses

Three Months Ended September 30 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30 2006

2007 2006 Change

dollars iii thousands

Provision for benefit from income taxes
$3.464 54.849 58.313

Effective tax rate
84.1% 106.5% 22.4%

The high effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30 2007 was due to taxes provided on

pre-tax profits generated in the U.K The high effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30 2006

was due to valuation allowances that utilized pre-tax income in certain jurisdictions
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Three Months Ended December 2007 Compared to Three Months Ended December 2006

2007 2006 Change

dollars in thousands

Provision for income taxes 8826 828.056 827230
Effective tax rate l.59i 474.6% 476.2%

The low necative effective tax rate for the three months ended December 31 2007 was due to U.S and

certain other pre-tax losses for which the tax benefits were offset by valuation allowances provided against the

related deferred tax assets The high effective tax rate for the three months ended December 31 2006 was due to

valuation allowance on substantially aU U.S deferred tax assets

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are subject to interest rate risk on our floating rate credit facilities and could he subjected to higher

interest payments if interest rates increase For the year ended December 31 2008 average borrowings on

floating rate credit facilities included $91 .2 million under the Western Facility $68.3 million under the Wachovia

Facility $54.9 million under the Bank of America Facility and $30.3 million under the Kredithank Facility

These facilities have interest rates that are based on associated rates such as Eurodollar and base or prime rates

that fluctuate based on market conditions one percentage point increase/decrease in the average interest rate

would have impacted interest expense by approximately $2.4 million in 2008

substantial part of our revenue and capital expenditures are transacted in currencies other than the U.S

dollar and the functional currencies for our foreign subsidiaries are generally not the U.S dollar We enter into

foreign forward exchange contracts to hedge certain balance sheet
exposures against future movements in foreign

exchange rates sudden or stgnificant change in foreign exchange rates could have material impact on our net

income or loss or cash flows The fair value of foreign exchange contracts are estimated using market quotes

The notional amount of foreign exchange contracts at December 31 2008 and 2007 were approximately $75.5

million and $52.1 million respectively The carrying amounts which are nominal approximated fair value at

December 31 2008 and 2007 Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in our

consolidated statements of operations in the amounts of 810.1 million 2.1 million and $2.0 million for the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The majority of these foreign exchange contracts

mature in stx months or less These contracts will settle in British pounds Euros Chilean pesos Mexican pesos

and U.S dollars

The translation of the consolidated financial statements of the non-United States operations is impacted by

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates We recorded translation gains losses in the amounts of 838.5

million $6.5 million and 17.4 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Sales and operating income would have decreased by approximately $143.1 million and $0.7 million

respectively if average foreign exchange rates had declined by 10% against the U.S dollar in 2008 This amount

was determined by considering the impact of hypothetical foreign exchange rate on sales and operating income

of the Companys international operations

On June 30 2006 we entered into cross-currency interest rate swap agreement with Wachovia Bank

to hedge our net Euro denominated investments with notional principal amount of 6.0 million $8.4 million

using the exchange rate on December 31 2008 of $1 40/ .00 We have designated the change in Euro spot

rates as the hedged risk in our net Euro denominated investments Since the contract is hedge of our net Euro

denominated investments the change in the fair value of the contract attributable to changes in spot rates which

is the effective portion of the hedge will be recorded as an offset to our net Euro denominated investments in the

accumulated other comprehensive income account on our balance sheet All other changes in the fair value are

recorded in operating income or expense as ineffectiveness Under the terms of the swap agreement Wachovia

will pay us an interest payment computed on the three-month USD LIBOR in exchange for an interest payment

from us computed on the three-month Euro LIBOR On both sides of the swap our bank margin of 1.5% will he
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added The interest payments are reset every three months and at matunt there will he cash settlement between

us and Wachovia which will be dependant on the conversion rates at matunty in comparison to the onginal spot

rate of $1 .28/I .00 The swap agreement has three-year maturity and may he terminated by us for convenience

at no cost As result of entering into this swap agreement we will he exposed to credit losses from counter-

party non-performance however we do not anticipate any such losses from this agreement The agreement will

expose us to interest rate risk should Euro and USD LOR rates move unfavorably and currency risk if the Euro

appreciates
in vajue The fair value of the cross-currency interest rate swap agreement was $0.7 million liability

at December 31 2008

In August 2003 we entered into an interest rate swap agreement in order to gain access to the lower

borrowing rates generally available on floating-rate debt while avoiding prepayment
and other costs that would

he associated with refmancing long-term fixed-rate debt The swap agreement purchased has notional amount

of $40.0 million expiring in June 2010 with six-month settlement period and provides for variable interest at

LIIBOR plus set rate spread The notional amount of the swap was $25.8 million at December 31 2007 The

notional amount decreases ratably as the underlying debt is repaid The interest rate swap had negative fair

value of 573.5 16 at December 31 2007 The counterparty terminated the interest rate swap on February 2008

The counterparty paid the Company approximately $1 5.000 in connection with the termination of the swap

representing the fair market value of the interest rate swap on the termination date Historically changes the

fair market value of the insttunlent were recorded in the statement of operations

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
80

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
81

Consolidated Balance Sheets
82

Consolidated Statements of Operations
83

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity Deficit and Comprehensive Loss 84

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
86

Notes To the Consolidated Financial Statements
87

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial

Reporting
138

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
176

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the

financial statements or notes thereto

79



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGiSTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Bell Microproducts Inc

San Jose California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Bell Microproducts Inc and subsidiaries the

Company as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations

shareholders equity deficit and comprehensive loss and cash flows for the years then ended Our audits also

included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15 for the years ended December 31

2008 and 2007 These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the

Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial

statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and signifIcant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such 2008 and 2007 consolidated financial statements present fairly in all materia respects the

financial position of Bell Microproducts inc and subsidiaries as of Dcemher 31 2008and 2007 and the results

of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion such financial statement schedule when

considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects

the information set forth therein

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements on January 2007 the Company adopted

Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Compan Accounting Oversight Board

United Stares the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2008 based on the criteria established in Iniernal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated June 28 2009 expressed an adverse

opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting because of material

weaknesses

Is Deloitte Touche LLP

San Jose California

June 28 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To Board of Directors and Shareholders of Bell Microproducts
Inc

In our opinion the consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity deficit and comprehensive loss

and cash flows for the year ended December 31 2006 present fairly in all material respects
the results of

operations
and cash flows of Bell Microproducts Inc and its suhsidianes for the year

ended December 31 2006

in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of Amenca In addition in our

opinion the financial statement schedule for the year ended December 31 2006 presents fairly in all material

respects
the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial

statements These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Compan

managemeilL
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and fmancial statement

schedule based on our audit We conducted our audit of these statements in accordance with the standards of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan
and perform

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement

An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements assessing the accounting principles
used and sigruficant estimates made by management and

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for

our opinion

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company is subject to material risks and

uncertainties related to maintaining compliance with the provisions of its existing credit agreements

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose Cahforma

December 29 2008 except for the change in the composition of reportable segments
discussed in Note 13 to the

consolidated financial statements as to which the date is June 24 2009
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BELL MICROPRODUCTS DC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2008 2007

in thousands except per

share data

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 22.775 40.348

Accounts receivable net 435.569 544.137

Inventories 230.652 424.117

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 19.779 7.053

Total current assets 708.775 1.025.655

Property and equipment net 19.042 20.672

Goodwill 19.211 26.214

Other intangibles net 9.315 13023

Other lone-term assets 18.545 16.262

Total assets 774.888 51.101.826

LLBILIT AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICIT
Current liabilities

Cash overdraft 10.527 21.627

Accounts payable 264.218 411.713

Borrowings under lines of credit 211.405 277428

Current portion of long-term debt 10.286 14.508

Other accrued liabilities 94.658 103.523

Total current liabilities 591.094 828.799

Long-term debt net of current portion 83.547 160.053

Other long-term liabilities 15.751 16.538

Total liabilities 790.392 1.005.390

Commitments and contingencies Note 10

Shareholders equity deficit

Preferred stock $0.01 par vaiue 10.000 shares authorized none issued and

outstanding

Common stock $0.01 par value 80.000 shares authorized 31774 and 32.287

shares issued and outstanding at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively 201 .701 200.308

Accumulated deficit 208.973 134.153

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss 8.232 30.281

Total shareholders equity deficit 15.504 96.436

Total liabilities and shareholders equity deficit 774888 $1101826

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BELL MICROPRODUCTS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in thousands except per share data

Net sales $3579499 $3.949.905 $3.372.876

Cost of sales 3.244.053 3.609.362 3.098.135

Gross profit
335.446 340.543 274.741

Selling general and administrative expense
307046 293.780 238.166

investigation and restatement-related costs 52133 26.328 1.649

Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles
5.864 52.445 3.477

Resrmcturing and impairment costs 4.289 1404

Total operating expenses
369.332 373 .957 243.292

Operating income loss 33.886 33.414 1.449

interest expense net
29.898 34.163 29.456

Other expense income net 10.509 2.426 2848

Income loss before income taxes 74.293 65.151 4841

Provision for income taxes
527 6.961 27 .948

Net loss 74.820 72.112 23.107

Net loss per share

Basic
2.32 2.24 0.75

Diluted 2.32 2.24 0.75

Shares used in per share calculation

Basic
32.299 32.248 30772

Diluted
32.299 32.248 30772

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BELL MICROPRODUCTS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICIT
AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

in thousands

Accumulated

Other Total
Common Stock

Defer-red Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholders Comprehensive
Shares Amount Compensation Deficit income Loss Equity Deficit Loss

Baiance at January

2006 30X62 $l89.949 S3289 $37.398 6.065 $155.327

Cunency translation

adjustment 17.372 17.372 17.372

Net unrealized gain on

available-for-sale

security 37 37 37

Changes in unrealized gain

on derivative

instruments net of

tax 287 287 287

Net loss 23.107 23.107 23.107

Total comprehensive

loss 5411

Exercise of stock options

and vesting of restricted

stock units 375 597 597

Issuance of shares related

to acquisition 1.725 8.830 8.830

Issuance of warrants to the

RSA 382 382

Adoption of FAS 123R 3.289 3.289

Stock-based

compensation 2.385 2385

Baance at December 31

2006 32.162 198.854 60.505 23.761 162.110

Currency translation

adjustment 7.408 7.408 7.408

Net unrealized loss on

avail able-for-sale

security 18 181 18
Changes in unrealized loss

on derivative

instruments net of

tax 870 870 870

Netloss 72.112 72.112 72.112

Total comprehensive

loss S65.592
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Accumulated

Common Stock
Deferred Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholders Comprehensive

Shares Amount Compensation Deficit income Loss Equit3 Deficit Loss

Exercise of stock

options and vesting

of RSUs 125 36
36

Tax benefit associated

with exercise of

stock options
68

68

Stock-based

compensation
1.350

1.350

Adjustment
for the

cumulative effect of

prior years
of the

adoption of

F1J48 1.536 1536

Balance at

December 31

2007 32.287 200.308 134.153 30.281 96.436

Currency translation

adjustment
38.895 38895 38.895

Net unrealized loss on

available-for-sale

security

30 30 30

Changes in unrealized

loss on derivative

instruments net of

tax
412 412 412

Net loss
74.820 74.820 74.820

Tota comprehensive

loss

5113.333

Exercise of stock

options and \estmg

ofRSUs 197

Repurchase of

shares 710 1.562 1.562

Stock-based

compensation
2955

2.955

Balance at

December 31

2008 31774 $201701 $208973 8.232 $15.504

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



BELL MICROPRODUCTS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in thousands

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss 74.820 572.112 $3.07
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 10.774 10.968 7.924

Amortization of debt issuance costs 3.546 3185 867

Amortization debt discount 422 539

Stock-based compensation expense 4.893 L418 2.385

Provision for had debts 16.375 7.090 8.506

Non-cash compensation 4.09 372

Loss on property and equipment 225 610 334

Unrealized loss gain on currency remeasurement 3.662 274 1.536

Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles 5.864 52.445 3.477

Deferred taxes 2.018 2.588 20.204

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 23.907 23.575 11480
Inventories 178.225 45.728 41.930

Prepaid expenses and other assets 865 5.885 2.819

Accounts payable and book overdrafts 123.153 59.500 30.059

Other accrued liabilities 8618 7.430 18.591

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 42.448 4.519 45.571

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 47 124 109

Purchases of property and equipment 7604 9.247 6.357

Payments associated wtth acquisttions of businesses net of cash acquired 2.324 27.882

Net cash used in investing activities 7.557 11.447 34.130

Cash flows from financing activities

Net repayments borrowings under lines of credit 40.513 47.549 48.7 14

Debt issuance costs 2.480 9.770 697

Borrowings under long-term notes payable 10.000 35.000

Payments under long-term notes payable and capital lease obligations 10.884 8.781 8.766

Repurchases of common stock 3.500

Proceeds from issuances of common stock 36 597

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 47.377 29.034 74.848

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash .5.087 686 1.267

Decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 17.573 13.754 3.5861

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 40.348 26594 30.180

Cash and cash equivalents end of ear 22.775 40.348 26.594

Cash payments receipts during the year

interest 43326 36.418 26.643

income taxes 3.038 4.935 7.321

income tax receipts 5.22 1.186

Supplemental non-cash investing activities

Issuance of common stock for acquisitions 8.830

Purchase price adjustment-ProSvs 5.694

Accrual of earnout payments associated with acquisitions 1.151 1.617 1.509

Settlement of eamout associated with acquisitions 1.056

Supplemental non-cash financing activities

Warrants issued in connection with debt issuances 382

The accompanying notes are an integTa part of these consolidated financia statements
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BELL M1CROPRODIJCTS INC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE ORGANIZATiON BUSINESS OF COMPANY AND CREDIT AGREEMENT COVENANTS

Description of Operations

Bell Microproducts inc. California corporation and its subsidiaries collectivly the Company is

distributor of storage products and systems as well as computer products and peripherals to origina equipment

manufacturers OEMs value-added resellers VARs and dealers in the United States Canada Latin

America and Europe

Financial Statement Presentation and Liquidity

The Company consolidated financial statements have been prepared on going concern basis which

assumes continuity of operations and realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinary course of

business The Company currently has substantial amount of indebtedness outstanding The related credit

acreements require the Company to comply with number of financial and other covenants including quarterly

minimum fixed-charge coverage ratio based upon earnings The Companys ability to continue as going

concern is dependent upon among other factors continuing to generate positive cash flows from operations

maintaining compliance with the provisions of its existing credit agreements and when necessary its ability to

renew such agreements and/or obtain alternative or additional financing

The Company has not generated consistent positive cash flows from operations
recent years Although

the current economic environment is challenging the Company has recently taken significant steps to control

costs and improve operating profitability including staff reductions facility consolidations reductions in capital

spending reductions in discretionary spending and tighter management of working capital The Company will

take additional steps to control costs and improve operating profitability as necessary based upon various

factors such as future operating results and general economic conditions Based upon its current projections the

Company believes it will generate
sufficient cash flows from operations maintain debt covenant compliance and

he able to obtain alternative or additional financing if needed for the foreseeable future if the Company does

not maintain compliance with its debt covenants and is unable to obtain waivers or amendments from its lenders

the lenders may exercise their option to demand repayment of the outstanding indebtedness which would have

material adverse effect on the Company business liquidity and financial condition

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Bell M.icroproducts Inc and its wholly owned

subsidiaries All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts

reported in the Companys consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes These estimates may

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets at the date of the

financial statements They mai also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the reporting

period Management bases its estimates on historical experience and vanous other assumptions thai it believes to

be reasonable Although these estimates are based on managements assessment of current events and actions

that may impact the Company in the future actual results may differ materially from the estimates The

Companys critical accounting estimates are those that affect its consolidated financial statements matenall and

involve difficult subjective or complex judgments by management
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Revenue Recognition

The Company principaly generates revenues from disibuting storage products and systems and computer

products and peripherals The Company also provides value-added services such as system design integration

installation maintenance and other consulting services combined with variety of storage and computer

hardware and software products

The Company recognizes product revenue when the following conditions are met firm customer order

has been received the goods have been shipped and title and risk of loss have been passed to the buyer

the price to the buyer is fixed or determinable and collectibihty is reasonabl assured Revenue is

recorded net of estimated discounts rebates and estimated returns The Company recognizes service revenue as

the services are performed and the related costs are expensed as incurred unless installation is essential to the

functionality of the product then product and service revenue is deferred until the service is completed Service

revenues have represented less than 10i of total net sales for 2008 2007 and 2006

Certain customer arrangements require evaluation of the criteria outlined in issue No 99-19 of the

Emerging issues Task Force E1IT Reporting Revenue Gross as Principal Versus Net as an Ageni in

determining whether it is appropriate to record the gross amount of sales and related costs or the net amount

earned as agency fees Generally when the Company is primarily obligated in transaction revenue is recorded

on gross basis Other factors that the Company considers in determining whether to recognize revenue on

gross versus net basis include the assumption of general and physical inventory risk latitude in establishing

prices discretion in selecting suppliers determination of product or service specifications involvement in the

provision of services and assumption of credit risk When the Company concludes that it is not primarily

obligated the Company records the net amount earned as agency fees within net sales The Company recognized

net revenue in the amounts of $8.5 million $10.5 million and $3.4 million during 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively

The Company enters into multiple-element revenue arrangements as defined in EJTF 00-21 Revenue

Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables which may include any combination of services extended warranty

and hardware multiple-element arrangement is separated into more than one unit of accounting if all of the

following criteria are met

The delivered items has value to the customer on stand-alone basis

There is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered items and

if the arrangement includes general right of return relative to the delivered items delivery or

performance of the undelivered items is considered probable and substantially in the control of the

Company

If these criteria are met for each element and there is objective and reliable evidence of fair value for all

units of accounting in an arrangement the arrangement consideration is allocated to the separate units of

accounting based on each units relative fair value If these criteria are not met revenue is deferred and

recognized upon delivery of the undelivered items

Shipping and handling costs charged to customers are included in net sales and the associated expense is

recorded in cost of sales for all periods presented

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales comprises all costs for products and services sold The Company records warehouse costs to

operating expenses as opposed to cost of sales

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Cash Overdraft

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash and have original

maturities of three months or less Cash overdraft represents payments recorded by the Company in excess of
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available hank funds Changes in cash overdraft are recorded in cash provided by used in operating activities in

the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest The Company

evaluates the collectibility of its accounts receivable based on combination of factors Collection risks are

mitigated by sales to well-established companies ii ongoing credit evaluation of its customers and

iii frequent contact with its customers especially its most significant customers which enables the Company to

monitor changes in business operations and to respond accordingly When the Company is aware of

circumstances that may impair specific customers ability to meet its financial obligations the Company

records specific
allowance against amounts due to it and thereby reduces the net receivable to the amount the

Company reasonably believes is likely to be collected For all other customers the Company recognizes

allowances for doubtful accounts based on the length of time the receivables are outstanding industry and

geographic concentrations the current business environment and its historical experience

Customer credits pertaining to price protection programs rebate programs promotions and product returns

are recorded to offset customer receivables When applicable
credits are extinguished

when customer applies

them to its related receivable or the Company is legally released from being the primary obligor under the

liability

Vendor Programs

The Cpmpany receives funds from vendors for price protection product rebates marketing promotions and

other competitive pricing programs These amounts are recorded as vendor receivable ai reduction to

accounts payable with corresponding reduction to inventories cost of sales or sellmg general and

administrative expense depending on the nature of the program Vendor receivables are generally collected

through vendor authorized reductions to the Companys accounts payable and reserves are established for

vendor receivables that are determined to he uncollectible Actual rebates may vary based on volume or other

sales achievement levels which could result in an increase or reduction in the estimated amounts previously

accrued

Financial Instruments Concentration of Credit and Other Risks

Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents foreign exchange forward contracts interest rate

swap agreements
accounts receivable accounts payable

and short-term debt obligations The fair value of these

financial instruments approximates
their caiTying value as of December 31 2008 and 2007 due to the nature of

these instruments or their short-term maturity Financial instruments also include long-term debt the fair value of

which is disclosed in Note Lines of Credit and Term Loans

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit nsk consist

principally
of accounts receivable The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and

generally does not require
collateral The Company maintains allowances for estimated collection losses No

customer accounted for more than 10% of net sales in any of the three years ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 or of accounts receivable at December 31 2008 or 2007

Five vendors accounted for 24% of the Companys inventory purchases during 2008 Five vendors

accounted for 26% of the Companys inventory purchases during 2007 and five vendors accounted for 39% of

the Companys inventory purchases during 2006

InventOries

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market Cost is generally determined by the first-rn first-out

FWO method Market is based on estimated net realizable vaue The Company assesses the valuation of its

inventory on quarterly basis and periodically
writes down the value for estimated excess and obsolete inventors
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based on estimates about future demand actual usage and culTent market value The Companys ordr component

of inventor is finished goods When inventory is written down new cost basis is established

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based

upon the estimated useful lives of computer and other equipment furniture and fixtures and warehouse

equipment which range from three to five years Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred

and improvements are capitalized Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed using the straight-line

method over the shorter of the estimated life of the asset or the lease term

Goodwill

The Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

SFAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets SFAS 142 requires goodwill to he tested for

impairment and written down when impaired on an annual basis and between annual tests in certain

circumstances SFAS 142 also requires purchased intangible assets other than goodwill to be amortized over their

useful lives unless these lives are determined to be indefinite

In accordance with SFAS 142 two-step impairment test is required to identify potential goodwill

impairment and measure the amount of the goodwill impairment loss to be recognized In the first step the fair

value of each reporting unit is compared to its carrying value to determine if the goodwill is impaired If the fair

value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value Of the net assets assigned to that unit then goodvillis not

impaired and no further testing is required If the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit

exceeds its fair value then the second step is performed in order to determine the implied fair value of the

reporting unit goodwill and an impairment loss is recorded for an amount equal to the difference between the

implied fair value and the carrying value of the goodwill

Long-Lived Assets and Other Intangible .4ssets

Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets to he held arid used are reviewed for impairment

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the caning amount of such assets may not he

recoverable Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting

from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition Measurement of any impairment loss for long-lived assets

that management expects to hold and use is based on the fair value of the asset

Other intangible assets consist of non-compete agreements intellectual property and contractual and

non-contractual customer relationships obtained in acquisitions These assets are included within other

intangibles net within the consolidated balance sheets and are carried at cost less accumulated amortization

Amortization is computed over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets ranging from three to 20 years

and using the straight-line method Intangible assets are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable An impairment loss is recognized

when estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset plus net proceeds expected

from disposition of the asset if any are less than the carrying value of the asset When an impairment loss is

recognized the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its estimated fair value

Other Expense Unconz.e Net

Other expense income net consists of the gains and losses imsing from foreign currency transactions The

Companys revenues and expenses are translated into U.S dollars using the average exchange rates prevailing for

each period presented
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Income Taxes

The Company provision for income taxes is comprised of its current tax liability and the change in

deferred tax assets and liabilities Deferred tax assets and liahihoes are recorded for temporary differences

between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements using

statutory tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse The effect on deferred

tax assets and liabilities due to change in tax rates is recognized in the results of operations for the period that

includes the enactment date valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying value of deferred tax assets

unless it is more likely than not that such assets will he realized The Company effective tax rate includes the

impact of certain undistributed foreign earnings for which no U.S taxes have been provided because such

earnings are planned to he indefinitely reinvested outside the Umted States The Company income tax

calculations are based on the applicable federal state or foreign corporate income tax laws

At December 31 2008 there was no provision
for U.S income tax for undistributed earnings from foreign

subsidiaries as it is currently the Companys intention to reinvest these earnings indefinitely in operations outside

the U.S The Company believes it is not practicable to deterrrune the Companys tax liability that may arise in the

event of future repatriation of foreign earnings If repatriated these earnings could result in tax expense at the

current federal statutory tax rate of 35% subject to avail able net operating losses and other factors Tax on

undistributed earnings may also be reduced by foreign tax credits that may he generated in connection with the

repatriation of earnings The Company expects to satisfy its anticipated cash needs for operations and capital

requirements in all jurisdictions through December 31 2009 using existing cash anticipated cash flows

generated from operations and borrowings under its existing lines of credit Virtually all of the Companys

foreign jurisdictions need cash for day-to-day operations and expansion and as such the Company does not plan

to repatriate any of the foreign earnings Subject to limitation tax on undistribute earnings may also he reduced

by foreign tax credits that may he generated in connection with the repatriation of earnings

The Company calculates its current and deferred tax provision based on estimates and assumptions that

could differ from the actual results reflected in income tax returns filed Adiustments based on filed returns are

generally recorded in the period when the tax returns are filed and the global tax implications are known

The Company provides for potential income tax liabilities that could result from examination of poor and

current year tax returns if the incurrence of the income tax liability is more likely than not and the amount of loss

reasonably estimable

The amount of income tax the Company pays
is subject to audits by federal state and foreign tax

authorities which may result in proposed assessments The Companys estimate of the potential outcome for any

uncertain tax issue requires significant judgment The Company believes it has adequatey provided for any

reasonably foreseeable outcome related to these matters However the Companys future results may include

favorable or unfavorable adjustments to its estimated tax liabilities in the period the assessments are made or

resolved audits are closed or when statutes of limitation on potentia assessments expire Additonally the

jurisdictions
in which the Companys earnings or deductions are realized ma differ from its current estimates

As result the Companys effective tax rate may fluctuate significantly on quarterly basis

As part
of the Company accounting for business combinations some of the purchase price is allocated to

goodwill and intancible assets Impairment charges associated with goodwill are generally not tax deductible and

will result in an increased effective income tax rate in the quarter the impairment is recorded Amortization

expense
associated with acquired intangible assets is not tax deductible however deferred tax liabilities have

been recorded for non-deductible amortization expense as part of the purchase price allocations In establishing

the related deferred tax liabilities the Company has taken into account the allocation of these identified

intangibles among different taxing jurisdictions Income tax contingencies existing as of the acquisition dates of

the acquired companies are evaluated quarterly and any adjustments are recorded as an adjustment to good ill

Effective January 2007 the Company adopted the provisions of FASBs Interpretation No 48

.4ccounringfor Uncertainty in Income Totes an Inieipretanon qfFASB Statement IVo 09 FII 48 FIN 48
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prescribes more-likely-than-not threshold for financial statement recognition and measurement of tax position

taken or expected to he taken in tax return This interpretation also provides guidance on derecognition of

income tax assets and liabilities classification of current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities

accounting for interest and penalties associated with tax positions accounting for income taxes in interim periods

and income tax disclosures The cumulative effect of applying this interpretation has been recorded as decrease

of $1.5 million to accumulated deficit The Company reports penalties and interest
expense as component of

the provision for income taxes and interest income from tax refunds as component of other income in the

consolidated statement of operations

Net Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares

outstanding during the period Potentially issuable shares of common stock and their effects on income were

excluded from the diluted calculations as their effect was anti-dilutive

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

The Company maintains its accounting records for subsidiaries located outside of the U.S in the

subsidiaries local currency and in each case the local currency has been determined to he the functional

currency under the provisions of FASBs Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 52 Foreign

Currency Translation SFAS 52 Assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into U.S dollars at

the rates of exchange at the balance sheet date Income and expense items are translated at weighted average

monthly rates of exchange prevailing during the year The resulting translation adjustments are included in

accumulated other comprehensive income as separate component of shareholders equity Exchange gains and

losses arising from transactions denominated in currency other than the functional currency of the entity

involved are included in the statements of operations Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are

included in other expense income net in the consolidated financial statements of operations in the amounts of

$10.1 million 52.0 million and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively

Comprehensæe Income Loss

Comprehensive income loss is defined as the change in equity of business enterprise during period

from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources For the Company comprehensive

income loss consists of its net income loss the change in the currency translation adjustment and the change

in unrealized gain loss on certain derivative instruments net of tax

Accumulated other comprehensive loss was $8.2 million at December 31 2008 and accumulated other

comprehensive income was $30.3 million at December 31 2007 Foreign currency translation adjustments

consist of adjustments to consolidate subsidiaries that use the local currency as their functional
currency and

transaction gains and losses related to intercompany dollar-denominated debt that is not expected to he repaid in

the foreseeable future

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 2006 the Company adopted FASBs Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123

Accounting for Siock-Based Compensation Revised 2004 SFAS l23R that requires the measurement and

recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based awards made to employees and directors including

employee stock options and restricted stock units RSU5 based on estimated fair values In March 2005 the

SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin SAB No 107 Share-Based Parmeni SAB 107 as amended by

SAB No 110 Use of Simplified Method in Developing an Estimate of Expecied Term of Plain Vanilla Share

Options SAB 110 which extended the period for certain exemptions included in SAB 107 and SFAS 23R

SAB 107 and SAB 110 provide supplemental implementation guidance for SFAS 23R The Company has

applied the provisions of SAB 107 in its application of SFAS 123R
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SFAS 23R requires companies to estimate the fair value of stock-based awards on the date of grant using

art option pricing model The value of the portion
of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as

expense over the requisite service periods in the Companys consolidated statements of operations

The Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective application transition method Stock-

based compensation expense recognized in fiscal 2006 includes compensation expense for stock-based awards

based on the fair value on the grant date estimated in accordance with the pro foI7na provisions of SFAS 123 and

compensation expense
for stock-based awards granted subsequent to adoption was based on the fair value on the

grant date estimated in accordance with the provisions of SPAS 23R In conjunction
with the adoption of SPAS

23R the Company changed its method of attributing the value of stock-based compensation expense
from the

accelerated multiple-option method for the purposes
of pro forma information under SPAS 123 to the straight-

line single option method For performance-based
RSU grants with graded vesting terms the Company uses the

accelerated multiple option method as the attribution method At each reporting period the Company assesses

the probability
that the performance metrics will he achieved If it is determined to he probable that the

performance metrics will be achieved resulting in the RSU award starting to vest then the Company records

compensation expense The performance
metrics for the vesting of the RSU required the achievement of business

unit or corporate profit in the period Compensation expense for all stock-based awards granted on or pnor to

December 31 2005 will continue to be recognized using the accelerated multiple-option approach while

compensation expense
for all stock-based awards except performance based RSU grants granted subsequent to

December 31 2005 will be recognized using the straight-line single option method

Upon adoption of SPAS 123R the Company selected the Black-Scholes option pricing model as the most

appropriate method for determining the estimated fair value for stock options The Black-Scholes model requires

the use of highly subjective and complex assumptions
that determine the fair value of stock-based awards including

the options expected term and the price volatility of the underlying stock For non-performance
based RSUs

compensation expense is calculated based on the fair market value of the Companys stock on the date of grant

Business Segments

The Company operates
in one industry the business of providing

distribution and value-added services for

storage products and systems and computer products
and peripherals The Company reportable segments are

U.S Distribution Europe ProSys TotalTec Miami Canada and Other Management designates the internal

reporting used by management for making decisions and assessing performance as the source of reportable

segments See Note Goodi4iil and Other intangible Assets as well as Note 13 Segment and Geographic

information

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments in accordance with FASEs Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No 133 Accounting for Dcci vatiie instruments and Hedging Acrtiities SFAS 133 SFAS

138 Accowuing for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities an Amendment of FASB

Sraiemnent IVo 133 SPAS 138 and FASBs Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 149 .4 mend men

of Statement33 on Derivative instruments and HedgingActtiitieS SFAS 149 These pronouncements require

that all derivative instruments he recocnized on the balance sheet at fair value In addition these pronouncements

provide that for derivative instruments that qualify for hedge accounting changes in the fair value will either he

offset against the change in fair value of the hedged assets liabilities or firm conimitinents through earnings or

recognized in shareholders equity as component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss net of taices

until the hedged item is recognized in earnings depending on whether the derivative is being used to hedge changes

in fair values of cash flows The ineffective portion of derivatives change in fair value is immediately recognized

in earnings For derivative instnmients that are not designated as accounting hedges changes in fair value are

recognized in earnings in the period of change The Company uses derivative instiuments principally to manage the

risk associated with movements in foreign currency exchange rates and the risk that changes in interest rates will

affect the fair value or cash flows of its debt obligations
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Acquisitions

In accordance with FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 141 Business Combinations

SFAS 141 the Company accounts for business combinations using the purchase method of accounting

Accordingly the assets and liabilities of the acquired entities are recorded at their estimated fair values at the

date of acquisition Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets

including the amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets

The purchase price allocation process requires an analysis of the fair values of the assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed When business combination agreement provides for an adjustment to the cost of the

combination contingent on future events the Company includes that adjustment in the cost of the combination

when the contingent consideration is determinable beyond reasonable doubt and can he reliably estimated and

should not otherwise he expensed according to the provisions of SFAS 141 The resuts of operations of the

acquired business are included in the Companys consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition

See Note .4cquisitions

Restructuring and Impairment Costs

Restructuring and impairment costs include employee severance and benefit costs costs related to leased

facilities abandoned and subleased costs related to leased equipment that has been abandoned and impairment

of owned equipment to be disposed of For owned facilities and equipment the impairment loss recognized was

based on the fair value less costs to sell with fair value estimated based on existing market prices for similar

assets

Severance and benefit costs are recorded in accordance with FASBs Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No 112 Employers Accounting for Post-Employment Benefits an Amendment of FASB Statements

Ao and 43 SFAS 12 as the Company has concluded in the past that it had substantive severance plan

based on pnor restructuring actions in many of the geographic areas in which the Company operates These costs

are recognized when the Companys management has committed to formal restructuring plan and the severance

costs are probable and estimable The Company applies the provisions of FASB Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No 146 Accounting for Costs Associated wirh Exit or Disposal Activities SFAS 146
relating to one-time termination benefits to both severance activities in geographic areas where it does not

have substantive severance plan and situations in which the severance benefits offered to employees within

given geographic area are in excess of those offered under prior restructuring plans Severance costs accounted

for under SFAS 146 are recognized when the Companys management with the proper level of authority has

committed to restructuring plan and communicated those actions to employees The Companys estimate of

severance and benefit costs assumptions is subjective as it is based on estimates of employee attrition and

assumptions about future business opportunities

In accordance with SFAS 146 the estimated loss accrued for leased facilities abandoned and subleased after

December 31 2002
represents the fair value of the lease liability as measured by the present value of future lease

payments subsequent to abandonment less the present vaue of any estimated sublease income In order to

estimate future sublease income the Company engages real estate brokers to estimate the length of time to

sublease facility and the amount of rent it can expect to receive Estimates of expected sublease income could

change based on factors that affect its ability to sublease those faciities such as genera economic conditions and

the real estate market among others

Other exit costs include costs to consolidate facilities or close facilities and relocate employees liability

for such costs is recorded at its fair value in the period in which the liability is incurred

At each reporting date the Company evaluates its accruals for exit costs and employee separation costs to

ensure the accruals are still appropriate See Note Restructuring and impairment Costs
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Advertising

Costs related to advertising and product promotion expenditures are charged to selling general and

administrative expense as incurred and are primarily offset OEM marketing reimbursements The Company

incurred advertising and product promotion costs net of reimbursement in the amounts of $2.6 million $2.0

million and $1.5 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Recently issued Accounting Standards

in December 2007 FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 141 Revised 2007

Business Combinations SFAS 141R SFAS 141R will change the accounting for business combmations

Under SFAS 141R an acquiring entity will be required to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities

assumed in transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with limited exceptions SFAS 141R will change the

accounting treatment and disclosure for certain specific items in business combination SFAS l4lR applies

prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first

annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15 2008 and interim penods within those fiscal ears

SFAS 141R will become effective for the Company beginning January 2009 The Company will apply the

provisions of SFAS 141R to any future acquisitions

In November 2007 EITF released Issue No 07-01 Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements EITF

07-01 EITF 07-01 requires collaborators to present the results of activities for which they act as the principal

on gross basis and report any payments
received from made to other collaborators based on other applicable

GAAP or in the absence of other applicable GAAP based on analogy to authontative accounting literature or

reasonable rational and consistently applied accounting policy election EITF 07-01 also clarified the

determination of whether transactions within collaborative arrangement are part of vendor-customer or

analogous relationship that are subject to EITF issue No 1-9 Accounting for Consideranon Given by Vendor

to Customer EITF 07-01 is effective for the Company beginning January 2009 The Company does not

expect the provisions of EITF 07-01 to have material impact on its consolidated financial statements

In December 2007 FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 160 Noncontroiling

Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an Amendment of.4RB No SFAS 160 SFAS 160

establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the non-controlling interest in subsidiary and for the

deconsolidation of subsidiary SFAS 160 is effective for the Company heginrung January 2009 Currently the

Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 160 will have an impact on its consolidated financial statements

In March 2008 FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 161 Disclosures about

Derivative instruments and Hedging Activities an Amendment of FASB Statement No 133 SFAS 161 SFAS

161 requires enhanced disclosures about derivative instruments and hedging activities and their effects on

companys financial position financial performance and cash flows SFAS 161 is effective for the Company

beginning January 2009 The Company is evaluating the effect of the adoption of SFAS 161 on its

consolidated financial statements including its disclosures

in April 2008 FASB issued FSP No 142-3 Determination qf the Useful Ltfe of Intangible Assets FSP

142-31 FSP 142-3 amends the factors company should consider in developing renewal or extension

assumptions used in determining the useful life of recognized intangible assets under SPAS 142 This new

guidance applies prospectively to intangible assets that are acquired individually or with group of other assets

in business combinations and asset acquisitions FSP 142-3 is effective for the Company beginning January

2009 Early adoption is prohibited On adoption the Company does not expect there will be any impact to its

current consolidated financial statements

In May 2008 FASB issued Accounting Principles Board No I4-1.Accountrngfor Convertible Debt

Jnstrumii.eiits That May Be Settled in Cash upon
Conversion Including Partial Cash Settlement APB 14-I

APB 14-I requires that the liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments that may he settled in
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cash upon conversion including partial cash settlement he separately accounted for in manner that reflects an

issuers nonconvertible debt borrowing rate APB 14-I is effective for the Company beginning January 2009

The Company is still evaluating the impact that the adoption of APB 14-1 will have on its consolidated financial

statements

In May 2008 FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 162 The Hierarchy of

General/v Accepted Accounting Principles SFAS 162 The new standard is intended to improve financial

reporting by identiing consistent framework or hierarchy for selecting accounting principles to he used in

preparing financial statements that are presented in conformity with GAAP for non-governmental entities SFAS

162 is effective 60 days following the SEC approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

Auditing amendments to AU Section 411 The Meaning of Present Fair/v in Conformirv with Genera/li Accepted

Accounting Principles The Company does not expect the adoption of this standard to have material effect on

its consolidated financial statements

In April 2009 FASB issued FASBS Staff Position Statement FASNo 157-4 Determining Fair Value

When the Volume and Level of .4 cu yin for the Asset or Liability Hai.e Significant/v Decreased and identifying

Transactions That Are iVot Order/v FSP 157-4 FSP 157-4 indicates that if an entity determines that either the

volume andJor level of activity for an asset or liability has significantly decreased from normal conditions for

that asset or liability or price quotations or observable inputs are not associated with orderl transactions

increased analysis and management judgment will he required to estimate fair value FSP 157-4 is effective for

interim and annual periods ending after June 15 2009 with early adoption permitted FSP 157-4 must he applied

prospectively FSP 157-4 is effective for the Company beginning January 2009 The Company does not expect

the provisions of FSP 157-4 to have material impact on its consolidated financial position results of operations

or cash flows

In April 2009 FASB issued Staff Position Statement FAS No 107-I and Accounting Principles Board

No 28-I interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial instruments FSP 107-I FSP 107-1 relates to

fair value disclosures in public entity financial statements for financial instruments that are within the scope of

FASBs Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 107 Disclosures about Fair Value Financial

instruments SFAS 07 This guidance increases the frequency of those disclosures requiring public entities

to provide the disclosures on quarterly basis rather than just annually The quarterly disclosures are intended

to provide financial statement users with more timely information about the effects of current market conditions

on an entitys financial instruments that are not otherwise reported at fair value FSP 107-I is effective for

interim and annual periods ending after June 15 2009 FSP 107-I must be applied prospectively On adoption

the Company does not expect there will he any impact on its current consolidated financial statements

in April 2009 the U.S Securities and Exchange Commission SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin

No 111 SAB II on Other-Than-Temporary Impairments OTTI SAB 11 amends Topic SM in the

Staff Accounting Bulletin Series entitled her-Than-Temporary impairment of Certain investments in Debt and

Equirt Securities Topic 5.M. SAB 111 maintains the SEC staffs previous views related to equity securities

and amends Topic SM to exclude debt securities from its scope The Company elected to adopt SAB Ill in the

first quarter of 2009 SAB Ill is effective for the Company beginning January 2009 On adoption the

Company does not expect there will he any impact on its current consolidated financial statements

in May 2009 FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 165 Subsequent

Events SFAS 65 SFAS 165 establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that

occur after the balance sheet date hut before financial statements are issued or are available to he issued SFAS

156 requires the disclosure of the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events and the basis for

that date that is whether the date represents the date the financial statements were issued or were available to

be issued SFAS 165 is effective for the Company in the first interim period beginning after June 15 2009 The

Company does not expect the adoption of this standard to have material effect on its consolidated financial

statements
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NOTE GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

SFAS 142 defines reporting
unit as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment i.e.

component of an operating segment compotient of an operating segment can he reporting unit if the

component constitutes business for which discrete financial information is available and management regularly

reviews the operating results of that component SFAS 142 provides that two or more components of an

operating segment shall he aggregated
and deemed single reporting

unit if the components have sirmiar

economic characteristics

Using the criteria of SPAS 131 the Company determined that it had 12 operating segments and 12 reporting

units as of December 31 2006 The operating segments and reporting umts determined at December 31 2006

were as follows

U.S Distribution Rorke Data Chile IQQ Europe Distribution

Canada Latin America Export
Mexico Europe Enterpnse

Totallec Chile Net Storage Brazil ProSys

During 2007 and in the three months ended March 31 2008 the Company changed the presentation of the

financial information used to determine operating segments under SPAS 131 by combining the financial results

of Europe
Distribution and Europe Enterprise into combined operating segment Europe The change in

operating segment
determination required the Company to re-evaluate its historical SFAS 142 assumption of 12

reporting units for goodwill impairment analysis As result the Company determined that had the following

11 reporting units at December 31 2007 and March 31 2008 for goodwill impairment analysis

U.S Distribution Rorke Data Chile IQQ Europe

Canada Latin America Export
Mexico ProSys

TotalTec Chile Net Storage Brazil

During 2008 the Company further changed its presentation of the financial information used to determine

operating segments
under SPAS 31 by combining the financial results of Chile and Chile IQQ into combined

operating segment Chile The change in operating segment determination required
the Company to re-evaluate

its historical SPAS 142 assumption of 11 reporting units for goodwill impairment analysis As result the

Company determined that it had ten reporting units at December 31 2008 for goodwill impairment analysis

consisting of the 11 reporting units determined at March 31 2008 and December 31 2007 less Chile IQQ

Goodwill balances by year and by reportable segment and changes therein were as follows in thousands

U.S

Distributioli Europe ProSvs Other Total

Balance at Januar 1.2007
58.347 30.546 14.873 $15395 69.161

Contingent purchase price adjustment
140 5.694 1.093 6.927

Impairment charge
3L878 20.567 52.445

Cunency translation adjustment
1.332 1239 2.571

Balance atDecemher3l.2007 8487 17.727 26.214

Contingent purchase price adjustment
1.151 1.151

Impairment charge
5.864 5.864

Cunencv translation adjustment
2.290 2.290

Balance aiDecember 31.2008 S8.487
$10.724 19.211

At December 31 2008 and 2007 the Company performed its annual goodwill impairment test Effective

March 19 2008 the Companys common stock was suspended
from trading on the Nasdaq Global Market

Consequently in the first quarter of 2008 the Company experienced significant decline in the market value of its
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stock The Company market capitalization was significantly lower than its book value arid the Company believed

that it was more likely than not that the fair vaue of its reporting units had dropped below their respective canyinc

values Consequently the Company performed goodwil impairment test at March 31 2008

In accordance with SFAS 142 the Company used two-step process to test for goodwil impairment The

first step is to determine if there is an indication of impairment by comparing the estimated fair value of each

reporting unit to its carrying value including existing goodwill Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying

value of reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair value The Company utilized combination of income and

market approaches to estimate the fair value of its reporting units in the first step

The income approach utilizes estimates of discounted cash flows of the reporting units which requires

assumptions of among other factors the reporting units expected long-term revenue trends as well as estimates

of profitability changes in working capital and long-term discount rates all of which require significant

judgment The income approach also requires the use of appropriate discount rates that take into account the

current risks in the capital markets The market approach evaluates comparative market multiples applied to the

Companys reporting units businesses to yield second estimated value of each reporting unit In its analysis

the Company weighted the income and market approaches 75% and 25% respectively

The Company compared weighted average of the output from the income and market approaches to the

carrying value of each reporting unit which yielded an indication of impairment in each of the TotalTec and Net

Storage Brazil reporting units at December 31 2008 and the Europe and ProSys reportable segments at

December 31 2007 At March 31 2008 there was no indication of impairment when the fair value of each

reporting unit was compared to its carrying value including existing goodwill The Company also compared the

aggregate of the estimated fair values of each of its four regional reporting units to its overall market

capitalization taking into account an acceptable control premium considered supportable based upon historical

comparable transactions and current market conditions At December 31 2008 key assumptions used to

determine the fair value of each reporting unit under the discounted fair value method were expected cash

flow for the period front 2008 to 2013 and li discount rate of 12.6% which was based on managements best

estimate of the after-tax weighted average cost of capital WACC .At March 31 2008 key assumptions used

to determine the fair value of each reportinc unit under the discounted fair vaue method were expected cash

flow for the period from 2008 to 2012 and ii discount rate of 13.3% which was based on market

participants assumption which was based on managements best estimate of market participants assumption

of the WACC At December 31 2007 key assumptions used to determine the fair value of each reporting unit

under the discounted fair value method were expected cash flow for the period from 2008 to 2013 and

discount rate of 12.8% which was based on managements best estimate of the after-tax WACC which was

based on managements best estimate of market participants assumption of WACC

Step two of the impairnient test requires the Company to compute fair value of the assets and liabilities

includmo identifiable intangible assets within each of the reporting units with indications of impairment and

compare the implied fair value of goodwill to its carrying value The results of step two indicated that the

goodwill for the TotalTec reporting unit was fully impaired and the goodwill for the Net Storage Brazil reporting

unit was partially impaired at Deceniber 31 2008 The TotalTec impairment was triggered by reduction in

customer base as result of the recession that required us to decrease our forecast of future TotalTec cash flows

The Net Storage impairment was triggered by the decline of the overall economic environment in Brazil as

result of the recession which required us to decrease our forecast of future Net Storage cash flows As result in

2008 the Company recorded goodwill impairment charge of 3.5 million in the TotalTec reporting unit and

goodwil impairment charge of $2.4 milion in the Net Storage reportins unit for total goodwill charge of $5.9

million in 2008

In addition as result of the step two test in 2007 the Company recorded charge of $52.4 million in the

fourth quarter of 2007 which consisted of $20.5 million goodwill impairment charge recorded in the ProSys

reporting unit and $31.9 million goodwil impairment charge recorded in the Europe reporting unit The ProSys

impairment was triggered by decline in the overall economic environment resulting from the recession The
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decline required us to decrease our estimate of future ProSys cash flows The Europe impairment was triggered

by the combining of Europe Distribution and Europe Enterprise into combined reporting unit Europe The

change in reporting unit determination resulted in revised future cash flows that did not support the carrying

value of goodwill of the combined reporting unit

The carrying value of goodwill is based on fair value estimates of projected financial information which

management believes to be reasonable The valuation methodology used to estimate the fair value of the

Company and its reporting units considers the market capitalization of the Company and requires inputs and

assumptions that reflect market conditions as well as management judgment

The carrying values and accumulated amortization of intangible assets at December 31 2008 and 2007 were

as follows in thousands

Estimated

Useful Life for

intangible Assets Amortization
______ _________ _____

Non-compete agreements
2-6 years

Trade names 20 years

Customer/supplier relationships
4-10 years

Internally developed software years
_______ _______ ______

Total
_______ _______ ______

Estimated

Useful Life for

intangible Assets Amortization
___________ ________

Non-compete agreements
2-6 years

Trade names 20 years

Customer/supplier relationships
4-10 years

Internally developed software ears

Total _____ _____ _____

December 31 24108

Gross Accumulated Net

Amount Amortization Amount

3.008 2.055 953

2.500 355 2.145

13.996 8109 5.887

600 270 330

$20104 $10.789 $9.315

December 31 2007

Years Ending December 31

Gross Accumulated Net

Amount Amortization Amount

3.115 $1.776 1.339

2.500 230 2.270

15.106 6.142 8.964

600 150 450

$21.32 $8.298 $13023

The weighted average amortization period of all intangible assets was approximately seven years for each of

the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Amortization expense using the straight line method was $3.4 million $3.6 million and $1.6 million for the

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The Company estimates future annual

amortization expense for these intangibles over the next five years is as follows in thousands

Amount

2009
$3.l4

2010
2.751

2011
1.417

2012
246

2013
164

Thereafter
1.593

The acquisitions described below have been accounted for using the purchase method Accordingly the

results of operations of the acquired businesses are included in the consolidated financial statements from the

dates of acquisition

NOTE 4ACQUiSITIONS
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2006

ProSvs information Systems Acquisition

On October 2006 the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and liabilities of ProSys

pnvately held company located in Atlanta Georgia ProSys is value-added dimibutor of computer components

with operations in 12 Southeastern U.S locations serving customers throughout the United States The total

consideration was $35.1 million consisting of $26.3 million in cash net of $6.8 million of cash acquired

1724372 shares of Bell Microproducts common stock valued at $8.8 million and purchase expenses of

$0.6 million See Note Lines of Credit and Term Loans for additional information regarding the 2006

issuance of subordinated notes issued to the RSA in connection with the acquisition of ProSys

Under the purchase agreement the former stockholders of ProSys the Holders may also be entitled to an

additional payment related to the performance of the ProSys business unit for each of the three years ending

September 30 2007 2008 and 2009 Each annual payment will be due in combination of cash and shares of the

Companys common stock based on the profits generated up to three-year maximum additional payment of

$13.0 million In addition the Company is subject to potential additional payment in an amount equal to 20%

of the profits of the ProSys business unit earned in excess of an aggregate of $26.0 million for the three-year

period ending September 30 2009 In 2007 and 2008 the Company accrued hut did not pay $1.2 million and

$6.8 million respectively in contingent consideration The contingent payments are accounted for as

compensation expense and are not included in the purchase price of ProSys because continued employment at

the Company was required

The Company allocated $13.8 million of the purchase price to intangible assets relating to customer

relationships non-compete agreements trade name and sofrvare with weighted average useful lives of four

five 20 and five years respectively The valuation of identifiable intangible assets acquired was based on

managements estimates and was based upon consideration of various information including third-party

valuation

The discounted cash flow method or the income approach was used to value the non-compete agreements

the trade name and customer relationships while the cost approach was used to value the software The Company

allocated $14.9 million to goodwill related to the acquisition of ProSys because of the meaningful presence the

Company achieved through the acquisition in the value-added reseller market in the Southeastern region of the

United States The Company amortizes goodwill for tax purposes The final ProSys purchase price was allocated

to the acquired assets and liabilities assumed based upon managements estimate of their fair market values as of

the acquisition date as follows in thousands

Accounts receivable 57.880

Inventories 10.121

Equipment and other assets 2.979

Goodwill 14.873

Intangibles 13.750

Short-term note payable 33.989

Accounts payable 21.900

Other accrued liabilities 8.563

Total consideration 35.151

Net Storage Computers Lida Acquisition

On July 2005 the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Net Storage Computers Ltda

Net Storage privately held company headquartered in Alphavilie Sªo Paulo Brazil with sales offices

throughout Brazil The acquisition of Net Storage increased the Companys presence in the Latin America

100



marketplace and provided the opportunity to strengthen relationships with ke suppliers and expand products and

services offerings Net Storage is distributor of storage products and peripherals to VARs and system integrators

in Brazil Their strategic parmers include Intel Seagate Western Digital Acer Inc and Super Micro Computer Inc

Net Storage was acquired for $3.1 million in cash net of cash acquired of $267.000 and included

acquisition costs and assumed liabilities primarily trade accounts payable and other liabilities The Company is

obligated to pay an earnout based upon percentage of the earnings of the Brazilian operation over four-year

period In 2008 and 2007 the former owners earned $1.2 million and $1.6 million respectively under this

earnout provision The earnouts are accounted for as additional purchase price of Net Storage because continued

employment at the Company was required In addition the Company also entered into four-year Management

Service Agreement which obligates the Company to pay an additional $1.1 million The Company allocated

$421 .000 of the purchase price to intangible assets relating to customer and supplier relationships and

non-compete agreements with estimated useful lives of seven years and six years respectively

NOTE BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

December 31

2008 2007

in thousands

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable
5458.173 5557.281

Less allowance for doubtful accounts .. 22.604 13.144

$435.569 5544.137

Property and equipment

Computer and other equipment
47.682 51737

Land and buildings
3.720 4518

Furniture and fixtures 5.190 5.905

Warehouse equipment
3.668 4.240

Leasehold improvements
11326 12.202

71.586 78.602

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 52.544 57.930

19.042 20.672

Total depreciation expense was $7.4 million in 2008 $7.3 million in 2007 and $6.3 million in 2006

NOTE LINES OF CREDIT AND TERM LOANS

Borrowing Under Lines of Credit

December 31

2008 2007

in thousands

Western Facility
$1 18.629 $102025

Wachovia Facility
81.357

IBM and Kredithank Facilities
22.889 26.493

Bank of America Facility
23.156 20.559

GE Commercial Distribution Finance Facility
44.223 43.994

Intel Corporation Facility
2.508 3000

Amounts included in cunent liabilities $211 .405 5277.428
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Western Facility

On May 14 2001 the Company entered into loan and security agreement with Congress Financial

Corporation Western which is now known as Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation Western as agent for

lenders under revolving line of credit the Western Facility On November 2006 the Company entered

into an amendment to the Western Facility which increased the line of credit from $1 25.0 million to

$150.0 million and extended the maturity date to September 20 2010 On September 29 2008 the Company

amended and restated the Western Facility and increased the line of credit to maximum amount of

$204.0 million but did not change the maturity date The maximum amount of borrowings under the amended

Western Facility is primarily determined based on percentage of eligible accounts receivable and inventory On

September 29 2008 the Company utilized the Western Facility to pay the approximately $69.6 million

outstanding under the Wachovia Facility The Wachovia Facility was terminated at that time

The Western Facility has been amended twice since September 29 2008 The first amendment on

November 10 2008 modified the level of intercompany receivables permitted to be outstanding at any time The

second amendment on February 17 2009 eliminated the minimum fued-charge coverage ratio for the quarter

ended December 31 2008 and reduced the fixed-charge coverage ratio criteria required in the quarters ending

March 31 and June 30 2009 The second amendment also extended the required delivery date of the Companys

audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 2007 from March 31 2009 to

June 30 2009 and modified the definition of Interest Rate and the calculation of Excess Availability as those

terms are utilized in the Western Facility At various times prior to September 29 2008 the Company sought and

obtained modifications to the credit agreement extending the time which the Company was required to deliver

its audited consolidated financial statements to the lender for the 2006 2007 and 2008 fiscal years

Prior to February 17 2009 borrowings under the Western Facility bore interest at Wachovia prime rate

plus margin of between 0.25% and 0.75% based on unused availability Effective February 17 2009

borrowings under the Western Facility bear interest at the greater of 5% or ii Wachovias prime rate plus

mann of between 0.25% and 075% based on unused availability At the Companys option all or any portion

of the outstanding borrowings may he converted to Eurodollar rate loan which would bear interest at the

greater ofi 5% or ii the adjusted Eurodollar rate plus margin of between 2.50% and 3.00% based on

percentage of unused availability The Company also pays an unused line fee equal to 0.25% per annum of the

unused portion of the Western Facility subject to certain adjustments The weighted average interest rate on

outstanding borrowings under the Western Facility during the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was

5.07% and 7.24% respectively

The Companys obligations under the Western Facility are collateralized by substantially all of the assets of

the Company and its North and South American subsidiaries other than ProSys The Western Facility requires

the Company to meet certain financial covenant tests and to comply with certain other covenants including

restrictions on the incurrence of debt and liens and restrictions on mergers acquisitions asset dispositions

capital contributions payment of dividends repurchases of stock and investments achievement of fixed-charge

coverage ratio for certain fiscal periods beginning in the first quarter of 2009 the Company is required to have

earnings before interest income taxes depreciation amortization and restructuring charges in the applicable

period greater than or equal to 35% of payments the Company makes for income taxes interest capital

expenditures and principal payments during such quarter that ratio increases to 75% for the second quarter of

2009 and to 110% thereafter the applicable period is single quarter during the first three quarters of 2009

extending to two-quarter period as of December 31 2009 three-quarter period as of March 31 2010 and

rolling four-quarter period thereafter and the requirement that the Company provide audited consolidated

financial statements to the lenders within prescribed period of time after the close of the fiscal year Upon any

event of default the lenders may demand immediate payment of the balance outstanding An event of default

includes the failure to pay any obligations when due or the failure to perform any of the terms covenants

conditions or provisions of the agreement and such failure continues for 15 days
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Wachoiia Facility

On September 20 2004 the Company entered into Credit and Security Agreement the Wachovia

Facility with Wachovia Bank National Association as agent On December 28 2005 May 14 2007 and

September 26 2007 the Company amended the Wachovia Facility Dunng the term of the Wachovia Facility

the Company sold or contributed all of its receivables to consolidated special purpose bankruptcy-remote entity

named Bell Microproducts Funding Corporation Funding wholly owned subsidiaty Funding obtained

financing from the lenders collateralized by these receivables The maximum principal amount available under

the Wachovia Facility was $120.0 million The interest rate on advances made by the lenders was the cost of

lenders commercial paper plus 80 basis points Funding also paid an unused line fee ranging from 0.20% to

0.25% per annum of the unused portion of the Wachovia Facility The cash flows from the collections of the

receivables were used to purchase new receivables to pay amounts to the lenders to pay other amounts owed

and to make dividend distributions subject at all times to Funding maintaining required capital amount

Including the program fee the average
interest rate on outstanding bonowrngs under the Wachovia Facility for

the years
ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was 4.25% and 6.15% respectively On September 29 2008 the

Company terminated the Wachovia Facility and paid the outstandmg balance with proceeds from the amended

Western Facility

Kreditbank Facilities

On December 2005 in connection with the acquisition of MCE the Company entered into short-term

financing agreement with IBM Deutschland Kreditbank GmbH Kreditbank for up to $25.0 million The loan

is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Companys German subsidiary as well as cross-company

guarantees of certain of the Contpanys European subsidiaries and bears interest at LIBOR plus 7.16% effective

January 12 2009 In 2008 and 2007 the effective interest rate was US LIBOR plus 2.00% The average interest

rate on outstanding borrowings for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was 4.64% and 7.24%

respectively The facility has no maturity date and continues indefinitely until terminated by either parry upon

six weeks notice if the facility is terminated all amounts would be due at the end of the six-week period To

date neither party has given notice of intent to terminate this facility The balance outstanding on this facility at

December31 2008 and 2007 was $19.4 million and $14.6 million respectively including interest payable

Also on December 2005 the Company entered into another short-term financing agreement
with

Kredithank for 6.5 million $9.1 million using the exchange rate on December 31 2008 of $1 .40/l .00 in

May 2006 the agreement was amended to increase the available financing to 8.0 million $1 1.2 million using

the exchange rate on December 31 2008 of $1 40/ .00 The loan was collateralized by substantially all of the

assets of the Companys German subsidiary as well as cross-company guarantees
of certain of the Companys

European subsidiaries and bore interest at Euribor plus 3.85% The average
interest rates on outstanding

borrowings for the years ended Deceniber 31 2008 and 2007 were 8.23% and 7.98% respectively The facility

has no maturity date and continues indefinitely until terminated by either parry upon
six weeks notice The

balance outstanding on this facility at December 31 2008 and 2007 was $3.5 million and $11.8 million

respectively including interest payable On November 11 2008 the Company received notice from Kreditbank

that they would terminate this line of credit as of December31 2008 and all amounts due thereunder which as

of November 11 2008 totaled approximately 8.0 million would he due on that date Subsequently on

December 2008 the Company entered into an agreement with Kredithank permitting repayment of

4.0 million by December 31 2008 and the remainder no later than February 28 2009 As of February 28 2009

all amounts under this facility had been repaid

On December 10 2004 the Company entered into short-term financing agreement with IBM Nederland

Financieringen By for up to $5.0 million The loan is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the

Company Dutch subsidiary as well as cross-company guarantees
of certain of the Company European

subsidiaries and bears interest at the ABN Amro base rate plus 2.25% The average interest rate on outstanding

borrowings for the ears ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was 7.75% and 6.90% respectively The facility
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has no maturity date and continues indefinitely until terminated by either party upon six weeks notice if the

facility is terminated all amounts would he due at the end of the six-week period To date neither pam has

iven notice of intent to terminate this facility There were no amounts outstanding under this facility at

December 31 2008 and 2007

Bank of America Facility

On December 2002 certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company based in Europe entered into

facility arranged by Bank of America National Association as agent to provide revolving line of credit facility

of up to 75 million the Bank of America Facility The maximum amount of borrowings on the Bank of

America Facility is determined based on percentage of the borrowers eligible accounts receivable On

October 20 2005 the agreement was amended to extend the maturity date to October 20 2008 and reduce the

facility to 60 million $87.6 million using the exchange rate on December 31 2008 of $1 .46/fl .00 increasing

to 80 million $116.8 million using the exchange rate on December 31 2008 of $1.46/fl .00 at the Companys

option On May 21 2008 the agreement was amended to extend the termination date of the facility to

October 20 2011 and decrease the size of the facility from 80 million to 76 million $111.0 million using the

exchange rate on December 31 2008 of $1 .46/fl .00 At the borrowers option all or any portion of the

outstanding borrowings may be converted to LmOR-hased revolving loan Borrowings under the line of credit

bear interest at Bank of Americas reference rate or the LIBOR rate as applicable plus margin of between

1.75% and 3.0% based on certain financial measurements The average interest rates on the outstanding

borrowings under the revolving line of credit during the year ended December 31 2008 and 2007 were 5.14%

and 6.59% respectively and the balances outstanding at December 31 2008 and 2007 were $23.2 million and

$20.6 million respectively Obligations of the borrower under the revolving line of credit are collateralized by

substantially all of the assets of the borrower The revolving line of credit requires the borrower to meet certain

financial covenant tests including maintaining an Adjusted Tangible Net Worth at the end of each quarter of not

less than 26.9 million $39.3 million using the exchange rate on December31 2008 of $1 .46/fl .00 and to

comply with certain other covenants including restrictions on incurrence of debt and liens and restrictions on

mergers acquisitions asset dispositions capital contributions payment of dividends repurchases of stock

repatriation of cash and investments

GE Commercial Distribution Finance Facility

In connection with the acquisition of ProSys on October 2006 the Company entered into credit facility

arrangement managed by GE Conmtercial Distribution Finance CDF which currently permits borrowings of

up to $80.0 million including an accounts receivable facility supplemental inventory facility and floorplan

credit facility ProSys is required to pay interest to CDF on the daily contract balance at rate equal to LIBOR

plus 3.10% The floorplan facility contains an interest-free period and ProSys repays substantially all amounts

within that time Under these credit facilities ProSys has granted CDF lien on substantially all of its assets The

credit facility has two-year term with annual renewals thereafter but may he terminated by either party with

notice The balances outstanding at December 31 2008 and 2007 were $44.2 million and $44.0 million

respectively and were related solely to inventory floorplan financing The facility contains number of financial

covenants including covenants requiring the ProSvs subsidiary to maintain an operating profit margin of not less

than 0.5% of sales on 12-month rolling basis the maintenance of ratio of debt to tangible net worth of not

more than six-to-one 61 measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter and maintenance of ratio of funded

debt to earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization for the 12-month period ending on the last

day of each fiscal quarter of not more than four-to-one 41 The facility was amended effective March 31 2009

to modify the financial covenants for all quarters ending on or after March 31 2009 such that ProSvs thereafter is

required to maintain tangible net worth and subordinated debt of not less than $9.0 million maintain

ratio of Funded Debt to Adjusted EBJTDA for the 12-month period ending on the last day of such fiscal quarter

of not more than four-to-one 41 and achieve as of the last day of each fiscal quarter fixed-charge

coverage ratio for the 12-month period ending on the last day of such fiscal quarter of at least

one-and-one-half-to-one 1.51 all capitalized terms are defined in the amendment
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Intel Corporation Facility

On March 30 2006 the Company entered into the Working Capital Facility with Intel Corporation to

provide line of credit up to $3.0 million The Working Capital Facility is non-interest bearing and has

one-year term with subsequent annual renewals hut may be terminated by intel at any time The Company is

required to meet certain program eligibility requirements including compliance with its distribution agreement

with Intel The balances outstanding at December 31 2008 and 2007 were $2.5 million and $3.0 million

respectively In May 2008 the line of credit under the Working Capital Facility was reduced to $1.9 million and

subsequently increased to $2.5 million in November 2008

Term Loans

December 31

2008 2007

in millions

3.75% convertible subordinated notes fair value of $18.9 as of December 31 2008 and $96.7

as of December 31 2007 due 2024 $110.0 $110.0

9.0% senior subordinated 2008 notes fair value of $44.7 as of December 31 2008 and $53.4

as of December 3L 2007 due 2010 51.5 30.3

9.0% senior subordinated 2006 notes fair value of $28.3 as of December 31 2008 and $36.4

as of Decernber3L 2007 due 2013
32.0 33.7

Other fair values approximate carrying value
0.3 0.6

Total debt
193.8 174.6

Less currentportiofl of debt
10.3 14.5

Total long-term debt
$183.5 $160.1

Convertible Notes

On March 2004 the Company completed private offering of $1 10.0 million aggregate principal amount

of 3.75% convertible subordinated notes due in 2024 the Old Notes On December 20 2004 the Company

completed its offer to exchange newly issued 3.75% convertible subordinated notes Series due in 2024 the

New Notes for an equal amount of the Companys outstanding Old Notes Approximately 99.9% of the total

principal amount of Old Notes outstanding were tendered in exchange for an equal pnncipal amount of New

Notes

The New Notes mature on March 2024 and bear interest at the rate of 3.75% per ear on the principal

amount payable semi-annually on March and September which began on March 2005 Holders of the

New Notes may convert the New Notes an time on or before the maturity date if certain conversion conditions

are satisfied Upon conversion of the New Notes the Company will he required to deliver in respect of each

$1000 principal of New Notes cash in an amount equal to the lesser of the principal amount of each Nev

Note to be converted and the conversion value which is equal to the applicable conversion rate multiplied

by bi the applicable stock price The initial conversion rate is 91.2596 shares of common stock per New Note

with principal amount of $1.000 and is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $10.96 per

share The conversion rate is subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events

Under the terms of the New Notes holders have the right to convert their notes upon the occurrence of

certain events including if the closing price of the Companys common stock exceeds certain threshold for at

least 20 of the last 30 days in preceding fiscal quarters and upon specified corporate transactions as descnbed in

more detail in the prospectus filed in connection with the exchange offer The applicable stock pnce is the

average
of the closing sales prices of the Companys common stock over the five trading-day period starting the

third trading day following the date the New Notes are tendered for conversion If the conversion value is greater

105



than the principal amount of each New Note the Company will be required to deliver to holders upon

conversion at their option number of shares of its common stock cash or combination of cash and

shares of its common stock in an amount calculated as described in the prospectus filed by the Company in

connection with the exchange offer In lieu of paying cash and shares of its common stock upon conversion the

Company may direct the conversion agent to surrender any New Notes tendered for conversion to financial

institution designated by the Company for exchange in lieu of conversion The designated financial institution

must agree to deliver in exchange for the New Notes number of shares of the Company common stock

equal to the applicable conversion rate plus cash for any fractiona shares or cash or combination of

cash and shares of the Company common stock Any New Notes exchanged by the designated institution will

remain outstanding

The Company may redeem some or all of the New Notes for cash on or after March 2009 and before

March 5.2011 at redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the New Notes plus accrued and unpaid

interest
up to hut excluding the redemption date but only if the closing price of the Company common stock

has exceeded 130% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days within 30 consecutive

trading-day period ending on the trading day before the date the redemption notice is mailed The Company may

redeem some or all of the New Notes for cash at any time on or after March 2011 at redemption price equal

to 100% of the principal amount of the New Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest up to but excluding the

redemption date

The Company may be required to purchase for cash all or portion of the New Notes on March 2011

March 5.2014 orMarch 52019 or upon change in conuol at purchase price equal to 100% of the principal

amount of the New Notes being purchased plus accrued and unpaid interest up to hut excluding the purchase

date Upon any event of default the lender may demand immediate payment of the balance outstanding An

event of default includes the failure to pay any interest or principal when due failure to perform an of the terms

covenants conditions or provisions of the agreement

In December 2006 the Company obtained consents from holders of the New Notes for the waiver of certain

defaults related to the late filing of the Companys Form l0-Q for the period ended September 30 2006 and

certain proposed amendments to the indentures governing the New Notes eliminating covenants related to the

filing of periodic reports with the SEC and the delivery of such reports to the trustee for the New Notes The

waiver and amendment required the consent of holders of majority in aggregate principal amount of the New

Notes outstanding In exchange for the consent to the waiver and amendment the Company paid holders of the

New Notes an initial consent fee of $5.00 for each 1.000 principal amount of New Notes for which consents

were obtained The initial consent fee of $0.6 million was paid to holders of the New Notes in December 2006

and charged to interest expense If the Company did not commence cash tender offer for the New Notes on or

before February 28 2007 to redeem all validly tendered New Notes at price of at least $1000 for each

$1000 principal amount of New Notes the Company was required to pay holders of the New Notes for which

consents to the waiver and amendment were obtained an additional fee of $85.00 for each $1000 principal

amount of New Notes The Company did not initiate the tender and on March 2007 an aggregate of

$9.4 million was paid to the holders of the New Notes which amount was capitalized and will be amortized to

interest expense through March 2011

Notes Payable to The Retirement Systems of Alabama the RSA

The Company has notes payable to the RSA the RSA Notes that consist of the following

9% Senior Su.bordinwed Notes Payable to the RSA Issued in 2000 On July 2000 and as amended

on May 2004 the Company entered into facility under which it issued $1 80.0 million of

subordinated debt to two of the RSAs affiliated funds the 2000 Notes The 2000 Notes were

comprised of $80.0 million bearing interest at 9.125% which was repaid in June 2001 and

$100.0 million bearing interest at 9.0% payable in semi-annual interest and principal payments with
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semi-annual principal installments commencing on December 31 2000 of $3.5 million $4.4 million

commencing December 31 2007 $5.1 million due December 31 2009 and final payment of

$8.5 million on June 30 2010 The 2000 Notes were collateralized by second lien on substantially all

of the Companys and its subsidiaries North American and South American assets Effective June 30

2008 the Company entered into the 2008 Notes with the lenders that consolidated the 2000 Notes and

the 2007 Notes

9% Senior Subordinated Notes Payable to the RSA issued in 2006 On October 2006 the

Company borrowed $35.0 million from two of the RSAs affiliated funds in connection with its

acquisition of ProSys the 2006 Notes The 2006 Notes bear interest at 9% and are in the form of

two notes one for $23.0 million and second for $12.0 million both due on various dates through

August 2013 The 2006 Notes are collateralized by ProSys shares and all tangible and intangible

assets of the ProSys business other than those assets pledged to CDF The balances outstanding at

December 31 2008 and 2007 were $32.3 million and $34.0 million respectively with scheduled

repayments of $2.5 million in 2009 53.3 million in 2010 $4.0 million in 2011 and $22.5 million

thereafter Principal payments are due on August and February of each year and include accrued

interest through that date The Company must meet certain financial covenant tests on quarterly basis

including as provided by the amendment entered into on February 24 2009 the same fixed-charge

coverage ratio as required by the Western Facility prior
to the amendment the Company was required

to maintain consolidated net worth at the end of each quarter
of not less than $87.5 million and

comply with certain other covenants including restrictions of incurrence of debt and liens and

restrictions on asset dispositions payment of dividends and repurchase of stock The Company is also

required to he in compliance with the covenants of certain other borrowing agreements Upon any

event of defaultthe lender may demand immediate payment of-the balance outstandrng

9% Senior Subordinated Notes Payable to the RSA issued in 2007 On Januan 30 2007 the

Company entered into revolving credit agreement with two of the RSAs affiliated funds in the

amount of $30.0 million the 2007 Notes The 2007 Notes bear interest at 9% Under the terms of

the 2007 Notes the availability of the revolving credit was set to expire on July 31 2008 and thereafter

payments would he made at the rate of $1.0 million per
month beginmng August 15 2008 and the

entire principal balance would be due on January 30 2009 The 2007 Notes were collateralized

second lien on substantially all of the Companys and its subsidiaries North Amencan and South

American assets Effective June 30 2008 the Company entered into the 2008 Notes with the lenders

that consolidated the 2000 Notes and the 2007 Notes

9% Senior Subordinated Notes Payable to the RSA Issued in 2008 On August 2008 the Company

entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement effective as of June 30 2008 the

2008 Notes with several of the RSAs affiliated funds which consolidated and restructured the

$56.7 ntillion in outstanding indebtedness due under the 2000 Notes and 2007 Notes The balance

outstanding on the 2008 Notes at December 31 2008 was $52.4 million The 2008 Notes bear interest

at 9% per annum payable in semi-annual installments with principal payments
due of $4.0 million

semi-annually through June 1.2011 $5.0 million semi-annually through June 2013 and final

payment of $12.4 million due December 2013 The Company granted second pnodty secun

interest subordinate to the Western Facility and the CDF facility in substantially all of the property

then owned or thereafter acquired by the Company in North or South America The Company must

meet certain financial covenant tests on quarterly
basis including as provided by the amendment

entered into on February 24 2009 the same fixed-charge coverage ratio as required by the Western

Facility prior to the amendment the Company was required to maintain consolidated net worth at the

end of each quarter of not less than $87.5 million and comply with certain other covenants including

restrictions of incurrence of debt and liens restrictions on asset dispositions payment of dividends and

repurchase of stock The Company is also required to be in compliance with the covenants of certain

other borrowing agreements Upon any event of default the lender may demand immediate payment of

the balance outstanding
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HSBC Bank plc Mortgage

On June 22 2004 in connection with the acquisition of OpenPSL the Company assumed mortgage with

HSBC for an original amount of 0.7 million $1 .0 million using the exchange rate on December 31 2008 of

$1.46/fl .00 The mortgage has term often years and bears interest at HSBCs rate plus 1.25% The balance on

the mortgage was $0.3 million and $0.5 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Maturities

Maturities of term loans based on the amounts and terms outstanding at December 31 2008 totaled

$10.3 million in 2009 $11.1 million in 2010 $12.8 million in 2011 $14.8 million in 2012 $34.8 million in 2013

and $110.0 million thereafter

Covenant Modfications

In February 2009 the Company determined that it would not be in compliance with the fixed-charge coverage

ratio covenant under the terms of the Western Facility for the quarter ended December 31 2008 The lenders under

the Western Facility agreed to waive this requirement by modifying the terms of the agreement to remove this

obligation for the fourth quarter of 2008 and modify the requirement in subsequent quarters In February 2009 the

Company also determined that it would not be in compliance with consolidated net worth covenant under the

terms of its agreements with the RSA The RSA agreed to waive this requirement amend these agreements to delete

the consolidated net worth covenant and replace them with the same minimum fixed-charge coverage ratio

requirement of the current Western Facility In addition the Company determined in February 2009 that its ProSys

subsidiary had failed to meet its financial covenants under its CDF facility for the 12 months ended June 30 2007

In February 2009 ProSys received waiver Of any default occurring under the CDF facility prior to January 2008

and ProSvs entered into an amendment of the agreement with GE in March 2009

Amendments to Lines of Credit and Long- Term Debt

On February 17 2009 the Company entered into Second Amendment to the Western Facility The second

amendment eliminated the minimum fixed-charge coverage ratio for the quarter ended December 31 2008 and

reduced the fixed-charge coverage ratio required in the quarters ending March 31 2009 and June 30 2009 The

second amendment also extended the required delivery date of the Companys audited consolidated financial

statements for the year ended December 31 2007 from March 31 2009 to June 30 2009 and modified the

definition of Interest Rate and the calculation of Excess Availability as those terms are utilized in the Western

Facility

On February 24 2009 the Company entered into the First Amendment the First Amendment to the

October 2006 Secuæties Purchase Agreement the Securities Purchase Agreement with The Teachers

Retirement System of Alabama TRSA and The Employees Retirement System of Alabama ERSA and

the Second Amendment the Second Amendment to the June 30 2008 Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement with TRSA ERSA Judicial Retirement Fund PEAF-Deferred Compensation Plan and Public

Employees Individual Retirement Account Fund Under the terms of these amendments the previously existing

covenant regarding the Company net worth was replaced by fixed-charge coverage ratio covenant

substantially similar to the fixed-charge coverage ratio covenant contained in the Companys Amended and

Restated Loan and Security Agreement as amended on February 17 2009 between the Company and Wachovia

Capital Finance Corporation Western and other lenders

NOTE RESTRUCTURLNG AND IMPAIRMENT COSTS

From time to time the Company has initiated series of restructuring activities intended to realion the

Companys global capacity and infrastructure with demand by its customers so as to optimize the operational

efficiency which includes reducing excess workforce and capacity and consolidating and relocating certain

facilities to lower-cost regions
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The restructuring and impairment costs include employee severance costs related to leased facilities and

other costs associated with the exit of certain contractua agreements due to facility closures The overall intent of

these activities is that the Company shifts its disu-ibution capacity to locations with higher efficiencies anth in

most instances lower costs and better utilizes its overal existing distribution capacity This would enhance the

Companys ability to provide cost-effective distribution service offerings which may enable it to retain and

expand the Companys existing relationships with customers and attract new business

In 2008 the Company initiated restructuring plan for its North American European and Latin American

operations and as result the Company incurred restructuring costs and other charges of approximately

$4.3 million These costs consisted primarily of severance and benefit costs of $3.9 million for involuntary

employee terminations and costs of $0.4 million related to the closure and impairment of certain leased facilities

The Company terminated 48 employees in North America 105 employees Latin America and 58 employees in

the United Kingdom and continental Europe in sales marketing finance and support functions The Company

classified all of these 2008 restructuring charges of approximately $4.3 million to restructuring and impairment

costs in the consolidated statement of operations during 2008 The Company expects to substantially complete

the entire 2008 restructuring plan in 2009 and does not anticipate incurring additional costs associated with this

restructuring initiative going forward

In 2007 the Company incurred and paid restructuring costs of approximately $1.4 million related to

severance and benefit costs associated with involuntary employee terminations The Company terminated

22 employees in North America 56 employees
in Latin America and 25 employees in Europe

Employee
Termination Facility-

Costs Related Costs Total

th thousands

Restructuring obligations at December 31 2006 141 141

Additional restructuring cost
1.404 1.404

Foreign currency impact
31 31

Cash payments
1.422 1.563

Restructuring obligations at December 31 2007
13 13

Additional restructuring cost
3.903 386 4.289

Foreign currency impact
46 46

Cash payments
3.375 ______

Restructuring obligations at December 31 2008 495 $386 881

NOTE STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Effective January 2006 the Company implemented SFAS 23R as interpreted by SAB 107 and amended

by SAB 110 Prior to January 2006 the Company accounted for stock-based compensation relating to options

according to the provisions of APB 25 and its related interpretations The Company adopted the modified

prospective
transition method provided under SFAS 23R and consequently has not retroactively adjusted

results from prior periods Under this transition method compensation cost associated with stock options now

includes amortiZation related to the remaining unvested portion of all stock option awards granted prior to

December 31 2005 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of

SFAS 123 and amortization related to all stock option awards granted subsequent to January 2006 based

on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 23R The Company amortized

stock-based compensation under SFAS 123 using multiple option attribution and under SFAS 123R using

straight line attribution
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For performance-based RSU awards the Company uses the accelerated multiple option method for expense

attribution As of the last day of each reporting period the Company assesses the probability of achieving the

performance targets applicable to the RSUs When the Company determines that it is probable that performance

targets will be achieved compensation expense is recorded

Compensation expense
for stock-based awards includes an estimate for forfeitures and is recognized over

the expected vesting period of the options using the straight-line method for APB 25 and accelerated attribution

under SFAS 23R Prior to adoption of SFAS 23R benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized

compensation costs were reported as operating cash flows SFAS 23R requires that they be recorded as

financing cash inflow rather than as reduction of taxes paid The Company has not recorded any excess tax

benefits in additional paid-in capital since the adoption of SFAS 123R To determine the excess tax benefit the

Company uses the long-form method as set forth in FASB Staff Position Statement FAS 23R-3 Transition

Eiecron Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Paiinent Awards

Total stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 of

$3.0 million $1.4 million and $2.4 million respectively was recorded as selling general and administrative

expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

Stock Option Plans

The Company adopted the 1998 Stock Plan in 1998 The 1998 Stock Plan replaced the 1988 Amended and

Restated Incentive Stock Plan and the 1993 Director Stock Option Plan Under the terms of the 1998 Stock Plan

which expired as to future grants in May 2008 stock options were granted to directors and employees to

purchase common stock at the fair market value of such shares on the grant date Stock options granted to

employees vest annually over four-year period beginning on the one-year anniversary of the grant date Stock

options granted to directors vested immediately Generally the term of each employee option is five years from

the date of grant and the term of each director option is ten years from the date of grant as provided in each

respective option agreement For options granted to an optionee who owns stock representing more than 10% of

the voting power of all classes of stock the option term is five years If an optionee ceases to he employed by the

Company the optionee may within 30 days or such other period of time as determined by the Board of

Directors but not exceeding three months exercise vested stock options

Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units

Effective upon the adoption of SFAS 123R the fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of

grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model and the assumptions noted in the following table The expected life

of options is based on observed historical exercise patterns Groups of employees that have similar historical

exercise patterns have been considered separately for valuation purposes For the years ended December 31 2008

2007 and 2006 the expected volatility was based solel\ on historical volatility The risk-free interest rate was based

on the implied yield on U.S Treasury zero coupon issue with remaining term equal to the expected term of the

option The dividend yield reflects that the Company has not paid any cash dividends since inception and does not

intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future Following are the key variables used to calculate the fair

values of stock awards under SFAS l23R for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Expected volatility 41.4% 42.3% 51.891

Dividend yeld None None None

Expected life in years 3.56 3.49 3.39

Risk-free rate 2.3% 4.2% 4.6%

The weighted average per share fair value of the options granted in 2008 2i07 and 2006 were $1 .87 $2.00

and $2.55 respectively
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The following table presents
summarized stock option activity and weighted average per share exercise

prices
for stock options and the weighted average intrinsic value for RSUs granted exercised and forfeited as of

and for the three years in the period ended December 31 2008

Restricted Stock Units

Options Outstanding Outstanding

Weighted Weighted

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Average Remaining Average Remaining

Options Exercise Contractual Aggregate intrinsic Contractual Aggregate

Availabk for Price Per Life Intrinsic
Value Per Life intrinsic

Grant Shares Share in years Value Shares RSU in years Value

Balance at December 31

2005 848.183 3.060.047 87.32 690.304 87.08

increase itt options

available for erant 600.000

Options and awards

forfeited 547.908 494.099 88.96 53.809 89.51

Canceled options not

aailahleforgrant 120.000

Options and awards

eranted 895.000 777.500 86.14 117500 $6.10

Options and awards

exercised/vested 132.961 $4.46 241.671 $7.07

Balance at December 31

2006 981.091 3.210.487 86.90 512.324 86.84

Increase in options

available for erani 600.000

Options and awards

forfeited 201.825 196.825 87.72 5.000 88.01

Canceled options not

available for erant 24.750

Options and awards

eranted 460.500 453.000 85.65 7.500 85.98

Options and awards

exercised/vested 5.108 87.05 119.491 87.01

Balance at December31

2007 1.297.666 3.461.554 86.69 395.333 86.93

Increase in options

available for erant 600.000

Options and awards

forfeited 797.904 694.487 86.78 103.417 85.19

Canceled options not

available for erant 537.362

Options and awards

cranted 2.158.208 1.232.500 85.69 925.708 84.25

Options and awards

exercised/vested
197.541 82.36

Balance at December 31

2008 3.999.567 86.37 2.09 1.020.083 84.69 0.79

\7ested and expected to

vest at December 31

2008 3.803.744 $6.40 2.02 947.250 80.60 0.76 8568350
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Si.ock Options

The Companys 1998 Stock Plan expired in May 2008 After May 2008 there were no equity awards

available for grant under the 1998 Stock Plan The Company has scheduled its next annual meeting of

shareholders to he held on August 19 2009 and intends to ask the shareholders to adopt new equity incentive

plan at that time

There were no options exercised during the year ended December 31 2008 The total pre-tax intrinsic value

of options exercised during the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 was $3348 and $0.2 million

respectively The total pre-tax intrinsic value of the RSUs that vested was $0.5 million $0.8 million and

$1.5 million during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

As of December 31 2008 the number of stock options outstanding and exercisable by range of exercise

prices the weighted average exercise prices the intrinsic value and for options outstanding the weighted

average remaining contractual life are as follows in thousands except for years and per share amounts

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted Weighted-

Average Average Average Average

Remaining Exercise Aggregate Remaining Exercise Aggregate

Number Contractual Price per intrinsic Number Contractual Price per intrinsic

__________________
Outstanding Life in Years Share Value Exercisable Life in years Share Value

811 1.8 4.36 529 4.30

1.845 2.9 6.05 585 6.28

649 1.2 6.95 540 7.0

403 1.1 8.27 403 8.27

271 1.0 9.86 271 9.86

21 2.8 11.82 21 11.82

2.1 6.37 1349

The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value based on the

Companys closing stock price of $0.60 per share as of December 31 2008 which would have been received by

the option holders had holders exercised all outstanding options as of that date There were no in-the-money

options exercisable as of December 31 2008

The Company recorded $1.2 million $0.7 million and $1.1 million of compensation expense related to stock

options for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively in accordance with SFAS 23R

As of December 31 2008 there was $3.1 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to outstanding

stock options These costs are expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 2.8 years

As of December31 2008 there were options to purchase 1.654.001 shares that were outstanding hut not

yet vested

Restricied Siock Un/cs

Dunng 2008 2007 and 2006 925.708 7.500 and 117.500 RSUs respectively were granted to certain

eligible employees Compensation expense under the fair value method for the years ended December 31 2008

2007 and 2006 of $1.6 million $0.2 million and $1.3 million respectively is being amortized over the vesting

periods of the underlying awards Compensation expense
for peonnance-hased RSU grants with graded vesting

terms was $0.3 million $0.5 million and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively For compensation expense purposes the intrinsic value of RSUs equals the fair market value of

these awards on the date of grant

Range of Exercise Price

$2.81 $5.21

$5.22 $6.45

$6.46 $7.23

$7.24- $8.50

$8.51 -$11.80

$ll.81-$ll.82

$2.81 -$11.82 4.000 1.1 6.80
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The weighted-average
fair value per

unit of the RSUs granted during the year ended December 31 2008

was $4.25 per share At December 31 2008 unrecognized compensation costs related to RSUs totaled

approximately $2.5 million and are expected to be recognized over weighted-average period of .2 years The

total fair value of RSUs vested was $0.5 million for the year ended December 31 2008

NOTE Th COME TAXES

The components of income loss before provision for income taxes attributable to domestic and foreign

operations are as follows in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Domestic
$47608 $35.441 $3.331

Foreign
26.685 29710 1.510

Total income loss before provision for income taxes $74293 $65151 54.841

The provision for income taxes consists of the following in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Current provision

Federal
651 53.102 5.314

State
335 1.419 896

Fdreign
2.851 6056 2616

Total current provision
2.535 4.373 8.826

Deferred provision benefit

Federal
37 16.698

State

4.682

Foreign
2008 2.551 2.258

Total deferred provision
2.008 2.588 19.122

Total provision for income taxes
527 6.961 $27.948

The provision for income taxes differed from the amount computed by applying the federal statutory rate to

our income before provision
for income taxes as follows amounts in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Tax at federal statutory rate
$26.002 $22.803 1.696

State tax expenses net of federal tax benefit
512 1.082 318

Foreign taxes at other than United States rates 2196 1110 173

Net operating
loss carryback claims

2.578 4.715

Changes in valuation allowances
22.027 13.238 23.065

Extraterritorial income tax exclusion
61

Meals and entertainment
80

Non-deductible compensauon
70

intercompany allocation

816

income on entity conversion
.806

Resenes

Non-deductible items
1.060 10.055

Other
820 1.728 181

Provision for income taxes
527 6.961 $27948
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The Companys income tax provision of $0.5 million and $7.0 millioti for fiscal years 2008 and 2007

respectively was primarily due to income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions During 2006 the Company

recognized an income tax expense of $23.1 million related to the establishment of valuation allowance against

substantially all of its U.S-deferred tax assets During 2008 and 2007 the Company increased the valuation

allowance by approximately $14.4 million and $7.6 million In both 2008 and 2007 the Company continued to

record valuation allowance against substantially all of its deferred tax assets in the U.S and certain foreign

jurisdictions

For the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 the non-deductible items included $2.0 million and

$9.1 million of tax expenses related to non-deductible goodwill impairment

The Company carried back the 2007 federal net operating loss to 2005 and 2006 and expects to carr back

portion of the 2008 federal net operating loss to 2006 To the extent the Company had taxable income in the

carryhack period the Company did not provide valuation allowance on that portion of the deferred tax assets

related to tax carryback claims As result of the cariyhack claims for the years ended December 31 2008 and

2007 the Company recognized income tax benefits of $2.6 million and $4.7 million applied to the years ended

December 2006 and 2005

Deferred income taxes are provided for the effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of an

asset or liability and its reported amount on the consolidated balance sheets These temporary differences result

in taxable or deductible amounts in future years The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities

are listed below

Deferred tax assets liabilities was comprised of the following in thousands

Accruals and allowances

Revenue recognition

Capitalized inventory expenses

Management earnout

Deferred compensation

Stock-based compensation

Depreciation and amortization

Tax credits and net operating loss carryforwards

Unrealized gain loss

Gross deferred tax assets

Unrealized gain loss

Other

Gross deferred tax liabilities

Valuation allowance

Net defelTed tax assets

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007

21.031 19.709

360 99

924 1.650

476

1.270 1170

1.648 1.460

10.87 12.237

24.874 12.435

________
824

_______
49.5841.454

735

580 1419

1.3l5 1.419

53.085 38715

7.054 9450

Valuation allowance reduces the deferred tax assets to the amounts that based upon available evidence are

more likely than not to he realized The valuation allowance at December 31 2008 and 2007 is mostly

attributable to the Netherlands Germany Sweden Belgium France Chile and the U.S net operating loss

NOL canyforwards as well as federal foreign tax credits that do not meet the more likely than not standard

of realizability
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The breakdown between current and long-term deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities was as follows

in thousands

Years Ended December 3L

2008 2007

Current deferred tax assets
$1 .826 53.745

Non-current deferred tax assets
5.228 5.705

Total deferred tax assets net of deferred tax liabilities $7054 $9.450

At December 31 2008 and 2007 the Company reported federal NOLs in the amount of $54.3 million and

$13.5 million respectively
available to offset future taxable income The Company is expected to carry back the

full amount of the 2007 NOL to tax \ears 2005 and 2006 and $7.1 million of the 2008 NOL to tax year 2006 The

remaining $47.1 million federal NOL at December 31 2008 will be carried forward to offset future federal

taxable income and if not utilized will expire in 2028 At December 31 2008 and 2007 the Company had state

NOL carryforwards of approximately $73.4 million and $25.2 million respectively
available to offset future

state taxable income The state NOL carryforwards if not utilized will expire between years
2013 and 2028 The

federal and state NOL carryforwards disclosed herein do not reflect the impact of the limitation under IRC

Section 382 which the Company estimates to be approximately $28.0 million and $38.2 muon respectively

See below for further discussion concerning the limitation under TRC Section 382 At December 31 2008 and

2007 the Company had foreign NOL carryforwards of approximately
$58.1 million and $37.8 million

respectively
available to offset future taxable mcome

IRC Section 382 imposes limitations on an porations ability to utilize its NOL 6airyforwaiids if the

corporation experiences an ownership change as defined in IIRC Section 382 Based upon currently available

information the Company believes there was an ownership change in the fourth quarter of 2008 As result

utilization of our federal NOL in future periods will likely he subject to an annual limitation under IRC Section

382 estimated to be approximately $1.1 million similar provision applies to various states that will result in

various annual limitations Accordingly the Company has reduced its deferred tax assets based upon the

estimated statutory limitations in annual NOL carryforward recognition and loss carryforward time periods for

both federal and state purposes
The amount of the annual limitation may under certain circumstances he

increased by the recognized built-in gains that occur during the five-year period after the ownership change

At December 31 2008 and 2007 there was no provision for U.S income taxes for undistrihuted earnings of

the Companys foreign subsidiaries as it is currently the Companys intention to reinvest these earnings

indefinitely in operations outside the United States The Company believes it is not practicable to determine the

Company tax liability that may arise in the event of future repatriation of foreign earnings If repatriated

these earnings could result in tax expense at the current federal statutory tax rate of 35i subject to available

net operating losses and other factors Tax on undistributed earnings may also he reduced by foreign tax credits

that may he generated in connection with the repatriation of earnings

The Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation
No 48 Accountrngfor

UncertainTies in In.com.e Taxes an Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 FIN 48 effective January

2007 FIN 48 requires the Company to recognize the financial statement effect of tax position when ii is more

likely than not based on the technical merits that the position will be sustained upon examination The

cumulative effect of adopting FIN 48 if any is required to be recorded in retained earnings and other accounts as

applicable
At adoption

the Company recorded decrease to accumulated deficit of $1.5 million
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reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of total gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows

in thousands

Iears Ended December 31

2008 2007

Balance at beginning of year $14371 $12.84

increase related to prior ear tax positions 13

Decrease related to prior ear tax positions 27
Increase related to current year tax positions 927 2.822

Settlements with tax authorities 81
Decrease related to lapse of statute of limitations 1.033 1.305

Balance at end of year $14057 $14.37

The unrecognized tax benefits if recognized would impact the tax provision by $7.1 million and

$7.9 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

The Company has elected to include interest and penalties as component of tax expense Accrued interest

and penalties at December 31 2008 and 2007 were $1.9 million and $2.0 million respectively The Company

does not anticipate that the amount of existing unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease

within the next 12 months

The Company files federal income tax returns as well as income tax returns in various states and foreign

jurisdictions The Cbmpany is currently under exaniinatidn by tax authoritiei iii France Belgium the United

Kingdom Germany Chile Mexico and various states in the U.S for certain years between 2001 and 2008 Most

state and foreign jurisdictions have three or four open tax years at any point in time Although the outcome of

any tax audit is uncertain the Company believes that it has adequately provided in its financial statements for

any additional taxes that it may he required to pay as result of such examinations If the payment ultimately

proves to he unnecessary the reversal of these tax liabilities would result in tax benefits being recognized in the

period the Company determines such liabilities are no longer necessary However if an ultimate tax assessment

exceeds our estimate of tax liabilities an additional tax provision will be recorded

NOTE 10 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company leases its facilities under cancelable and non-cancelable operating lease agreements The

leases expire at various times through 2025 and contain renewal options Certain of the leases require the

Company to pay property taxes insurance and maintenance costs The Company leases certain equipment under

capital leases with such equipment amounting to $2.3 million at each of December 31 2008 and 2007 less

accumulated depreciation of $1.8 million and $1.2 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Depreciation expense on assets subject to capital leases was $0.6 million for each of the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 The capital lease terms range from 24 months to 60 months
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The following is summary of commitments under non-cancelable leases as of December31 2008 in

thousands

Capital Operating

Leases Leases

Years Ending December 31

2009

2010
10.072

2011
6.726

2012
5.638

2013
4.005

2014 and beyond __ 12.451

Total minimum lease payments
559 $51844

Less amounts representing
interest

65

Present value of minimum lease payments
$494

Total rent expense was $20.1 million $19.4 million and $14.2 million for the years
ended December 31

2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Subsequent to December 31 2006 the Company entered into several

extensions on current leases or has entered into lease acreements for new or addiuonal facilities to meet its

operational needs

On June 2008 the Companys export subsidiary in the UnitedKingdom received notification from the

Direction GØndrale des Finances Publiques that the French tax authonties were proposing to issue ta

deficiency notice against the Companys export subsidiary for the failure to pay value-added tax and corporate

income tax in France during the period of January 2002 to December 31 2008 in an amount including

interest and penalties of approximately 27.3 million $38.2 million using the exchange rate of $l.40/l.00 as of

December 31 2008 Subsequently the tax authorities issued tax assessment against the Cornpanys U.K

export subsidiary The Company is contesting the proposed assessment The Company intends to defend this

matter vigorously and avail itself of all available defenses The matter is in the preliminary stages and therefore

the Company is not in position to estimate loss if any or range of potential loss As no amount of potential

loss is both probable and estimable no accrual has been made in the consolidated financial statements as of

December 31 2008 or 2007 However negative outcome of this matter could have material adverse impact

on the Companys consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows

In February 2008 independent counsel to the Board of Directors the Board accompanied by counsel for

the Company self-reported to the SEC as to the findings of the independent investigatrnns conducted by special

committees of the Board The SEC commenced non-public fact-finding inquiry into the Companys historical

accounting practices The inquiry being conducted by the SEC is ongoing
and the Company continues to

cooperate
with the SEC

On December 29 2008 John Campbell who alleges that he is shareholder of the Company caused

purported shareholders derivative lawsuit to be filed in the Supenor Court of California for the County of San

Mateo against the Company as nominal defendant and 17 current and former officers and directors of the

Company seeking to recover damages purportedly sustained by the Company in connection with its histoncal

stock option granting practices Subject to certain limitations the Company is obligated to indemnify its current

and former officers and directors in connection with the investigation of the Company historical stock option

practices and such lawsuits .Although the matter is in its preliminary stages and the Company has procured

insurance coverage
for these types of claims the expense to the Company associated with this lawsuit ma3 he

significant
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In October 2008 the Company provided indemnification agreements to all members of the Board and the

Company executive officers Four members of the Board had pre-existing indemnification arreements that

were entered into immediately prior to the Companys initial public offering in 1993 and those agreements were

amended in October 2008 The indenmification agreements require the Company to indemnify the directors and

officers and pay their expenses if they become party to or are threatened with any action suit or proceeding

arising out of their service to the Company

The Company is party to agreements pursuant to which it may he obligated to indemnify another pam
Typically these obligations arise in connection with sales agreements under which the Companx customarily

agrees to hold the other party harmless against losses arising from breach of warranties representations or

covenants related to such matters as title to assets sold validity of certain intellecmai property rights and

non-infringement of third-party rights In each of these circumstances payment by the Company is typically

subject to the other party making claim and cooperating with the Company pursuant to the procedures specified

in the particular agreement This process usually allows the Company to challenge the other partys claims or in

case of breach of intellectual property representations or covenants to control the defense or settlement of any

third-pam claims brought against the other party Further the Companys obligations under these agreements

may he limited in terms of activity typically to replace or correct the products or terminate the agreement with

refund to the other party duration and/or amounts In many instances the Company has recourse against the

suppliers of the products that will cover the payments made by the Company

The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the normal course of business

Management believes that the ultimate resolution of such matters will not have material adverse effect on the

Companys financial position results of operations or cash flows

NOTE 11 TRANSACTiONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

One director of the Company was director of one of the Companys customers Pinnacle Systems Inc

Another director of the Company is director of one of the Companys customers Datalink Corporation The

consultant who manages the Companys Brazilian operation has an ownership interest in two of the Companys
customers/vendors Megaware Commercial Ltda and Megaware Industrial Ltda collectively Megaware

In 2006 the employees who managed the Companys Mexico operations had various ownership interests in

the following customers/vendors of the Company Import Mayoreo SA de CV Trofel Computacion SA de C\
Verhatrade SA de CV Importador Nacional Peninsular and Outsourcing Distribution SA de CV

In 2006 as part of the Companys acquisition of ProSys the Company entered into two long-term real

property leases for office and warehouse space in Norcross Georgia with Laurelwood Holdings LLC

Laurelwood Holdings The sellers of ProSys who thereafter became employees of the Company have an

ownership interest in Laurelwood Holdings In 2008 2007 and 2006 the Compam paid $500906 $497693 and

5124.423 respectively under those lease agreements to Laurewood Holdings

Since October 2005 the Company has employed stepson of Mr Bell in the position of director of strategic

markets in 2008 and 2007 Mr Bells stepson received total cash compensation of 5246.217 and $238307

respectively On November 17 2005 he was granted an option to purchase 15.000 shares of common stock with

an exercise price of $7.95 per share On January 21 2008 he was granted an option to purchase 10.000 shares of

common stock with an exercise price of $5.90 in addition he participates in all other benefits that the Company

offers to all of its employees The Audit Committee reviewed and ratified the employment of Mr Bells stepson

and his compensation
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Sales to and purchases
from these parties for the three years

ended December 31 2008 and accounts

receivable and accounts payable at December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 are summarized below in thousands

Years EDded December 31

2008 2007 2006

Sales

Datalink Corporation

Megaw are

Import Mayoreo SA de CV

Verhatrade SA de CV

Accounts receivable

Datalink Corporation

Megaware

Import Mayoreo SA de CV

Verhatrade SA DE CV

Purchases

Megaware

Importadora Naciónal Peninsular

Accounts payable

Megaware

Import Mayorco SA de C\7

The Company has Section 401k Plan the Plan which provides participating U.S employees an

opportunity to accumulate funds for retirement and hardship Participants may contribute up to 30% of their

eligible earnings to the 1998 Stock Plan Beginning in 2006 the Company began providing matching

connihution of 25% of the employees first 6% of conhutions to the 1998 Stock Plan up to $2000 per year

The Company expense
for matching contributions for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was

$1.5 million $1.0 million and $0.5 million respectively

During 2002 the Board adopted the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan SERF which was

amended in November 2007 The SERP provides an annual income benefit to the Company Chief Executive

Officer of $450000 at retirement over his life The SERF is unfunded and expenses
related to the SERF were

$0.3 million $0.1 million and $1.6 million in the years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Included in the 2006 expense was $1.2 million charge resulting from SERF amendment that increased the

annual retirement benefit from $250.000 per year to $450000 per year The actuarial estimate of the SERF

liability amounted to $3.2 million and $2.9 million as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively
and is

included in Other Long-term Liabilities in these consolidated balance sheets

The Company has purchased life insurance on its Chief Executive Officer and other key employees As

beneficiary of these insurance policies the Company receives the cash surrender value if the policy is terminated

and upon death of an insured receives all benefits payable The Company estimates that the proceeds from the

life insurance benefits will he sufficient to recover over time the full cost of the SERF and the death benefits

being provided to the other key employees $250000 per employee plus the cost of insurance The cash value

of life insurance as reported in these consolidated balance sheets in Other Long-term Assets as of

December 31 2008 and 2007 is $1.7 million and $1.5 million respectively
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NOTE 13 SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

SFAS 131 establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments products and services

geographic areas of operations and major customers Operating segments are defined as components of an

enterprise about which separate financial information is available which the chief operating decision-maker

evaluates regularly in determining allocation of resources and assessing performance Under the criteria of

SFAS 131 the Company has ten operating segments and seven reportable segments for the years ended

December 31 2008 and 2007

The following are the Companys reportable segments

U.S Distribution

Europe

ProSys

TotalTec

The reportable segment U.S Distribution is determined based on geography and client base The reportable

segments Europe TotalTec Miami Canada and ProSys represent operating segments that individually met the

quantitative threshold reporting requirements of SFAS 13 The reportable segment Other represents operating

segments that were combined as they share majority of the reportable segment aggregation criteria of

SFAS 131 and do not individually or in the aggregate meet the quantitative threshold reporting requirements of

SFAS 13 The Other segment includes Rorke Data and certain in-country operations in Latin America Brazil

Chile and Mexico

Historically the Company disclosed segment and geographic information using five reportable segments for

the year ended December 31 2006 For comparative purposes
the Company has presented in the table below the

2006 segment and geographic information as if it had used seven reportable segments

Financial information for each of the Companys seven reportable segments is summarized below dollars in

thousands

Miami

Canada

Other

2008

Amount

Years Ended December 31

2007

Amount

Net sales

U.S Distribution

Europe

ProSys

Total Tec

Miami

Canada

Other

Total net sales

Income loss from operations

U.S Distribution

Europe

ProSys

TotalTec

Miami

Canada

Other

Total income loss from

operations

2006

Amount

864.480 24.1% 51.046852 26.5% $1.04388 30.9%

1.459.128 40.8 1.699.732 43.0 1.483.018 44.0

451.446 12.6 378.760 9.6 73.206 2.2

46.795 1.3 63.533 1.6 83.851 2.5

415.547 11.6 373.951 9.5 325.082 9.6

123941 3.5 149.042 3.8 147.334 4.4

218162 6.1 238.035 6.0 217.197

53.579.499 100.0% 53.949905 100.0% 53.372.876 100.0%

44.337 130.8% 12.517 37.5% 17.677 56.2%

1.920 5.7 14.275 42.7 5.829 18.5

1.893 5.6 17.909 53.6 909 2.9

4.43 12.2 1.871 5.6 2.519 8.0

3.477 10.3 5.784 17.3 3.462 11.0

6.448 19.0 4.398 13.2 1.173 3.7

856 2.4 766 2.3 2.226 7.1

33.886 100.0% 33.414 100.093 31.449 100.0%
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Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Capitai expenditures

U.S Distribution
1.421 1.771 2.262

Europe
2.631 3688 2.468

ProSys
1005 1.18

TotalTec
194 270 904

Miami
1.512 867 186

Canada
28 177 55

Other
813 956 437

Total
7.604 9.247 6.357

Depreciation and amortization

U.S Distribution
1.498 1.604 1.663

Europe
3.779 4.127 3.861

ProSvs
3.722 3.390 801

TotalTec
563 577 443

Mami 347 361 468

Canada
90

Other
790 834 598

Total
$10.774 $10968 7.924

Interest expense income net

US Distribütidh $15700 520.235 $15.354

Europe
13.758 13.817 13.871

ProSys
C9

TotalTec
54

Miami
43

Canada
400 392 302

Other
82 51

Total
529.898 $34163 $29.456

121



As of December 31

2008 2007

Total assets

U.S Distribution 5217.636 335.554

Europe 274.110 396685

ProSys 106.793 126.815

TotalTec 13.358 15.295

Miami 99.474 128966

Canada 27.291 39.150

Other 36.226 59.361

Total 5774.888 $1101826

Long-lived assets

U.S Distribution 4.545 4.231

Europe 5.806 8.385

ProSys 3.303 3.354

TotalTec 819 1.053

Miami 2297 1114

Canada 132 212

Other 2.140 2.323

Total 19.042 20672

Net sales by geographicegion based on shipped from locatiOn except Miami where net sales am based

upon shipped to location for the years ended December31 2008 2007 and 2006 were as follows dollars in

thousands

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Amount Amount Amount

NorthAmerica1 $1.652.009 46.2% $1.809.571 45.8% $1.483.593 44.0%

Europe2 1459.128 40.7 1.699.732 43.0 1.483.018 44.0

Latin America3 468.362 13.1 440.602 11.2 406.265 l0

Total $3.579.499 100.0% $3.949.905 100.0% 53.372.876 100.0

North America sales include sales in the United States of approximately $1.527.717 $1679700 and

51.336.259 for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Europe sales include sales in the United Kingdom of approximately $810.934 51.018.365 and $1260716

for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Latin America net sales include sales from Miami to customers located in Latin America The geographic

net sales for Latin America does not include certain Miami sales made to customers located outside of Latin

America

Net property and equipment by geographic area at December 31 is as follows in thousands

December 31

2008 2007

North America 9.797 9.886

Europe 5.806 8.385

Latin America 3.439 2401

Total $19042 $20672
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NOTE 14 DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company uses derivative instruments principally forward and swap contracts to manage the risk

associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates and the risk that changes in interest rates will affect

the fair value or cash flows of its debt obligations The Company monitors its positions with and the credit

quality of the financial institutions that are party to these financial transactions Counterparty credit nsk related

to derivative financial instruments has historically been considered low because the transactions have been

entered into with number of strong creditworthy financial institutions From time to time the Company uses

interest rate swap agreements to hedge the fair value of its fixed-rate debt obligations Under an interest rate

swap contract the Company agrees to receive fixed-rate payment in most cases equal to the stated coupon rate

of the debt being hedged for floating-rate payment

Foreign Currency Risk Management

substantial part of the Companys revenue inventory purchases and capital expenditures are transacted in

U.S dollars but the functional currency for foreign subsidiaries is not the U.S dollar The Company enters into

foreign forward exchange contracts to economically hedge certain balance sheet exposures against the impact of

future changes in foreign exchange rates The gains and losses on the forward exchange contracts are largely

offset by gains and losses on the underlying transactions To the extent the Company is unable to manage these

risks its consolidated financial position and cash flows could he matenally adversely affected The Companys

foreign exchange forward contracts related to current assets and liabilities are generally six months or less in

original matunty

At December 3i 2008 and 2007 the Company had outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts with

total notional amount of approximately $75.5 million and $52.1 million respectively which were not designated

in hedging relationships These contracts will settle in British pounds Euros Chilean pesos Mexican pesos
and

U.S dollars

For all derivative transactions the Company is exposed to counterparty
credit risk to the extent that the

counterparties may not be able to meet their obligations to the Company To manage the counterpart risk the

Company enters into derivative transactions only with major financial institutions

Interest Rate Risk Management

In August 2003 the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement
in order to gain access to the

lower borrowing rates generally available on floating-rate debt while avoiding prepayment
and other costs that

would he associated with refinancing long-term fixed-rate debt The swap agreement purchased has notional

amount of $40.0 million with six-month settlement period and provides for variable interest at LIBOR plus

set rate spread The notional amount decreases ratably as the underlying debt is repaid The value of the swap

agreement was liability of $73.51 at December 31 2007 The interest rate swap agreement was scheduled to

terminate in June 2010 subject to earl termination at the counterparty discretion The counterparty terminated

the interest rate swap on Februai 2008 The counterparty paid the Company approximately $15000 in

connection with the termination of the swap representing the fair market value of the interest rate swap on the

termination date Historically changes in the fair market value of the instrument were recorded in the Statement

of Operations All other changes in fair value during the year are recorded to interest expense income net as

ineffectiveness The amount recorded to earnings due to ineffectiveness dunng the year ended December 31

2008 was insignificant

On June 30 2006 the Company entered into cross-currency interest rate swap agreement
with Wachovia

Bank NA to hedge its investments in foreign operations in which the Euro is their functional currency Euro

investments The principal notional amount of the swap was 6.0 million $8.4 million using the exchange rate

on December 31 2008 of $l.40/1.00 on June 30 2006 Underthe terms of the swap Wachovta will pay the

Company an interest payment computed on the 3-month USD LIBOR in exchange for an interest payment from
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the Company computed on the 3-month Euro LJ1BOR On both sides of the swap the Company bank margin of-

1.5% will be added The interest payments are reset every three months and at maturity there will he cash

settlement between the Company and Wachovia which will he dependant on the conversion rates at maturity in

comparison to the origina spot rate of $1 .28/l The swap has three-year maturity and may he terminated by

the Company for convenience at no cost This swap agreement is accounted for as net investment hedge under

SFAS 133 Both at inception and on an on-going basis the Company performs an effectiveness test Consistent

with the Companys policy with respect to derivative instruments and hedging activities and in accordance with

SFAS 133 the Company will designate the change in Euro spot rates as the hedged risk in its Euro investments

Since the contract is hedge of the Companys Euro investments the change in the fair value of the contract

attributable to changes in spot rates which is the effective portion of the hedge will he recorded as an offset to

the Companys Euro investments in the cumulative translation account on the balance sheet The fair value of the

cross-currency interest rate swap agreement at December31 2008 was $0.7 million and is recorded as liability

on the consolidated balance sheet The change in fair value of this contract due to exchange rate fluctuations was

recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income loss in the amount of $0.4 million during 2008 and $0.9

million during 2007 All other changes itt the fair value during the year are recorded to interest expense income

net as ineffectiveness The amount recorded to earnings due to ineffectiveness during the year ended

December 31 2008 was insninificant

Contingent Put Option

In connection with the acquisition of ProSys see Note Acquisitions the Company and the former

shareholders of ProSys the Holders entered into registration rights agreement obligating the Company to

file registration statement with the SEC to allow for the resale of the .72 million shares of common stock used

as part of the consideration in the purchase Transaction within 60 days of the closing date of the acquisition On

April 30 2007 the Company and the Holders entered into an amendment to the registration rights agreement

which provided that in exchange for an extension to the Company of the time to register the shares the Company

would provide the Holders with cash necessary to make up the shortfall if any if following the sale thereof the

sales price of the shares held by the Holders on the open market is below $4.93 the Issue Price the price used

to deternrine the share value for purposes of determining the consideration for the purchase transaction Price

Protection as well as put right to the Company at the Issue Price in certain circumstances On February

2008 the Company entered into memorandum of understanding with the Holders that required the Company to

pay an advance against potential contingent consideration due to the Holders in exchange for an extension on the

previously granted put right through September 30 2008 On August 26 2008 the Company and the Holders

entered into second amendment to the registration rights agreement under which the Company agreed to

purchase from the Holders all of the right title and interest in 710036 shares of the purchase consideration

common stock at the Issue Price in exchange for the Holders agreeing to retain the remaining i.014.336 shares

until such time as the Company is current in its periodic reports or October 2009 whichever occurs first With

respect to the remaining shares the Holders continue to hold the Price Protection and put rights as described

above and the Companys maximum liability under these obligations is $5.0 million

The fair value of the put option was liability in the amount of $4.4 million at December 31 2008 and is

included in Other accrued liabilities in the Companys consolidated balance sheets The related fair value

changes are recorded as compensation expense in Selling genera and administrative expense in the

consolidated statements of operations As of December 31 2008 the fair value of the Price Protection was

equivalent to the fair value of the contingent put option

The Company paid $3.5 million for the 710.036 shares purchased pursuant to the second amendment to the

registration rights agreement The amount paid in excess of the Companys share price on August 26 2008

totaled $1.9 million which was recorded as compensation expense in Selling general and administrative

expense
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NOTE 15 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICIT

Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted loss per
share EPS is computed dividing net income loss the numerator by the

weighted average
number of common shares outstanding the denominator during the period Diluted EPS does

not give effect to potentially dilutive common shares outstanding duæng the period including stock options and

warrants using the neasury stock method and convertible debt using the if-converted method as their effect

would have been anti-dilutive

The following is reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted EPS

computations for the periods presented below in thousands except per share data

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Basic loss per
share

Net loss
$74.820 $72.l 12 $23.l07

Shares used in computation

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding 32299 32248 30.772

Basic loss per share
2.32 2.24 0.75

Diluted loss per
share

Net loss
574.820 572.112 523.107

Shares used in computation

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding
32.299 32.248 30.772

Employee stock options

Resin cted stock units

Weighted average
number of shares 32.299 32248 30.772

Diluted loss per share ............................. 2.32 2.24 0.75

At December 31 2008 1.020.083 RSU awards and options to purchase 3.999.567 shares of the Companys

common stock and warrants to purchase 125.000 shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS

because they were anti-dilutive At December 31 2007 395.333 RSU awards options to purchase

3.461.554 shares of the Companys common stock and warrants to purchase 125000 shares were excluded from

the calculation of diluted EPS because the were anti-dilutive At December 31 2006 512.324 RSU awards

options to purchase 3.2 10.487 shares of the Companys common stock and warrants to purchase 125.000 shares

were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS because they were anti-dilutive

Warrants

In connection with the 2006 Notes used to finance the October 2006 acquisition of ProSs the Company

issued warrants to the investors to purchase up to 125.000 shares of the Companys common stock at an exercise

price of 55 15 per share These warrants had fair value of $382.000 at December 2006 and were recorded to

equitY at fair value on the date of grant In accordance with EITF 00-19 ccou.nring for Derivative Financial

instruments indexed to an Potentially Settled in Companys Own Siock subsequent changes fair value of

the warrants are not recognized as long as the\ are classified as equity

The warrants expire in October 2011 and the investor has the right to convert the warrant into common

stock at any time prior to its expiration Jpon exercise of the warrant the Company is required to dehver to the

holder common stock equal to the quotient obtained h\ dividing the net \alue of all the warrant shares by the fair

market value of single warrant share
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The holder can also exercise the warrant right upon payment of any amount equal to the warrant exercise

price in the form of cash or securities previously issued by the Company at such securities then fair market

value In the event of capita reorganizations such as consolidation or merger of the Company with another

corporation the sale of all or substantially all of its assets in which the holders of the Companys common stock

shall be entitled to receive stock securities or assets the holders of the warrants would be entitled to receive

stock securities or assets as if it had exercised its rights under the warrant agreement

The Company was required to file registration statement for the warrant shares under the 1933 Act

promptly after the date of the asset purchase agreement of October 2006 The Company has not been able to

do so because of the restatement and the resulting delay in filing its periodic reports with the SEC As of May 31

2009 the Company has not filed the registration statement for the warrant shares

NOTE 16 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

In September 2006 FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 157 Fair Value

Measurements SFAS 157 that defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value and

expands disclosures about fair value measurements SFAS 157 applies to other accounting pronouncements that

require or permit fair value measurements and does not require any ne fair value measurements

In February 2008 FASB issued Staff Position Statement FAS 157-2 which provides for one-year deferral

of the provisions of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value

in the consolidated financial statements on non-recurring basis The Company is currently evaluating the

impact of adopting the provisions of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or

disclosed on non-recurring basis

Effective January 2008 the Company adopted the provisions of SPAS 157 for financial assets and

liabilities as well as for any other assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value on recung basis The

adoption of the provisions of SFAS 157 related to financial assets and liabilities and other assets and liabilities

that are carried at fair value on recurring basis did not material impact the Companys consolidated financial

position and results of operations

SFAS 157 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer

liability an exit price in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants on the measurement date SFAS 157 also establishes fair value

hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of

unobservable inputs when measuring fair value SFAS 157 describes three levels of inputs that may he used to

measure fair value

Level Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date

Active markets are those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency

and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis Level primarily consists of financial

instruments such as exchange-traded derivatives listed equities and U.S
government treasury

securities

Level Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level which are either

directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date Level includes those financial instruments

that are valued using models or other valuation methodologies These models are primarily industry-

standard models that consider various assumptions including quoted forward prices for commodities

time value volatility factors and current market and contractual prices for the underlying instruments

as well as other relevant economic measures Substantially all of these assumptions are observable in

the marketplace throughout the full term of the instrument can he derived from observable data or are

supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed in the marketplace Instruments in

this category include non-exchange-traded derivatives such as over-the-counter forwards options and

repurchase agreements
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Level Pricing inputs include significant inputs that are generally less observable from objective sources

These inputs may be used with internally developed methodologies that result in management best

estimate of fair value from the perspective of market participant Level instruments include those

that may be more structured or otherwise tailored to customers needs At each balance sheet date the

Company performs an analysis of all instruments subject to SFAS 157 and includes in Level all of

those whose fair value is based on sninificant unobservable input

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis include the following at December 31 2008

in thousands

Fair Value Measurements Using

Level Level Level Total

Available-for-sale securities 22 22

Cross-currency interest rate swap 744 744

Contingent put option
4.391 4.391

22 $744 $4.391 55.113

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of FASBs Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 107 Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments SFAS 107 the Company discloses the fair

value of its term loans See Note Lines of CrediT and Term Loans The fair value of these term loans is

measured using Level inputs

Available-For-Sale Securities

The Company has an equity ownership interest in CI-T Coioration which is accounted for as an

available-for-sale security The fair value of the Companys available security is as follows at December 31

2008 and 2007 in thousands

December 31

2008 2007

Cost basis 80 80

Unrealized holding loss ___ _2
Fair value

$22 $52

The fair value of this investment is included in Other assets in the Company consolidated balance sheets

and the related net unrealized holding gains and losses are included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive

Income in the shareholders equity section in the Companys consolidated balance sheets

Cross-Currency Interest Rate Swap

On June 30 2006 the Company entered into cross-currency
interest rate swap agreement

with Wachovia

Bank N.A to hedge its investments in foreign operations in which the Euro is the functional currency The

notional amount of the swap at December 31 2008 was 6.0 million This swap agreement is accounted for as

net investment hedge under SFAS 133 As the notional amount of the cross-currency interest rate swap is

expected to equal comparable amount of hedge assets No material ineffectiveness is expected The fair value

of the cross-currency interest rate swap agreement at December 31 2008 was $0.7 million and is recorded as

liability on the consolidated balance sheet The fair value of the cross-currency interest rate swap is calculated

using discounted cash flow model which uses the forward yield curves of USD LIBOR interest rates and Euro

LIBOR interest rates to an-ive at the net present value of the expected cash flows of the cross-currency swap

This financial instrument is typically exchange-traded and is generally classified within Level or Level of the
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fair value hierarchy depending on whether or not the exchange is deemed to he an active market The cross

currency interest rate swap is traded in an active market and therefore is classified within Level

Contingent Put Option

The Company utilizes the Black-Sholes option pricing model for determining the estimated fair value of the

put option Level In the Black-Scholes valuation calculation the Company made estimates of key assumptions

such as future stock price volatility expected term and risk free rates The expected stock price volatility is based

on the historical volatility of the Companys stock The expected term is based upon the Companys estimate of

the life of the contingent put option The risk-free rate is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at each

valuation date As of December 31 2008 the fair value of the Price Protection was equivalent to the fair value of

the contingent put option For further information regarding the contingent put option and Price Protection see

Note 14 Deriva.the Instruments

Foreign Exchange Contracts

The Company enters into foreign exchange forward option or swap contracts collectively the foreign

exchange contracts to mitigate the impact of changes in foreign curreicy exchange rates These contracts are

executed to facilitate the hedging of foreign currency exposures resulting from inventor purchases and sales and

generally have terms of no more than six months Gains or losses on these contracts are deferred and recognized

when the underlying future purchase or sale is recognized or when the corresponding asset or liability is

revalued The Company does not enter into foreign exchange contracts for trading purposes
The risk of loss on

foreign exchange conuact is the risk of nonperformance by the counterparties which the Company minimizes by

limiting its counterparties to major financial institutions The fair value of the foreign exchange contracts is

estimated using market quotes obtained from brokers Level The notional amount of the foreign exchange

contracts at December 31 2008 and 2007 was $75.5 million and $52.1 million respectively The fair value was

nominal at December 31 2008 and 2007

NOTE 17 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Stock Option Extensions

As result of the Companys delay in filing its Exchange Act reports with the SEC the Companys

Registration Statement on Form S-8 cannot he used From 2007 to 2009 the Compensation Comrniuee of the

Board approved the extension of the exercisahilitv of outstanding options to purchase 1.236.778 shares that were

to expire during the period in which no Form S-8 was available to allow for 30-day period to exercise options

after the Company becomes current with its SEC filings
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NOTE 18 SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION UNAUDITED

The tables below summarize unaudited quarterly financial data for the eight quarters in the two-year penod

ended December 31 2008 In the Companys opinion the unaudited quarterly financial data has been prepared

on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements and includes all adjustments consisting onh

of normal recurring adjustments necessary for fair statement of the data for the periods presented The

Company results of operations varied and may continue to fluctuate si nificantly from quarter to quarter The

results of operations in any period should not necessarily he considered indicative of the results to he expected

for any future period

2008

March 31 June 30 September30 December31

in thousands except per share data

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
26.921 36.489 45.394 22.775

Accounts receivable net
524.909 530.868 482.329 435.569

Irnentories
354.125 329.702 315.502 230.652

Prepaid expenses
and other current assets 18.970 21.900 23583 19.779

Total current assets 924.925 918.959 866.808 708775

Property and equipment net 19827 20.147 19.335 19.042

Goodwill
26.722 28.001 26.463 19.211

Other intangibles net
12.138 11289 10.288 9.315

Other long-term assets
16403 15656 15.482 18545

Total assets $1.000015 994.052 938376 774.888

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICIT

Current liabilities

Cash overdraft
25.645 16.876 8.896 10.527

Accounts payable
330571 363.292 345118 264.218

Borrowings underlines of credit
284.072 215.654 251344 211.405

Current portion of long-term debt 10.563 8.395 8.788 10286

Other accrued liabilities
86173 100.538 79.372 94.658

Total current liabilities
737.024 704.755 693.58 591.094

Longterm debt net of current poruon
158.857 190.544 188.294 183.538

Other long-term liabilities
16.870 17.396 17.375 15751

Total liabilities
912.751 912.695 899.187 790.392

Shareholders equity

Common stock
200.019 201.817 201.661 201.701

Accumulated deficit 144.272 151.201 177.540 208.973

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss 30.517 30.741 15.068 8232

Total shareholders equi deficit
87.264 81.357 39.189 15504

Total liabilities and shareholders equity
S1.000.015 994.052 938.376 774.888
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2007

March 31 june 30 September30 December31

in thousands except per share data

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15854 20186 15.296 40.348

Accounts receivable net 499758 499658 531.578 544.137

Inventones 374.711 329.902 360675 424.117

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 21.954 19.428 20.606 17053

Total current assets 912.277 869.174 928155 1.025.655

Property and equipment net 19098 20.126 20.919 20.672

Goodwili 75.251 76.682 78.006 26.214

Other intangibles net 15657 14.808 13.956 13.023

Other long-term assets 22.249 22.013 21.602 16.262

Total assetc $L044.532 $1002803 $l.062.638 $1101826

LIABILITIES AN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Cash overdraft 42.542 39.969 47803 21.627

Accounts payable 336472 305.537 331.973 411.713

Borrowings under lines of credit 216276 202.800 225.886 277428

Current portion of Iting-term debt 8811 13.165 10.080 14508

Other accrued liabilities 106.219 117.398 118.980 103523

Total current liabilities 710320 678.869 734.722 828.799

Long-term debt net of current portion 169449 165.214 164.404 160053

Other long-term liabilities 7247 7.213 7.038 16538

Total liabilities 887.016 851.296 906.164 1.005.390

Common stock 199350 199.759 199.972 200308

Accumulated deficit 66.461 77.916 77261 134.153

Accumulated other comprehensive income 24.627 29664 33.763 30281

Total shareholders equity 157.516 151507 156.474 96436

Total liabilities and shareholders equity $l044.532 51.002803 $1062638 51.101.826
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Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling general and administrative expense

Investigation and restatement-related costs

impairment of goodwiU and other intangibles

Restructuring and impairment costs

Total operating expenses

Operating income loss

Interest expense net

Other expense income net

Loss before income taxes

Provision for benefit from income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per share

Basic

Diluted

Shares used in per
share calculation

Basic

Diluted

Year Ended December 31 2008

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

in thousands except per share data

5993.362 $936.601 $880.730 5768.806

905.953 849.826 797.973 690.303

87.409 86.775 82.757 78.05

80.372 74.439 77.735 74.500

9.013 10.957 16134 16.029

5.864

2.209

1.594

4.185

8017

2.329

9.873

246

10 119

0.31

0.31

72

85.468

1.307

7.276

416

5.553

1.3 75

6.928

0.21

0.21

59

93.928

11171
7.247

8.377

26.795

456

26.339

0.81

0.81

1949

98.342

19837
7.358

4877

32.072

638

31434

0.98

0.98

32.313 32.434 32.380 32070

32.313 32.434 32.380 32.070
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Year Ended December 31 2007

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

in thousands except per share data

Net sales $972287 $92ft681 $988497 51.068.440

Cost of sales 890.523 844896 897.880 976063

Gross profit 81.764 75.785 90.617 92.377

Selling general and administrative expense 70992 72.917 72.290 77.581

Investigation and restatement-related costs 5.723 7.307 6.631 6.667

Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles 52.445

Restructuring and impairment costs 1.203 129 72

Total operating expenses 76715 81.427 79.050 136765

Operating income loss 5049 5.642 11.567 44.388

Interest expense net 9.102 8.017 8.701 8343

Other expense income net 1219 1753 1.253 1.799

Income loss before income taxes 2834 11.906 4.119 54.530

Provision for benefit from income taxes 3122 451 3.464 826

Net income loss 5956 11.455 655 55.356

Net income loss per share

Basic 0.18 0.36 0.02 1.71

Diluted 0.18 0.36 0.02 1.71

Shares used in per share calculation

Basic 32212 32.226 32.270 32.285

Diluted 32.212 32.226 32.740 32.285

Item Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Introduction

During 2007 and 2008 we spent considerable time and resources preparing restated consolidated financial

statements and supporting the audit processes pertaining to the periods Januar\ 1996 to June 30 2006 These

restated financial statements were included in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2006 which was

filed on December 30 2008 Because of extensive efforts required we were unable to remediate identified

material weaknesses We continue to invest significant time and resources in order to remediate weaknesses in

our internal control over financial reporting

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act are designed to ensure that information required to he

disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded processed sunrnmrized and reported

within the time periods specified by the rules promulgated by the SEC and that such information is accumulated

and comniumcated to management including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer as

appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure
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In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K the Company completed an

evaluation as of December 31 2008 under the supervision of and with participation from the Companys

management including the current Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers as to the effectiveness of the

design and operation of the Companys disclosure controls and procedures Based upon this evaluation

management concluded that as of December31 2008 the Companys disclosure controls and procedures were

not effective because of the material weaknesses described below under Managements Report on internal

Control over Financial Reporting

In light of the material weaknesses described below additional analyses and other procedures were

performed to ensure that the Company consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K were prepared in accordance with GAAP These measures included expanded year-end closing

procedures the dedication of significant internal resources and external consultants to scrutinize account analyses

and reconciliations and managements own internal reviews and efforts to remediate the material weaknesses in

internal control over financial reporting described below As result of these measures management concluded

that the Company consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K present

fairly in all material respects the Companys consolidated financial posmon results of operations and cash

flows as of the dates and for the periods presented in conformity with GAAP

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting for the Company as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the Exchange Act

The Companys internal ccmtrol over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for

external reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP

The Companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions

and dispositions of the assets of the Company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP and that receipts

and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and

directors of the Company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of

unauthorized use acquisition or disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the

consolidated financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect every

misstatement Any evaluation of effectiveness is subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may decrease over

time

In making its assessment of the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as

of December 31 2008 management used the criteria established in the internal Control integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO
material weakness is deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting

such that there is reasonable possibility that ntaterial misstatement of the Company annual or interim

consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on time basis Based on the cntena

established by COSO management identified the following material weaknesses in the Companys internal

control over financial reporting as of December31 2008

Control Environment The Company did not maintain an effective control environment which is the

foundation for the discipline and structure necessary for effective internal control over financial

reporting as evidenced by an insufficient number of personnel appropnately qualified to perform

control monitoring activities including the recognition of the risks and complexities of its business



operations ii insufficient resources for information and communication flows commensurate with the

complexity of its organizational and entity structure and iii an insufficient number of personnel with

an appropriate level of GAAP knowledge and experience or training in the application of GAAP

commensurate with the Company financial reporting requirements which resulted in erroneous or

unsupported judgments regarding the proper application of GAAP This control environment material

weakness also contributed to the following additional material weaknesses

Stock-Based Compensation The Company did not have effective controls to ensure the

completeness and accuracy of the accounting for and the disclosure of its stock-based compensation

program

Accrued Liabilities and Reserves The Company did not have effective controls to ensure that

accrued liabilities including accruals for in-transit inventories contingencies insurance premiums

professional services and sponsorships were valid complete and accurate and that reserves for

accounts receivable inventory and estimated uncollectible receivables from vendors for rebates and

other pricing adjustments were valid complete and accurately valued

Account Reconciliations The Company did not have effective controls to ensure that journal

entries and account reconciliations were supported by sufficient documentation and adequately

reviewed on timely basis for validity completeness and accuracy and ii account reconciliations

were performed and reconciling items resolved on timely basis

Accounts Receivable The Company did not have effective controls to ensure the completeness and

accuracy of accounts receivable such that certain accounts receivable credits owed to customers

would he identified reviewed and recognized as income in the appropriate accounting periods and

ii appropriate supporting documentation would be maintained to support adjustments to accounts

recei able credits

Vendor Allowances The Company did not have effective controls to ensure the validity

completeness and accuracy of vendor allowances such that vendor allowances would he recorded

only in connection with final sales transactions and ii appropriate supporting documentation would

exist for vendor allowances

Revenue The Company did not have effective controls to ensure that adequate collectihility

assessments were peiormed prior to recognizing revenue ii revenue and the related costs were

reported in the appropriate accounting period iii revenue was completely and accurately recorded on

net basis with respect to certain third-parry service contracts where the Company was not the primary

ohligor and iv intercompany sales were properly eliminated

Income Taxes The Company did not have effective controls to review and monitor the accuracy

of the components of its income tax provision calculations and related deferred income tax and income

taxes payable related accounts and ii ensure that the rationale for certain tax positions and regulatory

filings was adequately considered documented and communicated

Business Combinations Goodwill Jmpail7nenr and Segment Reporting The Company did not have

effective controls to appropriately account for contingent consideration in business combinations

and ii ensure that its reporting units were properly identified and goodwill was properly allocated

when assessing goodwill for possible impaimient

Financing-Related Accounts The Company did not have effective controls to ensure that

warrants issued in conjunction with certain debt transactions were properly valued and amortized

iimodifications to its debt instruments were accounted for appropriately and iii derivative financial

investments were accounted for in accordance with GAAP

Post-Retirement Benefits The Company did nor have effective controls to ensure that certain

information related to modifications of its Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan was appropriately

communicated to its Finance Department and that the associated liability was completely and

accurately recorded

134



Fixed Asset Dispositions The Company did not have effective controls to ensure that fixed assets

that were either retired or decommissioned were removed from the Companys fixed asset records on

timely basis

Inventory in-Transit The Company did not have effective controls to ensure the inventory in-transit

and the related vendor liability was recorded in the appropriate period

General Computer Controls The Company did not have effective access or change management

controls in one of its computer processing environments

These material weaknesses could result in misstatements of the Companys consolidated financial statement

accounts and disclosures which would result in material misstatement of future annual or interim consolidated

financial statements that would not be prevented or detected on timely basis

As result of these material weaknesses management concluded that the Company did not maintain

effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the criteria established in

Internal Control inte grated Framework issued by the COSO

The Companys assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2008 has been audited by Deloitte Touche LLP an independent registered public accounting

firm as stated in their report which appears herein

Completed and Planned Remediation Actions to Address the Internal Control Weaknesses

In response to the identified material weaknesses the Company has dedicated significant resources to

improving its control environment Management believes that actions taken beginning in 2007 along with other

improvements not yet fully implemented will address the material weaknesses in the Companys internal control

over financial reporting noted above Company management plans to continue to review and make changes to the

overall design of its control environment including the roles and responsibilities within the organization and

reporting structure as well as policies and procedures to improve the overall internal control over financial

reporting In particular
the Company has implemented or plans to implement the measures described below to

remediate the material weaknesses described above

Control Environment The Company is committed to improving its control environment This

commitment has been and will continue to he communicated to and reinforced with every Company

employee As part of this commitment the Company has updated its code of conduct and all

employees will he required to acknowledge their commitment to adhenng to its provisions The

Company will also regularly remind all employees of the availability of its whistleblower hothne

through which employees at all levels can anonymously submit information or express concerns

regarding accounting financial reporting and other irregularities they have become aware of or have

observed In addition management has taken or intends to take the following actions to improve the

Companys control environment

Personnel Matters As part of the initiative to improve its control environment and in response

to the issues identified in the investigation the Company has made certain personnel and

structural changes in the accounting finance and administrative areas including

The hiring of new Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in August 2007

The hiring of an employee in the newly created position of Chief Accounting Officer and

Corporate Controller in March 2008 which replaced the position of \Tce President of

Finance and Corporate Controller

The formation of Legal Department the hiring of Vice President General Counsel and

Corporate Secretary in July 2007 and the hiring of additional personnel in the Lega

Department
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The delegation to the General Counsel of the responsibility for managing and administeriiis

the Companys equity award granting process

The hiring of employees in the newly created positions of Director of GAAP and SEC

Reporting and SEC Reporting Manager

The addition of three professionals in its Internal Audit Department

Emploiee Training The Company is establishing Company-wide training to enhance awareness

and understanding of standards and principles for accounting and financial reporting This training

will include

Comprehensive training programs
for all finance personnel at the manager level and above

covering fundamental accounting and fmancial reporting matters including GAAP

accounting principles revenue recognition reserve and accrual accounting and purchase

accounting

Quarterly training programs for key finance personne led by the Chief Financial Officer

Chief Accounting Officer or Director of GAAP and SEC Reporting covering accounting

issues requiring substantial judgment documentation requirements and accounting policies

and procedures

financial leadership training program led by the Chief Financial Officer covering

worldwide financial management issues debriefings on all restatement items financial issues

requiring substantial judgment and new accounting policies and procedures

The Company expects that its tra programs will be implemented during the latter part of 2009

and in early 2010

Policies and Procedures The Company has implemented or will he implementing and/or

enhancing number of key accounting and fmance-related policies and procedures including with

respect to foreign-currency translations revenue recognition reserve and accrual analysis

consignment inventory accounts receivable vendor allowances and the preparation of the

statement of cash flows The Company expects that these policies and procedures will he

implemented during 2009

Sock-Based Compensation In 2007 the Board amended the Charter of the Compensation

Committee to clarify its duties and responsibilities and ii adopted and the Company implemented

new equity award policy defining the responsibilities of the Compensation Committee in its oversight

of the Companys stock option grant practices and clarifying the administration of equity awards Key

features of the equity award policy include

All awards to employees will be granted by the Compensation Committee or recommended by the

Compensation Committee to the Board

All awards to directors other than automatic awards under Company equity plans will he granted

by the Board

Awards will normally he considered at regularly scheduled Committee or Board meetings but

may also he considered at special meetings or as action taken by unanimous written consent of the

Compensation Committee or Board

The exercise price of all stock options shall he equal to or greater than the closing price of the

Companys common stock on the grant date

Minutes will he prepared and circulated promptly following all meetings of the Board and its

Committees

Accrued Liabilities and Reseries and 4ccou.ni Reconciliations The Company is improving its

implementing procedures to ensure that all required account balances including accrued liabilities and
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reserves are appropriately reconciled in timely manner and that journal entries are properly prepared

and approved The Company expects that these improvements and procedures will he substantially

implemented by December 31 2009

.4ccounts Receivable The Company is implementing revised policy regarding the accounting for

accounts receivable credits The Company expects this policy to he fully implemented in 2009

Vendor Allowances The Company is implementing
revised policy and related procedures to

ensure vendor allowances are only recorded in connection with final sales transactions and

tii supporting documentation is maintained for all vendor allowances recorded The Company expects

this policy and revised procedures to be fully implemented in 2009

Revenue The Company is updating and enhancing its policies and procedures related to revenue

recognition The Company expects that these policies and procedures will be implemented dunng

2009

income Taxes The Company is establishing additional control processes for the accurate and timely

accounting for income taxes The Company expects that these improvements and procedures will he

implemented during 2009

Business Combinations Goodwill impairment and Segment Reporting The Company is establishing

additional control processes for the accurate and timely accounting for business combinations

goodwill and goodwill impairment analyses and segment reporting The Company expects that these

improvements and procedures will be implemented during 2009

Financing -Related Accounts The Company is implementing additional policies procedures and

documentation retnhtidnrquitthenti ehsufe dppropfiatº adeciunting fOr fihaiiciO-related

transactions such as warrant and derivative transactions and modifications to its debt instruments The

Company expects that these improvements and procedures will be implemented during 2009

Posi-R eli remnent Benefits The Company is updating and enhancing its key accounting and finance

policies and procedures related to post-retirement
benefits The Company expects that these policies

and procedures will be implemented during 2009

Fixed Asset Dispositions The Company is implementing enhanced procedures in several locations to

ensure that fixed assets that are either disposed of or decommissioned are removed from the

Companys fixed asset records and that the appropriate accounting entries are recorded on timely

basis The Company expects that these policies and procedures will be implemented during 2009

inveniom-m in-Transit The Company is implementing additional procedures to ensure that inventory

items shipped by vendors are recorded by the Company upon
the passage of title The Company

expects these procedures to be fully implemented in 2009

General Computer Controls The Company is implementing access and change management

controls in the affected environment The Company expects these controls to he fully implemented in

2009

Management is committed to implementing its remediation action plan to remediate the material

weaknesses discussed above Management intends to continue to monitor the effectiveness of these actions and

will make changes that management determines appropriate

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except as described in Managements Repor on internal Control oier Financial Reporting and Completed

and Planned Remediation .4crions to Address the Internal Control Weaknesses there were no changes in the

Company internal control over financial reporting that occurred during any fiscal quarter in 2008 or 2007 that

have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company internal control over

financial reporting

137



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Bell Microproducts Inc

San Jose California

We have audited Bell Microproducts Inc and subsidiaries the Company internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The

Company management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for

its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based

on that risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe

that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision of

the companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions and

effected by the companys hoard of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of

collusion or improper management override of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud may not he

prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal

control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures ma
deteriorate

material weakness is deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial

reporting such that there is reasonable possibility that material misstatement of the companys annual or

interim financial statements will not he prevented or detected on timely basis The following material

weaknesses have been identified and included in managements assessment control environment stock-based

compensation accrued liabilities and reserves account reconciliations accounts receivable vendor allowances

revenue income taxes business combinations goodwill impairment and segment reporting financing-related

accounts post-retirement benefits fixed asset dispositions inventory in-transit and general computer controls

These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature timing and extent of audit tests applied in

our audit of the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended

December 31 2008 of the Company and this report does not affect our report on such financial statements and

financial statement schedule

138



In our opinion because of the effect of the material weaknesses identified above on the achievement of the

objectives of the control criteria the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year

ended December 31 2008 of the Company and our report dated June 28 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion

on those financial statements and financial statement schedule

Is Deloitte Touche LLP

San Jose California

June 28 2009

Item 9B Other Information

N/A

PART IH

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Executive Officers and Directors

The foUowing table and descriptions identify and set forth information regarding our executive officers and

directors as of May 31 2009

I4 Donald Bell has been the Companys President and Chief Executive Officer and member of the Board

since the Company was founded in 1987 Mr Bell has over forty years of experience in the electronics industry

He was formerly the President of Ducommun Inc and its subsidiary Kierulif Electronics hic. as well as

Electronic Artays Inc He has also held senior management positions at Texas Instruments Incorporated

American Microsystems and other electronics companies

4ndrevi Hughes has been our Vice President General Counsel and Corporate Secretary since July 2007

Mr Hughes previously served as Vice President General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of LSI Logic

Name

Donald Bell

Andrew Hughes

Richard Jacquet

William Meyer

Robert Sturgeon

Graeme Watt

Gordon Campbell

Eugene Chaiken

David Ernsberger

Edward Gelbach

Peter Haneli

James Ousley

Glenn Penisten

Mark Sanders

Age Position

71 President Chief Executive Officer and Director

43 Vice President General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

69 Senior Vice President Human Resources

47 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

55 Vice President Operations and Chief Information Officer

48 President Worldwide Distribution

65 Director

68 Director

63 Director

77 Director

64 Director

63 Chairman of the Board

77 Director

65 Director
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Corporation provider of semiconductors and storage systems from May 2006 to April 2007 He joined LSI

Logic in November 2000 and was manager of LSI Logics commercial law group and assistant corporate

secretary prior to being promoted to General Counsel Prior to joining LSI Logic Mr Hughes was division

counsel for Harris Corporation from 1998 to 2000

Richard .Jacquet has been our Senior \Tice President Human Resources since May 2003 pnor to which

he served as our Vice President Human Resources since joining the Company in May 2000 From 1988 to

May 2000 Mr Jacques served as Vice President of Administration of Ampex Corporation an electronics

manufacturing company Prior to 1988 Mr Jacquet served in various senior human resource positions with

Harris Corporation and FMC Corporation

William Meyer has been our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since August 2007

Previously he was managing director of Financial Intelligence LLC provider of project-based financial

consulting services from June 2006 to August 2007 Prior to that Mr Meyer served as the Executive Vice

President and Chief Financial Officer of BroadVision Inc. provider of enterprise web applications from

April 2003 until June 2006 Prior to joining BroadVision Mr Meyer was Chief Financial Officer of Mainsoft

Corporation from April 2001 to March 2003 publisher of cross-platform development software Before

Mainsoft he held senior finance positions with Phoenix Technologies inSilicon Corporation and Arthur

Andersen Co

Robert Sturgeon has been our Vice President Operations and Chief Information Officer since July 2000

prior to which he served as our Vice President of Operations since joining the Company in 992 From

January 1991 to February 1992 Mr Sturgeon was Director of Information Services for Disney Home Video

Prior to that time Mr Sturgeon served as Management Information Services MIS Director for Paramount

Pictures Home Video Division front June 1989 to January 1991 and as Marketing Manager for MTI Systems

division of Arrow Electronics Inc. from January 1988 to June 1989 Other positions Mr Sturgeon has held

include Executive Director of MIS for Duconimun Inc where he was responsible for ten divisions including

Kierulif Electronics

Graeme Watt has been our President Worldwide Distribution since May 2008 He served as President Bell

Micro Europe from April 2004 until his promotion in May 2008 Prior to joining the Company itt April 2004

Mr Watt served in several IT distribution companies from 1988 to 2004 He served with Tech Data Corporation

most recently as their President of Europe and Middle East from August 2000 to October 2003 Previously he

served as Tech Datas Regional Managing Director in Europe He was also previously entployed at Computer

2000 Frontline Distribution and First Software

Gordon Campbell has served as one of our directors since May 1988 Mr Campbell is an executive

director at Techfarm Ventures provider of private equity capital for new technology companies and has been

since he founded Techfarnt in 1993 Mr Campbell has founded and been involved in the start-up of numerous

Silicon Valley companies including SEEQ Technologies Inc CHIPS and Technologies Inc. semiconductor

and related device company 3dfx Interactive and Cobalt Networks Mr Campbell currently serves as director

of Palm Inc. mobile products company

Eugene Chaik.en has served as one of our directors since November 1998 Mr Chaiken has served since

1973 as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Almo Corporation ntajor appliance consumer

electronics and wire and cable distribution company

David Ernsherger has served as one of our directors since June 2002 Mr Emsberger has served as

President of Emsberger Paruterships Inc consulting and investments company since founding it in 2001

Front 1994 to 2001 Mr Emsherger served as Group Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Support for IBM

Technology Group Mr Ernsherger served as President and Chief Executive Officer of SkillSet Software Inc

front 1993 to 1994 From 1967 to 1993 Mr Emsberger held various senior executive positions with IBM

Corporation
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Edward Geibach has served as one of our directors since March 1993 Mr Gelbach served as Senior Vice

President and director of Intel Corporation from 971 to 1988 Mr Gelbach has been an independent investor

since 1989

Peter Haneli was elected as one of our directors in October 2008 Mr Hanelt has been self-employed

business consultant since November 2003 He served as Chief Operating Officer of The Good Guys regional

consumer electronics retailer from December 2001 through Juy 2003 and through October 2003 as

consultant From October 1998 to June 2001 Mi Hanelt served as Chief Executive Officer and director of

Natural Wonders Inc. national specialty retailer of nature and science-related merchandise Mr Hanelt is also

director of publicly traded Silicon 1.rnage Inc. developer of semiconductor products currently serving as its

Chairman of the Board and Bidz.com Inc He is also director of Andronico Markets Inc. Coast Asset

Management LLC and InterHealth Nutraceuticals Inc all privately
held companies and on the boards of

Catholic Healthcare West and Pateico Credit Union both not-for-profit entities

James Ouslev has served as one of our directors since February 1998 and was our Lead Independent

Director from April 2007 to March 2009 In March 2009 he was appointed to serve as the Chairman of the

Board Mr Ousley served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Vytek Inc. wireless intettration

company from September 2000 until April 2004 when Vytek merged with California Amplifier Inc. now

known as CalAmp Corp From August 1999 to October 2000 Mr Ousley was President Chief Executive Officer

and Chairman of Syntegra U.S.A Inc From August 1992 to August 1999 Mr Ousley was President and Chief

Executive Officer of Control Data Systems From February 1990 to July 1992 Mr Ousley was Executive Vice

President of Ceridian Corporation From May 1989 to February 1990 Mr Ousley was President of Ceridians

Computer Products business From January 1989 to April 1989 Mr Ousley was Vice President Marketing and

Sales for Ceridians Computer Products business Mr Ousey is currently director of Actividentit Inc.

security software company and Datalink Corporation an information storage company Mr Ousley also

currently serves as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Savvis Inc. an IT utility services provider

Glenn Penisien has served as one of our directors since May 988 and served as our Lead Independent

Director from February 2003 until April 2007 Since 1985 Mr Penisten has served as General Partner of Alpha

Venture Partners venture capital fund

Mark Sanders has served as one of our directors since August 2003 Mr Sanders served as President and

Chief Executive Officer of Pinnacle Systems Inc from January 1990 to July 2002 and as its Chairman of the

Board from July 2002 to March 2004 Prior to that time Mr Sanders served in variety of management

positions most recently as Vice President and General Manager of the Recording Systems Division of Ampex

Corporation manufacturer of video broadcast equipment Mr Sanders is currently Chairman of the Board of

Directors of LookSmart Ltd. search advertising network and management company

Former Executive Officer

James Jilson served as our Chief Operating Officer and President of Americas from November 2005 until

his resignation from these positions in June 2008 He also served as our Chief Financial Officer from

September 2002 until August 2007 Mr lilson remained full-time employee through August 2008 and served as

consultant to the Company through May 2009 Mr lIlson is no longer affiliated with the Company

Audit Committee

As of May 31 2009 our Audit Committee consisted of Peter Hanelt Chairman Eugene Chaiken

James Ousley and Glenn Penisten each of whom satisfies the definition of independence as set forth in

the Marketplace Rules of The NASDAQ Stock Market As set forth in its charter the Audit Committee was

established to oversee our financial statements accounting and other policies accounting systems and system of
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internal controls The Audit Committee has adopted policy setting forth its procedures with respect to the

independence engagement evaluation and rotation of our independent auditors as well as the pre-approval of all

audit and non-audit services to he provided by our independent auditors The Board has determined that

Mr Hanelt is an audit committee financial expert as defined by kent 407d5 of Regulation S-K under the

Securities Act of 1933 We acknowledge that the designation of Mr Haneh as an audit comrruttee financial

expert does not impose on Mr Hanelt any duties obligations or liabilities that are creater than the duties

obligations or liabilities imposed on other members of the Audit Committee and the Board in the absence of

such designation

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a of the Exchange Act requires that our directors certain of our officers and beneficial owners

of more than 10% of our common stock file reports of their securities ownership and changes in their ownership

with the SEC of our securities that are beneficially owned by them Such persons are also required by SEC rules

to furnish us with copies of all Section 16a forms they file

Based solely on our review of copies of Forms and and amendments thereto furnished to us pursuant to

Rule 16a-3e and Forms and amendments thereto furnished to us with respect to the 2008 and 2007 fiscal

years and any written representations refened to in Item 405b2i of Regulation S-K stating that no Forms

were required we believe that during the year ended December 31 2007 all Section 16a filing requirements

applicable to our officers directors and 10% shareholders were timely filed During the year ending

December 31 2008 all Section 16a filing requirements applicable to our officers directors and

10% shareholders were complied with except that in March 2008 through an oversight each of Mr Bell and

Mr Ousley filed required Form reporting one transaction for each individua two days late

Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct

Code of Ethics Our Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Controller have all

signed our Code of Ethics The Code of Ethics addresses such topics as acting with honesty and integrity

avoiding conflicts of interest providing full fair timely and accurate disclosure in our public communications

including our filings with the SEC and compliance with the rules and regulations of governmental and regulatory

agencies The Code of Ethics is available free of charge on our website at www.bellmicro.com and in print to

any shareholder who sends request for paper copy to Bell Microproducts Inc. Attn Investor Relations 1941

Ringwood Avenue San Jose California 95131-1721 We intend to include on our website any amendment to or

waiver from provision of the Code of Ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial

Officer or Corporate Controller that relates to any elements of the code of ethics definition enumerated in

Item 406 of Regulation S-K

Code of Conduct All employees including our executive officers and directors are provided copy of our

Code of Conduct This Code of Conduct addresses protection and proper use of our assets compliance with

applicable laws and regulations accuracy and preservation of records accounting and financial reporting

conflicts of interest insider trading and other related policies The Code of Conduct is available free of charge on

our website at www.bellnticro.com and in print to any shareholder who sends request for paper copy to the

address set forth above

Ethics I-Jot Line We have hot line managed by third party that gives all employees way to

confidentially and anonymously report any actua or perceived unethical behavior or violations or suspected

violations of our Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct Until February 2009 the hot line was accessed by

telephone only but at that time we upgraded the hot line to include both telephone and email communications in

order to make it easier for employees to report suspected violations of our Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct
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Shareholder Nominations of Directors

There have been no material changes to the procedures by which shareholders may recommend nominees to

the Board Shareholders who wish to recommend one or more directors must pro\de wntten recommendation

to our Corporate Secretary Pursuant to our bylaws the notice for nomination of directors must include the

following the shareholders intent to nominate one or more persons
for election as director of the Company

the name of each such nominee proposed by the shareholder giving the notice and the reason for making such

nomination at the annual meeting the name and address as they appear on the Companys hooks of the

shareholder proposing such nomination and the beneficial owner if any on whose behalf the nomination is

proposed Cc the class and number of shares of the Company that are owned beneficially and of record by the

shareholder proposing such nomination and by the beneficial owner if any on whose behalf the nomination is

proposed any material interest of such shareholder proposing such nomination and the beneficial owner if

any on whose behalf the proposal is made description of au arrangements or understandings between or

among any of the shareholder giving the notice ii each nominee and in any other person or persons

naming such person or persons pursuant to which the nomination or nominations are to be made by the

shareholder giving the notice such other information regarding each nominee proposed by the shareholder

giving the notice as would he required to he included in proxy statement filed in accordance with the proxy

rules of the SEC had the nominee been nominated or intended to be nominated by the Board and the signed

consent of each nominee proposed the shareholder giving the notice to serve as director of the Company if

so elected We may require any prospective nominee to furnish additional information that may he needed to

determine the eligibility of the prospective nominee

Item ii Executive Compensation

Compensation Discussion Analysis

This section discusses the principles and objectives underlying our executive compensation policies and

decisions and the most important factors relevant to an analysis of these policies and decisions It provides

qualitative information regarding the manner and context in which compensation is awarded to and earned by our

named executive officers those officers listed in the summary compensation tables below as of

December 31 2007 and December 31 2008 and places in perspective
the data presented in the tables and

narrative that follow

For purposes of annual cash variable compensation we compared unaudited financial performance
for each

quarter of 2007 and 2008 against the financial plan for the particular quarter Participants were paid portion of

their annual incentive based on achievement of their financial goals for that quarter relative to plan We did not

make interim payments for achievement above 100% of plan After the close of the fiscal year and completion of

our financial audit with respect to such year financial performance for the year was compared to the financial

plan for the year to determine the amount of incentive each executive earned due to financial performance which

occurred immediately prior to the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Compensation Philosophy and Guiding Principles and Objectives for Executive Compensation

We operate in an intensely competitive environment in which our success depends on assembling and

maintaining leadership team with the integrity skills and dedication needed to manage dynamic organization

and the vision to anticipate and respond quickly to market developments We use our executive compensation

program to help us meet these competitive challenges As described below portions of our executive

compensation program have been designed to enable us to recruit and retain group of executives who have the

individual and collective abilities necessar\ to run our business successfully Other portions of our compensation

program are intended to focus our executives on achieving financial results that enhance the value of

our shareholders investment At the same time we hive structured the program to he flexible so that we can

meet the changing needs of our business over time
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Our overarching compensation philosophy is that our profit performance and execution must drive executive

pay in particular we believe that rewards must reflect and reinforce our focus on financial management and

bottom line performance To this end our executive compensation program is guided by the following three

objectives

We strive to link short-term rewards directly and substantially to measurable corporate and individual

performance Although we provide our executive officers with competitive base salary in order to

motivate each of our executive officers to achieve his or her potential certain components of our total cash

compensation package are dependent on Company-wide or business unit profitability and individual

performance and are therefore at risk Our annual variable cash compensation program primarily consists

of our Management Incentive Plan and our Strategic Initiatives Plan Each of our executive officers is

eligible to participate in our Management incentive Plan which is designed to reward our executives for

meeting and exceeding Company-wide and business unit quantitative financial and operational objectives

such as goals related to our pro forina earnings pro forma EPS net income business unit pre-tax profit

BU Profit operating contribution return on equity net income divided by shareholders equity

ROE return on invested capital or return on working capital this metnc is calculated by dividing

working capital which is accounts receivable plus inventor minus accounts payable by pre-tax profit

ROWC The Management Incentive Plan also encourages executives to improve qualitative aspects of

individual and Company performance by providing financial incentives upon the satisfaction of

management objectives MBOs In addition our senior executive officers who have global responsibilit\

within our Company and therefore have considerable influence on our strategic direction and long-term

results are eligible to participate itt our Strategic initiatives Plan which is designed to reward these

executives for the achievement of specified strategic objectives We believe that our approach of linking

short-terni rewards to measurable corporate and individual performance increases the likelihood -that we will

experience sustained profitability and generate greater shareholder value over time while providing our

executive officers with the opportunity to be suitably and significantly rewarded

We seek to provide long-term rewards based on creating shareholder value in addition to base salary and

annual cash incentives we utilize long-term equity incentives to motivate our executives to

increase shareholder value We have historically provided long-term equity incentives in the form of stock

options and restricted stock units RSU although we often tie the granting of RSTJs to achievement of

goals related to financial performance Meaningful equity opportunities are provided to those executive

officers who are most responsible for driving our financial and operating results Actual awards reflect

individual performance and our goal to retain valued employees Generally as an executive officers

responsibility and ability to impact our financial performance increases the individuals at risk

performance-based compensation increases as portion of his or her total compensation Moreover the ratio

of long-term to short-term compensation increases proportionately with job responsibility Ultimately

individuals with greater roles and responsibilities associated with achieving our performance targets should

bear greater proportion of the risk if those goals are not achieved and should receive greater proportion

of the reward if the goals are met or surpassed

We .ciriie to provide competitive compensation to attract motivate and retain top talent In order to

attract motivate and retain executives of outstanding ability we establish salary levels and total

compensation opportunities that are competitive with the market in which we compete for management

talent This supports our objective of attracting and retaining high-quality executives and ensures that the

overall economic cost of compensation is reasonable and therefore sustainable in relation to our peers The

Compensation Committee of the Board the Compensation Committee which oversees our executive

compensation program worked with Compensia Inc. an executive compensation consulting firm in late

2007 to update and reaffirm our list of peer benchmark companies and to compare the level of

compensation for our executives with executives holding similar positions at these peer benchmark

companies The Compensation Committee has determined that it will utilize the services of an outside

consultant to analyze executive compensation every other year
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The Compensation Committee evaluates these three objectives regularly to ensure that they are consistent

with our goals and needs We believe that by implementing these measures and programs we are able to

reinforce our goal of maintaining results-oriented culture that provides above-target rewards only when

performance is also above-target Thus we believe that the interests of our executives are directly aligned with

those of our shareholders as the financial success of both is contingent upon performance

Oversight and Authority over Executive Compensation

The responsibility for matters relating to our executive compensation program has been delegated by the

Board to the Compensation Committee which is comprised of three independent directors each of whom

satisfies the definition of independence as set forth in the Marketplace Rules of The NASDAQ Stock Market

The members of the Compensation Committee as of May 31 2009 were David Ernsberger Chairman

Gordon Campbell and Mark Sanders

Our compensation structure is designed so that Donald Bell our President and Chief Executive Officer

evaluates the performance of each of our other executive officers includmg the named executive officers other

than himself and works with the Compensation Committee to help set the compensation for each of them The

Compensation Committee has the authority to adjust Mr Bells recommendations as it deems appropriate after

evaluating all of the information that the Compensation Committee believes is relevant to implementing the

guiding objectives for compensation programs discussed above In 2007 and 2008 the Compensation Committee

approved substantially all of Mr Beif recommendations regarding the compensation of the other executive

officers Mr Bell does not give recommendations regarding his own salary or performance Rather the

Compensation Committee determines his compensation after discussing with him his performance against his

written goals for the year In addition the Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing and

recommending the compensation elements to the full Board for the non-employee members of our Board

Peer Group and Benchmarking

The Compensation Committee worked with Compensia in late 2007 to review and make recommendations

regarding our executive compensation program including review of the gwding objectives and the completion

of detailed competitive total direct compensation assessment As part of this analysis the Compensation

Committee selected peer benchmark companies by identifying IT distributors contract manufacturers and broad-

based high-tech suppliers that had revenues between one-quarter and four times the level of our revenues These

peer
benchmark companies were

IT Distributors Contract MaDufacturers Broad.Based High.Tech Supphers

Arrow Electronics lnc Benchmark Electronics Inc Advanced Micro Devices Inc

Avnet Inc Jabil Circuit Inc Applied Matenals lnc

CDW Corporatiort Plexus Corp EMC Corporation

insight Enterprises inc Sanntina-SCI Corporation LSI Corporation

PC Connection Inc Network Appliance inc

SYNNEX Corporation
SanDisk Corporation

Seagate Technology5

Sun Microsystems inc.5

Western Digital Corporation5

Denotes the custom data sort of the Companys peers as discussed in the paragraph below

in 2007 we henchmarked our executive compensation practices for our CEO and other named executive

officers by evaluating the base salary annual incentive awards and long-term incentives provided to our

executives against these peer benchmark companies We extracted the data from publicly available sources

including information contained in the proxy statements of these companies In addition to analyzing the publicly
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available data for our peer benchmark companies we also reviewed the results of the Radford September 2007

High Technology Industry Survey which included custom data sort of 13 of our 19 peer benchmark companies

and the Radford September 2007 High Technology Industry International Compensation Survey We then

compared the actuaJ base salary and annual cash incentives for our executive officers to those of our peer

benchmark companies

The Compensation Committee targets cash and equity compensation for our named executive officers at the

median of our peer benchmark companies The benchmark analysis showed that with respect to 2007 base

salaries our CEO and other named executive officers had collective salary that was 101% of the 50th percentile

of our peer benchmark companies In other words the collective base salaries of our named executive officers

were above the median level of our peer benchmark companies The total target cash compensatrnn base

salary plus bonus opportunity of our named executive officers was at the 50 percentile of the total target cash

compensation of the benchmark companies

We did not analyze the compensation practices of the benchmark companies during 2008 as it has been the

Compensation Committees practice to conduct this analysis every other year

Elements of Executive Compensation Program

We have developed an executive compensation program consisting of four main elements base salary

annual variable cash compensation long-terni equity incentives and other compensation and benefits

each of which is detailed below We view the components of compensation as related but distinct as we do not

believe that significant compensation derived from one component of compensation should necessarily negate or

reduce compensation from other components Each element is intended to reward and motivate executives in

different ways consistent with our overall guiding objectives for compensation For example in order to foster

our belief in creating shareholder value we provide long-term equity incentives that will encourage key

executives to work to create lasting revenue and earnings growth Similarly we use annual vanable cash

compensation to motivate and reward executives for improvements to short-term organizational profits and other

strategic objectives The principles that total compensation should increase wth position and responsihht\ and

that compensation should be tied to performance are reflected by the fact that portion of each element of our

executive compensation program vanes with position level of responsibility and achievement of individual and

Company performance targets

Base Salary

We seek to provide our executive officers and other key executives with base salary targeted at the median

range of salary levels for equivalent positions at our peer benchmark companies in order to balance our ability to

attract high performing individuals with our desire to keep compensation expenses in line with other companies

In setting base salaries each year the Compensation Committee also considers the scope of responsibility for

each position individual contributions during the preceding year changes in position or responsibility internal

equity for established pay levels business factors and changes in our strategies and philosophies Each executi\e

officers actual salary ultimately depends on the individuals performance responsibilities experience

leadership and potentia future contribution

The base salaries for our named executive officers in 2007 were as shown in the Summary Compensaton

Table for 2007 Except for Messrs IlIson and Sturgeon the base salaries for our named executive officers in

2007 remained unchanged from the salaries in effect at the end of 2006 In 2002 when Mr IlIson was hired by

the Company his initial compensation was reduced by $15000 to pay for his commuting and lodging expenses

associated with his travel to and from his home in Southern California and his office in Northern California In

July 2007 the $15000 was added back to his base salary thus increasing his salary from $450000 per year to

$465000 per year In the case of Mr Sturgeon his annual base salary was increased in 2007 by $15000 from

$215000 to $230.000 to recognize his assumption of responsibility for operations outside of North Amenca
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As result of the henchinarking analysis conducted in 2007 it was determined that the base salaries for

Messrs Bell Ilison Meer Jacquet Sturgeon and Watt were 88% 104% 89% 89% 81% and 165%

respectively of the 50th percentile of the base salaries of executives holding comparable positions at our peer

benchmark companies The Compensation Committee determined not to change the base salaries of these

executive officers for 2008

Annual Cash Variable Compensation

Our annual variable cash compensation program
consists of our Management Incentive Plan and our

Strategic initiatives Plan in addition the Compensation Committee has the authority to award discretionary

bonuses when they believe it is appropriate The goal of our annual cash variable compensation program
is to

link short-term rewards directly and substantially to measurable corporate and individual performance

Management Incentive Plan

We designed the Management incentive Plan to provide cash incentives to our named executive officers and

other key executives based on the achievement of certain financial objectives as well as individual performance

goals We believe it is important to provide cash incentives to motivate our executive officers and other key

executives to attain specific short-term performance objectives that in turn further our long-term objectives

This plan ensures that significant portion of each executives cash compensation is at risk and payable only

when our shareholders have also benefited from their efforts

The Compensation Committee upon the recommendation of our Chief Executive Officer is responsible for

approving the annual Company-wide financial and individual goals under the Management Incentive Plan and

establishing target incentive levels that will cause total compensation for each executive position to be in the

median range of total compensation levels for equivalent positions at our peer benchmark companies

portion of the available award under the Management Incentive Plan is conditioned upon the achievement

of Company financial objectives As determined by the Compensation Committee the financial objectives may

he one or more of the following

Pro forina earnings per share EPS
Pro forma net income

BU Profit

Operating contribution

ROE

Return on invested capital at the business unit level this metric is calculated by dividing

investments and intercompany loans by pre-tax profit at the corporate level after-tax profit is

used instead of pre-tax profit or

ROWC

The remaining portion of the target incentive amount is conditioned upon the achievement of individual

M.BOs that vary among our executives based on their position Each executive must submit his or her individual

MBOs in writing at the beginning of the \ear The submission must include statement of the objective the

delivery date and the expected result If there is more than one objective each objective will he weighted equally

unless the objective states otherwise For 2007 and 2008 Mr Bell reviewed and approved of each of the other

named executives M..BOs prior to their submission to the Compensation Committee The Compensation

Committee approved
the MBOs of Mr Bell and the other named executives

For 2007 the Management incentive Plan was an annual plan with possible payments to participants at the

end of each fiscal quarter once financial results for the quarter had been finalized We compared unaudited
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financial performance for the quarter against the financiaJ plan for the quarter Participants were paid portion of

their annual incentive based on achievement of their financial goals for that quarter relative to plan however we

did not make interim payments for achievement above 100% of plan After the close of the fiscal year and

completion of our financial audit with respect to such year financial performance for the year was compared to

the financial plan for the year to determine the amount of incentive each executive earned due to financia

performance which occurred immediately prior to the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K The tota

incentives earned for the year based on an achievement of financial goals and completion of MBOs less the

amount of quarterly payments was made to the participants following approval by the Compensation Committee

In the event the year-end reconciliation indicates an overpayment because goal was met for particular

quarter but not the full year we do not generally require reimbursement from the participant however that

overpayment generally would be offset by any other sums due under the Management Incentive Plan for that

iear

For 2008 the Management Incentive Plan operated in similar manner to the 2007 plan except that the

Compensation Committee modified the plan to provide for separate first half plan that allowed for possible

payments at the end of the first quarter and final reconciliation at the end of the first half and second-half

plan that allowed for possible payments at the end of the third quarter and final reconciliation at the end of the

second half

Typically incentive payouts are in the form of cash However the Compensation Conmtittee has discretion

to make payments in cash RSUs or combination thereof

For 2007 actual performance with respect to the BPS BU Profit and ROWC goals resulted in payouts

dependent on the percentage of achievement of such financial objectives as shown here

Percentage of Financial Metric Achieved Percentage of incenlive Eaceed

Less than 80% 0%

80% 25%

90%

100% 100%

Greater than 100% Same percentage as overachievenient of

financial metrics

Use straight-line interpolation between metrics for calculations above 80% and below 100% achievement

In mid-2007 the Compensation Committee determined that it was appropriate to change the payout

calculation chart to reflect greater amount of incentive for achieving above 80% hut below 100% of the

financial metrics and allowed for payments of up to 200% of the target incentive for achievement that was 50%

or above of the targeted financial performance The Compensation Committee modified the payout percentages

for the third and fourth quarters of 2007 as shown here

Percentage of Financial Metric Achieved Percentage of hicentive Earned

Less than 80% 0%

80% 50%

100% 100%

150% or greater 200%

Use straight-line interpolation between metrics
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Since the 2007 Management Incentive Plan was an annual plan with possihie quarterly payments and at the

close of the year
the amount of incentive earned was based on the entire year the Compensation Committee

determined that it was appropriate to use the following chart for the 2007 year-end reconciliation of financial

achievement

Percentage of Financial Metric Achieved Percentage of incenlive Earned

Less than 80% 0%

80% 40%

100% 100%

150%orgreater 180%

Use straight-line interpolation between metrics

For 2008 the Compensation Committee adopted the following payout calculation chart

Percentage of Financial Metric Achieved Percentage of incentive Earned

Less than 80%

80% 50%

100% 100%

150% or creater 200%

Use straight-line interpolation between metrics

The following tables show for each named executive officer his target incentive opportunity for each

component of the Management Incentive Plan for 2007 and 2008

2007

Total

Target

EPS EU Profit ROWC MBOs Award

Donald Bell 5253.000 $253.000 5126.500 5632.500

James lilson 108.000 108.000 54.000 270.000

Willian Meyer 40.174 40.174 20.087 100434

Richard Jacquet
22.200 22.200 66.600 111.000

Robert Sturgeon
25.000 50000 50.000 125.000

Graeme Watt 114.000 114.000 57.000 285.000

Mr Meyef target incentive for 2007 was prorated from his August 2007 hire date The Compensation

Committee determined as part of his offer of employment that Mr Meyer incentive compensation for

2007 would he paid at 100% of target regardless of financial results

21 All amounts for Mr Watt have been converted from British pounds to U.S dollars using an exchange rate of

52.00/fl .00 which was the average British pound to U.S dollar exchange rate during 2007

2008

Total

BU Target

EPS Profit ROWC MBOs Award

Donald Bell 5253.000 5253.000 5126.500 $632500

William Meyer 80.000 80.000 40.000 200.000

James lilson 108.000 108000 54.000 270.000

Andrew Hughes 21 24.000 24.000 72.000 120.000

Richard J.Jacquet
22.200 22.200 66600 111.000

Graente Watt 66.262 66.262 132.525 265.050
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Mr Meyer was asked to devote the majority of his time on the restatement of the Companys financial

statements and not on the Companys financial objectives for 2008 Therefore the Compensation

Committee determined that Mr Meyers incentive compensation for 2008 would be paid at 100% of target

regardless of financial results

Mr Hughes was asked to devote the majority of his time on the restatement of the Company financial

statements and not on the Companys financial objectives for 2008 Therefore the Compensation

Committee determined that Mr Hughes incentive compensation for 2008 would he paid at 100% of target

regardless of financial results

In conjunction with Mr Watts pending relocation from the U.K to the U.S. the Compensation Committee

made one-time 4500 adjustment to his second half management incentive Additionally for 2008 onh
the Compensation Committee approved one-time change in Mr Watts incentive plan mix of performance

men-ics from 40% pre-tax profit performance 40% ROWC performance and 20% MBOs to 25% pre-tax

profit performance 25% ROWC performance and 50% MBOs All amounts for Mr Watt have been

converted from British pounds to U.S dollars using an exchange rate of $1.86/fl .00 which was the average

British pound to U.S dollar exchange rate during 2008

The Company was unable to complete our audited financial statements for the years ended December 31

2008 and 2007 in timely maimer because of issues related to the investigations that led to the restatement of the

Companys historical financial statements As result the time necessary to complete the financial statements

for 2007 took significantly longer than initially anticipated Because of concerns regarding employee morale and

related retention issues the Compensation Committee decided in mid-2008 to make incentive payments for 2007

and other periods to participants in the Management Incentive Plan including our named executive officers In

determining these award payments the Compensation Committee reviewed the then-available preliminary

financial statements for 2007 In addition due to the significant delay in the payment of incentive awards the

Compensation Committee approved additional payments in the nature of interest at rate of three percent per

annum from the date the 2007 awards typically would have been paid to the actual date of the payments The

Compensation Committee also determined to review these incentive awards again following the completion of

the Companys consolidated financial statements for 2007

When the Companys financial statements for 2007 were completed which occurred immediately prior to

the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K the Compensation Committee determined that payments related

to the Companys 2007 financial performance were made to certain employees including to Mr Wart one of our

named executive officers in excess of the amounts earned under the 2007 Management Incentive Plan resulting

in an overpayment Based upon these final financial results Mr Wan received an overpayment offl29.156 plus

699 in interest SI 89.588 in the aggregate using an exchange rate of SI .46/fl .00 as of December 31 2008 The

Compensation Committee expects that it will review Mr Wans award within 60 days of the filing of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K to determine what action to take if any

When the Companys financial statements for 2008 were completed which occurred immediately prior to

the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K the Compensation Committee determined that no payments

related to the Companys 2008 financial performance to our named executive officers were in excess of the

amounts earned under the 2008 Management Incentive Plan

Payments were made in April 2008 and in March 2009 related to the achievement of individual MBOs for

2007 and 2008 respectively as those amounts were not dependent on the Company consolidated financial

results

The following tables show for 2007 and 2008 the amount each named executive officer earned for each

component of the Management Incentive Plan as well as the total compensation he earned under the

Management incentive Plan and the percentage this represents of his target incentive
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2007

Total of

EPS RU Profit ROWC MBO Earned Target

Donald Bell
$93.820 93.820 14.8%

JamesE Ilison 28.404 28.404 10.5%

William Meyerl 40.174 40.1 74 20.087 100.434 100.0%

Richard Jacquet
58.275 58.275 52.5%

Roherti Sturgeon
63.158 38.400 101.558 81.2%

Graeme Watt 119.188 139.120 57.000 315.308 110.6%

Mr Meyers annual incentive compensation was prorated from his hire date The Compensation Committee

determined as part
of his offer of employment that his annual incentive compensation would be paid at

100% of target for 2007

All amounts for Mr Watt have been converted from British pounds to U.S dollars using an exchange rate of

$2.00/fl .00 which was the average British pound to U.S dollar exchange rate dunng 2007

2008

Total %of

EPS RU Profit ROWC MBO Earned Target

Donald Bell $l04.363 $104363 16.5%

William Meyer 80000 80.000 40.000 200.000 100.0%

James Illson
50.000 50.000 18.5%

Andrew Hughes 24.000 24.000 72.000 120000 100.0%

Richard J.Jacquet
61938 61.938 55.8%

Graeme Watt
109.089 109.089 41.2%

Mr Meyer was asked to devote the majorir of his time on the restatement of the Companys financial

statements and not on the Companys financial objectives for 2008 Therefore the Compensation

Committee determined that Mr Meyers incentive compensation for 2008 would he paid at 100% of target

regardless of financial performance

Mr flisons MBO payment was negotiated as part of the separation agreement he and the Company entered

into with respect to his termination from the Company

Mi Hughes was asked to devote the majority of his time on the restatement of the Companys financial

statements and not on the Companys financial objectives for 2008 Therefore the Compensation

Committee determined that Mr Hughes incentive compensation for 2008 would be paid at 100% of target

regardless of financial performance

All amounts for lvii Watt have been converted from British pounds to U.S dollars using an exchange rate of

SI .86/fl .00 which was the average British pound to U.S dollar exchange rate during 2008

In 2008 the Compensation Committee set the bonus opportunity parameters for each of our named

executive officers after review of the compensation analysis competed by its third-party consultant Compensia

along with the input of Mr Bell for all executive officers other than himself

In 2008 Messrs Bells and Jacquets bonus opportunity for financial metrics was based on corporate
EPS

target of $0.22 for the first half and $0365 for the second half and ROWC target of 2.20% for the first half and

3.51 07c for the second half Mr Watts bonus opportunity for financial nietncs was based on European pretax

profit target of3.34 million $6.21 million using the average exchange rate for 2008 of $1 .86/fl .00 for the first

half and 4.90 million $9.11 million using the average exchange rate for 2008 of $1 .86/fl .00 for the second

half and Europe ROWC target of 3.17% for the first half and 4.84% for the second half In 2008 we achieved

corporate EPS of $0.53 in the first half and $1.79 in the second half and ROWC of 3.27% for the first half
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and 14.74% for the second half For Europe the pretax profit loss achieved was 0.36 million $0.67 million

using the average exchange rate for 2008 of $1 .86/fl .00 for the first half and 6.77 million $12.59 million

using the average exchange rate for 2008 of $1 .86/fl .00 for the second half and ROWC of 0.40% for the first

half and 11 .09% for the second half

in 2007 the bonus opportunity for Messrs Bell ilison and Jacquet with respect to financial metrics was

based on corporate EPS target of $0.69 and ROWC target of 7.75% Mr Sturgeons bonus opportunity for

financial metrics was based on an Americas pretax profit target of $41 .38 million and North America ROWC

target of 8.85% Mr Watts bonus opportunity for financial meincs was based on European pretax profit target

of7.06 million $14.12 million at the average exchange rate for 2007 of $2.00/fl .00 and Europe ROWC
target of 6.68% In 2007 we achieved corporate EPS of 52.24 and aROWC of13.43% For the Americas

we achieved pretax profit of 525.41 million and in North America an ROWC of 10.21% For Europe the

pretax profit achieved was 13.05 million $26.10 million at the average exchange rate for 2007 of

$2.00/fl .00 and ROWC of 13.71%

With respect to MBOs for our named executive officers in 2008 an average of 87% of au objectives were

deemed completed by Mr Bell and such determinations were ratified by the Compensation Committee In 2007

an average of 76% of all MBOs for our named executive officers were deemed completed by Mr Bell and such

determinations were ratified by the Compensation Committee

Strategic initiative Plan

Our senior executive officers who have global responsibility within our Company and therefore have

considerable influence on our strategic direction and long-term results are eligible to participate in our Strategic

initiatives Plan The Strategic Initiatives Plan is designed to reward these executives for the achievement of

specific strategic objectives As with our Management Incentive Plan we believe it is important to provide

annual cash incentives under the Strategic Initiatives Plan to motivate our executive officers to attain specific

strategic objectives that in turn further our long-term objectives In addition awards under the Strategic

Initiatives Plan increase the earning potential of the participating executive officers and are therefore important

for attracting and retaining key executives

During 2007 Messrs Bell Ilison and Jacquet and during 2008 Messrs Bell Jacquet and Watt were each

eligible to receive awards under the Strategic Initiatives Plan The objectives under the Strategic Initiatives Plan

generally relate to the improvement of certain business units strengthening of the organization strenothening

internal financial controls and enhancement of shareholder value These objectives are formulated by Mr Bell

and are approved by the Compensation Committee Any payments under the Strategic Initiatives Plan are

approved by the Compensation Committee

2007 Strategic initiative Plan Objectives In 2007 Mr Bells target incentive under the Strategic initiative

Plan was 5375.000 Payment of the target incentive was contingent upon Mr Bells achievement of strategic

objectives whch were equally weighted and pertained to building strong financial organization with

processes and long-term effectiveness growing our strategic businesses positioning the Company with

the right culture and management and enhancing the contributions of our European business unit Mr Bell

earned total of $295.875 or 79% for his accomplishments in achieving these objectives

in 2007 Mr Illsons target incentive under the Strategic Initiative Pan was $200000 Payment of the target

incentive was contingent upon Mr lllsons achievement of strategic objectives which were weighted as shown

below and pertained to strengthening the financial organization and filling several key financial positions

weight 50% growing the profitability of our value-added reseller businesses weight 16.7% growing

the strategic distribution businesses weight 16.7% and positioning the Company strategically in terms or

our capital structure weight 16.6% Mr Ilison earned total of $1 10.833 or 55% for his accomplishments in

achieving these objectives
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in 2007 Mr Jacquefs target incentive under the Strategic Initiative Plan was $150.000 Payment of the

target incentive was contingent upon Mr Jacquef achievement of strategic objectives which were weighted as

shown below and pertained to addressing deficiencies identified in audits of the Company including

recruiting persons to fill number of key financial positions weight 60% working closely with division

presidents to strengthen management of several key functions weight 20% and reducing the Companys

overall voluntary employee turnover through improved employee
communication and other employee relations

programs weight 20% Mr Jacquet earned total of $90000 or 60% for his accomplishments
in achieving

these objectives

2008 Strategic Initiative Plan Objectives In 2008 Mx Bells target incentive under the Strategc Initiative

Plan was $300.000 Payment of the target incentive was contingent upon Mr Bells achievement of strategic

objectives which were equally weighted and pertained to II bringing the Company hack into full and time

compliance with SEC filing requirements and continuing to strengthen the financial organization leading the

Company through the current audit investigation and delisting to ensure continuity of business and maintaining

effective relationships with suppliers customers shareholders and employees and leadmg the establishment

and implementation of the Companys strategic objectives
and effectively managing our banking and credit

availability necessary to support our ongoing business Mr Bell earned total of $255000 or 85 for his

accomplishments in achieving these objectives However Mr Bells incentive payment of $255.000 was reduced

by $159.09 for net payment of 595.909 The reduction was due to an overpayment of 2006 incentives

previously made to Mr Bell This reduction represents 50% of the overpayment The remaining amount of the

overpayment will be considered when future incentives are earned

In 2008 Mr Jacquef target incentive under the Strategic Initiative Plan was $1 50.000 Payment of the

taxget incentive was coritingent upon Mr lacquef achievement of strategic objectives which were weighted as

shown below and pertained to providing the leadership and assistance to lead the organization through the

various employee issues associated with the audit investigation delisting stock price decline and personnel

actions weight 579i recruiting and staffing number of critical positions weight 24% and partnering

with the CEO CFO and Genera Counsel to update and improve specific corporate governance programs in the

Company weight 19% Mr Jacquet earned total of $140571 or 94% for his accomplishments in achieving

these objectives However Mr Jacquets incentive payment of 5140.571 was reduced by 57.627 for net

payment of 532.944 The reduction was due to an overpayment
of 2006 incentives previously made to

Mr Jacquet This reduction represents
50% of the overpayment The remaining amount of the overpayment

will

he considered when future incentives are earned

In 2008 Mr Watts target incentive under the Strategic Initiative Plan was $200.000 Payment of the target

incentive was contingent upon Mr Watts achievement of strategic objectives
which were equally weighted and

pertained to managing the worldwide distribution businesses through the audit investigation and delisting

and maintaining effective relationships with our suppliers customers and employees establishing the role of

the President Worldwide Distribution and making material contributions to the Compan\ making significant

progress in growing the profitability
of Continental Europe and implementing specific global programs to

grow gross profit operating profit and ROWC in the worldwide distribution businesses Mr Wart earned total

of $180000 or 90% for his accomplishments in achieving these objectives

Discretionary Bonuses

The Compensation Committee has the authority to award discretionary bonuses to our executives when they

believe it to he appropriate Mr Meyer was awarded $50000 hire-on bonus in August 2007 There were no

discretionary bonus payments
made to our named executive officers for 2008

Long-Term Equity Incentiies

We utilize long-term equity incentives to ensure that our executive officers have continuing stake in our

long-term success and to align their interests with the interests of our shareholders We have historically provided
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long-term equity incentives in the form of stock options and RSUs although we generally tie the grantinc of

RSUs to our achievement of specific financial-related goals Meaningful equity opportunities are provided to

those executive officers who are most responsible for driving our financial and operating results Actual awards

reflect individual performance and retention objectives In determining the number of stock options andior RSUs

to be granted the Compensation Committee reviews each executive officers individual performance and

outstanding equity awards and analyzes the retention value of the unvested stock options andlor RSUs

Generally as an executive officers responsibility and ability to impact our financial performance grows the

individuals at-risk performance-based compensation increases as portion of his other tota compensation

Moreover the ratio of long-term to short-term compensation increases proportionately with job responsibility

Ultimately individuals with greater roles and responsibilities associated with achieving our performance targets

should hear greater proportion of the risk if those goals are not achieved and should receive greater proportion

of the reward if the goals are met or surpassed Although the award of stock options and RSUs may accumulate

sizeahie value over time we believe that the expected benefit to us and our shareholders outweigh the cost We

believe that the reward is an appropriate motivational tool and is necessary to retain critical team members for

our Company

In the past we have made stock option grants to executives in connection with their joining the Company
and both awards of stock options and RSUs to our named executive officers in recognition of ongoing individual

conttihutions to our performance We do not have policy that provides for automatic grants of stock options

or RSUs to executive officers

In May 2008 our 1998 Stock Plan expired As result we are presently unable to make any stock-based

compensation awards At our annual meeting in 2009 we intend to ask our shareholders to approve new equity

incentive plan

Stock Options

Stock options granted under our 1998 Stock Plan generally have term of five years and vest at rate of

25% on each anniversary of the grant date The deferred vesting of stock options is designed to create an

incentive for the executive to remain employed with us and build shareholder value Accordingly an executive is

rewarded only if our shareholders receive the benefit of appreciation in the price of our common stock We

believe this promotes our executive compensation philosophy of providing long-term rewards based on creating

shareholder value

In July 2007 we granted Mr Hughes an option to purchase 70000 shares of our common stock at an

exercise price of $6.13 per share In August 2007 we granted Mr Meyer an option to purchase 225.000 shares of

our common stock at an exercise price of $5.15
per share The stock option grants have term of five years and

vest at rate of 25% on each anniversary of the grant date These options were granted by our Compensation

Committee when Mr Hughes and Mr Meyer were hired by the Company

In January 2008 we granted Messrs Hughes Meyer and Watt an option to purchase 20.000 30.000 and

60.000 shares respectively of our common stock at an exercise price of $5.90 per share The stock option grants

have term of five years and vest at rate of 25% on each anniversary of the grant date

Restricted Stock L7nit.c

Our 1998 Stock Plan also enabled the Compensation Committee to award RSUs to our executive officers

RSUs are contractual rights that entitle the recipient to receive one share of our common stock per unit once the

RSU has vested In general RSUs granted to our executive officers vest on the basis of length of service the

attainment of performance-based milestones or combination of both as determined by the Compensation

Committee RSUs granted to our executive officers typicah vest at rate of 25% on each anniversa.rv of the

grant date As with stock options the deferred vesting of RSUs is designed to create an incentive for the

executive to remain employed with us and build shareholder value
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We often tie the grant of RSUs to our achievement of financial-related goals During 2007 there were

no RSUs nranted to any of the named executive officers

In January 2008 Messrs Hughes Meyer and Watt were granted RSUs in the amounts of 15.000 25000

and 40.000 respectively The vesting of these RSUs was initially based on the Company achieving its 2008

annual operating plan with 50% vesting immediately and the remaining 50% vesting 12 months later In

May 2008 the Compensation Committee elected to change the vesting requirement to be based solely on leiigth

of service so that 50% of the award would vest in March 2009 and the remaining
50% iii March 2010 In

February 2009 the Compensation Committee decided to further extend the vesting requirement for the awards

that would vest in March 2009 to August 2009 at the option of the named executive officers Mr Hughes elected

to not change the vesting date and his RSUs vested in March 2009 Mr Meyer and Mr Watt elected to extend the

vesting of their RSUs from March 2009 to August 2009

In May 2008 the Compensation Committee granted RSUs to Messrs Hughes Jacquet Meyer and Watt to

strengthen the retention value of each executiv outstanding equity awards The total number and vesting of

these RSUs is as follows

Shares Vested on Shares Vesting on Shares Vesting on Shares Vesting on Total RSUs

5/20/09 8/28/09 1/29/10 5/20/10 Granted

Mr Hughes 9.854
9854 19.708

Mr .lacquet
5.000 21.500 5000 31.500

Mr Meyer
10.000 42.500 10000 62.500

Mr Watt 20.000 42.500 20.000 82.500

In addition to the RSUs that were granted to certain named executive officers in December 2008 to improve

employee retention Mr Hughes was given an additional cash retention incentive of 100.000 that will be

payable to him if he is an active employee of the Company on December 31 2009

Other Elements

Deferred Coinpensanon

We have adopted certain broad-based employee benefit plans in winch all employees including our named

executive officers are permitted to participate on the same terms and conditions relating to eligibility and

generally subject to the same limitations on the amounts that may he contributed or the benefits payable under

those plans Under our Section 401k plan which is defined contribution plan qualified under the Internal

Revenue Code participants including our named executive officers who reside in the United States which

includes all of our named executive officers other than Mr Watt can contribute percentage of their annual

compensation In addition we make matching contribution subject to maximum of $2.000 For 2007 each of

Messrs Bell Ilison and Jacquet received the maximum matching contribution and Mr Sturgeon received

matching contribution of $817 Messrs Meyer and Watt did not participate in the plan in 2007 and were not

eligible for matching contribution For 2008 each of the named executive officers except Mr Watt received

matching contribution of $2000

Pension Benefits

Effective July 2002 the Board adopted Supplemental Executive Retirement Program the SERF as

amended in November 2007 Mr Bell is and has been the only participant in the SERP In 2005 in lieu of

granting Mr Bell additional stock options the Board increased Mr Bells annual benefit under the SERF from

$250.000 per year to $450000 per year The SERF is intended to retain Mr Bell as our Chief Executive Officer

and provide supplemental income benefits to Mr Bell upon his retirement or to his survivors upon
his death

The SERF is funded by way of Company-owned life insurance policies on the lives of Mr Bell and other key

current and fonner employees While the payments due under the SERF are an obligation of the Company we
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believe that the proceeds from these life insurance policies will he sufficient to cover over time the full cost of

the benefits provided plus the cost of the life insurance premiums

Personal Benefits and Perquisites

We do not grant our named executive officers significant perquisites However we believe that benefits and

perquisites are sometimes necessary in order to attract and retain talent We have assessed competitive market

factors to determine appropriate benefit levels In addition to our Section 401k plan described above our U.S.-

based executive officers are eligible to participate in our health dental and vision plans life insurance and long-

and short-term disability insurance plans and each of the other benefit plans that we offer to our other U.S-based

employees These are the same plans that all full-time U.S-based employees are offered and our executive

officers do not receive any different level of benefits

Messrs Jacquet and Sturgeon are participants in the executive death benefit program Mr Ilison was also

participant in the
program

until his termination in 2008 In the event of participants death while employed by

the Company this program provides each participants beneficiary benefit of $250.000 payable in equal

installments over five years While the payments due under the executive death benefit program are an obligation

of the Company we believe that the proceeds from Company-owned life insurance policies maintained on the

executive will he sufficient to cover over time the full cost of the benefits provided plus the cost of the

insurance premiums

Pursuant to Mr Watts employment agreement in each of 2007 and 2008 the Company paid Mr Watt

12000 $24000 using an average exchange rate of $2.00/fl .00 during 2007 and $22320 using an average

exchange rate of $1 .86/fl .00 during 2008 for the purchase and contribution of private pension plan Also

dunng 2007 the Company contributed 23280 $46560 using an average exchange rate of $2.00/fl .00 during

2007 and during 2008 23280 $43301 using an average exchange rate of $1 .86/fl .00 during 2008 to

Ivir Watts private life insurance and income protection plans

In 2007 Messrs Bell Hughes Ilison and Meyer received car allowance in the amount of $300 per month

and Mr Watt received car allowance in the amount of 500 per month using an exchange of $2.00/fl .00 for

2007 In 2008 these car allowances continued except that Mr Illsons allowance stopped upon his termination

date in August 2008

in February 2007 the Compensation Committee authorized that Mr Bells annual allowance for tax

preparation and estate planning be increased from $5000 per year to $15000 per year In 2007 and 2008

Messrs Illson Jacquet Meyer and Sturgeon received an annual allowance for tax preparation and estate planning

of up to $1500

Because of Mr Bells extensive travel schedule he is authorized to have his spouse accompany him on up

to five trips per year at the Companys expense and on any trips where he is required to be away front home for

three or more consecutive weekends Effective in September 2007 the Compensation Committee approved

policy reaffwming this practice for Mr Bell and extended the policy to allow the spouses of certain other

Company executives including the named executive officers to have their spouse accompany them on up to two

trips per year that are in addition to trips where the
spouse is expected to attend In 2007 the Company

reimbursed Mr Bell $61293 for these travel-related expenses Also during 2007 we reimbursed Messrs lllson

.Iacquet Sturgeon and Watt $7236 $9236 $9057 and $375 respectively for their spouses travel In 2008

Mr Bell was reimbursed $44627 for spousal travel and Messrs Hughes lilson Jacquet and Watt were

reimbursed $2.602 $766 $3703 and $16751 respectively for spousal travel

During the first half of 2007 we reimbursed Mr Ilison $1 3.938 which was grossed up for tax purposes by

an additional $1 1.755 for payment of his travel and lodging expenses associated with his comntute from his

home in Southern California and his office in Northern California This reimbursement practice ceased effective

July 2007
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Tax Treatment

Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code places limit of SI .000000 on the amount of compensation

we may deduct for federal income tax purposes
in any one year

with respect to our Chief Executive Officer and

the next four most highly compensated officers excluding the pnncipal financial officer who were serving as

executive officers as of the last day of the applicable year There is an exemption from the 51 million limitation

for performance-based compensation that meets certain requirements All grants of stock options under our 1998

Stock Plan were intended to qualify for this exemption Grants of RSUs under our 1998 Stock Plan may qualify

for the exemption if vesting is contingent on the attainment of objectives based on the performance
criteria set

forth in the plan and if certain other requirements are met Grants of RSUs that vest solely on the basis of length

of service cannot qualify for the exemption Our current cash incentive plan is not designed to qualify for the

exemption

To maintain flexibility in compensating officers in manner designed to promote varymg corporate goals

the Compensation Committee has not adopted policy requiring all compensation to he deductible Although tax

deductions for some amounts that we pay to our named executive officers as compensation may be limited by

Section 162m the increased amount of income tax is not sigmficant The Compensation Committee generall\

intends to comply with the requirements to exempt executive compensation from the $1 million deduction

limitation under Section 162m however the Compensation Committee may determine that such compliance in

given circumstance would not be in our best interests or those of our shareholders

Employment and Change in Control Agreements

In March 2009 we entered into new employment agreement with Mr Bell The agreement has two-year

term and automatically renews for one-year periods thereafter In addition to establishing his salary incentives

and other benefits the agreement provides for non-solicitation covenant for period of one year following his

termination from the Company In the event he is terminated by the Company for reasons other than cause he

will receive severance benefits equal to two times his annual base salary In the event there is change in control

event and his employment is terminated by the Company without cause during the 12-month period following

change in control Mr Bell will receive the severance benefits mentioned above and accelerated vesting of

unvested equity awards

We have also entered into employment agreements with Messrs Jacquet Meyer Sturgeon and Watt that

provide for covenants not to compete with us for 12 months following their termination of employment and in

the case of termination without cause severance payments equal to their base salary for periods ranging from six

months to 12 months These agreements are in effect unless either the Company or the executive officer provides

the other party with notic.e of intent to terminate the employment agreement

The Company has also entered into management retention agreements
with our other named executive

officers The agreements generally provide severance benefits in the event that the executive officers

employment is terminated for reasons other than cause during the 12-month period following change in control

The management retention agreements have three-year terms and are automatically extended for successive

one-year periods unless terminated amended or modified by us If the named executive officer is involuntarily

terminated other than for cause then he will receive cash payment equal to his base annual salary certain

benefits for one \ear from the date of termination or until the date that the named executive officer becomes

covered under another employers benefit plans and accelerated vesting
of any unvested equity awards In the

event that the named executive officers employment is terminated for any reason either prior to the occurrence

of change in control or later than 12 months following change in control then he is entitled only to receive

severance and other benefits under established severance and benefits plans and practices or pursuant to another

agreement with us

The change of control payments we offer our named executive officers currently two years of base pay for

Mr Bell and the equivalent of one year
of base pay for our other named executive officers is at the lower end of
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the change in control practices in our indusuy Many of our competitors offer 2.99 years of tota target cash

compensation as severance in the event of change in control The terms of the change in contro agreements

have not influenced any of our other compensation programs

Stock Ownership Policy

In February 2009 the Board revised the Stock Ownership Guidelines for our Chief Executive Officer and

for our other executive officers to increase their required equity stake in the Company and more closely align

their interests with those of our shareholders The guidelines require our Chief Executive Officer to hold stock of

the Company having value equal to minimum of 100% of his or her annual base salary as of the last day of

each fiscal year With respect to our other executive officers the guidelines require ownership of stock in the

Company having value equal to minimum of 50% of his or her annual base salary as of the last day of each

fisca year The ownership guidelines are to he met by the later of five years following their appointment as an

executive officer or December31 2011

The Board also revised the stock ownership guidelines for all non-employee directors which are to be met

by the later of five years following their appointment or election or December 31 2011 The guidelines require

each of our non-employee directors to hold stock of the Company having value equal to minimum of 100% of

his or her annual retainer as of the last day of each fiscal year

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee of the Board has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and

Analysis set forth above with management Based on this review and discussion with management the

Compensation Committee recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis he

included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2008

Members of the Compensation Committee

David Ernsberger Chairman

Gordon Campbell

Mark Sanders
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Executive Compensation Tables

2007 Sunnnar3 Compensation Table

The following table provides infomation with respect to the compensation earned during 2007 by our

named executive officers for that year

William Meyer6

Executive Vice

President Chief

Financial Officer

Richard Jacquet 2007 229.169

Senior Vice President 2006 224.000

of Human Resources

Operations Chief

Information Officer

GraemeWatt8 2007 570.000 65.894 87.411

President Worldwide 2006 524.400 64410 99.682 173524

Distribution

27.821 428.651

21.408 459.584

Name and Principal

Position

Donald Bell

President Chief

Executive Officer

James E.lllson5

Chief Operating

Officer President of

the Americas

Chief Financial

Officer

All Other

Compensation
$4

77.192

124.703

Total

1261.233

3.71 6.038

Non-Equit Change in

Stock Option incentive Plan Pension

Salar Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Value

Year $1 $2 $3

2007 647.096 96585 50.665 389.695

2006 632500 110.000 346.753 39.561 434.631 2.027.890

2007 467.657 83.159 47.549 139.237

2006 450.000 166.936 114.650 221 .057

2007 137.597 50.0007 41.786 100.434

5.441 17.945 148.275

56.363 24.563 133.250

2007 232.462 3.093 17.678 101.558

15.308

41.952

52.741 790.543

103.517 1.056160

1.461 331.278

Robert Sturgeon

Vice President

20.225 375.016

82935 1.121.548

75955 979.923
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2008 Summary Compensation Table

The followmg table provides information with respect to the compensation earned during 2008 by our

named executive officers for that year

Non-Equit3 Change in

Stock Option incentive Plan Pension All Other

Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Value Compensation Total

Name and Principal Position Year $1 $i $t2 $3 $4 St

Donald Be 2008 632.500 20.965 50.804 200.272 89.730 994.271

President Chief 2007 647.096 96585 50.665 389.695 77.192 1.261.233

Executive Officer 2006 632.500 110.000 346.753 39.561 434.631 2.027.890 124.703 3.716.038

James fllson5 2008 290.265 37174 26.497 50000 608.540 1.012.476

FomierChief 2007 467.657 83.359 47.549 139.237 52.741 790.543

Operating Officer and 2006 450.000 166.936 114.650 221.057 103517 1.056.160

President of the

Americas

William Meyer6 2008 350000 117.136 118.723 200000 6.500 792.359

Executive \Tice 2007 137.597 50.0007 41.786 100.434 1.461 331.278

President Chief

Financial Officer

Arnirew Hughes 2008 300.000 55.750 48.3 15 120.000 8.202 532.267

Vice President

General Counsel

Corporate Secretary

RichardJ.Jacquet 2008 224.000 25.729 13.548 194882 23.319 481.478

Senior Vice President 2007 229.169 5.4l 17.945 148.275 27.821 428.651

of Human Resources 2006 224.000 56.363 24.563 133.250 21.408 459.584

Graeme Watt8 2008 538.470 206.366 48.877 289.089 93.118 1.175.920

President Worldwide 2007 570.000 65.894 87.411 315.308 82.935 1.121.548

Disnihution 2006 524.400 64410 99.682 173.524 41.952 75.955 979.923

Under SEC rules the values reported in the Stock Awards and Options Awards columns of the Summary

Compensation Table reflect the dollar amount of expense recognized for financial statement reporting purposes for

2008 2007 and 2006 in accordance with SFAS 123R with the exception that estimated forfeitures related to

service-based vesting were disregarded in these amounts We calculate compensation expense related to stock

options using the Black-Scholes valuation model Assumptions used in the calculation of this amount for purposes

of our financial statements are included in Note Stock-Based Compensation Plans in our notes to the

consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Amounts shown under the heading Non-Equity incentive Plan Compensation for each of the named executive

officers are the actual amounts paid under our Management incentive and Strategic Initiative Plans Mr fllsons

2008 award under the Management incentive Plan was determined pursuant to separation agreement into which

he and the Company entered in connection with his termination

Represents the year-to-year change in the present value of Mr Bells benefits under our Supplemental Executive

Retirement Plan The change in pension value for Mr Bell in 2007 was 564.232 and in 2008 was 572.803 in

2006 Mr Bells SERF benefit was increased from 5250.000 per year to 5450.000 per year See item 11

Executive Compensation Pension Benefits for 2007 and Item 11 Executive Compensarion Pension Bene firs

for 2008 for additional information

For break-out of the amounts included in All Other Compensation see the table immediately following these

footnotes

Mr lllson ceased to he an executive officer in June 2008 and terminated his employment in August 2008

Mr Meyer joined the Company in August 2007
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in 2007 Mr Meyer received one-rime hire-on bonus of $50.000

AJI amounts for Mr Wan have been converted from British pounds to U.S dollars using an exchange rate of

$1 .86/fl .00 for 2008 $2.00/fl .00 for 2007 and $1 .80/fl .00 for 2006 These rates were the average British pound

to U.S dollar exchange rate during the years indicated

All Other Compensation Detail

This table sets forth each of the elements comprising each named executive officer compensation reported in

the All Other Compensation columns in the Summary Compensation Table above

401k Match Tax Prep Executive Spousal or

Car or Pension Financial Death Dependent

Allowance Contribution Planning Benefit Travel Other Total

Name Year alS

Donald Bell 2008 3.600 2.000 15.000 44.627 24.503 89.730

2007 3.600 2.000 10.300 61.293 77.193

James Ilison 2008 2.286 1.060 766 604.428 608.540

2007 3.600 2.000 3.530 10.682 7.236 25.693 52.741

William Meyer 2008 3.600 2.000 900 6.500

2007 1.461 1.461

Andrew Hughes 2008 3.600 2.000 2.602 8.202

Richard Jacquet 2008 2.000 650 15935 3.703 1.031 23.319

2007 2.000 650 15.935 9.236 27.821

Rohertj Sturgeon 2007 817 10.351 9057 20.225

Graeme Watt 2008 11.160 22.320 16.751 44.887 95.118

2007 12.000 24.000 375 46.560 82.935

For Mr Bell Other consists of $21 .973 paid in 2008 as interest for the delay in paying 2006

incentives $1151 in 2008 for the cost of medical examination and $1379 in 2008 of imputed

income for computer equipment

ii For Mr ilison Other consists of housing and navel reimbursement and related tax gross-up

totaling $25.693 in 2007 $1379 in 2008 of imputed income for computer equipment and in 2008 in

connection with his termination from the Company $465.000 in severance pay $99285 in consulting

fees following his termination from the Company and the payout of his accrued vacation in the amount

of $38764

iii For Mr Jacquet Other consists of $1031 paid in 2008 to compensate him for the delay in paying

2006 incentives

iv For Mr Watt Other consists of an employee benefit allowance of $43.30 and $46560 in 2008 and

2007 respectively and payment in 2008 of 1.586 as interest for the delay in paving 2007 incentIves

All amounts for Mr Watt have been converted from British pounds to U.S dollars using an exchange rate of

$1 .86/fl .00 for 2008 and $2.00/fl .00 for 2007 These rates were the average British pound to U.S dollar

exchange rate during the \ears indicated
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards for Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2007

The foliowing table provides certain information with respect to grants of options to purchase shares of our

common stock made to our named executive officers during 2007 The table also provides information with

regard to cash bonuses under our performance-based non-equity incentive plans to the named executive officers

All Other Grant

Options Exercise Date Fair

Awards or Base Value of

Estimated Future Payouts under
Number of Price of Stock and

Date Board Grant
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards

Name Action Date Threshold Target Maximum Options S/Sh

Donald Bell 4/11/2007 7/1/2007 316.2501 632.5002 Ll38.5003

4/24/2007 4/24/2007 375.0004

James BIson 4/11/2007 7/1/2007 135.000W 270.0002 486.0003

4/24/2007 4/24/2007 200.0004

William Meyer 7/20/2007 8/6/2007 100.4342

7/20/2007 8/6/2007 225.000 5.15 415.305

Pchard Jacquet 4/11/2007 7/1/2007 55.5001 111.0002 199.8003

4/24/2007 4/24/2007 150.0004

Robert Sturgeon 4/11/2007 7/1/2007 625001 125.0002 225.0003

Graeme Watt 4/11/2007 7/1/2007 142500I 285.0002 513.0003

This amount represents 50% of the target incentive under our Management incentive Plan Under this plan the

minimum payout
of incentives for financial performance metrics is 50% for achieving 809i of the financial-related

target

Represents target bonus award payments under the Companv Management incentive Plan for 2007 based on

100% achievement of goals The Compensation Committee determined that Mr Meyers incentive compensation

for 2007 would be paid at 00 of target as part of his offer of employment

Under the Companys Management Incentive Plan named executive officers can earn more than their target

incentive for exceeding financial-related goals above 100% of target For 2007 the named executive officers

could earn up to 80% of their target incentive if they achieved at least 150% of their financial goals

Under the Companys Strategic initiative Plan named executive officers who participate can earn any amount up

to the target incentive amount depending on achievement of their strategic initiative objectives

Mr Illson resigned from his position as an executive officer of the Company effective in June 2008 although he

remained employed by the Compail\ through August 2008

Mr Watts annua incentive targets under the Companys Management Incentive Plan and the Strategic initiative

Plan for 2007 have been converted from British pounds to U.S dollars using the average exchange rate of

$2.00/fl .00 during 2007

These amounts reflect the full grant date fair value of each equity award computed in accordance with

SFAS 123R Assumptions used in the calculation of this amount for purposes of our consolidated financial

statements are included in Note Stock-B ased Compensation Plans in the notes to our consolidated financial

statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards for Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2008

The following table provides certain information with respect to grants of options to purchase shares of our

common stock made to our named executive officers during 2008 The table also provides information with regard

to cash bonuses under our performance-based non-equity incentive plans to the named executive officers

All Other

Stock All Other

Awards Options Exercise

Number Awards or Base Grant Date

Estimated Future Payouts under Non
of Shares Number of Price of Fair Value

Date of
ui Incentive Plan Awards

of Stock Securities Option of Stock

Board Grant or Units Underlying Awards and Option

Name Action Date Threshold Target $1 Maximum Options $/Sh Awards

Donald Bell 1/21/2008 1/21/2008 316.2501 632.5002 1.265.0003

1/21/2008 1/21/2008 300.0004

James filson 1/21/2008 1/21/2008 135.000 270.0002 540.0003

William Meyer 1/21/2008 1/21/2008 200.0002

1/21/2008 1/21/2008 30.000 5.90 62.181

1/21/2008 1/21/2008 25.000 147.500

5/20/2008 5/20/2008 62.500 65625

Andrew Hughes 1/21/2008 1/21/2008 120.0002

1/21/2008 1/21/2008
20.000 5.90 41.454

1/21/2008 1/21/2008 15.000 88.500

5/20/2008 5/20/2008 19.708 52.226

Richard Jacquet 1/21/2008 1/21/2008 55.5001 111.0002 222.0003

1/21/2008 1/21/2008 150.0004

5/20/2008 5/20/2008 31.500 83.475

Graeme Watt 1/21/2008 1/21/2008 132.5251 265.0502 530.1003

5/20/2008 5/20/2008 200.0004

1/21/2008 1/21/2008 60.000 5.90 124.362

1/21/2008 1/21/2008 40000 236.000

5/20/2008 5/20/2008 82.500 218.625

This amount represents 50% of the target
incentive under our Management incentive Plan Under this plan the minimum

payout of incentives for financial performance methcs is 50% for achieving 80% of the financial-related target

Represents target bonus award payments
under our Management Incentive Plan for 2008 based on 100% achievement of

goals The Compensation Committee determined that Mr Meyers and Mr Hughes incentive compensation for 2008 would

he paid at 100% of target

Under the Companys Management Incentive Plan the named executive officers can earn more than their target incentive

for exceeding financial-related goals above 100% of target For 2008 the named executive officers could earn up to 200

of their target
incentive if they achieved at least 150% of their financial goals

Under the Companys Strategic Initiative Plan the named executive officers who participate can earn any amount up to their

target
incentive amount depending on achievement of their strategic initiative objectives

Mr Ilison resigned from his position as an executive officer of the Company effective in June 2008 although he remained

employed by the Company through August 2008

in conjunction with Mr Watts pending relocation from the U.K to the U.S. the Compensation Comimttee made one-time

4500 adjustment to his second half management incentive Additionally for 2008 only the Compensation Committee

approved one-time change in .Mr Watts incentive plan mix of performance metrics from 40% pre-tax profit performance

40% ROWC performance and 20% MBOs to 25% pre-tax profit performance 25% ROWC performance and 50% MBOs

Mr Watts annual incentive target under the Companys Management incentive Plan and the Strategic Iruttauve Plan for

2008 has been converted from British pounds to U.S dollars using the average exchange rate of SI .86/fl .00 during 2008

These amounts reflect the full grant date fair value of each equtty award computed in accordance with SFAS 123R

Assumptions used in the calculation of this amount for purposes of our financial statements are included in Note Stock

Based Compensation Plans in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K
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Stock options granted to our named executive officers in 2007 and 2008 have term of five years and vest

at rate of 25% on each anniversary of the nrant date RSIJs granted to our named executive officers in 2007 and

2008 vest as described in item 11 Executive Compensation Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Restricted Stock Units

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2008 Fiscal Year End

The following table provides information with respect to each unexercised stock option and unvested RSU

awards held by each named executive officer for 2008 as of December 31 2008

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of Number of Number of Market Value

Securities Securities Shares or of Shares or

Underlying Underlying Units of Stock Units of Stock

Unexercised Unexercised Option Option That Have Not That Have Not

Options Options Exercise Price Expiration Vested Vested

Name Exercisable Unexercisable Date

Donald Bell 100.000 7.23 8/27/20081

37.500 37.5003 6.32 3/21/2011

James IlIson 232.000 3.90 8/13/20071

50.000 4.12 5/22/2008

25.000 10.00 2/19/2009

60.000 6.73 8/9/2009

16.000 10.28 8/3/2010

12.500 12.5003 6.32 3/21/201

12.5004 7.500

William Meyer 56.250 168.7503 5.15 8/06/2012

300003 5.90 1/21/2013

87.5004 52.500

Andrew Hughes 17.500 52.5003 6.13 7/30/2012

20.0003 5.90 1/21/2013

34.7084 20.825

RichardJ Jacquet 50.000 4.37 7/07/20081

6.000 10.28 8/03/2010

10.000 10.0003 6.32 3/21/2011

15.000 10.00 5/22/2010

31.5004 18.900

Graeme Watt 250.000 6.45 4/21/20091

60.0003 5.90 1/21/2013

160.0004 96.000

The expiration dates of the options scheduled to expire in 2007 2008 and 2009 were extended by the

Compensation Committee to expire generally 30 days after the Company is current in its SEC filings which

is currently expected to occur by the end of 2009

Mr filson resigned from his position as an executive officer of the Company effective in June 2008

although he remained service provider for purposes of our 1998 Stock Plan through May 2009

The stock option grant date is five years prior to the expiration date for the grant The stock option grant

vests 25% per year on each anniversary of the grant date

For Mr ifison the RSUs vested on May 17 2009 For Mr Meyer 22500 RSUs vest on August 28 2009

12.500 RSUs vest on March 2010 42.500 RSUs vest on January 29 2010 and 10.000 RSUs vest on

May 20 2010 For Mr Hughes 7.500 RSUs vested on March 2009 9.854 RSUs vested on May 20 2009

7.500 RSUs vest on March 2010 and 9.854 RSUs vest on May 20 2010 For Mr Jacquet 5.000 RSUs

vested on May 20 2009 21.500 RSUs vest on January 29 2010 and 5.000 RSUs vest on May 20 2010 For

Mr Watt 77.500 RSIJs vest on August 28 2009 42500 RSUs vest on January 29 2010 20.000 RSUs vest

on March 2010 and 20.000 RSUs vest on May 20 2010
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Name

Donald Bell

James lilson

William Meyer

Richard Jacquet

Robert Sturgeon

Graeme Watt

Value Realized

on Vesting

130.875

69.856

Pension Benefits for 2007

Name

Donald Bell

James Illson

William Meyer

Richard Jacquet

Robert Sturgeon

Graeme Watt

Number of

Shares Acquired

on Vesting

100.000

22.500

Value Realized

on Vesting

274.000

57.150

Pension Benefits for 2008

The following table provides information regarding the present value of benefits under the SERF as of

December 31 2008 Other than Mr Bell none of our named executive officers for 2008 are paruclpants in the

SERF or other post-employment
benefit plans

Option Exercises and Stock Vested for Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2007

The following table provides information with respect to the exercising of option awards and shares subject

to RSU awards held by our named executive officers for 2007 that vested during 2007

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of

Shares Acquired Value Realized

on Exercise on Exercise

Number of

Shares Acquired

on Vesting

22 .5 00

10.625

Option Exercises and Stock Vested for Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2008

The following table provides information with respect to the exercising of option awards and shares subject

to RSU awards held by our named executive officers for 2008 that vested during 2008

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of

Shares Acquired

on ExerciseName

Donald Bell

James lilson

William Meyer

Andrew Hughes

Richard Jacquet

Graeme Watt

Value Realized

on Exercise

The following table provides information regarding the present value of benefits under our Supplemental

Executive Retirement Plan the SERP as of December 31 2007 Other than Mr Bell none of our named

executive officers for 2007 are participants in the SERF or other post-employment benefit plans

Present Value of

Number of Years Accumulated

Plan Name Credited Service Benefits

SERF N/A $4.117.112

Payments During
Last Fiscal Year

so
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Present alue of

Number of Years Accumulated Payments During
Name Plan Name Credited Service Benefits Last Fiscal Year

Donald Bell SERP N/A 54.044.309

James lilson

William Meyer

Andrew Hughec

Richard Jacquet

Graeme Watt

The present values have been calculated assuming Mr Bell would have retired at age 70 the normal

retirement age under the SERF The present values also assume that the benefit is payable as single life

annuity The discount rate assumptions for the 2007 and 2008 calculations are 575% and 5.50%

respectively The mortality assumptions were based on the RF-2000 Mortality Tables

The SERF provides supplemental retirement benefits to certain executive officers designated by the Board

The Board establishes the amount of the annual retirement benefit vesting schedule and other terms separatel\

for each participant Although benefits under the SERF are unsecured we have purchased life insurance policies

on Mr Bell and other executives the proceeds of which are payable to us We expect that the proceeds from

these policies will be sufficient to recover over time the fall cost of the SERF the cost of the insurance and

certain death benefits payable to the other covered executives

Mr Bell is the only named executive officer who has been designated as participant in the SERF He is

fully vested in his benefits which entitle him to an annual income benefit of $450000 Mr Bells benefits are

payable in the form of life annuity unless he elects in accordance with the terms of his award an actuarially

equivalent joint and survivor form of benefit prior to his termination of employment

Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon termination of employment of our

named executive officers for 2008 other than Mr Illson including in connection with change in control of our

Company as if each named executive officers employment terminated as of December 31 2008 For purposes

of valuing the severance and vacation payments in the table below we used each officers base salaiy rate in

effect on December 31 2008 and the number of accrued but unused vacation days on December 31 2008

summary of the employment and change in control agreements that provide severance benefits to our named

executive officers is set forth in hem 11 Executive Compensation Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Employment and Change in Control Agreements

Mr Ilisort resigned from his position as an executive officer of the Company effective in June 2008

although he remained employed by the Company through August 2008 In connection with his termination

Mr lllson received $465000 in severance pay and $38764 for accrued vacation In 2008 Mr Ilison also

received $99285 in consulting fees following his termination from the Company

The value of the acceleration of equity awards shown in the table below was calculated based on the

assumption that the change in control if applicable occurred and the officers employment terminated on

December 31 2008 and that the fair market value per share of our common stock on that date was $0.60 which

was the closing trading price of our common stock on December 2008 The value of the accelerated vesting

of RSUs was calculated by multiplying the number of unvested RSUs by $0.60
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As of December 31 2008

involuntary

Termination

Without

Cause

Termination Within

of 12 Months

Employment after Termination

Without Change in Due to

Name Benefit Cause Control Death

Donald Bell Severance
$632.500

Accrued Vacation 80.255 80.255 80.255

Stock Option Acceleration

Restricted Stock Unit Acceleration

Continued Employee Benefits
12.949

Death Benefit
1125000

Total Value 80.255 $725704 51.205.000

Williani Meyer Severance
5350.000 5350.000

Accrued Vacation 3.374 3.374 3.374

Stock Option Acceleration

Restricted Stock Unit Acceleration 52.500

Continued Employee Benefits 17.590

Death Benefit

Total Value $353374 $423464 3.374

Andrew Hughes Severance
150.000 5300.000

Accrued Vacation 11.931 11931 11.931

Stock Option Acceleration

Restricted Stock Unit Acceleration 20.825

Continued Employee Benefits
12.949

Death Benefit

Total Value $161931 $345705 11931

Richard Jacquet
Severance 5112.000 5224.000

Accrued Vacation 19815 19.815 19.815

Stock Option Acceleration

Restricted Stock Unit Acceleration
18.900

Continued Employee Benefits 12.949

Death Benefit
250.000

Total Value $131815 $275.664 269.815

Graenie Watt Severance $538470 5538.470

Accrued Vacation

Stock Option
Acceleration

Restricted Stock Unit Acceleration 96.000

Continued Employee Benefits
9.430

Death Benefit

Total Value
5538.470 $643900

For Messrs Hughes Jacquet and Sturgeon the severance payment under this column is the equivalent of six

months of base salary For Messrs Meyer and Watt the severance payment under this column is the

equivalent of 12 months of base salary payable
under their respective employment agreements The

severance is payable in lump-sum payment
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Pursuant to change in control agreements the amounts in the table above represent lump sum severance

payment equal to 12 months of base salary continuation of benefits for one year and acceleration of all

outstanding equity awards Under the change in control agreements an Involuntary Termination occurs

when the Company causes without the officers express written consent the significant reduction of his

duties authority or responsibilities relative to his duties authority or responsibilities in effect immediately

prior to such reduction or the assignment to the officer of such reduced duties authorit\ or responsibilities

ii without the officers express written consent substantial reduction without good business reasons of

the facilities and perquisites including office space and location available to him immediately prior to such

reduction iii reduction in the officers base salary iv material reduction in the kind or level of

employee benefits including bonuses to which the officer is entitled with the result that the officers overall

benefits package is significantly reduced the relocation of the officer to facility or location more than

35 miles from the officers then-present location without the officers express written consent vi any

purported ternilnation of the officers employment other than for disability or for cause or any purported

termination for which the grounds relied upon are not valid vii the failure of the Company to obtain the

assumption of the officers retention agreement by any successor or viii any act or set of facts or

circumstances which would under California law constitute constructive termination Cause means

any act of personal dishonesty taken by the officer in connection with his responsibilities as an employee

and intended to result in substantial personal enrichment to the employee conviction of felony ci

willful act by the officer that constimtes gross misconduct and that is injurious to the Company and

following delivery to the officer of written demand for performance from the Company that describes

the basis for the Companys belief that the officer has not substantially performed his duties continued

violations by the officer of his obligations to the Company that are demonstrably willful and deliberate on

his part Change of Control means the occurtence of any of the following events any person as

such term is used in Sections 13d and 14d of the Exchange Act is or becomes the beneficial owner as

defined in Rule 3d-3 under this Act directly or indirectly of securities of the Company representing 50%

or more of the total voting power represented by the Company change in the composition of the Board

occurring within two-year period as result of which fewer than majority of the directors are incumbent

directors the stockholders of the Company approve merger or consolidation of the Company with any

other corporation other than merger or consolidation that would result in the voting securities of the

Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent at least 50% of the total voting

power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity outstanding immediately

after such merger or consolidation or the stockholders of the Company approve plan of complete

liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the sale or disposition by the Company of all or

substantially all of its assets

For Mr Bell represents his death benefit under the SERP which entitles his spouse to 50% of the annual

benefit he would have been to entitled over five years payable in equal monthly installments For

Mr .lacquet represents the benefit under our executive death benefit program payable in five equal annual

installments description of this program is set forth in Item 11 Executive Compensation

Compensation Discussion and Anahsis Other Element Personal Benfirs and Perquisites

in March 2009 the Board approved new employment agreement for Mr Bell that provides in the case of

termination without cause or termination without cause within months of change in control severance

payment of two times his annual base salary payment of COBRA benefits for period of 18 months and in

the case of or termination without cause within 12 months of change in control the acceleration of the

vesting of all unvested equity awards

Mr Hughes was not named executive officer in 2007

This amount and others shown in the above table for Mr Wan were converted from British pounds to U.S

dollars using an average exchange rate of 2.00/fl .00 during 2007 and $1 .86/fl .00 during 2008

Director Compensation

In 2007 and 2008 our non-employee directors received an annual retainer of $30.000 fee of $4000 per

day for each Board meeting attended in person $2000 for attendance at each telephonic Board meeting and

fee of $2000 for each in-person or telephonic Board committee meeting attended in addition the Lead

Independent Director received an additional annual retainer of $1 5.000 prior to April 2007 was increased to
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$50.000 per year effective April 2007 the Audit Committee Chair received an additional annual retainer of

15.000 the Compensation Committee Chair received an additional annual retainer of 12.000 and the

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee Chair received an additional annual retainer of $8000 prior

to April 2007 $l5.000 per year effective Apri 2007 During 2008 and 2007 many of our non-employee

directors served on the special committees related to the investigations
that led to our restatement Directors

serving on these special committees were compensated for meeting attendance consistent with attendance at

meetings ofstanding committees Effective November 15 2007 the Board modified the compensation of our

then-Lead Independent Director Mr Ousley to $350.000 per year in lieu of all other monetary compensation

including meeting fees in recognition of the additional work Mr Ousley undertook during and after the financial

restatement process
Effective March 2009 the Board reduced Mr Ousleys compensation to 150.000 per

year In addition the Board reduced by 30% the quarterly retainer and meeting fees earned by non-employee

directors on or after January 2009

Under the terms of our 1998 Stock Plan each non-employee director automatically receives nonquahfed

option to purchase
22.500 shares of our common stock upon his or her initial election or appointment as

director and nonqualified option to purchase 7.500 shares of common stock following each of the Companys

annual meetings of shareholders As result of the Company not holding an annual meeting of shareholders in

2007 and 2008 no option awards were granted to our non-employee directors in 2007 and 2008

The following table provides information with respect to all compensation awarded to earned by or pain to

each person who served as non-employee director Mr Bell our President and Chief Executive Officer

receives no additional compensation for his service on our Board for some or of fiscal 2007 or 2008 Other

than as set forth in the table for the periods presented we did not pay any fees to our directors made any equity

or non-equity awards to our directors or paid any other compensation to our directors

2007 2008

Fees Fees

Earned Earned

or Option or Option

Paid in Awards Paid in Awards

Name CashS $1 TotalS CashS S1 TotalS

Gordon Campbell
76.000 76.000 76.000 76.000

Eugene Chaiken
105.000 105.000 99500 99.500

DavidM Ernsberger
138000 138000 99000 99.000

Edward Gelbach
96.000 96.000 88000 88.000

Michael Grainger
202.000 202.000 19.500 19.500

Peter Hanelt
25 .500 25 .500

James Ousley
177.375 177.375 350000 350000

Glenn Penisten
103.500 103.500 92.000 92.000

Mark Sanders 132000 132.000 97.500 97500

These amounts reflect the dollar amount of expense recognized for financial statement reporting purposes

for 2007 or 2008 as appropriate in accordance with SFAS 123R with the exception that estimated

forfeitures related to service-based vesting were disregarded in these amounts Assumptions used in the

calculation of this amount for purposes
of our financial statements are included in Note Szock-Based

Compensation Plans in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on

Form 0-K As of December 31 2008 each non-employee director held the following number of stock

options Mr Campbell 7.500 Mr Chaiken 30.000 Mr Ernsberger 45.000 Mr Gelbach 45.000

Mr Hanelt Mr Ousley 26.250 Mr Penisten 37.500 and Mr Sanders 15.000

Mr Grainger resigned from the Board on March 2008

Mr Hanelt was appointed to the Board on October 29 2008
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Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The following table presents information regarding the beneficial ownership of the shares of our common

stock as of May 31 2009 with respect to

each of our directors

each of the executive officers listed in the Summary Compensation Table for 2008 contained under the

caption Executive Compensation above

by al cunent directors and executive officers as group and

persons beneficially owning more than 5% of our common stock

Beneficial ownership is determined under the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting or investment

power over securities Except in cases where community property laws apply or as indicated in the footnotes to

this table we believe that each shareholder identified in the table possesses sole voting and investment power

over all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by the shareholder Shares of common stock

subject to options that are curtently exercisable or will become exercisable on or before July 30 2009 are

considered outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding the options

Shares Beneficially Owned

Name of Beneficial Owner1 Number Per-cent2

Greater than 5% Shareholders

FMRLLC3 4.561.108 14.3

Citigroup Global Markets Inc.4 3.663.742 11.5

State of Wisconsin Investment BoardS 3.043.389 9.6

Paradigm Capital Management Inc.6 2.743.922 8.6

Caisse de dØpôt et placement du Quhec 7i 2.300.000 7.2

Dimensional Fund Advisors L.P.8 2.236.538 7.0

Wells Fargo Company 2.229.723 7.0

AQR Capita Management LLC and affiliated entity 10 1.962.081 5.8

Directors

Donald Bell 11 1.174.235 37

Gordon Campbell 12 20.500

EugeneB.Chaikenl3 34.264

DavidM.Ernsherger14 52.039

EdwardL.Gelbachl5 158.922

Peter Hanelt

James Ousley 16 57.098

Glenn Penisten 17 80.909

MarkL Sanders 18 16.264

Named Executive Officers

Andrew Hughes 19 57.354

James lllson 20 86.845

RichardJ.Jacquet21 128.241

William Meyer 22 63.750

Graeme Watt 23 277.500

All cunent directors and executive officers as group 14 individuals24 2.1 85.015 6.9

Less than 9i of our outstanding common stock

Unless otherwise indicated the address of each of the named indi\iduals is c/c Bell Microproducts 1941

Ringwood Avenue San Jose CA 95131
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Percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 31828.490 shares of common stock outstanding as of

May 31 2009

As reported in Schedule 3G filed February 14 2008 with the SEC by FM1R LLC FMR on behalf of

itself and Edward Johnson 3d The address for FMR is 82 Devonshire Street Boston MA 02109 FMR

parent holding company has sole voting power over 2.417 shares and sole dispositive power over all the

shares FMR did not file Schedule 3G in 2009

As reported in Schedule 30/A filed May 2009 with the SEC by Citigroup Global Markets Inc

CGMCitigroup Financial Products Inc CFP Citigroup Global Market Holdings Inc CGM
Holdings and Citigroup Inc Citigroup CFP is the sole stockholder of COM COM Holdings is the

sole stockholder of CFP Citigroup is the sole stockholder of CGM Holdings The address for each of CGM

CFP and COM Holdings is 388 Greenwich Sueet New York NY 10013 The address for Crngroup is 399

Park Avenue New York NY 10043 CGM CFP CGM Holdings and Citigroup have shared voting and

shared dispositive power over all the shares

As reported in Schedule 13G filed January 30 2009 with the SEC by the State of Wisconsin Investment

Board Wisconsin Investment The address for Wisconsin Investment is P.O Box 7842 Madison WI

53707 Wisconsin Investment has sole voting power and sole dispositive power over all the shares

As reported in Schedule 130/A filed February 17 2009 Paradigm Management Inc ParadigmL The

address for Paradigm is Nine Elk Street Albany NY 12207 Paradigm has sole voting power and sole

dispositive power over all the shares

As reported in Schedule 3G filed January 20 2009 by Caisse de ddpôt et placement du QuØbec Caisse

The address for Caisse is 1000 place Jean-Paul Riopelle MontrØal QuØbec H2Z 2B3 Caisse has sole

voting power and sole dispositive power over all the shares

As reported in Schedule 130/A filed February 2009 with the SEC by Dimensional Fund Advisors L.P

Dimensional Fund The address for Dimensional Fund is Palisades West Building One 6300 Bee Cave

Road Austin TX 78746 Dimensional Fund has sole voting and dispositi\e power over all the shares

As reported in Schedule 3G filed January 27 2009 with the SEC by Wells Fargo Company Wells

Fargo The address for Wells Fargo is 420 Montgomery Street San Francisco CA 94104 Wells Fargo has

sole voting power over 2.223.048 shares and sole dispositive power over 2.146.423 shares

10 As reported in Schedule 130/A filed February 17 2009 with the SEC by AQR Absolute Return Master

Account L.P Absolute and Schedule 130/A filed with the SEC on February 17 2009 by AQR Capita

Management LLC Management The address for both Absolute and Management is Two Greenwich

Plaza 3rd Floor Greenwich CT 06830 Each of Absolute and Management reported shared voting power

and shared dispositive power over debt securities that are convertible into 1.962081 shares of our common

stock Management is registered investment adviser

11 Includes options held by Mr Bell to purchase 156250 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before July 30 2009

12 Includes options held by Mr Campbell To purchase 7.500 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before July 30 2009

13 Includes options held by Mr Chaiken to purchase 30.000 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before July 30 2009

14 Includes options held by Mr Ernsberger to purchase 45.000 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before July 30 2009

15 Includes options held by Mr Gelbach to purchase 37500 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before July 30 2009

16 Includes options held by Mr Ousle to purchase 22.500 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before July 30 2009

17 Includes options held by Mr Penisten to purchase 30.000 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before July 30 2009

18 Includes options held by Mr Sanders to purchase 15.000 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before July 30 2009

19 Includes options held by Mr Hughes to purchase 40.000 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before Jul 30 2009
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20 Mr Ilison is no longer employed with the Company

21 Includes options held by Mr Jacquet to purchase 86000 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before July 30 2009

22 Includes options held by Mr Meyer to purchase 63.750 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before July 30 2009

23 Includes options held by Mr Watt to purchase 265.000 shares which are currently exercisable or will

become exercisable on or before July 30 2009

24 Includes options to purchase an aggregate of 862439 shares held by six current executive officers and eight

non-employee directors which are currently exercisable or will become exercisable on or before July 30

2009

The following table provides information concerning our equity compensation plans as of December 31

2008

Total
________

Weighted-average exercise price excludes 1.020.083 shares for RSUs with zero exercise price

Our 1998 Stock Plan expired in May 2008 Therefore no equity awards are available for grant under the

1998 Stock Plan

Represents stock options that have been granted to employees outside of our 1998 Stock Plan which options

are represented by agreements substantially the same as agreements with respect to options under the 1998

Stock Plan and generally provide for vesting period as determined by the Board and expire over terms not

exceeding ten years from the date of grant

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Indepen.dence

Transaction with Related Persons

The Audit Committee of the Board monitors and reviews issues involving potential conflicts of interest and

reviews and
approves

ad transactions in which related person has had or will have direct or indirect material

interest

Since October 2005 the Company has employed stepson of Mr Bell in the position of director of strategic

markets In 2008 and 2007 Mr Bells stepson received total cash compensation of $246217 and $238.307

respectively On November 17 2005 he was granted an option to purchase 15.000 shares of common stock with

an exercise price of $7.95 per share On January 21 2008 he was granted an option to purchase 10.000 shares of

common stock at an exercise price of $5.90 in addition he participates in all other benefits that the Company

offers to all of our employees The Audit Committee reviewed and ratified the employment of Mr Bells stepson

and his compensation

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders

Equity compensation plans not approved by security hoders3

Equity Compensation Plan information

Number of

Securities

Remaining
Available for

Future

Number of issuance

Securities Weighted Under

to be issued Average Equity

Upon Exercise Compensation
Exercise of Price of Plans

Outstanding Outstanding Excluding
Options Options Securities

WÆftints Warrants Reflected in

and Rights and Rights Column

3.767.567 $6.52l

232000 $3.90

3.999.567 $6.37
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Director independence

The Board has determined that each of Messrs Campbell Chaiken Ernsberger Gelbach Hanelt Ouslel

Penisten and Sanders is independent of the Company and our management within the meaning of the Nasdaq

listing standards

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Principal Accountant Fees

On December 30 2008 the Audit Committee approved the engagement of Deloitte Touche LLP as our

independent registered public accounting firni for the fiscal years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 Prior to

December 30 2008 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was our independent registered public accountrng firm for the

fiscal year ended December 31 2006 and the preceding fiscal years We incurred the following fees to Deloitte

Touche LLP the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tomatsu and their respective subsidianes and affihates

collectively Deloitte associated with their audits of fiscal years 2008 and 2007 in thousands

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year

2008 2007

Audit fees
$4.80l $5629

Audit-related fees

Taxfees

All other fees

Total
54.801 $5629

Audit fees are for professional services rendered by Deloitte for the audit of the Companys annual financial

statements and the internal contro over financial reporting under Section 404 of the Sarhanes-Oxley Act for

fiscal year 2008 and the audit of the financia statements for fiscal 2007 and services that are normally provided

in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements

Audit-related fees consist of fees reasonably related to the performance
of the audit or review of the

registrants fmancial statements and are not reported under Audit fees The Company paid no fees in this

category to Deloitte for the fiscal years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

Tax fees consist of fees for services related to tax compliance tax advice and tax planning The Company

paid no fees in this category to Deloitte for the fiscal years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

AU other fees consist of fees for services other than the services reported above The Company paid no fees

in this category to Deloitte for the fiscal years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

Pre-Approal Policy

Pursuant to the Audit Committees pre-approval policy the Audit Committee is responsible for

pre-approving all audits and permitted non-audit services to he performed for the Company by our independent

auditors or any other auditing or accounting firm The Audit Committee has delegated to the Chairman of the

Committee the authority to unilaterally approve any
incremental service to be performed by the independent

auditor provided such service does not exceed $50.000 All audit and audit-related services for fiscal ears 2008

and 2007 were pre-approved by the Audit Committee
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The folowing documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K

Consolidated Financial Statements

The financial statements including the notes thereto listed in the index to consolidated financial

statements set forth in hem of this Form 0-K are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not required or the information required

to be set forth therein is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes to the consolidated

financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Exhibits See Exhibit Index following signature page

Exhibits See Item 15a above

Financial Statements and Schedule See Item 15a above
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant

has duly caused this Report to he signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on June 28

2009

BELL MICROPRODUCTS llC

By Is W1LLIAN MEYER

William Meyer

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this Report on Form 10-K has been

signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates

indicated

Is DONALD BELL

Donald Bell

Is WILUAM MEYER

William Meyer

Is GoitnoN CAMPBELL

Gordon Campbell

Is EUGENE Cak1xN

Eugene Chaiken

Is DAvID ERISBERGER

David Ernsberger

Is EDWARD GELBACH

Edward Gelbach

Is PEmR HANELT

Peter Haij sit

Is JAMES OUSLEY

James Ouslev

/s GLENN PENISTEN

Glenn Penisterfl

Is MARK SANDERS

Mark Sanders

Thie

President and Chief Executive June 28 2009

Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Executive Vice President and Chief June 28 2009

Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer

Director June 28 2009

Director June 28 2009

Director June 28 2009

Director June 28 2009

Director June 28 2009

Signature

Chairman of the Board June 28 2009

Director June 28 2009

Director June 28 2009
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SCHEDULE II
VALUATION AN QUALifYING ACCOUNTS

Additions

Balance at Charged Credited Charged

Beginnmg of to Costs and to Other Deductions- Balance at

Years Ended December 31 Period Expenses Accounts1 Write-Otis End of Period

in thousands

2006

Allowance for doubtful accounts 8.940 8.506 5859 11.587

Allowance for defened taxes 8.041 23.065 1.223 32.330

2007

Allowance for doubtful accounts 11.587 7.090 5.533 13.144

Allowance for defened taxes 32.330 13238 6.853 38.75

2008

Allowance for doubtful accounts 13.144 16.375 6.915 22.604

Allowance for deferred taxes 38715 22.027 7.657 53.085

Amounts charged to deferred tax assets/liabilities
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Index to Exhibits

Number Descriplion of Document

Asset Purchase Agreement dated October 2006 among the Company New ProSys Corp. ProSys

Information Systems Inc Michelle Clery and Bruce Keenan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

filed with the Company Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2006

2.2 Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 2006 by and between New ProSys Corp and Bruce

Keenan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 filed with the Companys Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2006

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.1 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-3 File No 333-117555 on

July 21 2004

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company as amended through May 21 2009 Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.2 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on May 22 2009

Form of Indenture between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank National Association as Trustee with

respect to the Series Subordinated Convertible Notes due 2024 Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit filed with the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-4 File No 333-120527 on

November 16 2004

4.2 indenture dated as of March 2004 between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank National

Association as Trustee with respect to the /4% Subordinated Convertible Notes due 2024

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 filed with the Registrants Registration Statement on Form

File No 333-116130 on June 2004

4.3 Form of Series 3.75% Subordinated Convertible Notes due 2024 contained in Exhibit 4.1

4.4 Form of 3.75% Subordinated Convertible Notes due 2024 contained in Exhibit 4.2

4.5 Registration Rights Agreement dated March 2004 by and among the Company Merrill Lynch

Pierce Fenner Smith incorporated and Raymond James Associates Inc Incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 4.2 filed with the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-3 File No 333-1 16130 on

June 2004

4.6 First Supplemental indenture dated as of December 20 2006 between the Company and Wells Fargo

Bank N.A incorporated by reference to Exhibit 41 filed with the Companys Current Report on

Form 8-K on December 21 2006

4.7 9% Senior Subordinated Note in the Amount of $23000000 dated as of October 2006 in connection

with the Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of October 2006 among the Company The

Teachers Retirement System of Alabama and the Employees Retirement System of Alabama

Incorporated by referenc.e to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on

October 2006

4.8 9% Senior Subordinated Note in the Amount of $12000000 dated as of October 2006 in connection

with the Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of October 2006 among the Company The

Teachers Retirement System of Alabama and the Employees Retirement System of Alabama

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on

October 2006

4.9 Warrant to Purchase 125.000 Shares of Bell Microproducts Inc dated as of October 2006

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on

October 2006

10.1 Employment Agreement dated as of July 1999 between the Company and Donald Bell

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q/A

File No 000-21528 for the quarter ended September 30 1999 on January 10 2000
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0.2 Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Company and Donald Bell dated as of

October 19 2000 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Quarterly Report

on Form 10-Q File No 000-21528 for the quarter ended March 31 2001

10.3 Amendment No to Employment Agreement between the Company and Donald Bell dated as of

April 30 2002 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q File No 000-2 1528 for the quarter ended September 30 2002

10.4 Executive Employment and Non-Compete Agreement dated as of August 13 2002 between the

Company and James lilson incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Compans

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No 000-21528 for the quarter ended September 30 2002

10.5 Syndicated Composite Guarantee and Debenture effective as of December 2002 by and among Bell

Microproducts Limited certain other companies listed and Bank of Amenca N.A Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.40 filed with the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K File

No 000-21528 for the year ended December 31 2002

10.6 Form of Management Retention Agreement between the Company and certain executive officers of the

Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Quarterly Report on

Form 0-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2005

10.7 Securities Purchase Agreement dated October 2006 among the Company The Teachers Retirement

System of Alabama and The Employees Retirement System of Alabama Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on October 2006

10.8 Bell Microproducts Inc Supplemental Executive Retirement Program effective July 2002 and

amended on November 13 2007 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 filed with the Companys

Current Report on Form 8-K on November 15 2007

10.9 Bell Microproducts Inc 2008 Management Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1

filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on January 25 2008

10.10 Ninth Supplemental Agreement dated May 21 2008 in relation to Syndicated Credit Agreement dated

December 2002 among Bell Microproducts Limited Bell Microproducts Europe Export Limited

Bell Microproducts Europe Holdings .V BM Europe Partners CV. Bell Microproducts Europe

B.V and Bank of America National Association Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with

the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on May 28 2008

10.11 Separation Agreement dated May 12 2008 by and between the Company and James illson

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on

June 10 2008

10.12 Consultant Agreement dated as of May 12 2008 by and between the Company and James Illson

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on

June 10 2008

10.13 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement effective as of June 30 2008 and executed on August

2008 among the Company the Teachers Retirement System of Alabama the Employees Retirement

System of Alabama Judicial Retirement Fund the PEIRAF-Deferred Compensation Plan and the

Public Employee Individual Retirement Account Fund Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed

with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on August 2008

10.14 Letter to Bell Microproducts Inc dated August 2008 front The Teachers Retirement System of

Alabama and the Employees Retirement System of Alabama amending the Securities Purchase

Agreement dated October 2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Company

Current Report on Form 8-K on August 2008

10.15 Letter Agreement executed August 2008 between Bell Microproducts Limited and Bank of Amenca

N.A as Agent for the Syndicated Credit Agreement dated December 2002 as amended and restated

effective May 21 2008 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Current

Report on Form 8-K on August 11 2008
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10.16 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated September 29 2008 among Bel

M.icroproducts Inc Bell Microproducts
Future Tech Inc Rorke Data Inc. Bell Microproducts

Canada Tenex Data ULC TotalTec Systems Inc Forefront Graphics U.S Inc as Borrowers Bell

Microproducts Canada Inc and Bell Microproducts Mexico Shareholder LLC as Guarantors and

Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation Western Wachovia in its capacity as admirnstrative agent

for the financial institutions Wachovia Bank of America NA The CIT Group/Business Credit Inc

and Wells Fargo Foothill LLC the Lenders Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on September 30 2008

10.17 Letter Agreement dated September 29 2008 terminating the Second Amended and Restated Credit

and Security Agreement dated as of May 14 2007 as amended by and between the Company Bell

Microproducts Funding Corporation
Variable Funding Capital Company LLC Wachovia Bank

National Association and General Electric Capital Corporation Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on September 30 2008

10.18 Bell Microproducts Inc form of Executive Officer Indemnification Agreement Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on November

2008

10.19 Bell Microproducts Inc form of Director Indemnification Agreement Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on November 2008

10.20 Bell Microproducts
Inc form of Amended and Restated Director Indemnification Agreement

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on

November 2008

10.21 1998 Stock Plan as amended through August 2007 and form of option agreement Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.22 filed with the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended

December 31 2006

10.22 1998 Stock Plan Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23

filed with the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2006

10.23 2007 Management Incentive Plan Description revised effective July 2007 Incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.25 filed with the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2006

10.24 Executive Employment Agreement dated August
2007 between the Company and William

Meyer Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 filed with the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2006

10.25 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Secunty Agreement dated February 17 2009

among BeU Microproducts Inc. Bell Microproducts
Future Tech Inc. Rorke Data Inc Bell

Microproducts
Canada Tenex Data ULC TotaTec Systems Inc Forefront Graphics U.S Inc as

Borrowers Bell Microproducts Canada Inc and Bell Microproducts Mexico Shareholder LLC as

Guarantors and Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation Western Wachovia in its capacity as

administrative agent
for the financial institutions Wachovia Bank of America N.A The CIT Group

Business Credit Inc and Wells Fargo Foothill LLC the Lenders Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Company Current Report on Form 8-K on February 20 2009

10.26 2009 Management Incentive Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys

Current Report on Form 8-K on February 24 2009

10 27 First Amendment to the October 2006 Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of February 24 2009

among the Company The Teachers Retirement System of Alabama TRSA and The Employees

Retirement System of Alabama ERSA Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on March 2009
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10.28 Second Amendment to the June 30 2008 Amended and Restated Credit Acreement dated as of

February 24 2009 among the TRSA ERSA Judicial Retirement Fund PEflAF-Deferred

Compensation Plan and Public Employees Individual Retirement Account Fund Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K on March 2009

10.29 Letter Agreement to Bell Microproducts Inc dated February 25 2009 among the Company TRSA and

ERSA Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Companys Current Report on

Form 8-K on March 2009

10.30 Employment Agreement dated as of March 12 2009 between the Company and Donald Bell

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Company Current Report on Form 8-K on

March 16 2009

10.31 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan Aureement dated as of November 10 2008 by and

among Bell Microproducts Inc Bell Microproducts Future Tech Inc. Rorke Data Inc Bell

Microproducts Canada Tenex Data ULC TotalTec Systems inc. Forefront Graphics U.S Inc as

Borrowers Bell Microproducts Canada Inc and Bell Microproducts Mexico Shareholder LLC as

Guarantors and Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation Westerrti Wachovia in its capacity as

adminisnative agent for the financial institutions Wachovia Bank of America NA. The CIT Group

Business Credit Inc and Wells Fargo Foothill LLC the Lenders

10.32 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 23 2008 by and

among the Company TRSA ERSA Judicial Retirement Fund the PELRAF-Deferred Compensation

Plan and the Public Employee Individual Retirement Account Fund

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company

31 .1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31 .2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarhanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Denotes management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Furnished not filed
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